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May 25, 2007
Dear Lorus Securityholder:

You are invited to attend a special meeting (the “Meeting”) of holders of common shares
(the “Shareholders™) and of the holders of options to purchase common shares, warrants to purchase common
shares and debentures convertible into common shares (collectively, the “Convertible Securities”)
(the Shareholders and the holders of Convertible Sccuritics being collectively referred to herein as the
“Securityholders™) of Lorus Therapeutics Inc. (“Lorus™) to be held on June 25, 2007, at 10:00 a.m. (Toronto
time), at Le Royal Meridien King Edward, 37 King Street East, Toronto, Ontario, in the Kensington Room.

The purpose of the Meeting is 1o seek the approval of the Securityholders for an arrangement of Lorus
(the “Arrangement”), pursuant to which Lorus will transfer its business to a new corporate entity
{“‘New Lorus™), which entity will possess the same nel assets, name, board of directors and management as Lorus,
but will also have approximately an additional $8.5 million in cash, subject to a $600,000 holdback and a
maximum post closing adjustment of $270,000, not including the costs of the transaction. The existing Lorus
entity, of which current Shareholders who are not resident in the United States will continue to own a part
following the Arrangement, will pursue opportunities as a real estate development company (“RealCo”) under a
new name, with a new board of directors and new management.

Lorus is underiaking the Arrangement because Lorus believes the Arrangement provides the following
advantages to Lorus and its Securityholders:

+ provides approximately $8.5 million in additional cash, subject to a $600,000 holdback and a maximum
post closing adjustment of $270,000, not including the costs of the transaction, without diluting the equity
interests of existing Securityholders;

¢ allows Lorus to continue executing ils current business plan, albeitl in a new company,
+ permils Lorus 10 retain its current name and trading symbol;

« does not result in any change to the management or board of directors of Lorus;

+ does not result in any change ta the business of Lorus;

» other than the repurchase of certain warrants from The Erin Mills Investment Corporation, the holdings
and economic position of Securityholders in New Lorus will be equivalent to their current holdings and
positions in Lorus;

* will result in Sharcholders (other than certain Shareholders of Lorus and those that are resident in the
United States) holding, at the effective time of the Arrangement, in the aggregate, approximately a 0.5%
economic equity interest in RealCo; and

» provides Shareholders that are resident in the United States and certain other Shareholders of Lorus
with, subject to certain limitations, a nominal cash payment in lieu of receiving an economic interest
in RealCo.

The Arrangement will only take effect if it is approved by (i) at least two-thirds of the votes cast by
Securityholders voting together as a single class, in person or by proxy, at the Meeting, (ii) a simple majority of
the votes cast by Shareholders who are “minority” Shareholders, in person or by proxy, at the Meeting, and
(iii) a final order of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice.

Deloitte & Touche LLP has provided the beard of directors of Lorus (the “Board™) with a fairness opinion
1o the effect that the Arrangement is fair, from a financial point of view, 1o the Securityholders. Those members
of the Board entitled to approve the Arrangement unanimously recommend that Securityholders vote FOR the
Arrangement.

As parl of the Arrangement, Securityholders will be asked to consider and, if thought advisable, approve
(i} various amendments 1o the articles of RealCo, and (ii) certain transactions between RealCo and related
parties of RealCo including, among other things, the purchase of certain limited partnership interests in two
residential and mixed-use condominium projects in Toronto, Ontario, the entering into by RealCo of one or
more agreements (o provide certain services to affiliates of RealCo and the engagement by RealCo of certain
agents and contractors as required for the business of RealCo.




‘The accompanying management proxy circular contains a detailed description of the Arrangement, as well
as detailed information regarding Lorus, New Lorus and RealCo. Lorus recognizes the environmental impact of
producing the management proxy circular and in an effort to minimize this impact, Lorus intends to donate
$2,500 to an environmental organization focused on reforestation and nature conservation issues. In this way
Lorus believes that it can help replenish those resources used to meel our corporate requirements.

This is an important matter affecting the future of Lorus, and it is important that your common shares and
Convertible Securities be represented at the Meeting, Regardiess of whether you plan to attend the Meeling,
please complete the appropriate enclosed proxy forms and return them in the manner set out in the
accompanying management proxy circular o ensure that your intentions are represented at the Meeting.

On behalf of Lorus, I would like to thank you for your past and ongoing support.

Yours very truly,
LORUS THERAPEUTICS INC.
% / -
/7%!-«_ |

(Signed) Graham Strachan
Chair of the Board of Direclors
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LORUS THERAPEUTICS INC.

NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING OF HOLDERS OF
COMMON SHARES, OPTIONS, WARRANTS AND CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES OF
LORUS THERAPEUTICS INC.

to be held on June 25, 2007

NOTICE 1S HEREBY GIVEN ihat a special meeting (the “Meeting”) of the holders of common shares
(**Shareholders™) of Lorus Therapeutics Inc, (“Lorus™) and of the holders of options to purchase common
shares, warrants 10 purchase common shares and debentures convertible into common shares (collectively with
the Shareholders, the “Securityholders”) will be held on June 25, 2007, at 10:00 a.m. (Toronto time), at the Le
Royal Meridien King Edward, 37 King Street East, Toronto, Ontario, in the Kensington Reom for the following
purposes:

(a) to consider, pursuant to an interim order of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice dated May 16, 2007,
and, if decmed advisable, pass, with or without variation, a special resolution of the Securityholders
(the “Arrangement Resolution”), the full 1ext of which is set forth in Appendix A to the accompanying
management proxy circular (the “Circular”), approving an arrangement involving, inter alia, Lorus, its
Securityholders, NuChem Pharmaceuticals Inc., GeneSense Technologies Inc., 6650309 Canada Inc.,
Pinnacle International Lands, Inc. and 6707157 Canada Inc. (the “Arrangement’) under Section 192 of
the Canada Business Corporations Act, all as more particularly set forth and described in the
accompanying Circular; and

(b) to transact such other business as may properly come before the Meeting.

The delails of the matiers proposed 1o be put before the Meeting are set forth in the Circular, including the
appendices attached thereto.

Only Securityholders of record at the close of business on May 24, 2007 will be entitled to vote at
the Meeting.

DATED al the City of Toronto, in the Province of Ontario, this 25" day of May, 2007.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
LORUS THERAPEUTICS INC.

{Signed) Graham Strachan
Chair of the Boeard of Direclors

IMPORTANT

A Secwrityholder may attend the Meeting in person or may be represented by proxy. Registered
Securityholders who are unable to attend the Meeting in person are requested to complete, date, sign and
return the applicable accompanying proxy forms for use at the Meeting. To be valid, proxies must be
deposited with Computershare Investor Services Inc., 100 University Avenue, 8th Floor, Toronto, Canada
M5J 2Y1, so as to arrive pot later than 5:00 p.m. (Toronto time) on June 21, 2007 or, if the Meeting is
adjourned, 48 hours (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and holidays) hefore the time set for the adjourned
Meeting. Securities held hy Securityholders will be voled in accordance with the instructions indicated in
the applicable proxy forms.




TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION e e e e e e et e e aa

INFORMATION

FOR UNITED STATES SECURITYHOLDERS ........... ... ... oot

EXCHANGE RATE INFORMATION . .. .. . e e e e e
GLOSSARY OF TERMS | L e et e e et e s

SUMMARY ...

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS . .. ... e
SOLICITATION OF PROXIES AND VOTING AT THEMEETING .. ............. ... ...,
VOTING SECURITIES AND PRINCIPAL HOLDERS THEREOF .. .. ......... ... ... ...

INTERESTS OF

CERTAIN PERSONS IN MATTERS TOBEACTEDON . ..................

THE ARRANGEMENT . . ... e e e e e e
FAIRNESS OPINION . . .. e e i e s e e e e
RECOMMENDATION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS . ... ... .. ... . oo
CANADIAN SECURITIES MATTERS . . .. .. e e

TIMING. ... ..

CERTAIN CANADIAN FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES FOR SHAREHOLDERS ..
CERTAIN CANADIAN FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES FOR HOLDERS OF

OPTIONS . ..

ELIGIBILITY FOR INVESTMENT . ... ... . . . i i et as

CERTAIN UNITED STATES FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES FOR
SHAREHOLDERS . . . .. . e i e e e

AMENDMENT OF LORUS’ ARTICLES AND CONTINUANCE OF LORUS INTO BRITISH

COLUMBIA .

DISTRIBUTION OF CERTIFICATES AND CASH PAYMENTS .. ... .. ... .o oot
STOCK EXCHANGE LISTINGS .. ... . e e e i
RESALE OF SECURITIES .. ... ... e e ae
INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS ... ... ... ... . . . i
INFORMATION RESPECTING LORUS ... ... . e
INFORMATION RESPECTING NEW LORUS . . ... ... .. .. e
INFORMATION RESPECTING REALCO .. ... ... e et

RISK FACTORS

ARRANGEMENT DISSENT RIGHTS . .. ... e
OTHER BUSINESS . . .. e e e e e et

AUDITORS . ..

LEGAL MAT TERS .. i e e e e

APPROVAL OF

DIRECTORS . ... e e

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION . . ... e et




APPENDIX “A”
APPENDIX “B”
APPENDIX “C”
APPENDIX “D”

APPENDIX “E”
APPENDIX “F”
APPENDIX “G”
APPENDIX “H”

APPENDIX 1~
APPENDIX “1”
APPENDIX “K”
APPENDIX “L”

APPENDICES

ARRANGEMENT RESOLUTION
FORM OF ARTICLES OF AMENDMENT OF REALCO
PLAN OF ARRANGEMENT

INTERIM ORDER AND NOTICE OF APPLICATION FOR THE FINAL
ORDER

FAIRNESS OPINION
INFORMATION RESPECTING LORUS
INFORMATION RESPECTING NEW LORUS

INFORMATION RESPECTING REALCO AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
OF THE PINNACLE PARTNERSHIPS

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA BALANCE SHEET OF REALCO
BALANCE SHEET OF NEW LORUS

COMPARISON OF CBCA TO BCBCA

SECTION 190 OF THE CBCA

i




LORUS THERAFPEUTICS INC.
MANAGEMENT PROXY CIRCULAR

Special Meeting of Securityholders
to be held on June 25, 2007

INTRODUCTION

This Circular is furnished in connection with the solicitation of proxies by and on behalf of the management
of Lorus Therapeutics Inc. (“Lorus”) for use at the Meeting. No Person has been authorized to give any
information or make any representation in connection with the Arrangement or other matters to be considered
at the Meeting other than those contained in this Circular and, if given or made, any such information or
representation must not be relied upon as having been authorized. This Circular does not constitute an offer to
sell securities, a solicitation of an offer to purchase securitics, or the solicilation of a proxy by any Person in any
jurisdiction in which such an offer or solicitation is not authorized or in which the Person making such offer or
solicitation is not qualified to do so or to any Person to whom it is unlawful to make such an offer or solicitation.
Neither delivery of this Circular nor any distribution of the securities referred to in this Circular will, under any
circumslance, create an implication that there has been no change in the information set forth herein since the
date of this Circular.

The Meeting has been called for the purposes of considering and, if deemed advisable, passing the
Arrangement Resolution and Lo transact such other business as may properly come before the Meeting.

All summaries of, and references to, the Arrangement in this Circular are qualified in their entirety by
reference to the complete text of the Arrangement Agreement available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com, the
Arrangement Resolution attached as Appendix A 10 this Circular, and the Plan of Arrangement attached as
Appendix C (o this Circular. You are urged to carefully read this Circular, the full text of the Arrangement
Resolution, the Arrangement Agreement (including the schedules thereto), and the Plan of Arrangement.

All capitatized terms used in this Circular but not otherwise defined herein have the meanings set forth
under “Glossary of Terms”. In this Circular, unless otherwise specified, all dollar amounts and financial
information are expressed in Canadian dollars. Information contained in this Circular is given as of May 24, 2007
uniess otherwise specifically stated.

INFORMATION FOR UNITED STATES SECURITYHOLDERS

The solicitation and transactions contemplated in this Circular are made in the United States for securilics
of a Canadian issuer in accordance with Canadian corparate and securities laws and, accordingly, this Circular
has becn prepared in accordance with disclosure requirements applicable in Canada. Securityholders in the
United States should be aware that such requirements are different from those of the United States applicable
to registration statements under the 1933 Act and proxy statements under the 1934 Act. The solicitation of
proxies is not subject to the requirements of Section 14(a) of the 1934 Act. The pro forma and historical
financial stalements and other financial information of RealCo and the Pinnacle Partnerships included in this
Circular have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounlting principles, which differ
from United States generally accepled accounting principles in certain material respects, and are subject to
Canadian auditing and auditor independence standards, and thus are not comparable in all respects to
pro forma and historical financial statements and other financial information of United States companies.
Likewise, information concerning the operations of Lorus and New Lorus contained herein, including the
information incorporated by reference herein, has been prepared in accordance with Canadian standards and is
nol comparable in all respects 1o similar information for United States companies.

Securityholders should be aware that the Arrangement and the ownership of Securities of New Lorus may
have tax consequences in both Canada and the United Siates. See “Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax
Consequences for Shareholders”, “Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Consequences for Holders of
Options” and “Certain United States Federal Income Tax Consequences for Shareholders”.
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The New Lorus Common Shares, New Lorus Options, New Lorus Warrants and RealCo Voting Shares to
be issued under the Arrangement have not been and will not be registered under the 1933 Act and will be issued
in reliance on the exemption from registration set forth in Section 3(a)(10) thereof. The AMEX has
conditionally approved the listing of the New Lorus Common Shares and the New Lorus Common Shares
issuable upon the exercise of the New Lorus Options and the New Lorus Warrants. The New Lorus Options,
New Lorus Warrants and RealCo Voting Shares will not be listed for trading on any United States
stock exchange.

The 1933 Act imposes restrictions on the resale of securities received pursuant to the Arrangement by
Persons who were “affiliales” of Lorus, New Lorus, RealCo, Pinnacle or Investor immediately prior o the
Arrangement or are “affiliates” of New Lorus, RealCo, Pinnacle or Investor after completion of the
Arrangemenl. The New Lorus Options will be non-transferable. See “Resale of Securities”.

The New Lorus Options and the New Lorus Warrants may only be exercised pursuant to an exempiion or
exclusion from the registration requirements of the 1933 Acl. Therefore, such securities may be exercised only
by a holder who represents that at the time of exercise the holder is not then located in the United States, is not
a U.S. Person as defined in Rule 902 of Regulation S under the 1933 Act (“Regulation §8”), and is not exercising
the New Lorus Options or New Lorus Warrants for the account or benefit of a U.S. Person or a Person in the
United States, unless the holder provides a legal opinion or other evidence reasonably satisfactory 1o New Lorus
to the effect that the exercise of the New Lorus Options or New Lorus Warrants does not require registration
under the 1933 Act or applicable state securities laws. In addition, any New Lorus Common Shares issuable
upon the exercise of the New Lorus Options or New Lorus Warrants in the United States or for the account or
benefit of a U.S. Person or a Person in the United States will be “restricted securities” within the meaning of
Rule 144 under the 1933 Act, certificates representing such New Lorus Common Shares will bear a legend to
that effect, and such New Lorus Common Shares may be resold only pursuant to an exemption or exclusion
from the registration requirements of the 1933 Act and applicable state securities laws. Subject to certain
limitations, the New Lorus Warrants may be resold outside the United States without registration under the
1933 Act pursuani to Regulation S. See “Resale of Securities”.

The enforcement by Securityholders in the Uniled States of civil liabilities under United States securities
laws may be affected adversely by the fact that Lorus, New Lorus, RealCo, Pinnacle and Investor are organized
under the laws of a jurisdiction other than the United Statces, that all or a majority of their executive officers and
directors are residents of countries other than the United States, that the cxperts named in this Circular are
residents of countries other than the United States, and that substantially all of the assets of Lorus, New Lorus,
RealCo, Pinnacle and Investor and such Persons are located outside the United States.

THE NEW LORUS COMMON SHARES, THE NEW LORUS OPTIONS, THE NEW LORUS WARRANTS,
THE NEW LORUS COMMON SHARES ISSUABLE UPON EXERCISE OF THE NEW LORUS OPTIONS AND
THE NEW LORUS WARRANTS AND THE REALCO VOTING SHARES TO BE 1SSUED IN CONNECTION
WITH THE ARRANGEMENT HAVE NOT BEEN APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR THE SECURITIES REGULATORY AUTHORITY OF
ANY STATE OF THE UNITED STATES, NOR HAS THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION OR THE SECURITIES REGULATORY AUTHORITY OF ANY STATE OF THE UNITED
STATES PASSED ON THE ADEQUACY OR ACCURACY OF THIS CIRCULAR. ANY REPRESENTATION TO
THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE.

(38 ]
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EXCHANGE RATE INFORMATION

In this Circular, unless otherwise specified, all dollar amounts and financial information are expressed in
Canadian dollars, The Bank of Canada noon spot exchange rate on May 24, 2007 was U.5.$1.0841 = $1.00. The
average exchange rate for the vears ended 2006, 2005 and 2004 and for the nine-month periods ended
February 28, 2007 and 2006 and the exchange rate at the end of such periods for the conversion of U.S. dollars
into Canadian dollars based on the Bank of Canada closing rate of exchange for United States dollars were
as follows:

Nine Months Ended

Year Ended May 31, February 28,
2006 2005 2004 2007 2006
EndofPeriod ......... ... ... ... ... . . ... $1.1015 $1.2552 $1.3634 $1.1698 §1.1366
Period AVETage. . .. v v i oo $1.1701  §$1.2551 §1.3423 $1.1381 $1.1857
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS
For the assistance of Securityholders, the following is a glossary of terms used throughout this Circular.
“1933 Act” means the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended;
“1934 Act” means the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,

“Acquisition Proposal” has the meaning set forth in the section hereof entitled “The Arrangement —
Arrangement Agreement — Non Solicitation and Right to Match”,

“affiliate” or “associate” when used to indicate a relationship with a Person, has the meaning ascribed to it in
the Securities Act (Ontario);

“AMEX"” means the American Stock Exchange;

“AMEX Rules” mecans collectively, all rules, requirements and policies of the AMEX applicable to Lorus,
including such as are contained in the Rules of the AMEX and the AMEX Company Guide;

“Antisense Patent Assets” means those assets set out in the Antisense Patent Assets Transfer Agreement;

“Antisense Patent Assets Transfer Agreement” means the asset purchase agreement to be entered into between
GeneSense and New Lorus pursuant to which GeneSense will transfer its Antisense Patent Assets to New Lorus,
as contemplated in the Plan of Arrangement;

“Applicable Laws” means, in relation to any Person, Property, transaction or event, all applicable provisions in
effect at the relevant time (or mandatory applicable provisions) of federal, provincial, territorial, state, local or
foreign laws, statutes, rules, repulations, directives and orders of all Governmental Authorities, and all
judgments, orders, decrees, decisions, rulings or awards of all Governmental Authorities to which the Person in
question is a party or by which it is bound or having application 10 the Person, Property, transaction or event,
including the Securitics Laws;

“Appropriate Number” means that number of RealCo Voting Shares which, if combined with the aggregate
number of RealCo Voting Shares purchased pursuant to Section 3.01(24) of the Plan of Arrangement, would
result in Investor holding a 101al number of RealCo Voting Shares representing approximalely 41% of the issued
and outstanding RealCo Voting Shares at the conclusion of the Arrangement;

“Arrangement” means the arrangement of Lorus under Section 192 of the CBCA on the terms and subject 10
the conditions set out in the Arrangement Agreement, subject to any amendments or variations thereto made in
accordance with the terms hereof and/or of the Plan of Arrangement or made at the direction of the Court in
the Final Order;

“Arrangement Agreement” means the arrangement agreement dated as of May 1, 2007 between Lorus, NuChem,
GeneSense, New Lorus, Pinnacle and Investor pursuant 1o which such parties have proposed to implement the
Arrangement, including any amendments thereto;

“Arrangement Dissent Rights” means the right of dissent provided for in the Interim Order and in the Plan of
Arrangement and available to Registered Shareholders in connection with the Arrangement;

“Arrangement Resolution” means the special resolution of Sccurityholders approving the Plan of Arrangement to
be considered at the Meeting and attached as Appendix A to this Circular;

“Articles of Arrangement” means the articles of arrangement of Lorus giving effect o the Arrangement which,
pursuant to the CBCA, will be filed with the Director after the Final Order has been issued;
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“Asset Transfer Agreements” means, collectively, the Tangible Business Assets Transfer Agreement, the Antisense
Patent Assets Transfer Agreement, the Virulizin and Small Molecule Patent Assets Transfer Agreement and the
Prepaid Expenses and Receivables Transfer Agreement;

“Assets” means, collectively, the Tangible Business Assets, the Antisense Patent Assets, the Virulizin and Small
Molecule Patent Assets, the Prepaid Expenses and Receivables and all other assets of Lorus;

“BCBCA” mecans the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia);

“BCBCA Articles” means the notice of articles filed with the Registrar of Companies (British Columbia) 10 effect
the Continuation;

“Roard of Directors” or “Board” means the board of directors of Lorus;

“husiness day” means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or other day when banks in Toronto, Ontario or
Vancouver, British Columbia are not generally open for business;

“Canadian Securities Legislation” has the meaning attributed to such term in NI 14-101 and includes published
policies promulgated thercunder from time to time by any of the Canadian Securities Regulatory Authorities
and the TSX Company Manual;

“Canadian Securities Regulatory Authorities” has the meaning ascribed to such term in NI 14-101;
“CBCA” means the Canada Business Corporations Act;
“CDS” means CDS Clearing and Depository Services Inc.;

“Certificate of Arrangement” means the certificate of arrangement giving effect to the Arrangement, issued
pursuant to subsection 192(7) of the CBCA,;

“Circular” means this management proxy circular dated May 25, 2007, 1ogether with all appendices attached
hereto and including the summary hereof, distributed by Lorus in connection with the Meeting;

“Closing” means the closing of the Arrangement and the other transactions contemplated by the Arrangement
Agreement;

“Closing Date” means the date of the Closing;
“Common Shares” means the common shares in the share capital of Lorus;

“Continvation” mcans the continuance of RealCo from the Canadian federal jurisdiction to the Province of
British Columbia;

“Continuons Disclosure Reports” means reports, financial statements, schedules, forms, statements and other
documents required to be filed or submitted by Lorus under the Securities Laws, for the three years preceding
the date of the Arrangement Agreement (or such shorter period as Lorus may have been required by the
Securities Laws 1o file or submit such material), including the exhibits thereto and documents incorporated by
reference therein;

“Convertible Debentures” means the prime plus 1% secured convertible debentures of Lorus due on October 6,
2009 in the aggregate principal amount of $15,000,000, issued to TEMIC in equal principal amounts of
$5.000,000 each on each of October 6, 2004, January 14, 2005 and April 15, 2005;

“Convertible Securities” means, collectively, the Options, Warrants and Convertible Debentures;

“Convertible Securityholders” means the holders of Convertible Securities and “Convertible Securityholder”
means any one of them;




“Court” means the Ontario Superior Court of Justice;

“Debenture Assumption Agreement’” means the assignment, novation and amendment agreement dated May 1,
2007 between Lorus and New Lorus pursuant to which, among other things, New Lorus will assume Lorus’
obligation to pay TEMIC the aggregate principal amount of $15,000,000 plus accrued interest owing under the
Convertible Debentures;

“Director” means the Director appointed under section 260 of the CBCA;

“Dissent Procedures” means the dissent procedures, as described under the heading “Arrangement Dissent
Rights”;

“Dissent Rights” has the meaning set forth in the section hercof entitled “Arrangement Dissent Rights”;
“Dissenting Sharcholder” has the meaning set forth in the section hereof entitled “Arrangement Dissent Rights”;
“Dissenting Shares” means the Common Shares in respect of which a Dissenting Shareholder dissents;
“Effective Date” means the effective date set out in the Articles of Arrangement that are filed with the Director;
“Effective Time” means 12:01 a.m. {Toronto time) on the Effective Date;

“Escrow Agreement” means the escrow agreement to be entered into on the Effective Date between Investor,
New Lorus and the escrow agent appointed thereunder, as contemplated by the Pinnacle Share Purchase
Agreement,

“Fairness Opinion” means the opinion of Deloitte & Touche LLP dated April 30, 2007 1o the effect that the
Arrangement is fair, from a financial point of view, to the Securityholders, a copy of which is attached as
Appendix E 10 this Circular;

“Final Order” means the final order of the Court issued in connection with the approval of the Arrangement,
providing, among other matters, for the Arrangement to be sanctioned and to take effect, as such order may be
affirmed, amended or modified by any court of competent jurisdiction;

“GeneSense” means GeneSense Technologies Inc., a corporation existing under the laws of Canada;

“GeneSense Share Purchase Agreement” means the share purchase agreement to be entered inlo between Lorus
and New Lorus pursuant 1o which Lorus will transfer all of the GeneSense Shares to New Lorus;

“GeneSense Shares” means commoen shares in the capital of GeneSense;

“Governmental Authority” means any federal, provincial, territorial, state, local or foreign government or any
department, agency, board, tribunal (judicial, quasi-judicial, administrative, quasi-administrative or arbitral) or
authority thereof or other political subdivision thereof and any Person exercising executive, legislative, judicial,
regulatory or administrative functions of, or pertaining thereto or the operation thereot, including the Canadian
Securities Regulatory Authorities, SEC, TSX and AMEX;

“High Tech” means High Tech Beteilingungen GmbH & Co. KG;

“Holder” has the meaning set forth in the section hereof entitled “Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax
Consequences for Shareholders™;

“Indemnification Agreement” means the indemnification agreement to be entered into on the Effective Date
between Lorus, New Lorus, GeneSense and NuChem;

“Intellectual Property Rights™ means all patents, patent applications, trademarks, trademark applications, service
marks, trade names, copyrights, licenses and other similar rights necessary or material for use in connection with
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Lorus’ and its subsidiaries’ respective businesses as currently conducted and anticipated to be conducted, as
described in the Continuous Disclosure Reports;

“Interim Order” means the interim order of the Court dated May 16, 2007 under Section 192 of the CBCA,
containing declarations and directions with respect to the Arrangement and the holding of the Meeting, a copy
of which order is attached as Appendix D 1o this Circular, including any amendments or modifications thereto;

“Investor” means 6707157 Canada Inc., a corporation incorporated under the CBCA on January 23, 2007;

“Letter of Intent” means the non-binding letier of intent entered into on April 4, 2006, as amended, between
Lorus and Pinnacle in respect of the Arrangement;

“Letter of Transmittal” means the letter of transmittal enclosed with this Circular pursuant to which a
Shareholder is required to surrender certificates representing Common Shares in order to receive, upon
completion of the Arrangement, New Lorus Common Shares and RealCo Voting Shares (if a Non-U.S. Person)
or New Lorus Common Shares and a cash payment in licu of RealCo Voting Shares (if a U.S. Person) issued
pursuant to the Arrangement;

“Lorus” means Lorus Therapeutics Inc. prior to the reorganization of its share capital pursuant to the
Arrangement, a company existing under the laws of Canada;

“Lorus Note” means the non-interest bearing promissory note lo be issued by Lorus to New Lorus as
consideration for New Lorus assuming Lorus’ obligation to pay TEMIC, pursvant to the Debenture Assumption
Agreement, the amount owing under the Convertible Debentures;

“Lorus Stock Option Plans” means Lorus’ 1993 Stock Option Plan and 2003 Stock Option Plan;

“Material Adverse Change” or “Material Adverse Effect’” means, when used in connection with Lorus, any
change, effect, event, occurrence or change in a state of facts that is, or would reasonably be expecied to be,
material and adverse to the business, operations, assets, capitalization, liabilities or condition (financial or
otherwise) of Lorus or any of its subsidiaries other than (i) any change in the trading price or trading volume of
the Common Shares, (ii) any change affecting economic or financial conditions generally (global, national or
regional, as applicable) that does not have a disproportionate effect on such party, (iii) any failure by Lorus to
meet analysts’ or internal earnings estimates, milestones or business plans, (iv) any aclion contemplated by the
Convertible Debentures or taken by Lorus, at Investor’s request, (v) any action required by Applicable Laws, or
(vi) the results of any of Lorus’ clinical trials for any product candidates;

“Meeting” means the special meeting of the Securityholders to be held on June 25, 2007, and any
adjournment(s) thercof, to consider and, if deemed advisable, approve the Arrangement Resolution;

“Minority Shareholders™ means all Shareholders other than High Tech, any related party of High Tech within the
meaning of Rule 61-501 and Regulation Q-27 subject to the exceptions set out therein, and any Person acting
jointly or in concert with High Tech;

“New Lorus” means 6650309 Canada Inc., a carporation incorporated under the CBCA on November 1, 2006 and
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Lorus which, following completion of the Arrangement, will carry on the business
and operations of Lorus as they existed immediately prior to the completion of the Arrangement;

“New Lorus Common Shares” means common shares in the share capital of New Lorus;

“New Lorus Note 1” means the demand non-interest bearing promissory note to be issued by New Lorus 10
GeneSense as consideration for the transfer by GeneSense to New Lorus of the Antisense Patent Assets, as
contemplated by the Plan of Arrangement;
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“New Lorus Note 2” means the demand non-interest bearing promissory note 10 be issued by New Lorus to Lorus
as partial consideration for the transfer by Lorus to New Lorus of its GeneSense Shares pursvant to the
GeneSense Share Purchase Agreement, as contemplated by the Plan of Arrangement;

“New Lorus Note 3” means the demand non-interest bearing promissory note 1o be issued by New Lorus to Lorus
as consideration for the transfer by Lorus to New Lorus of its NuChem Shares pursuant to the NuChem Share
Purchase Agreement, as contemplated by the Plan of Arrangement;

“New Lorus Options” means stock options to acquire New Lorus Common Shares 10 be. issued to directors,
officers, employees and consultants of New Lorus pursuant 1o the New Lorus Stock Option Plan;

“New Lorus Replacement Note” means the replacement non-interest bearing demand promissory note to be
issued by New Lorus 10 Lorus 10 repay the remaining amount owing by New Lorus to Lorus under the
New Lorus Note 2 and New Lorus Note 3 following the setoff of such notes by New Lorus against the Lorus
Note, as contemplated by the Plan of Arrangement;

“New Lorus Stock Option Plan” means the stock option plans of New Lorus as contemplated by the Plan
of Arrangement;

“New Lorus Warrants” means warrants 10 acquire New Lorus Common Shares 1o be issued by New Lorus in
replacement of the Warrants;

“Non-L.S. Persons” means Shareholders that are not Resident in the United States and “Non-U.S. Person” means
any one of them;

“Notice of Meeting” means the notice of the Meeting that accompanies this Circular;

“NIJ 14-101"” means National Instrument 14-101 — Definitions, of the Canadian Securities Administrators, as such
instrument may be amended or supplemented from time 10 time, or any similar instrument, rule or regulation
hereafter adopted by any of the Canadian Securities Regulatory Authorities having substantially the same effect
as such instrument;

“NoChem” means NuChem Pharmaceuticals Inc,, a corporation existing under the laws of the Province
of Ontario;

“NuChem Share Purchase Agreement” means the share purchase agreement to be entered into between Lorus
and New Lorus pursuant to which Lorus will transfer all of the NuChem Shares held by it to New Lorus;

“NuChem Shares” means common shares in the capital of NuChem;

“Optionholder” has the meaning set forth in the section hereof entitled “*Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax
Consequences for Holders of Options™;

“Qptions” means the issued and outstanding stock options to acquire Common Shares issued to directors, senior
officers, employees and consultants of Lorus, governed by the terms of the Lorus Stock Option Plans and
permitting the holders thereof to purchase an aggregate of a rolling rate of 15% of the issued Common Shares,
as such number may be amended from time 1o timg;

“Person” means any individual, parinership, association, body corporate, trusi, joint venture, unincorporated
organization, union, trustee, heir, exccutor, administrator, legal representative, government, regulatory authority
or other entity;

“Pinnacle” means Pinnacle International Lands, Inc., a corporation existing under the laws of the Province of
British Columbia;

“Pinnacle Partnerships” means, collectively, Pinnacle Centre Three Limited Partnership and Pinnacle Centre
Four Limited Partnership;




“Pinnacle Share Purchase Agreement” means the share purchase agreement 1o be entered into between Investor
and New Lorus pursuant to which Investor will purchase from New Lorus the Appropriate Number of RealCo
Voting Shares and all of the RealCo Non-Voting Shares, as contemplated by the Plan of Arrangement;

“Plan” or “Plan of Arrangement” means the plan of arrangement attached as Appendix C to this Circular, as
amended or varied from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof;

“Prepaid Expenses and Receivables” means those assels sel out in the Prepaid Expenses and Receivables Transfer
Agreement;

“Prepaid Expenses and Receivables Transfer Agreement” means the assel purchase agreement to be entered into
between Lorus and GeneSense pursuant to which Lorus will transfer the Prepaid Expenses and Receivables
to GeneSense;

“Property” means property, real or personal, tangible or intangible, other than Intellectual Property Rights;
“Purchaser Indemnified Parties” means Investor, its directors, officers, employees, successors and assigns;

“RealCo” means Lorus following the completion of the transactions contemplated by the Arrangement and
prior to the Continuation;

“RealCo (BC)” means RealCo following the Continuation;

“RealCo Non-Voting Shares” means non-voting common shares of RealCo issued and outsianding following the
reorganization of Lorus’ share capital pursuant to the Arrangement;

“RealCo Voting Shares” means voting common shares of RealCo issued and outstanding following the
reorganization of Lorus’ share capital pursuant to the Arrangement;

“Record Date” means the close of business on May 24, 2007,

“Registered Shareholder” means a regisiered holder of Common Shares as recorded in the Shareholders’ register
mainiained by the Transfer Agent and Regisirar;

“Regulation Q-27” means Regulation Q-27 — Respecting Protection of Minority Securityholders in the Course of
Certain Transactions, as it may be amended from time to time;

“Resident in the United States” shall be determined as provided in Rule 12g-4(a){2) under the 1934 Act;

“Rule 61-501” means Rule 61-501 — [nsider Bids, Issuer Bids, Going Private Transactions and Related Party
Trunsactions of the Ontario Securities Commission, as it may be amended from time to time;

“Sarbanes Oxley Act” means the United States Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and any successor thereto, and any
rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, all as the same will be in effect from time to time;

“SEC” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission, or any other federal agency at the time
administering the 1933 Act or the 1934 Act;

“Securities” means, collectively, the Common Shares, Options, Warrants and Convertible Debentures;
“Securities Laws” means the Canadian Securities Legislation and the United States Securities Laws;
“Securityholders” means the holders of Securities and “Securityholder” means any one of them;

“SEDAR” means The Canadian Securities Administrators’ System for Electronic Document Analysis
and Reirieval;

“Shareholders” means the holders of Common Shares and “Shareholder” means any one of them;




“Subsidiary Share Purchase Agreements’ means, collectively, the GeneSense Share Purchase Agreement and the
NuChem Share Purchase Agreement;

“Superior Proposal” has the meaning set forth in the section hereof entitled “The Arrangement — The
Arrangement Agreement — Non-Solicitation and Right 10 Maich”;

“Tangible Business Assets” means Lorus’ depreciable property set out in the Tungible Business Assets Transfer
Agreement;

“Tangible Business Assets Transfer Agreement” means the assel purchase agreement to be entered into by Lorus
and GeneSense pursuant 10 which Lorus will transfer the Tangible Business Assets to GeneSense, as
contemplated in the Plan of Arrangement,

“Tax Aet” means the Income Tux Act (Canada), R.S.C. 1985, C.1, 5" Supplement, as amended, including the tax
regulations enacted thereunder;

“Technifund Entities” means collectively, Technifund Inc. and Herbert Abramson;
“TEMIC” means The Erin Mills Invesiment Corporatian;
“Trading Day” means a day when the TSX is open for trading;
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Iransfer Agent and Registrar” means Computershare Investor Services Inc. at its offices at 100 University
Avenue, 11" Floor, Toronto, Ontario M5J 2Y1;

“TSX” means the Toronto Stock Exchange;

“United States” means the United States of America, its territories and possessions, any state of the United States,
and the District of Columbia;

“United States Securities Laws” means the 1933 Act, the 1934 Act, the Sarbanes Oxley Act, all applicable stale or
“blue sky” laws and all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder or otherwise adopled from time to time by
the applicable authority having jurisdiction in respect thereof, and the AMEX Rules, as applicable;

“U.S. Holder” has the meaning set forth in the section hereof entitled “Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax
Consequences for Shareholders — Holders who are Residents of the United States™;

“U.S. Persons” means Shareholders that are Resident in the United States;

“U.8. Sharcholders™ has thc meaning set forth in the section hercof entitled “Certain United States Federal
Consequences for Shareholders — U.S. Shareholders”;

“Virulizin and Small Molecule Patent Assets” means those assets set out in the Virulizin and Small Molecule
Patent Assets Transfer Agreement;

“¥irulizin and Small Molecule Patent Assets Transfer Agreement” means the asset purchase agreement to be
entered into between Lorus and GeneSense pursuant to which Lorus will transfer the Virulizin and Small
Molecule Patent Assels to GeneSense, as contemplated in the Plan of Arrangement;

“Warrant Repurchase Agreement” means the warrant repurchase agreement dated May 1, 2007 between
New Lorus and TEMIC pursuant to which New Lorus will repurchase the New Lorus Warrants; and

“Warrants” means the issued and outstanding 3,000,000 common share purchase warrants of Lorus issued to
TEMIC, each of which entitles TEMIC 1o acquire, subject to adjusiment, one Common Share at a price per
share of $1.00.

Words importing the singular number only include the plural and vice versa and words importing any gender
include all genders and the word “including” means *“‘including without limiting the generality of the foregoing”.
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SUMMARY

The following is a summary of certain information contained elsewhere in this Circular, including the appendices
hereto and the documents incorporated by reference herein. This Summary is qualified in its entirety by the more
detailed information and financial data and statements contained, referred 1o or incorporated elsewhere in this
Circular, the appendices hereto and the documents incorporated by reference herein. You are urged to read carefully
this entire document, the various documents that are referred 1o herein and the uppendices attached hereto. Terms
with initial capital letiers used in this Summary but not otherwise defined are defined in the “Glossary of Terms”.

Unless otherwise specified, all dollar amounts and financial information are expressed in Canadian dollars.

The Meeting

The Meeting will be held at Le Royal Meridien King Edward, 37 King Street East, Toronto, Ontario, in the
Kensington Room, on June 25, 2007, at 10:00 a.m. (Toronto time) for the purpose of considering and, if deemed
advisable, passing, with or without variation, the Arrangement Resolution. See “The Arrangement”.

Background te the Arrangement

Since its inception, Lorus has financed its operations and technology acquisitions primarily from equity and
debt financings, the exercise of warrants and stock options, and interest income on funds held for future
investments.

To date, none of Lorus’ product candidates has been approved by regulatory agencies for sale and Lorus has
accumulated losses in the development of its products in excess of $100 million. The amount to be received by
New Lorus pursuant to the Arrangement will be approximately $8.5 million, subject to a $600,000 holdback and
a maximum post closing adjustment of $270,000, not including the costs of the transaction. In addition,
Non-U.S. Persons will hold, at the Effective Time, in the aggregatc, approximately a 0.5% economic equity
interest in a new real estate development venture to be carried on by RealCo and U.S. Persons will, subject to
certain limitations, receive a cash payment in lieu of such economic equity interest.

Beginning in January, 2006, Pinnacle and Lorus began preliminary discussions with a view to pursuing an
arrangement that would restructure Lorus and provide non-dilutive financing for Lorus’ biotechnology business.
Following negotiations, on April 4, 2006, Lorus and Pinnacle entered into the Letter of Intent in respect of the
Arrangement.

In Oclober 2006, the Board of Directors engaged Deloitle & Touche LLP to consider whether the
Arrangement is fair, from a financial point of view, to the Securityholders. In connection with this mandate,
Deloitte & Touche LLP has prepared the Fairness Opinion that states that, as of the date of the opinion, the
Arrangement is fair, from a financial point of view, to the Securityholders. The Fairness Opinion is subject to the
restrictions, limitations and assumptions contained therein and should be read in its entirety. See Appendix E
(Fairness Opinion} attached hereto.

Benefits of the Arrangement

There are a number of benefils that Lorus anticipates will result from the Arrangement, including
the following:

* Sharcholders will hold 100% of the New Lorus Common Shares and New Lorus will carry on the same
business that Lorus carried on prior to the completion of the Arrangement, but with the injection of
approximalely $8.5 million, subject to a $600,000 holdback and a maximum post closing adjustment of
$270,000, not including the costs of the transaction, withoul any dilution of the Shareholders. New Lorus
will continue to execute Lorus’ current business plan going forward, with the board of directors and
management leam of New Lorus being comprised of the same individuals who are currently the directors
and management team members of Lorus;
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» Non-U.S. Persons will hold, at the Effective Time, in the aggregate, approximately 59% of the RealCo
Voting Shares then outstanding, representing approximately a 0.5% economic equity interest in RealCo
in the form of RealCo Voting Shares; and

+ Ui.S, Persons and certain Shareholders of Lorus will, subject to certain limitations, receive a cash payment
in an amount equal to the value of the RealCo Voling Shares otherwise distributable to them, such
amount determined based on the price per RealCo Voting Share paid at the Effective Time by Investor to
New Lorus pursuant to the Pinnacle Share Purchase Agreement.

See “— Shareholder Entitlemenis”.

Intention of Certain Securityholders

High Tech, the Technifund Entities and TEMIC have entered into agreements pursuant to which they will
vote their Securities in favour of the Arrangement Resolution. In addition, the directors and officers of Lorus
who are Securityholders have expressed their intention to vote their Securities in favour of the Arrangement
Resolution, High Tech, the Technifund Entities, TEMIC and the directors and officers of Lorus held in
aggregate, as of the Record Date, Securities representing approximately 37% of the votes attached to all of
the Securities. The votes attaching 1o the Common Shares of High Tech will not be included in the votes cast by
Shareholders who are “minority” Shareholders. See “— Procedure for the Arrangement to Become Effective”.

The Arrangement

The Arrangement will be implemented in a series of transactions pursvant to, or in connection with, the
Plan of Arrangement attached as Appendix C to this Circular. See “The Arrangement — Arrangement
Agreement”.

Asset Transfer Agreements

As part of the Arrangement, Lorus will transfer the Tangible Business Assets to GeneSense pursuant Lo the
terms and conditions of the Tangible Business Assets Transfer Agreement in consideration for the issuance by
GeneSense of one GeneSense Share o Lorus.

In addition, GeneSense will transfer the Antisense Patent Assets to New Lorus pursuant (o the terms and
conditions of the Antisense Patent Assets Transfer Agreement in consideration for the issuance by New Lorus of
the New Lorus Note 1.

Pursuant to the Virulizin and Small Molecule Patent Assets Transfer Agreement, Lorus will transfer the
Virulizin and Small Molecule Patent Asscts to GeneSense in consideration for the issuance by GeneSense of one
GeneSense Share to Lorus and pursuant 10 the Prepaid Expenses and Receivables Transfer Agreement, Lorus
will transfer the Prepaid Expenses and Receivables to GeneSense in consideration for the issuance by
GeneSense of one GeneSense Share to Lorus,

New Lorus will, as of the Effective Time, continue 1o employ each of the employees employed by Lorus as
of the Closing Date on terms and conditions of employment that are the same as those applicable to such
employees as of the Closing Date.

Indemnification Agreement

Pursuant to the Indemnification Agreement, New Lorus will fully indemnify and save harmless Lorus and
its directors, officers and employees from and against all damages, losses, expenses (including fines and
penalties), other third party costs and legal expenses, 1o which any of them may be subject arising out of any
malter occurring: (i) prior to, at or afier the Effective Time and directly or indirectly relating 10 the Assets
(including losses for income, sales, excise and other taxes arising in connection with the transfer of any Assets)
or the conduct of the business of Lorus prior to the Effective Time; (ii) prior to, at or after the Effective Time as
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a result of any and all interests, rights, liabilities and other matters relating to the Assets; and (iii) prior to or at
the Effective Time and directly or indirectly relating 1o, with certain exceptions, any of the activities of L.orus or
the Arrangement.

Subsidiary Share Purchase Agreements

Pursuant to the GeneSense Share Purchase Agreement, Lorus will transfer ali of the GeneSense Shares to
New Lorus al a price equal 10 their fair market value in exchange for the assumption by New Lorus of Lorus’
remaining liabilities (other than the Lorus Note) and the issuance by New Lorus to Lorus of the New Lorus
Note 2.

Pursuant to the NuChem Share Purchase Agrecment, Lorus will transfer all of the NuChem Shares held by
it to New Lorus at a price equal to their fair market value in consideration for the issuance by New Lorus to
Lorus of the New Lorus Noie 3.

Purchase of RealCo Voting Shares from Certain Shareholders

As part of the Arrangement and at the request of the Investor, Investor will purchase all of the RealCo
Voting Shares that will be received by High Tech and each of the Technifund Entities pursuant to the
Arrangement, at the same price per RealCo Voting Share as paid at the Effective Time by Investor to
New Lorus for each RealCo Voting Share pursuant to the Pinnacle Share Purchase Agreement, upon and
subject to the terms and conditions of share purchase agreements between Investor and each of High Tech and
the Technifund Entities.

Shareholder Entitlements
New Lorus Common Shares

As part of the Arrangement, each Shareholder will receive one New Lorus Common Share for each
Common Share held.

RealCo Voting Shares

As pant of the Arrangement, in addition to receiving New Lorus Commeon Shares as indicated above, each
Shareholder (other than U.S. Persons, High Tech and the Technifund Entities) will receive approximately
0.08 RealCo Voling Shares for each Common Share held, disregarding fractions. Any entitlement that would
otherwise include a fractional interest in RealCo Voting Shares will be rounded down to the next lowest whole
number of RealCo Votuing Shares. No cash payment or other compensation will be made with respect to any such
fractional interest.

The actual number of RealCo Voting Shares that will be disiributed to Shareholders (other than
U.S. Persons, High Tech and the Technifund Entities) depends on 4 number of variables that will be determined
as of the Effective Date, including, among other things, the actual number of Common Shares held by
U.8. Persons and the actual number of RealCo Voting Shares that Investor will purchase from New Lorus
pursuant to the Pinnacle Share Purchase Agreemeni. The entitlement to RealCo Voting Shires described above
is an estimate based on current information available 1o Lorus, however, such entitlement is subject to change
and will not be determined until the Effective Daie.

Cash Payments

As part of the Arrangement, in addition to receiving New Lorus Common Shares as indicaled above, each
U.S. Person, High Tech and the Technifund Entities will receive a cash payment equal to $0.0040775156 for each
RealCo Voting Share that they would otherwise have received, rounded to the nearest $0.01. Based on current




information available to Lorus with respect to the number of Common Shares held by U.S. Persons, High Tech
and the Technifund Entities, the estimated cash payments are expected to be approximately as follows:

Estimated # of
RealCo VYoting Rate per RealCo Estimated
Shares Vaoting Share Cash Payment
U S Persons . ..o it e e e e e s 1,098,000 $0.0040775156 $ 4,500
HighTech ........ ... .. . 2,304,000 $0.0040775156 $ 9,400
Technifund Entities . .. .. ..o e 1,653,000 $0.0040775156 $ 6,700
TOTAL ... e e e $20,600

The cash payments described above are estimates based on current information available to Lorus,
however, such payments are subject to change based on the actual number of Common Shares held by
U.S. Persons, High Tech and the Technifund Entities as of the Effective Date.

Treatment of Options, Convertible Debentures and Warrants

The Plan of Arrangement provides that the Options and Warrants will be exchanged for New Lorus Options
and New Lorus Warrants and will thereafler be cancelled and will cease to represent any right or claim
whatsoever in RealCo. The New Lorus Options will entitle the holder thereof to receive, upon the exercise of
the New Lorus Options, a number of New Lorus Common Shares equivalent to the number of Common Shares
such holder would have heen entitled to receive pursuant 1o the Options.

Pursuant to the Debenture Assumption Agreement, New Lorus will assume Lorus’ obligation to pay
TEMIC the $15,000,000 aggregate principal amount plus accrued interest owing under the Convertible
Debentures in consideration for Lorus issuing the Lorus Note. The right of TEMIC under the Convertible
Debentures to convert such debentures into Commaon Shares will be exchanged for the right to convert such
debentures into an equal number of New Lorus Common Shares. TEMIC has requested that New Lorus
repurchase the New Lorus Warrants from TEMIC effective the Effective Date for cash consideration of
£252,000 pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Warrant Repurchase Agreement.

Effect of the Arrangement

Upon completion of the Arrangement, the Shareholders will be the holders of all of the issued and
outstanding New Lorus Common Shares and New Lorus will be the holder of the Antisense Patent Assets, and
will carry on the business previously carried on by Lorus with an additional working capital of approximately
$8.5 million, subject to a $600,000 holdback and a maximum post closing adjustment of $270,000, not including
the costs of the transaction. GeneSense will be a wholly-owned subsidiary of New Lorus and New Lorus will hold
all of the NuChem Shares previously held by Lorus. GeneSense will be the holder of the Tangible Business
Assets, the Virulizin and Small Molccule Palent Assets and the Prepaid Expenses and Receivables, which assets,
together with the Antisense Patent Assets and NuChem Shares, constitute all of the assets of Lorus prior to the
Arrangement.

In addition, Non-U.S. Persons will hold, at the Effective Time, in the aggregate, approximately 59% of the
RealCo Voting Shares then outstanding, representing approximately a 0.5% economic equity interest in RealCo.
Following Closing, RealCo will hold limited partnership interests in two residential and mixed-use condominium
projects in Toronto, Ontario and may raise additional capital on a dilutive basis to focus on pursuing
opportunilies as a real estate development company. High Tech, the Technifund Entities and U.S. Persons will,
subject to certain limitations, receive a cash payment in an amount equal to the value of the RealCo Voting
Shares otherwise distributable 1o them. Neither the RealCo Voting Shares nor the RealCo Non-Voting Shares
will be listed on any stock exchange.
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Provided that the transactions described in this Circular are approved, immediately upon completion of the
transactions contemplated by the Arrangement, Investor will own approximately 41% of the RealCo Voling
Shares and 100% of the RealCo Non-Voting Shares, representing, in the aggrepate at the Effective Time,
approximately 99.5% of the economic equity interest in RealCo.

Lorus will also assign all of its contractual obligations to New Lorus and New lLorus will assume such
obligations, including employment obligations,

In connection with the Arrangement, New Lorus will cause the New Lorus Common Shares to be listed on
the TSX subject to the fulfillment of the conditions set by the TSX. Lorus has made an application to the
AMEX 10 have the New Lorus Common Shares listed on the AMEX, but cannot assure Shareholders that the
New Lorus Common Shares will be listed and posted for trading on the AMEX. The New Lorus Common
shares will be registered under section 12(b) of the 1934 Act. Upon the completion of the Arrangement, the
Common Shares will be delisted from both the TSX and the AMEX and Lorus will cease reporting under the
1934 Act.

As a result of the Arrangement, Investor, an affiliate of Pinnacle, will obtain an economic interest in a
company having certain non-transferable corporate attributes, including, among other things, a wide shareholder
base and status as a “reporting issuer” under applicable Canadian Seccurities Legislation, all of which Investor
believes may be of benefit to RealCo’s business following completion of the Arrangement.

Corporate Structure

Presenled below are simplified corporate structures of Lorus both before and immediately afier completion
of the Arrangement:

CURRENT STRUCTURE

Shareholders

100%

Lorus

100%

New NuChem GeneSense
Lorus

assets and liabilities
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STRUCTURE IMMEDIATELY AFTER THE ARRANGEMENT

Shareholders

Investor Shareholders 100%

(Non-U.S. Persons) °

New Lorus

41% volting common shares 59% voting
10{P% ron-voting preferred shares common shares
&
ﬁ,_‘o‘::‘@"'s
1o ,,‘."-‘«'
RealCo LR 100%
o
assels
NuChem GeneSense and liabilities

———

Limited pannership
interests in real estale
development business

additional
waorking capital

assets
and liabilities

Procedure for the Arrangement to Become Effective
Securityholder Approval

The Interim Order provides that the Arrangement Resolution must be approved by (i) at least two-thirds of
the votes cast by the Securityholders present in person or represented by proxy at the Meeting voting as a single
class, each Shareholder entitled to vote thereon being entitled 10 one vote for each Common Share held and
each Convertible Securityholder entitled to vole thereon being entitted to one vote for each Common Share
such holder would have been entitled to receive upon the valid exercise or conversion of his, her or its
Convertible Securities, as applicable and (ii) at least a simple majority of the votes cast by Minority
Sharcholders. See “Canadian Securities Matters”.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Arrangement Agreement authorizes Lorus, GeneSense, NuChem,
New Lorus and Pinnacle, subject o the terms and conditions of the Arrangement Agreement, without further
notice 1o or approval of the Securityholders, to amend or terminate the Plan of Arrangement, to decide not to
proceed with the Arrangement and to revoke the Plan of Arrangement at any time prior to the Effective Time.

Court Approval

The CBCA provides that the Arrangement requires Court approval. On May 16, 2007, Lorus obtained the
Interim Order providing for the calling and holding of the Meeting and other procedural matters. See the
Interim Order included as Appendix D (Interim Qrder and Notice of Application for the Final Order) attached
hereto.

Subject to the terms of the Arrangement Agreement and the adoption of the Arrangement Resolution at
the Meeting in the manner required by the Interim Order, Lorus will make application to the Court for the Final
Order at the Ontario Superior Court of Justice, Toronto, Ontario, on June 27, 2007 at 10:00 a.m. (Toronto time)
or as soon thereafier as counsel may be heard. See “The Arrangement — Procedure for the Arrangement
Becoming Effective”.
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Conditions Precedent

All conditions precedent to the Arrangement, as set forth in the Arrangement Agreement, including receipt
of the requisite regulatory approvals prior to the Effective Date, must be satisfied or waived by the appropriate
party. Sec “The Arrangement — Arrangement Agreement”.

Fairness Opinion

The Board of Directors engaged Deloitte & Touche LLP 1o consider whether the Arrangement is fair, from
a financial point of view, to the Securityholders. In connection with this mandate, Deloitie & Touche LLP has
prepared the Fairness Opinion that states that, as of the date of the opinion, the Arrangement is fair, from a
financial point of view, to the Securityholders. The Fairness Opinion is subject to the restrictions, limitations and
assumplions contained therein and should be read in its entirety. A copy of the Fairness Opinion is attached
herelo as Appendix E (Fairness Opinion).

Recommendation of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors has determined that the terms of the Arrangement are in the best interests of Lorus
and the Securityholders, as a whole, and are fair, from a financial point of view, 10 the Securityholders. As such,
those members of the Board of Directors entitled to votle on the approval of the Arrangement have unanimously
approved the Arrangement and authorized the submission of the Arrangement to the Securityholders
for approval.

Those members of the Board of Directors entitled to approve the Arrangement unanimously recommend that
Securityholders vote FOR the Arrangement Resolution.

Timing

If the Meeting is held as scheduled and is not adjourned and the other necessary conditions of the
Arrangement are satisfied or waived, Lorus will apply 1o the Court for the Final Order. If the Final Order is
cbtained on or about June 27, 2007, in form and subsiance satisfactory to Lorus, NuChem, GeneSense,
New Lorus, Pinnacle and Investor and all other conditions specified are satisfied or waived, Lorus expects the
Effective Date of the Arrangement to be on or about June 29, 2007.

Stock Exchange Listings

The Common Shares are currently listed and posted for trading on the TSX under the symbol “LOR” and
on the AMEX under the symbol “LRP”. On April 30, 2007, being the last Trading Day prior to the date of the
announcement of the Arrangement, the closing price of the Common Shares on the TSX and the AMEX was
$0.26 and U.S. $0.25, respectively, per Common Share.

Lorus has made an application for a substitutional listing of the New Lorus Common Shares (and the
New Lorus Common Shares issuable upon the exercise or conversion of the New Lorus Options and New Lorus
Warrants) on the TSX and on the AMEX in substitution for the Common Shares.

As of the date of this Circular, Lorus has not received approval ifrom the AMEX in respect of the
substitutional listing of the New Lorus Common Shares. Lorus cannot assure Shareholders that the AMEX will
approve a substitutional listing or whether the New Lorus Common Shares will continue to be listed on the
AMEX.

The TSX has conditionally approved the listing of the New Lorus Comman Shares on the TSX under the
symbol “LOR”, which approval is subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions on or before June 28, 2007,
including (i) the Securityholders of Lorus approving the Arrangement at the Meeting, (ii) the Minority
Shareholders approving the Arrangement Resolution a1 the Meeling, (iii) the Closing of the Arrangement,
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(iv) the filing of all documents required by the TSX and the payment of the fees required pursuant to the
policies of the TSX, and (v) New Lorus meeting the TSX’s continued listing requirements.

New Lorus expects that it will be able to satisfy all of the conditions of the TSX relating to the listing of the
New Lorus Common Shares upon completion of the Arrangement.

Upon any substitutional listing of the New Lorus Common Shares, the Common Shares will cease to be
listed on the TSX and the AMEX. Neither the RealCo Voting Shares nor the RealCo Non-Voting Shares will be
listed on the TSX, the AMEX or any other stock exchange.

Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Consequences

SHAREHOLDERS SHOULD CAREFULLY READ THE INFORMATION UNDER THE HEADING
“CERTAIN CANADIAN FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES FOR SHAREHOLDERS”.

Canadian Resident Sharcholders

Subject to the qualifications under the heading “Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Consequences for
Shareholders”, generally, (i) the exchange of Common Shares for New Lorus Common Shares, and (ii) the
distribution of the RealCo Voting Shares as a return of stated capital of New Lorus Common Shares, will not be
1axable events under the Tax Act for a Holder.

I1.S. Resident Sharcholders

Subject to the qualifications under the heading “Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Consequences for
Shareholders”, generally, (i} the exchange of Common Shares for New Lorus Common Shares, and (ii) the cash
distribution as a reduction of stated capital of New Lorus will not be a taxable event under the Tax Act for a
U.S. Holder.

If the Common Shares constitute “taxable Canadian property” (as defined by the Tax Act) to a U.S, Holder,
at the Effective Time, the U.S, Holder will be required 1o file 2 Canadian tax return reporting the disposition of
such shares even though the exchange of such shares is not subject to Canadian tax or section 116 certificate
compliance requirements under the Tax Act.

Holders of Options

Holders of Options who exercise their Options to acquire Common Shares prior to the Effective Time may
be subject to income tax consequences arising on such exercise. Holders of Options who are considering the
exercise of their Options should consult their own tax advisors to determine the tax consequences o them of
such exercise.

Subject to the qualifications under the heading “Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Consequences for
Holders of Options”, an Optionholder who exchanges an Option for a New Lorus Option will not be considered
to have disposed of the Option and the New Lorus Option will be deemed to be the same as, and a continuation
of, the Option.

Eligibility for Investments

Subject to the qualifications under “Eligibility for Investment”™, the New Lorus Common Shares will be
“qualified investments™ under the Tax Act at the Effective Time for trusts governed by registered retirement
savings plans (RRSPs), repistered retirement income funds (RRIFs), deferred profit sharing plans (DPSPs) or
registered cducation savings plans (RESPs), as defined in the Tax Act.
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Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences

SHAREHOLDERS SHOULD CAREFULLY READ THE INFORMATION UNDER THE HEADING
“CERTAIN UNITED STATES FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES FOR SHAREHOLDERS”.

The Arrangement sets forth a series of complex steps that should result in taxation for U.S. Shareholders.
The Arrangement should be taxable to the U.S. Shareholders, and should be characterized as a disposition of
Common Shares.

If the Arrangement is treated as a disposition of Common Shares, a gain or loss, if any, realized by a
U.S. Shareholder on the exchange of his, her or its Common Shares generally would be subject to United States
federal income taxation as capital gain (or capital loss) in an amount equal to the difference between the
U.S. Shareholder’s adjusted tax basis in the Common Shares and the amount realized on the disposition. Net
capital gains (i.e., capilal gains in excess of capital losses) recognized by a non-corporate U.S. Shareholder upon
a sale or other disposition of Common Shares that have been held for more than one year is generally subject to
a maximum United States federal income tax rate of 15%, under present law. Deductions for capital losses are
subject to limitations.

If Lorus was a “controlled foreign corporation”, or a “passive foreign investment company” for a
U.S. Shareholder, the United States federal tax consequences summarized herein could be maierially and
adversely different.

New Lorus

New Lorus was incorporated under the CBCA as 6650309 Canada Inc. on November 1, 2006. New Lorus
has not carried on any aclive business since its incorporation. As of the date hereof, the sole sharcholder of
New Lorus is Lorus.

Following the completion of the Arrangement, New Lorus will use (i) the Anti-Sense Patent Assels it holds
directly, (ii) the Tangible Business Assels, Prepaid Expenses and Receivables and Virulizin and Small Molecule
Patent Assets il holds indirectly through GeneSense, and (iii) the additional working capital of approximately
$8.5 million, subject to a $600,000 holdback and a maximum post closing adjusiment of $270,000, not including
the costs of the transaction, 1o carry out the husiness as carried on by Lorus prior 1o the completion of the
Arrangement.

New Lorus’ head office will be located at 2 Meridian Road, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M9W 427, Sec
Appendix G (Information Respecting New Lorus) atlached hereto.

Immediately prior to the completion of the Arrangement, the board of directors of New Lorus will consist
of those same individuals who are currently the directors of Lorus, namely Kevin Buchi, Donald Paterson, Georg
Ludwig, Michael Moare, Alan Steigrod, Graham Strachan, Jim Wright and Aiping Young. In addition, the
management team of New Lorus is and will continue to be comprised of those same individuals who are
currently the management team of Lorus, namely Aiping Young (President and Chief Execulive Officer),
Elizabeth Williams (Director of Finance, Acting Chief Financial Officer), Dr. Yoon Lee (Director of Research)
and Peter Murray (Director of Clinical Development).

Pinnacle

Pinnacle was incorporated on July 26, 2001 under the BCBCA. Pinnacle and its affiliates have been involved
in the development, design, construction and management of real estate for over thirty years. Pinnacle’s track
record includes exclusive urban residences from Toronto high-rise penthouses to waterview Jandmarks in
Vancouver. Pinnacle’s head office is located at Suite 300, 911 Homer Street, Vancouver, British Columbia
V6B 2W6. Mr. Michael De Cotiis is the Chair and Chief Executive Officer of Pinnacle.
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Investor

Investor was incorporated on January 23, 2007 under the CBCA as 6707157 Canada Inc. Investor has not
carried on any active business since its incorporation. As of the date hereof, Investor is an affiliate of Pinnacle
and Mr. Michael De Cotiis is the President and sole sharcholder of Investor. As of the date hereof, Investor’s
registered office is located at 66 Wellington Street West, Suite 4700, Toronto, Ontario M5K 1E6.

RealCo

Following the Effective Date, RealCo will hold limited partnership interests in two residential and
mixed-use condominium projects in Toronto, Ontario and may raise additional capital on a dilutive basis in
order to focus on pursuing opportunities as a real eslate development company. Following the completion of the
Arrangement, RealCo's head office will be located at Suite 300, 911 Homer Street, Vancouver, British Columbia
V6B 2W6. There is currently no intention to list the RealCo Voting Shares or the RealCo Non-Voting Shares on
any stock exchange or other public securities market. Detailed information regarding RealCo can be found at
Appendix H (Information Respecting RealCo and Financial Statements of the Pinnacle Partnerships) attached
hereto.

As soon as practicable following completion of the Arrangement, it is expected that RealCo will be
continued from the Canadian federal jurisdiction to the Province of British Columbia. Following such
continuance, RealCo will be governed by the BCBCA. Please see Appendix K (Comparison of CBCA 10
BCBCA) attached hereto for a summary comparison of certain provisions of the CBCA and the BCBCA.

Selected Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information Relating to RealCo and the Pinnacle Partnerships

Pro forma information relating to Lorus after giving effect to the Arrangement (i.e., RealCo) and the
Pinnacle Partnerships can be found at Appendix I (Unaudited Pro Forma Balance Sheet of RealCo) and
Appendix H (Information Respecting RealCo and Financial Statements of the Pinnacle Partnerships) attached
hereto. Furthermore, the audited balance sheet of New Lorus as at November 1, 2006 can be found at
Appendix ) (Balance Sheet of New Lorus) attached hereto.

Risk Factors

In connection with the Arrangement, Securityholders should be aware that there are various risks, including
those described in this Circular under the heading “Risk Factors” and those described in Appendix F
(Information Respecting Lorus), Appendix G (Information Respecting New Lorus) and Appendix H
(Information Respecting RealCo and Financial Statements of the Pinnacle Partnerships) attached hereto.
Securityholders should carefully consider these risk factors, 1ogether with other information included in this
Circular, before deciding whether or not 1o approve the Arrangement Resolution.

Dissent Rights

The Interim Order and the Plan of Arrangement provide Registered Sharcholders with dissent and
appraisal rights (the “Arrangement Dissent Rights”) in connection with the transactions that will be authorized
in the event that the Arrangement Resolution is approved by Securityholders. The Arrangement Dissent Rights
are similar to the dissent and appraisal rights provided by section 190 of the CBCA. Shareholders who are
considering exercising their Arrangement Dissent Rights should carefully review the description of such rights
set forth in this Circular. See “Arrangement Dissent Rights”.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Circular and the documents incorporated by reference herein may contain forward-looking statements
within the meaning of Canadian and U.S. securities laws. Such statements include, but are not limited to,
stalements relating 1o future financial position, business strategy, budgets, project costs and plans and objectives
of management for future operations. You can identify many of these statements by looking for words such as
“anticipate”, “contemplate”, “continue”, “believe”, “plan”, “estimate”, “expect”, “intend”, “will”, “should”,
“may”’, and other similar expressions.

These forward-looking statements include stalements with respect to:

* the anticipated benefits and enhanced Securityholder value resulting from the Arrangement;

+ the timing and success of applications to obtain approvals required with respect to the Arrangement;
* sources of capital; and

* the nature of Lorus’, New Lorus’ and RealCo’s business and operations following the Arrangement.

We cannol assure you that any of the plans, objectives, intentions or expectations upon which these forward-
looking statements are based will occur.

Such statements reflect our current views with respect to future events and are subject to risks and
uncertaintics and are necessarily based upon a number of estimates and assumptions that, while considered
reasonable by us, are inherently subject 1o significant business, economic, competitive, political and social
uncertainties and contingencies. Many factors could cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be
malterially different from any future results, performance or achievements that may be cxpressed or implied by
such forward-looking statements, including, among others:

* the need to oblain required approvals from regulatory authorities, including the Canadian Securities
Regulatory Authorities, the TSX, and the AMEX;

« difficulties associated with the nature of the business and operations of New Lorus and RealCo,
respectively, following the Arrangement, including liabilities associated with the Arrangement;

* the impact of general economic conditions in Canada and internationally;

» industry conditions including fluctvations in foreign exchange or interest rates;
* stock market volatility;

* the impact of competition; and

* the uncertainty inherent in atiracling capital.

Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should the assumptions set out in the
section entitled “Risk Faclors” underlying those forward-looking statements prove incorrect, actual results may
vary materially from those described herein. These forward-looking statements are made as of the date of this
Circular or, in the case of documents incorporated by reference herein, as of the date of such documents, and we
do not intend, and do not assume any obligation, (o update these forward-looking statements, excepl as required
by law. We cannot assure you that such statements will prove 1o be accurate as actual results and future events
could differ materially from those anticipated in such statements. Securityholders are cautioned that forward-
looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and accordingly are cautioned not to put undue
reliance on forward-looking statements due to the inherent uncertainty therein,
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SOLICITATION OF PROXIES AND VOTING AT THE MEETING
Solicitation of Proxies

The enclosed proxy forms are being solicited by the management of Lorus. The solicitation is being made
primarily by mail, but proxies may also be solicited by telephone, by telecopier, by the Internet, by advertisement
or by other personal contact by directors, officers or other employees of Lorus. The entire cost of the solicitation
will be borne by Lorus.

The Meeting is being called pursuant to the Interim Order to seek the requisite approval of the
Securityholders to the Arrangement. See “The Arrangement”.

This Circular is being mailed to Securityholders of Lorus. Each Securityholder has been assigned a
different colour of proxy form for completion and return.

* GREEN proxies are to be completed by Shareholders

* WHITE proxies are to be completed by Optionholders

* BLUE proxies arc 10 be completed by holders of Warranis

* YELLOW proxies are (o be completed by holders of Convertible Debentures

In arder for your vote to he counted, Securitvholders are reminded to complete and return the appropriate
colour of proxy. If you are a non-registered holder of Lorus securities, please see “— Non-Registered Holders”.

Appointment of Proxies

The individuals named in the enclosed form of proxy are representatives of the management of Lorus and
are directors or officers of Lorus. A Securitvholder who wishes to appoint some other individual to represent the
Securityholder a1 the Meeting may do so by inserting such individual’s name in the blank space provided in the
enclosed form of proxy. Such other individual need not be a Securityholder of Lorus.

To be valid, proxies must be deposited with Computershare Investor Services Inc., 100 University Avenue,
8™ Floor, Toronto, Canada M5J 2Y1, so as (o arrive not later than 5:00 p.m. (Toronto time) on June 21, 2007 or,
if the Meeting is adjourned, 48 hours (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and holidays) before the time set for the
adjourned Meeting.

Non-Registered Holders

These Meeting materials are being sent 10 both registered and non-registered holders of Securities. 1f you
are a non-registered holder and we or our agent have sent these materials directly to you, your name and
address and information about your holdings of Securities have been obtained in accordance with applicable
securitics regulatory requirements from the intermediary holding on your behalf.,

By choosing 10 send these materials 1o you directly, we (and not the intermediary holding on your behalf)
have assumed responsibility for (i) delivering these materials 1o you, and (ii) execuling your proper voling
instructions. Please return your voting instructions as specified in the request for voling instructions.

Only registered holders of the Securities, or the individuals they appoint as their proxies, are permitted 1o
attend and vole at the Meeting. However, in many cases, Securities beneficially owned by a non-registered
holder are registered either:

* in the name of an intermediary that the non-registered holder deals with in respect of the Securities, such
as, among others, banks, trust companies, securities dealers or brokers and trustees or administrators of
self-administered RRSPs, RRIFs, RESPs and similar plans; or

* in the name of a depository (such as CDS8) of which the intermediary is a participant.
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In accordance with Canadian securities law, we have distributed copies of the Notice of Meeting, this
Circular, and the forms of proxy to CDS and intermediaries for onward distribution to those non-registered
holders 1o whom we have not sent the Meeting materials directly.

In such cases, intermediaries are required to forward Meeting materials to non-registered holders unless a
non-registered holder has waived the right 1o receive them. Very often, intermediaries wilt use a service company
(such as ADP Investor Communications (now Broadridge Financial Solutions, Inc.)) to forward the Meeting
materials to non-registered holders.

Non-registered holders who have not waived the right to receive Meelting materials will receive either a
voting instruction form or, less frequently, a form of proxy. The purpose of these forms is to permit
non-registered holders to direct the voting of the Securities they beneficially own. Non-registered holders should
follow the procedures set out below, depending on what type of form they receive.

A. Voting Instruction Form. In mosl cases, a non-registered holder will receive, as part of the Meeting
materials, a voting instruction form. If the non-registered holder does not wish 1o attend and vote at
the Meeting in person (or have another individual attend and vote on the non-regisiered holder’s
behalf), the voting instruction form must be completed, signed and returned in accordance with the
directions on the form. If a non-registered holder wishes to atlend and vote at the Meeting in person
(or have another individual attend and vote on the non-registered holder’s behalf), the non-registered
holder must complete, sign and return the voting instruction form in accordance with the directions
provided and a form of proxy giving the right 1o atiend and vote will be forwarded to the non-registered
holder.

or

B. Form of Proxy. Less frequently, a non-registered holder will receive, as part of the Meeling materials,
a form of proxy that has already been signed by the intermediary (typically by a facsimile or stamped
signature), which is restricted as to the number of Securities beneficially owned by the non-regisiered
holder but which is otherwise uncompleted. 1f the non-registered holder does not wish to attend and
vole at the Meeting in person (or have another individual attend and vote on the non-registered
holder’s behalf), the non-registered holder must complete the form of proxy and deposit it with
Computershare Investor Services Inc., 100 University Avenue, 8" Floor Toronto, Canada, M5J 2Y1 as
described above. If a non-registered holder wishes to attend and vote at the Mecting in person {or have
another individual attend and vote on the non-regisiered holder’s behalf), the non-regisiered holder
musl strike out the names of the individuals named in the proxy and insert the non-registered holder’s
(or such other individual’s) name in the blank space provided.

Non-registered holders should follow the instructions on the forms they receive and contact their intermediaries
promptly if they need assistance.

Revocation
A repistered Securityholder who has given a proxy may revoke the proxy by:

* compleling and signing a proxy bearing a later date and depositing it with the Transfer Agent and
Registrar as described above; or

* depositing an instrument in writing executed by the Securityholder or by the Securityholder’s attorney
authorized in wriling: (i) at our registered office at any time up to and including the last business day
preceding the day of the Meeting, or the time set for any adjourned Meeting, at which the proxy is to be
uscd, or (ii) with the chair of the Meeting prior to the commencement of the Meeting on the day of the
Meeting or the day of any adjourned Meeting; or

* in any other manner permitted by law.
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A non-registered Securityholder may revoke a voting instruction form or a waiver of the right to receive
Meeting materials and to vote given to an intermediary or to Lorus, as the case may be, at any time by writien
notice 1o the intermediary or Lorus, except that neither an intermediary nor Lorus is required to acl on a
revocation of a voting instruction form or of a waiver of the right to receive Meeting materials and to vote that is
not received by such inlermediary or Lorus, at least seven days prior to the Meeting.

Exercise of Voting Rights by Proxy

The individuals named as proxies will vote for or against any particular question, in accordance with the
instructions of the Securityholders appointing them. In the absence of such instructions, such Securities will be
voted in favour of all the matters identified in the attached Notice of the Meeting. The enclosed proxy forms
confer discretionary authority upon the individuals named therein with respect to amendments or variations to
matters identified in the Notice of Meeling, and with respect to other business which may properly come before
the Meeting or any adjournment thereof. As of the date hereof, management of Lorus knows of no such
amendment, variation or other business to come before the Meeting. If any such amendment or other business
properly comes before the Meeting, or any adjournment thercof, the individuals named in the enclosed proxy
forms will vote on such matters in accordance with their best judgement.

Voting Securities

The Board of Directors has fixed the Record Date for the Meeting to be the close of business on May 24,
2007. Each Common Share entitles the holder thereof to one vote on a ballot at the Meeting. Each Option,
Warrant and Convertible Debenture entitles the holder thereof to one vote per Common Share on a ballot at the
Meeting that such holder would have been entitled 10 receive, on the Record Date, upon the valid exercise of
his, her or its Options or Warranis or the valid conversion of his, her or its Convertible Debentures.

The Transfer Agent and Registrar will prepare, as at the Record Date, a list of Securityholders entitled to
receive the Notice of Meeting and showing the number of Securities held by each such holder. Each Shareholder
named in the list of Securityholders will be entitled 10 notice of the Meeting and to attend and to vote the
Common Shares shown opposite such Shareholder’s name at the Meeting in respect of all matters before the
Meeting on the basis of one vote for each Common Share held. Each holder of Options, Warrants and
Convertible Debentures named in the list of Securityholders will be entitled to notice of the Meeling and to
attend and to vote the Options, Warrants and Convertible Debentures shown opposite such Securityholder’s
name at the Meeting in respect of the Arrangement Resolution only, on the basis of one vole per Common
Share that such Securityholder would have been entitled 1o receive, as at the Record Date, upon the valid
exercise of such Options or Warrants or the valid conversion of such Convertible Debentures, provided that if
such Options, Warrants or Convertible Debentures have been cexercised, expired or have otherwise terminated
or been repaid before the Meeting, such Securityholder may not atiend or vote in such capacity at the Meeting.

To the extent that a Sccurityholder transfers the ownership of its Securities after the Record Date and the
transferee of those Securities establishes that the transferee owns the Sccurities and demands, no later than
ten days before the Meeting, 10 be included in the list of Securityholders eligible to vote at the Meeting, such
transferee will be entitled to vote such Securities at the Meeting.

Pursuant to the by-laws of Lorus and the Interim Order, business may be transacted at the Meeting if at
least two individuals present in person and each being entitled to vote at the Meeting are present at the Meeting,

The Interim Order provides that the Arrangement Resolution must be approved by (i) at least two-thirds of
the aggregate votes cast by Securityholders present in person or by proxy at the Meelting, voting as a single class,
and (ii) at least a simple majority of the votes cast by Minority Shareholders.
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VOTING SECURITIES AND PRINCIPAL HOLDERS THEREOF

The authorized share capital of Lorus consists of an unlimited number of Common Shares without par
value, of which 211,922,548 Common Shares are issued and outstanding as at May 24, 2007. Each Common
Share entitles the holder thereof 10 one vote at the Meeting. Each Option, Warrant and Convertible Debenture
entitles the holder thereof to one vate per Common Share that such holder would have been entitled to receive,
as at the Record Date, upon the valid exercise of such Options or Warrants or the valid conversion of such
Convertible Debentures, provided that if such Options, Warrants or Convertible Debentures have been
exercised, expired or have otherwise terminated or been repaid before the Meeting, such holder may not attend
or vole in such capacity at the Meeting. As at May 24, 2007, there are outstanding 13,556,958 Options,
3,000,000 Warrants and $15 million aggregate principal amount of Convertible Debentures, which are
convertible into 15 million Common Shares at $1.00 per Common Share.

To the knowledge of Lorus’ directors and executive officers, no single Person beneficially owns, directly or
indirectly, or exercises control or direction over more than 10% of the votes attached 1o all the outstanding
Common Shares or Converiible Securities, other than High Tech that held, as of the Record Date (i) 13.7% of
the votes attached to the Common Shares, and (ii) 12% of the votes attached to the Common Shares and
Convertible Securities combined.

Common

Votes Held by Insiders Shares Options Total

Graham Strachan .. ... ... . .. i i i e e 10,000 675,000 685,000
Donald Patlerson . ..o e e e 125,260 467,500 592,760
Jim Wright .. e 4,429,541 2,472,500 6,902,041
J.Kevin Buchi .. ... . . e 50,000 250,000 300,000
Georg Ludwig . .. ... . e — 50,000 50,000
Michael MoOTe . . ... .. e e — 50,000 50,000
Alan Steigrod . .. ... — 310,000 310,000
AlPINg YOUNE . .. . e e 37,803 4,507,442  4,545245
Elizabeth Williams. . . .. .. oot i e e e e e e e 6,850 440,162 447,012
High Tech . . ... .. . 29,090,000 — 29,090,600
Technifund EnGUEs . ... ... e 20,667,800 — 20,667,800

54,417,254 9,222,604 63,639,858

INTERESTS OF CERTAIN PERSONS IN MATTERS TO BE ACTED ON

As of the Record Date, the directors and officers of Lorus beneficially owned or exercised control or
direction over, directly or indirectly, an aggregate of 4,659,454 Common Shares representing 2% of the votes
attached to the issued and outstanding Common Shares, and Convertible Securities representing 9,222,604 votes
or 4% of the votes altached to the issued and outstanding Convertible Securities. Sce “Voting Securities and
Principal Holders Thereof™.

Certain directors and officers of Lorus who hold Common Shares or Options will be entitled 1o participate
in the Arrangement, in their capacity as Shareholders and holders of Options. In addition, Georg Ludwig, a
director of Lorus, is affiliated with High Tech. High Tech is receiving a “collateral benefit” pursuant 1o the
Arrangement. Mr. Ludwig owns options (o acquire Common Shares and abstained from the vote of the Board of
Directors 1o approve the Arrangement. See “Canadian Securities Matters — Majority of Minority Approval”.

To the knowledge of the management of Lorus, there is no material interest of any director or officer of
Lorus, or their nominees, or anyone who has held office as such since the beginning of Lorus’ last completed
financial year or of any associate or affiliate of any of the foregoing, in any matter to be acted upon at the
Meeting, other than the foregoing and as described elsewhere in this Circular or the appendices atiached hereto.
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THE ARRANGEMENT
Background to the Arrangement

Since its inception, Lorus has financed its operations and technology acquisitions primarily from equity and
debt financings, the exercise of warrants and stock options, and interest income on funds held for future
investments.

To date, none of Lorus’ products has been approved by regulatory agencies for sale and Lorus has
accumulated losses in the development of its products in excess of $100 million. The amount to be received by
New Lorus pursuant 10 the Arrangement will be approximately $8.5 million, subject to a $600,000 holdback and
a maximum post closing adjustment of $270,000, not including the costs of the transaction. In addition, Non-U.§
Persons will hold, at the Effective Time, in the aggregate, approximately a 0.5% economic equity interest in a
new real estate development venture 1o be carried on by RealCo and U.S. Persons will, subject to certain
limitations, receive a cash payment in lieu of such economic equity interest.

Beginning in January, 2006, Pinnacle and Lorus began discussions with a view 1o pursuing an arrangement
that would restructure Lorus and provide non-dilutive financing for Lorus’ business. Following negotiations, on
April 4, 2006, Lorus and Pinnacle entered into the Letter of Intent in respect of the Arrangement.

Following the entering into of the Letter of Intent, management of Lorus provided a summary of the
proposed transaction to the Board. Al each subsequent regularly scheduled quarterly board meeting thereafter,
management provided the Board with an update as to the progress of negotiations and the members of the
Board discussed issues, if any, related 10 the Arrangement.

On May 1, 2007, the Board being satisfied that there were no significant outstanding issues and that all
parties 1o the Arrangement were satisfied with the terms of the Arrangement, those members of the Board
entitled to vote thereon (High Tech’s representative declaring a conflict of interest) approved the agreements
relating 1o the Arrangement and the Arrangement, subject to regulatory and Securityholder approval.

The Board of Directors engaged Deloitte & Touche LLP to consider whether the Arrangement is fair, from
a financial point of view, to the Securityholders. In connection with this mandate, Deloitte & Touche LLP has
prepared the Fairness Opinion that states that, as of the date of the opinion, the Arrangement is fair, from a
financial point of view, to the Securityholders. The Fairness Opinion is subject to the restrictions, limitations and
assumptions contained therein and should be read in ils entirety. See Appendix E (Fairness Opinion) attached
hereto.

Benefits of the Arrangement

There are a number of benefits that are anticipated to result from the Arrangement and therefore enhance
overall Securityholder value, including the following:

* Shareholders will hold 100% of the New Lorus Common Shares and New Lorus will carry on the same
business that Lorus carried on prior to the completion of the Arrangement, but with the injection of
approximately $8.5 million, subject to a $600,000 holdback and a maximum post closing adjustment of
$270,000, not including the costs of the transaction, without any dilution of the Shareholders. New Lorus
will continue to execute Lorus’ current business plan going forward, with the board of directors and
management team of New Lorus being comprised of the same individuals who are currently the directors
and management leam members of Lorus;

* Non-U.S. Persons will hold, ai the Effective Time, in the aggregate, approximately 59% of the RealCo
Voting Shares then outstanding, representing approximately a 0.5% economic equity interest in RealCo
in the form of RealCo Voting Shares; and

« U.S. Persons will, subject to certain limiiations, receive a cash payment in an amount equal to the value of
the RealCo Voting Shares otherwise distributable 1o them, such amount determined based on the price
per RealCo Voting Share paid at the Effective Time by Invesior 10 New Lorus pursvant to the Pinnacle
Share Purchase Agreement.

See “— Shareholder Entitlements”,
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As a result of the Arrangement, Investor, an affiliate of Pinnacle, will obtain an economic interest in a
company having certain non-transferable corporate atiributes, including, among other things, a wide sharcholder
base and status as a “reporting issuer” under applicable Canadian Sccurities Legislation, all of which Investor
believes may be of benefit to RealCo’s business following completion of the Arrangement.

Intention of Certain Securityholders

High Tech, the Technifund Entities and TEMIC have entered into agreements pursuant to which they will
vote their Securities in favour of the Arrangement Resolution. In addition, the directors and officers of Lorus
who are Securityholders have expressed their intention to vote their Securities in favour of the Arrangement
Resolution. High Tech, the Technifund Entities, TEMIC and the directors and officers of Lorus held in
aggregate, as of the Record Dalte, Securities represeniing approximaiely 37% of the voles attached to all of
the Securities.

The Arrangement

If the Arrangement is approved at the Meeting, the Final Order issued and the other conditions to
completion of the Arrangement have been satisfied, the Articles of Arrangement will be filed and, at the
Effective Time, the following will occur and will be deemed to occur in the following order without further act
or formality:

(a) The Shareholders and holders of Options and Warranis will transfer their Common Shares, Options
and Warrants, as applicable, 10 New Lorus in exchange for the issuance by New Lorus of New Lorus
Common Shares, New Lorus Options and New Lorus Warrants, respectively, having the same value,
terms and conditions as the Common Shares, Options and Warrants;

(b) New Lorus will repurchase the New Lorus Warranis from TEMIC pursuant to the Warrant Repurchase
Agreement,

(c) Pursuant to the Debenture Assumption Agreement, New Lorus will assume Lorus’ obligation to pay
TEMIC the $15 million aggregate principal amount of the Convertible Debentures plus accrued and
unpaid interest thereon in consideration for Lorus issuing the Lorus Note. The right of TEMIC to
convert the Convertible Debentures into Common Shares will be exchanged for the right to convert
such debentures into an equat number of New Lorus Common Shares;

(d} Lorus will surrender to New Lorus for cancellation the initial New Lorus Common Share that was
issued to Lorus upon the incorporation of New Lorus;

(e) The articles of Lorus will be amended to change its name to 4325231 Canada Inc. or a name to be used
for real estate development purposes;

(f) The articles of New Lorus will be amended to change its name to “Lorus Therapeutics Inc.”;

(g) The articles of Lorus will be amended to conform with the form of the amended articles attached as
Appendix B hereto, such amendments 1o effect, among other things, a reorganization of the share capital
of Lorus to create an unlimited number of RealCo Voting Shares and an unlimited number of RealCo
Non-Voting Shares. The RealCo Voting Shares and the RealCo Non-Voling Shares will rank equally
with respect to participation in dividends and the liquidation of Lorus;

(h) As pan of the reorganization of the share capital of Lorus, the Common Shares held by New Lorus will
be exchanged for 21,127,828 RealCo Voting Shares and 2,078,872,172 RealCo Non-Voting Shares and
the Options and Warrants will be cancelled and a right to acquire Common Shares under the Lorus
Stock Option Plans will become the right to acquire the equivalent number of New Lorus
Common Shares;
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Pursuant to the Tangible Business Assets Transfer Agreement, Lorus will transfer the Tangible Business
Assels 1o GeneSense in consideration for the issuance by GeneSense of one GeneSense Share
to Lorus;

Pursuant to the Antisense Patent Transfer Agreement, GeneSense will transfer the Antisense Patent
Assets to New Lorus in consideration for the issuance by New Lorus of the New Lorus Note 1;

Pursuant to the Virulizin and Small Molecule Patent Transfer Agreement, Lorus will transfer the
Virulizin and Small Molecule Patent Assets to GeneSense in consideration for the issuance by
GeneSense of one GeneSense Share 1o Lorus;

GeneSense will repay its debt owing to Lorus in exchange for the issuance by GeneSense of one
GeneSense Share to Lorus;

(m) Pursuant to the Prepaid Expenses and Receivables Transfer Agreement, Lorus will transfer the Prepaid

()

(0)

(p)

(g}

{r)

(s)

(u)

(v)

Expenses and Receivables o GeneSense in exchange for the issuance by GeneSense of one GeneSense
Share to Lorus;

Pursuant to the GeneSense Share Purchase Agreement, Lorus will transfer all of the GeneSense
Shares to New Lorus at a price equal to their fair market value in exchange for the assumption by
New Lorus of Lorus’ remaining liabilities and transaction costs (other than the Lorus Note) and the
issuance by New Lorus of the New Lorus Note 2;

Pursuant to the NuChem Share Purchase Agreement, Lorus will transfer all of the NuChem Shares
held by it to New Lorus at a price equal to their fair market value in consideration for the issnance by
New Lorus of the New Lorus Note 3;

Lorus will assign all of its coniractual obligations to New Lorus or its assignee and New Lorus or its
assignee will assume such obligations;

New Lorus will offer employment 1o all of the employees of Lorus and will assume all employment
obligations related thereto;

New Lorus will repay the amount owing by New Lorus to Lorus under the New Lorus Note 2
and New Lorus Note 3 by way of set off against the Lorus Note and the issuance to Lorus of the
New Lorus Replacement Note for an amount equal to the amount by which the aggregate amount
owing by New Lorus under the New Lorus Note 2 and New Lorus Note 3 exceeds the amount of the
Lorus Note;

Lorus will reduce its stated capital by an amount equal to ils remaining cash, cash equivalents, and
short term and long term investments less the amount required to fund the repurchase of RealCo
Voting Shares described in paragraph (v) below, plus an amount equal to the amount of the New Lorus
Replacement Note and will distribute such property to New Lorus in satisfaction of the capital
reduction amount;

Pursuant 1o the Pinnacle Share Purchase Agreement, Investor will purchase the Appropriate Number
of the RealCo Voting Shares and all of the RealCo Non-Voting Shares from New Lorus in
consideration of a cash payment cqual to $0.0040775156 per RealCo Voting Share and $0.0040775156
per RealCo Non-Voling Share, subject to payment and an adjustment of up to $270,000, in accordance
with the Pinnacle Share Purchase Agreement and a holdback of $600,000 pursuant to the Escrow
Apreement;

The New Lorus Common Shares will be conditionally listed on the TSX and the AMEX subject to the
fulfillment of the conditions set out in the applicable conditional approval letier;

New Lorus will reduce its stated capital by an amount equal to the fair market value of its RealCo
Voling Shares, determined based on the price per RealCo Voting Share paid by Investor in
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paragraph (t) above. In satisfaction of the capital reduction, New Lorus will: (i) in the case of
Non-U.S. Persons, distribute RealCo Voling Shares on a pro rata basis, disregarding fractions
(provided such distribution effects a distribution of not less than 90% of the RealCo Voting Shares
then owned by New Lorus); and (ii) in the case of U.S. Persons, sell to Lorus for cash consideration
New Lorus’ remaining RealCo Voting Shares (not to exceed 10% of the RealCo Voting Shares then
owned by New Lorus) at the price per RealCo Voting Share paid by Investor at the Effective Time in
paragraph (t) above and distribute the proceeds of such sale to U.S. Persons on a pro rata basis,
disregarding fractions, as the cash equivalent to the vaiuve of the RealCo Voting Shares otherwise
distributable to them;

(w) Investor will purchase all of the RealCo Voting Shares held by High Tech and the Technifund Entities
at a fair market price determined based on the price per RealCo Voting Share paid by Investor in
paragraph (t) above;

(x) Investor will subscribe for 294,296,851 additional RealCo Non-Voling Shares for an aggregate cash
payment of $1.2 million; and

(y) Pinnacle or an affiliate thereof will transfer interests in certain real estate development projects to
Lorus in return for a cash payment and a promissory note of Lorus and Lorus will enter into certain
development, management and marketing agreements with Pinnacle and/or one or more affiliates
thereof (see Appendix H, “Information Respecting RealCo and Financial Statements of the Pinnacle
Partnerships — Summary of the Follow-On Real Estate Transactions™).

The respective obligations of Lorus, NuChem, GeneSense, New Lorus, Pinnacle and Investor 1o complete
the transactions contemplated by the Arrangement are subject to a number of conditions which must be satisfied
or waived in order for the Arrangement io become effective. See “The Arrangement — Arrangement
Agreement”.

Pinnacle Share Purchase Agreement

Under the Pinnacle Share Purchasc Agreement, Investor will purchase the Appropriate Number of RealCo
Voting Shares and all of the RealCo Non-Voting Shares. The purchase price payable by Investor to New Lorus
for each of such shares will be equal to $0.0040775156 per share; provided that, in no event will the aggregate
amount payable by Invesior under the Pinnacle Share Purchase Agreement and to certain Shareholders
pursuant to Section 3.01(24) of the Plan of Arrangement exceed $8,510,000.

The amount of $600,000 will be withheld from the purchase price payable by Investor on the Effective Date
and will be dealt with in accordance with the Escrow Agrecment. See “The Arrangement — Escrow
Apgreement”.

The aggregate purchase price payable at Closing pursuant to the Pinnacle Share Purchase Agreement has
been determined based on certain information available to the parties as at January 31, 2007 (the “Pre-Closing
Buyout Amount™). On or before the date that is 90 days after the Effective Date, New Lorus will prepare and
deliver 1o Investor an unaudited balance sheet setting out the calculation of the purchase price based on certain
information available as at the Closing Date (the “Closing Buyout Amount”). The Closing Buyout Amount
(including the documents used in connection with the calculation thereof) is subject to Investor’s review and
comment. If the parties cannot agree on the Closing Buyout Amount, the issue will be referred to an arbitrator.

If the Closing Buyout Amount (as determined by the parties or an arbitrator, as the case may be) exceeds
the Pre-Closing Buyout Amount, Investor will pay the amount of such difference, up to a maximum of $270,000,
to New Lorus. If the Closing Buyout Amount (as so determined) is less than the Pre-Closing Boyout Amount,
New Lorus will pay the amount of such difference to Investor. In both cases, the purchase price will be deemed
to be adjusted accordingly.
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Asset Transfer Agreements and Subsidiary Share Purchase Agreements

As part of the Arrangement and in order to transfer to New Lorus the business currently carried on
by Lorus:

* Lorus wili transfer the Tangible Business Assets to GeneSense pursuant to the terms and conditions of
the Tangible Business Assets Transfer Agreement in consideration for the issuance by GeneSense of one
GeneSense Share 1o Lorus;

+ Pursuant to the Virulizin and Small Molecule Patent Assets Transfer Agreement, Lorus will transfer the
Virulizin and Small Molecule Patent Assets to GeneSense in consideration for the issvance by
GeneSense of one GeneSense Share to Lorus and pursuant to the Prepaid Expenses and Receivables
Transfer Agreement, Lorus will transfer the Prepaid Expenses and Reccivables to GeneSense in
consideration for the issuance by GeneSense of one GeneSense Share 10 Lorus;

* GeneSense will transfer the Antisense Patent Transfer Assets to New Lorus pursuvant to the Antisense
Patent Assets Transfer Agreement in consideration for the issuance by New Lorus 1o GeneSense of the
New Lorus Note 1 in an amount ¢qual to the fair market value of the Antisense Patent Assels;

* Pursuant to the GeneSense Share Purchase Agreement, Lorus will transfer all of the GeneSense Shares
1o New Lorus at a price equal to their fair market value in exchange for the assumption by New Lorus of
Lorus’ remaining liabilities (other than the Lorus Note) and the issuance by New Lorus to Lorus of the
New Lorus Note 2; and

* Pursuant to the NuChem Share Purchase Agreement, Lorus will transfer all of the NuChem Shares held
by it to New Lorus at a price equal to their fair market value in consideration for the issuance by
New Lorus to Lorus of the New Lorus Note 3.

New Lorus will, as of the Effective Time, continue 10 employ each of the employees employed by Lorus as
of the Closing Date on terms and conditions of employment that are the same as those applicable to such
employees as of the Closing Date.

Indemnification Agreement

Pursuant to the Indemnification Agreement, New Lorus will fully indemnify and save harmless Lorus and
its directors, officers and employees from and against all damages, losses, expenses (including fines and
penalties), other third party costs and legal expenses, to which any of them may be subject arising out of any
matter occurring: (i} prior 1o, at or afier the Effective Time and directly or indirectly relating to the Assets
(including losses for income, sales, excise and other taxes arising in connection with the transfer of any Asset) or
the conduct of the business of Lorus prior to the Effective Time; (ii) prior to, at or after the Effective Time as a
result of any and all interests, rights, habilitics and other matters relating to the Assets; and (iii) prior 1o or at the
Effective Time and directly or indirectly relating to, with certain exceptions, any of the activities of Lorus or the
Arrangement.

Escrow Agreement

Pursuant to the Escrow Agreement, $600,000 of the purchase price payable by Invesior to New Lorus under
the Pinnacle Share Purchase Agreement will be withheld by Investor and placed into escrow with
Equity Transfer & Trust Company, as escrow agent, The monies placed into escrow will be held as security for
and a partial, but not exclusive, source of satisfaction of New Lorus’ indemnification obligations to the Purchaser
Indemnified Parties under the Pinnacle Share Purchase Agreement until the first anniversary of the
Closing Date.
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Purchase of RealCo Voting Shares from Certain Shareholders

As part of the Arrangement and at the request of Investor, Invesior will purchase all of the RealCo Voting
Shares to be received by High Tech and the Technifund Entities pursuant to the Arrangement, at the same price
per RealCo Voting Share as paid at the Effective Time by Investor to New Lorus for each RealCo Voting Share
pursuant 1o the Pinnacle Share Purchase Agreement, upon and subject 1o the terms and conditions of share
purchase agreements between Investor and each of High Tech and the Technifund Entities. Lorus has agreed 1o
pay all third party and out of pocket costs of High Tech in respect of this purchase, estimated to be $10,000.

Shareholder Entitlements
New Lorus Common Shares

As part of the Arrangement, each Sharcholder will receive one New Lorus Common Share for each
Common Share held.

RealCo Voting Shares

As part of the Arrangement, in addition to receiving New Lorus Common Shares as indicated above, each
Shareholder (other than U.S. Persons, High Tech and the Technifund Entities) will receive approximately
0.08 RealCo Voling Shares for each Common Share held, disregarding fractions. Any entitlement that would
otherwise include a fractional interest in RealCo Voting Shares will be rounded down 1o the next lowest whole
number of RealCo Voting Shares. No cash payment or other compensation will be made with respect to any such
fractional interest.

The actual number of RealCo Voting Shares that will be distribuied to Shareholders (other than
U.S. Persons, High Tech and the Technifund Entities) depends on a number of variables that will be determined
as of the Effective Date, including, among other things, the actual number of Common Shares held by
U.S. Persons and the actual number of RealCo Voting Shares that Investor will purchase from New Lorus
pursuant to the Pinnacle Share Purchase Agreement. The entitlement 1o RealCo Voting Shares described above
is an estimate based on current information available to Lorus, however, such entitlement is subject to change
and will not be determined uniil the Effective Date,

Cash Payments

As part of the Arrangement, in addition to receiving New Lorus Common Shares as indicaled above, each
U.S. Person, High Tech and the Technifund Entities will receive a cash payment equal to $0.0040775156 for each
RealCo Voting Share that they would otherwise have received, rounded to the nearest $0.01. Based on current
information available to Lorus with respect 1o the number of Common Shares held by U.S. Persons, High Tech
and the Technifund Entities, the estimated cash payments are cxpected to be approximately as follows:

Estimated # of Rate per Estimated

RealCo Voting Shares  RealCo Voting Share  Cash Payment
US. Persons ... . i 1,098,000 30.0040775156 $ 4,500
HighTech ... .. .. ... 2,304,000 80.0040775156 $ 9,400
Technifund Entities .. .. ....... ... ... ... ... 1,653,000 $0.0040775156 $ 6,700
TOTAL . ... $20,600

The cash payments described above are estimates based on current information available to Lorus,
however, such payments are subject to change based on the actual number of Common Shares held by
U.S. Persons, High Tech and the Technitfund Entities as of the Effective Date.
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Treatment of Options, Convertible Debentures and Warrants

The Plan of Arrangement provides that the Options and Warrants will be exchanged for New Lorus Options
and New Lorus Warrants and will thereafier be cancelled and will cease to represent any right or claim
whatsoever o shares of Lorus. The New Lorus Options will entitle the holder thereof to receive, upon the
exercise of the New Lorus Options, a number of New Lorus Common Shares equivalent to the number of
Common Shares such holder would have been entitled to receive pursuant to the Options.

Pursuant to the Debenture Assumption Agreement, New Lorus will assume Lorus’ obligation to pay
TEMIC the $15 million aggregate principal amount plus accrued interest owing under the Converiible
Debentures in consideration for Lorus issuing the Lorus Note). The right of TEMIC under the Convertible
Dehentures to convert such debentures into Common Shares will be exchanged for the right to convert such
debentures into an equal number of New Lorus Common Shares. In consideration of TEMIC’s agreement to
permit Lorus 1o assign, and New Lorus 10 assume, the obligations of Lorus under the Convertible Debentures,
TEMIC has requested that New Lorus repurchase the New Lorus Warrants held by it. Accordingly, pursuant 1o
the terms and conditions of the Warrant Repurchase Agreement, New Lorus will repurchase the New Lorus
Warrants from TEMIC effective the Effective Date for a purchase price of $252,000, representing the Black-
Scholes value of the New Lorus Warrants. The Warrant repurchase is subject to the approval of the TSX. Lorus
has agreed to pay all third party and out of pocket costs of TEMIC in respect of these matters, estimated to be
$5.000.

Effect of the Arrangement

Upon completion of the Arrangement, the Shareholders will be the holders of all of the issued and
outstanding New Lorus Common Shares and New Lorus will be the holder of the Antisense Patent Assets, and
will carry on the business previously carried on by Lorus with an additional working capital of approximately
$8.5 million, subject to a $600,000 holdback and a maximum post closing adjustment of $270,000, not including
the costs of the transaction. GeneSense will be a wholly-owned subsidiary of New Lorus and New Lorus will hold
all of the NuChem Shares previously held by Lorus. GeneSense will be the holder of the Tangible Business
Assels, the Virulizin and Small Molecule Patent Assets and the Prepaid Expenses and Receivables, which assets,
together with the Antisense Patent Assets and NuChem Shares, constitute all of the assets of Lorus prior to the
Arrangement.

In addition, Non-U.S. Persons will hold, at the Effective Time, in the aggregate, approximately 59% of the
RealCo Voting Shares then outsianding, representing approximately a 0.5% economic equity interest in RealCo.
Following Closing, RealCo will hold limited partnership interests in two residential and mixed-use condominium
projects in Toronto, Oniario and may raise additional capital on a dilutive basis to focus on pursuing
opportunities as a real estate development company. HighTech, the Technifund Entities and U.S. Persons will,
subject to certain limitations, receive a cash payment in an amount equal to the value of the RealCo Voling
Shares otherwise distributable to them. See “Exchange of Common Shares and “— Cash Payments”. Neither
the RealCo Voting Shares nor the RealCo Non-Voting Shares will be listed on any stock exchange.

Provided that the transactions described in this Circular are approved, immediately upon completion of the
transactions contermplated by the Arrangement, Invesior will own approximately 41% of the RealCo Voting
Shares and 100% of the RealCo Non-Voting Shares, representing, in the aggregate al the Effective Time,
approximately 99.5% of the economic equity interest in RealCo.

Lorus will also assign all of its contractual obligations to New Lorus and New Lorus will assume such
obligations, incloding employment obligations.

In connection with the Arrangement, New Lorus will cause the New Lorus Common Shares 1o be listed on
the TSX subject to the fulfillment of the conditions set by the TSX. Lorus has made an applicalion to have the
New Lorus Common Shares listed on the AMEX, but cannot assure Shareholders that the New Lorus Commeon
Shares will be listed and posted for trading on the AMEX. The New Lorus Common Shares will be registered
under section 12(b) of the 1934 Act. In addition, the Common Shares will be delisted from both the TSX and the
AMEX and Lorus will cease reporting under the 1934 Act.

As a result of the Arrangement, Investor, an affiliate of Pinnacle, will obtain an economic interest in a
company having certain non-transferable corporate attributes, including, among other things, a wide shareholder
base and status as a “‘reporting issuer” under applicable Canadian Securities Legislation, all of which Investor
believes may be of benefit 10 RealCo’s business following completion of the Arrangement.
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Corporate Structure

Presented below is a simplified corporate structure of Lorus before and immediately after completion of the

Arrangement:

CURRENT STRUCTURE
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STRUCTURE IMMEDIATELY AFTER THE ARRANGEMENT
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The following is a description of the material terms and conditions of the Arrangement Agreement and is
qualified in its entirety by the specific terms and conditions of the Arrangement Agreement, a copy of which is
available under Lorus’ profile on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. Securityholders are encouraged to read the
Arrangement Agreement and the Plan of Arrangement in their entirety.
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General

Lorus, NuChem, GeneSense, New Lorus, Pinnacle and Investor have entered into the Arrangement
Agreement, which contains certain covenants, representations and warranties of, and from, each of Lorus,
New Lorus, Investor and Pinnacle and various conditions precedent, both mutual and with respect 10 each of
Lorus, NuChem, GeneSense, New Lorus, Pinnacie and Investor, to the implementation of the Arrangement.

Mutual Conditions Precedent

The respective obligations of Lorus, NuChem, GeneSense, New Lorus, Pinnacle and Investor to
consummate the transactions contemplated in the Arrangement Agreement, and in particular the Arrangement,
are subject to the satisfaction, on or before the Effective Date or such other time as is specified below, of the
following conditions, any of which may be waived by the mutual consent of such parties without prejudice to
their right 1o rely on any other of such conditions:

(a)

(b)

()

(d)

(¢}

()

(g)

(h)

the Interim Order will have been granted in form and substance satisfactory to each of Lorus and
Investor, acting reasonably, and will not have been set aside or modified in a manner unacceptable 1o
such parties, acting reasonably, on appeal or otherwise;

on or before June 30, 2007 the Arrangement Resolution will have been passed by the Securityholders
in form and substance satisfactory 1o each of Lorus and Investor, acling reasonably, duly approving the
Arrangement in accordance with the Interim Order and the requirements of applicable Securities
Laws, as applicable;

on or before July 15, 2007 the Final Order will have been granted in form and substance satisfactory to
each of Lorus and Investor, cach acting reasonably;

each of High Tech and the Technifund Entities will have (i) voted all Common Shares held by, or under
the control or direction of, them in favour of the Arrangement, and (ii) agreed, subject 1o certain terms
and conditions, to sell to Investor at the Effective Time all of the RealCo Voting Shares held by each of
High Tech and the Technifund Entities pursuant to writlen documentation {which remains in full force
and effect) in form and substance satisfactory to each of Lorus and Investor, cach acling reasonably,
and Investor, acting reasonably, will be satisfied that no condition exists that has resulied in, or could
result in, any of High Tech and the Technifund Entities failing to sell all of its RealCo Voting Shares to
Investor pursuant to the Arrangement;

the Articles of Arrangement, together with the Final Order, to be filed with the Director in accordance
with the Arrangement Agreement and Section 192(6) of the CBCA, shall be in form and substance
satisfactory to each of Lorus and Investor, each acting reasonably;

the TSX will have accepted notice of the Arrangement and the iransaclions contemplated thereby and
will have approved the listing of the New Lorus Common Shares, subject only to the conditions that
may be imposed by the TSX;

the AMEX will have accepted notice of the Arrangement and the transactions contemplated and will
have approved (he listing of the New Lorus Common Shares, subject only to the conditions that may be
imposed by the AMEX;

subject 10 Section 11.4(c) of the Arrangement Agreement, the Arrangement will have become effective
on or before July 31, 2007;

there will be no action taken under any Applicable Law that:

(i} makes illegal or otherwise directly or indirectly restrains, enjoins or prohibits the Arrangement or
any other transactions contemplated by the Arrangement Agreement;

(i) results in a judgment or assessment of malterial damages directly or indirectly relating to the
transactions contemplated by the Arrangement Agreement; or

(i1} has had or, if the Arrangement was consummated, would reasonably be ¢xpected 1o result in, a
Maternal Adverse Effect on Lorus, NuChem, GeneSense, New Lorus, Pinnacle or Investor;
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(k)

0

(m)

(m)

(0)

(@

the Pinnacle Share Purchase Agreement will have been executed on terms satisfactory to New Lorus
and Investor, acting reasonably, in accordance with the Arrangement Agreement;

the Escrow Agreement will have been executed on terms satisfactory to Investor and New Lorus, acting
reasonably;

each of the Asset Transfer Agreements and the Subsidiary Share Purchase Agreements will have been
executed by each of the parties thereto and each of the transactions contemplated by such agreements
will have been completed in accordance with the terms thereof;

the Indemnification Agreement will have been executed on terms satisfactory 1o Investor, New Lorus
and Lorus, each acting reasonably, in accordance with the Arrangement Agreement;

no material action or proceeding will be pending or threatened by any Person or Governmental
Authority to enjoin or prohibit the Arrangement from being completed, or result in a judgment in
material damages relating to the transaction as contemplated in the Arrangement Agreement;

other than High Tech and the Technifund Entities (except to the exient that any such Person has
terminated any agreement contemplated by subsection (d) above), no Person, whether alone or jointly
or in concert with others, will, immediately prior to the Effective Date, beneficially own, or exercise
control or direction over, more than 10% of the then issued and outstanding Common Shares; and

immediately prior to the Effective Date, High Tech and the Technifund Entities (together with any
Person acting jointly or in concert with High Tech and the Technifund Entities) will not beneficially
own, or exercise control or direction over, in the aggregate, more than 25% of the then issued and
outstanding Common Shares; and

Pinnacle, in its reasonable judgment, will be satisfied that, immediately prior to the Effective Time,
Shareholders Resident in the United States do not hold, in the aggregate, more than 10% of the
outstanding Common Shares.

The foregoing conditions are provided in the Arrangement Agreement for the mutual benefit of each of
Lorus and Investor and may be asserted by each of Lorus and Investor regardless of the circumstances and may
be waived by each of Lorus and Investor, at any time.

Conditions to Obligations of Lorus

The obligations of Lorus to consummate the transactions contemplated in the Arrangement Agreement,
and in particular the Arrangement, are subject to the satisfaction, on or before the Effective Date or such other
time as is specified below, of the following conditions:

(a)

(b)

each of the acts and underiakings of Pinnacle and Investor to be performed on or before the Effective
Date pursuant to the terms of the Arrangement Agreement will have been duly performed by Pinnacle
and Investor in accordance with the terms of the Arrangement Agreement and the Plan
of Arrangement;

excepl as affected by the transactions contemplated by the Arrangement Agreement, the
representations and warranties of Investor contained in the Arrangement Agreement and the
representations and warranties of Pinnacle contained in the Arrangement Agreement will be true and
correct in all material respects on the Effective Date with the same force and effect as though such
representalions and warranties had been made at and as of such time (except to the exient that
such representations and warranties speak as of a particular date) except where the failure of such
representations and warranties 1o be true and correct would not have a Material Adverse Effect on
Pinnacle or Investor, and both Pinnacle and Investor will have complied in all material respects with
their respective covenants in the Arrangement Agreement and Lorus shall have received certificates to
that effect, dated the Effective Date, from a senior officer of each of Pinnacle and Investor,
respectively, acting solely on behalf of the company in question and not in his personal capacity, to the
best of his information and belief having made reasonable inquiry and Lorus shall have no actual
knowledge to the contrary;
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(d)

(e)

()

()

there shall not have occurred a Material Adverse Change in respect of Pinnacle or Investor;

all requisite consents, orders, approvals and authorizations, including, without limitation, regulatory
and judicial approvals and orders, required or necessary for the completion of the Arrangement will
have been completed or obtained on terms and conditions satisfactory to Lorus, acting reasonably, and
all applicable statutory or regulatory waiting periods to the transactions contemplated under the
Arrangement, will have been expired or been terminated, and no objection or opposition will have
been filed, initialed or made by any regulatory authority during any applicable statutory or regulatory
period,;

Sharcholders will not have exercised the Dissent Rights or similar rights, and will not have instituted
proceedings Lo exercise the Dissent Rights or similar rights in connection with the Arrangement (other
than Shareholders rvepresenting, in the aggregate, not more than 2.5% of the outstanding
Common Shares);

Lorus will have received a written fairness opinion from Deloitte & Touche LLP confirming its
preliminary opinion that the Arrangement is fair, from a financial point of view, 10 the Securityholders,
which opinion will have been included in this Circular; and

there being no change in law (including a proposal by the Minister of Finance of Canada to amend the
Tax Act or any announcement, governmental or regulatory initiative, condition, event or development
involving a change or a prospective change) that in the judgment of Lorus, acting reasonably, directly
or indirectly, has or may have a Material Adverse Effect on or with respect to Lorus, GeneSense,
NuChem or New Lorus, with respect to the regulatory regime applicable to their respeclive businesses
and operations, or with respect to consummating the transactions contemplated by the Plan
of Arrangement.

The foregoing conditions provided in the Arrangement Agreement are for the exclusive benefit of Lorus
and may be asserted by Lorus regardless of the circumstances or may be waived by Lorus in its sole discretion, in
whole or in part, at any time.

Conditions to Obligations of Pinnacle and Invesior

The obligations of Pinnacle and Investor to consummate the transactions contemplated in the Arrangementi
Agreement, and in particular the Arrangement, are subject 10 the satisfaction, on or before the Effective Date or
such other time as is specified below, of the following conditions:

(a)

(b)

()

each of the acts and undertakings of each of Lorus, NuChem, GeneSense and New Lorus 1o be
performed on or hefore the Effective Date pursuant 1o the terms of the Arrangement Agreement will
have been duly performed by cach of Lorus, NuChem, GeneSense and New Lorus in accordance with
the terms of the Arrangement Agreement and the Plan of Arrangement;

except as affected by the transactions contemplated by the Arrangement Agreement, the
representations and warranties of Lorus contained in the Arrangement Agreement and of New Lorus
contained in the Arrangement Agreement will be true in all material respects on the Effective Date
with the same force and effect as though such representations and warranties had been made at and as
of such time (except to the extent such representations and warranties speak as of a particular date)
except where the failure of such representations and warrantics to be true and correct would not have a
Material Adverse Effect on Lorus, and Lorus will have complied in all material respccts with its
covenants in the Arrangement Agreement and Investor will have received certificates to that effect,
dated the Effective Date, from a senior officer of each of Lorus, NuChem, GeneSense and New Lorus
respectively, acting solely on behalf of the company in question and not in his personal capacity, to the
best of his information and belief having made reasonable inquiry and Investor shall have no actual
knowledge to the contrary, provided that, Lorus will have the ability in such certificate to update the
representation and warranty of Lorus contained in Section 4.1(g) of the Arrangement Agreement;

there will not have occurred any Material Adverse Change in respect of Lorus or any of its subsidiaries;

36

7




(d) the directors and officers of Lorus identified by Investor will have provided their resignations, together
with mutual releases in favour of Lorus and Investor, ¢ffective on the Effective Date, each in a form
and substance and on such lerms as are satisfactory 10 Investor, acling reasonably;

(e) Lorus will not have declared or paid any dividends or made any other distributions of any of its
securities or granted any further options or warrants or any right or privilege capable of becoming an
option or agreement in respecl of its securities;

(f) Invesior will be satisfied that all steps have been taken 1o ensure that all liabilities and obligations of
Lorus will have been paid or otherwise extinguished or assumed and Investor will have received such
releases or other evidence of the satisfaction or assumption of such liabilities, as Investor, in its sole
discretion, considers appropriale or necessary;

(g} all security registrations against Lorus will have been discharged; and

(h) there being no change in law {including a proposal by the Minister of Finance of Canada to amend the
Tax Acl or any announcement, governmental or regulatory initiative, condition, event or development
involving a change or a prospective change) that in the judgement of Investor or Pinnacle, acting
reasonably, directly or indirectly, has or may have a Material Adverse Effect on or with respect to
Lorus, GeneSense or NuChem, with respect to the regulatory regime applicable 1o their respective
businesses and operations, or with respect 10 consummating the transactions contemplated by the Plan
of Arrangement.

The foregoing conditions are provided in the Arrangement Agreement for the exclusive benefit of Investor
and may be asserted by Investor regardicss of the circumstances or may be waived by Investor in its sole
discretian, in whole or in part, at any time.

If the Arrangement is approved by the Securityholders, the Final Order is obtained from the Court and all
of the conditions set forth in the Arrangement Agreement are satisfied or waived, Lorus intends to cause a copy
of the Articles of Arrangement to be filed with the Director, together with such other malerials as may be
required by the Director.

Notwithsianding the foregoing, the Arrangement Resolution proposed for consideration by the
Securityholders authorizes the Board of Directors, without further notice to or approval of Securityholders, 1o
amend the Arrangement Agreement, Lo decide not to proceed with the Arrangement and 1o revoke the
Arrangement Resolution at any time prior to the Effective Date, See Appendix A attached hereto for the texi of
the Arrangement Resolution.

Non-Solicitation and Right to Match

The Arrangement Agreement provides that Lorus will immediately terminate and cause to be terminated
afl solicitations, initiations, encouragements, discussions or negotiations with any parties conducted before the
date of the Arrungement Agreement with respect to any Acquisition Proposal and that it should not directly or
indirectly, through any of its officers, dircctors, employees or any other Person acting on its behalf:

(a) solicit, initiate, invite or knowingly encourage (including, by way of furnishing confidential information
or enlering into any form of agreement, arrangement or understanding) any proposal by a third party
or third parties that may reasonably be expected to lead to a transaction substantially similar to that
contemplated by the Arrangement Agreement or with respect to any asset purchase, merger,
amalgamation, arrangement, share exchange, take-over bid, tender offer, recapitalization,
consolidation or business combination involving Lorus existing prior 1o the Effective Date, excluding
the transactions contemplated by the Arrangement Agreement and the Plan of Arrangement (any such
inquiry or proposal in respect of any of the foregoing being an “Acquisition Proposal”); and

(b) release any third party from any confidentiality agreement in respect of an Acquisition Proposal to
which such third party is a party or, release any third party from any standstill agreement to which such
third party is a party, unless such third party has made a Superior Proposal {as hereinafter defined).
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Lorus will promptly notify Investor of any current or future Acquisition Proposal of which Lorus’ directors
or senior officers became aware or any request for non-public information relating to Lorus in connection with
an Acquisition Proposal or for access to the properties, books or records of Lorus for a list of the
Securityholders by any Person considering making an Acquisition Proposal.

However, the Arrangement Agreement provides that Lorus (and its directors and officers) may engage in
discussions or negotiations with a third party who (without any solicitation, initiation or encouragement, directly
or indirectly, by Lorus or any of the officers, directors, employees or agents acting on its behalf) seeks to initiate
such discussions or negotiations and, subject to execution of a confidentiality agreement, may furnish such third
party information concerning Lorus and its business, if;

(a) the third party has first made a written bona fide Acquisition Proposal: (i) in respect of which any
required financing has been demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Board of Directors of Lorus, acting
in good faith, 10 be reasonably likely obtained; (ii) in respect of which the Board of Directors
determines (having consulied outside counsel) that in the exercise of its fiduciary duties it would be
necessary for the Board of Directors to take such action in order to avoid breaching its fiduciary duties;
and (iii) in respect of which the Board of Directors of Lorus determines in good faith, after consulting
with financial advisors, if consummated in accordance with its terms, would result in a transaction more
favourable financially 10 its Securityholders than the Arrangement (a “Superior Proposal™); and

(b) prior to furnishing such information to such Person, Lorus provides prompt notice to Investor to the
effect that it is furnishing information to such Person together with a copy of the confidentiality
agreemeni referenced above and provides Investor with a list of the information provided to the Person
making the Superior Proposal.

Lorus will not accept, approve or recommend or enter into any agreement (except for a confidentiality
agreement as described above) in respect of an Acquisition Proposal on the basis that il constitutes a Superior
Proposal unless: (i) it has complied with ils non-solicitation obligations under the Arrangement Agreement;
(ii) it has provided Investor with a complete copy of the Acquisition Proposal document which has been
determined to be a Superior Proposal with such deletions as are necessary to protect certain confidential
portions; {iii} four Business Days {the “Notice Period”) will have elapsed from the later of the date Investor
received notice of the determination to accept, approve or recommend an agreement in respect of such
Acquisition Proposal, and the date Investor received a copy of the Acquisition Proposal document; and (iv} it
concurrently terminates the Arrangement Agreement and pays to Investor the non-completion fee described
below under the heading “Arrangement Agreement — Lorus Non-Completion Fee”. During the Notice Period,
Lorus will provide a reasonable opportunity to Investor to consider, discuss and offer such adjustments in the
terms and conditions of the Arrangement Agreement as would enable Lorus to proceed with its
recommendation to the Securityholders with respect to the Arrangement; provided however thal any such
adjustment will be at the discretion of Lorus and Investor at the time. The Board of Directors will review in good
faith any offer made by Invesior 10 amend the terms of the Arrangement Agreement in order to determine, in its
discretion, as part of its exercising of its fiduciary duties, whether the proposed amendments would, upon
acceptance, tesult in such Superior Proposal ceasing (o be a Superior Propaosal. If the Board of Directlors
determines that the Superior Proposal would cease to be a Superior Proposal, it will so advise Investor and will
accept the offer by Investor to amend the terms of the Arrangement Agreement and Lorus and Invesior agree to
1ake such actions and execute such documents as are necessary 1o give effect to the foregoing. If the Board of
Directors continues 1o believe, in good faith and after consultation with financial advisors and outside counsel,
that such Superior Proposal remains a Superior Proposal and therefore rejects the amendments offered by
Investor, Lorus may, subject 1o the terms of the Arrangement Agreement, including the payment of the Lorus
non-completion fee, accept, approve, recommend or enter into an agreement, understanding or arrangement in
respect of such Superior Proposal. Each successive material modification of any Acquisition Proposal or a
Superior Proposal will constitute a new Acquisition Proposal and will require a four business day Notice Period
trom the date such amendmenl is communicated to Investor.

38

17




Lorus Non-Completion Fee
If at any time after the execution of, and prior to the termination of, the Arrangement Agreement:

(a) the Board of Directors withdraws, qualifies or changes any of its recommendations or determinations
as 1o the fairness from a financial point of view of the Arrangement in a manner adverse to Investor or
resolves to do so prior to the Effective Date; provided that if the Board of Directors determines in
good faith that Pinnacle or Investor is in material breach of any of ils representations, warranties or
covenants under the Arrangement Apgrecment and communicales such determination to the
Securityholders, such communication will not constitute a withdrawal or qualification of the Board of
Directors; or

(b) Lorus accepts, approves, recommends or enlers into any contractual agreement with any Person with
respect 10 an Acquisition Proposal prior to the Meeting, excluding a confidentiality agreement entered
into in compliance with the Arrangement Agreement; or

(c) except as contemplated by the Arrangement Agreement with respect Lo Investor’s right to respond o
any Superior Proposal, Lorus publicly announces its intention to do any of the foregoing; or

(d) the Meeting is cancelled, adjourned or posiponed except with the prior written consent of Investor,

(each of the above being a “Lorus Payment Event”), then Lorus shall pay to Investor the amount of $600,000 as
a non-completion fee in immediately available funds within two Business Days after the occurrence of any one of
the Lorus Payment Events. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, if a payment has been made under any of
paragraphs (a), (b), (¢) and (d} above, no further payment will be required for the events provided therein.

Pinnacle Non-Completion Fee

If at any time after the execution of, and prior to the termination of the Arrangement Agreement, except in.

the event that the board of directors of Pinnacle or Investor determines in geod faith that Lorus is in material
breach of any of its representations, warranties or covenants under the Arrangement Agreement, the board of
directors of Pinnacle or Investor withdraws its approval to enter into the Arrangement Agreement or, resolves to
do so prior to the Effective Date {a “Pinnacle Payment Event”), then Pinnacle and Investor will be liable to pay
10 Lorus, on a joint and several basis, the amount of $600,000 as a non-completion fee in immediately available
funds 1o an account designated by Lorus within two Business Days after the occurrence of any one of the
Pinnacle Payment Events.

Representations and Warranties

The Arrangement Agreement contains various representations and warranties of Lorus with respect to
itself and its subsidiaries and New Lorus with respect to itself. These representations and warranties relale 1o,
among other things: {a) corporale organization, exisicnce and similar corporate matters; (b) capitalization;
(c) the authorization, execution, delivery and enforceability of the Arrangement Agreement; (d) that the
execution and delivery of the Arrangement Agreement and the completion of the Arrangement do not result in
violation or breach of any of their respective constating documents; () their respective financial statements
having been prepared in accordance with GAAP; (f) the absence of litigation; (g) completeness and accuracy of
financial and corporate books and records; (h) the filing of tax returns and tax matiers; (i} consents required
(including those required by the TSX and the AMEX); (j) labour matters; and (k) director approvals.

The Arrangement Agreement contains various representations and warranties of Pinnacle and Investor
with respect to Pinnacle and Investor. These representations and warranlies relate to, among other things:
(a) corporale organizalion, existence and similar corporate matters; (b) capitalization; (c) the authorization,
execution, delivery and enforceability of the Arrangement Agreement; (d) that the execution and delivery of the
Arrangement Agreement and the completion of the Arrangement do not result in violation or breach of any of
their respective constating documents; (¢) consents required; and (f) director approvals.
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Termination of the Arrangement Agreement

The Arrangement Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the Effective Time, whether before or
after approval of the Arrangement by the Securityholders, by the mutual agreement of Lorus and Investor or by
written notice based on the following:

(a) by either Lorus or Investor, with respect (o termination rights described above under the subheadings
“Mutval Conditions Precedent”, “Conditions to Obligations of Lorus” and “Conditions to Obligations
of Investor”, other than as a result of a breach of the Arrangement Agreement by the terminating party
which has not been cured in accordance with the Arrangement Agreement; or

(b) by Investor upon the occurrence of a Lorus Payment Event as described above under the subheading
“Non-Completion Fee”; or

(c) by Lorus upon the acceptance of a Superior Proposal pursuant to the Arrangement Agreement, as
described above under the subheading ““Non-Solicitation and Right to Match”, but only so long as the
Arrangement has not been approved by the requisite majority of Securityholders; or

{d) by Lorus upon the occurrence of a Pinnacle Payment Event.

The Arrangement Agreement will be automatically terminated if the Securityholders do not approve the
Arrangement at the Meeting,

Expenses of the Arrangement

The expenses incurred by Lorus and New Lorus for the purposes of the Arrangement, including the
professional fees (legal, financing, advisory and accounting), the expenses related to the preparation, printing
and mailing of this Circular and the holding of the Meeting, transfer agent and depositary costs, audit costs,
listing fees and the provision of the Fairness Opinion, which costs, in the aggregate, are estimated at $1.1 million,
will be borne by New Lorus. Readers are cautioned that these expenses are estimates only and may not reflect
the actual expenses incurred by Lorus and New Lorus.

The estimated fees, costs and expenses in connection with the Arrangement are set forth in the table below:

Legal, accounting and filing fees .. ... ... o o it $ 900,000
Printing, proxy solicitation and mailing costs . . ... ... ... .o, 200,000
8 1o T e $1,100,000

Pursuant to the Arrangement Agreement, all costs and expenses of the parties in connection with the
Arrangement are 10 be paid by the party incurring such expenses.
Procedure for the Arrangement Becoming Effective

Procedural Steps

The Arrangement is proposed to be carried out pursuant 1o Section 192 of the CBCA. The following
procedural steps must be taken for the Arrangement to become effective:

* the Arrangement Resolution must be approved by at least two-thirds of the votes cast by the
Securityholders voting as a single class, present in person or represented by proxy, and entitled to vote at
the Meeting;

* the Arrangement Resolution must be approved by at least a simple majority of the votes cast by the
Minority Shareholders, present in person or represented by proxy, and entitled to vote at the Meeling;

= all conditions set forth in the Arrangement Agreement must be satisfied or waived by the appropriate
partics;

« the Arrangement must be approved by the Court pursuant to the Final Order; and

* the Articles of Arrangement must be filed with the Director in the form prescribed by the CBCA.
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Securitvholder Approval

The Interim Order provides that the Arrangement Resolution must be approved by at least two-thirds of
the votes cast by the Securityholders present in person or represented by proxy at the Meeting voting as a single
class, each Shareholder entitled 1o vote thereon being entitled to one vote for each Common Share held and
each Convertible Securityholder entitled to vote thereon being entitled to one vote for each Common Share
such holder would have been entitled to receive upon the valid exercise or conversion of his, her or its
Convertible Security, as applicable. In addition, the Arrangement Resolution requires the approval by at least a
simple majority of the votes cast by Minority Sharcholders. See “Canadian Securities Matters”.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Arrangement Agreement authorizes Lorus, GeneSense, NuChem,
New Lorus and Pinnacle, subject 10 the terms of the Arrangement Agreement, without further notice 1o or
approval of the Securityholders, to amend or terminate the Plan of Arrangement, to decide not to proceed with
the Plan of Arrangement and 1o revoke the Plan of Arrangement al any time prior to the Effective Time. See
Appendix C (Plan of Arrangement) attached hereto for the full text of the Plan of Arrangement.

Court Approval

The CBCA pravides that the Arrangement requires Court approval. On May 16, 2007, Lorus obtained the
Interim Order providing for the calling and holding of the Meeting and other procedural matters. See the
Interim Order and Notice of Application for the Final Order included as Appendix I) (Interim Order and Notice
of Application for the Final Order} attached hereto.

Subject to the terms of the Arrangement Agreement and the adoption of the Arrangement Resolution at
the Meeting in the manner required by the Interim Order, Lorus will make application to the Court for the Final
Order at the Ontario Superior Court of Justice, Toronto, Ontario, on June 27, 2007 at 10:00 a.m. (Torento time)
or as soon thereafter as counsel may be heard. Any Securityholder who wishes to appear, or to be represented,
and to present evidence or arguments must serve and file a notice of appearance as set out in the Notice of
Application for the Final Order and satisfy any other requirements of the Court.

Lorus has been advised by its counsel, McCarthy Tétrault LLF, that the Court has broad discretion under
the CBCA when making orders with respect to the Arrangement, and that the Court, in hearing the application
for the Final Order, will consider, among other things, the fairness of the Arrangement to the Securityholders
and any other interested party that the Court determines appropriate. The Court may approve the Arrangement,
either as proposed or as amended, in any manner the Court may direct, subject to compliance with the terms and
conditions of such approval, if any, as the Court may determine appropriate. Depending on the nature of any
required amendments, Lorus, New Lorus, Pinnacle or Investor may determine not to proceed with the
Arrangement in the event that any amendment ordered by the Court is not satisfactory to any of Lorus,
New Lorus, Pinnacle or Investor, acting reasonably.

The issuance of the New Lorus Common Shares, New Lorus Options, New Lorus Warrants and RealCo
Voting Shares pursuant to the Arrangement will not be registered under the provisions of the 1933 Act and are
being issued in reliance upon the exemption from registration provided by Section 3(a)(10) of the 1933 Act. The
Court will be advised at the hearing of the application for the Final Order that if the terms and conditions of the
Arrangement are approved by the Court, the issuance of the New Lorus Common Shares, New Lorus Options,
New Lorus Warrants and RealCo Voting Shares issued pursuant to the Arrangement will not require registration
under the 1933 Act.

FAIRNESS OPINION

Deloitte & Touche LLP was retained by the Board of Directors to provide an opinion in respect of the
fairness, from a financial point of view, of the Arrangement to the Securityholders. In consideration for its
services in this respect, Lorus agreed to pay Deloitte & Touche LLP certain fees and indemnify Deloitte &
Touche LLP in respect of certain liabilities. Deloitte & Touche LLP has advised the Board of Directors that
neither Deloitte & Touche LLP nor any of its affiliates or associates is an insider, associate or affiliate of Lorus,
Investor, New Lorus or any of their respeclive associates or affiliates. Deloitte & Touche LLP has further
advised the Board of Directors that it has not been engaged to provide any other financial advisory services nor
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has it participated in any financing involving Lorus, Investor, New Lorus or any of their respective associates or
affiliates, within the past two years, other than (i) the services provided in connection with the provision of the
Fairness Opinion to the Board of Directors and as hereinafter described; and (ii) property tax services, including
property lax assessment appeals filed for calendar years 2003 to 2005. There are no understandings, agreements
or commitments between Deloitte & Touche LLP and Lorus, lnvestor, New Lorus or any of their respective
associates or affiliates with respect to any future business dealings. The compensation of Deloitte & Touche LLP
in connection with the provision of the Fairness Opinion is not contingent in any way on the conclusions reached
in the Fairness Opinion or the successful consummation of the Arrangement.

As indicated in its Fairness Opinion, Deloitte & Touche LLP is of the opinion, based on its scope of review
and subject (o the restrictions, limitations and assumptions contained therein, that the proposed Arrangement is
fair, from a financial point of view, to the Securityholders.

A copy of the Fairness Opinion is attached hereto as Appendix E, The Fairness Opinion is subject to the
restrictions, limitations and assumptions contained therein. Securityholders are urged (o, and should, read the
Fairness Opinion in its entirety.

RECOMMENDATION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Those members of the Board of Directors entitled to vole thereon have determined that the terms of the
Arrangement are in the best interests of Lorus and the Securitvholders, as a whole, and are fair from a financial
point of view 1o the Securityholders. As such, those members of the Board of Directors entitled to vote thereon
have unanimously approved the Arrangement and authorized the submission of the Arrangement to the
Securityholders for approval.

In coming to its conclusions and recommendations, the Board considered, among other things, the
foliowing factors:

* following the Arrangement, the Shareholders will hold 100% of the New Lorus Common Shares, which
will carry on the same business that Lorus carried on prior 1o completion of the Arrangement, but with
the injection of additional working capital of approximately $8.5 million, subject to a $600,0600 holdback
and a maximum post closing adjustment of $270,000, not including the costs of the transaction, without
any dilution to current Shareholders;

* the Arrangement will also result in the Non-U.S. Persons holding at the Effective Time, in the aggregate,
approximately 59% of the RealCo Voting Shares then outsianding, representing an approximate 0.5%
economic equity interest in RealCo;

* U.S. Persons will, subject 1o certain limitations, receive a cash payment in an amount equal to the value of
the RealCo Voling Shares otherwise distributable to them;

* the Fairness Opinion concluded that the Arrangement is fair, from a financial point of view, 1o the
Securityholders;

* the Arrangement will not proceed unless the Arrangement Resolution receives a favourable vote of: (i) at
least two-thirds of the votes cast at the Meeting by the Securityhaolders, voting as a single class; and (ii) at
least a simple majority of the votes cast by Sharcholders who are Minority Shareholders,

* the Arrangement will only become effective if, after hearing from all interested parties who choose to
appear before it, the Court determines that the Arrangement is cquitable and rcasonable;

¢ the purpose and benefits of the Arrangement as outlined herein;

* information concerning the financial condition, results of operations, business plans and prospects of
New Lorus and RealCo; and

« the Arrangement should generally not result in tax liability for the Shareholders, as described under
“Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Consequences for Sharcholders”.

Those members of the Board of Directors entitled te approve the Arrangement unanimously recommend that
Securityholders vote FOR the Arrangement Resolution.

42

4




CANADIAN SECURITIES MATTERS
Exemptive Relief

Discretionary exemptions must be obtained from certain provincial and territorial securities authorities in
respect of financial statement disclosure by certain of the entities participating in the Arrangement and in
respect of the repurchase of Warrants from TEMIC. Lorus has filed an application with the applicable Canadian
Securities Regulatory Authorities for such exemptions prior to the mailing of this Circular. However, there can
be no assurance that the necessary exemptions from such authorities will be obtained on a timely basis, on terms
and conditions satisfactory to Lorus, or at all.

Majority of Minority Approval

The Arrangement is a “business combination” under Rule 61-501 and a “going private transaction” within
the meaning of Regulation Q-27 because by virtue of Investor having entered into a share purchase agreement
with High Tech pursuant to which Investor will purchase the RealCo Voting Shares to be received by High Tech
as part of the Arrangement, it involves a transaction whereby High Tech, a “related party” of Lorus, is receiving
a “collateral benefit” (as defined in Rule 61-501), and consideration that is not identical in amount and type to
that paid to all other Sharcholders in Canada as provided under Regulation Q-27 that is, cash consideration in
lieu of RealCo Voting Shares. The purchase price to be paid by Investor to High Tech for the RealCo Volting
Shares will be the same price per RealCo Voting Share as paid at the Effective Time by Investor 1o New Lorus
pursuant 1o the Pinnacle Share Purchase Agreement. The purchase of RealCo Voting Shares from High Tech is
not being offered by lavestor to all Sharcholders.

Rule 61-501 and Regulation Q-27 require that, in addition to any other required securityholder approval, in
order to complete a business combination or a going private transaction, the approval of at least a simple
majority of the votes cast by “minority” holders of each class of affecied equity securities, voling separately as a
class, must be obtained. In relation to the Arrangement Resolution, the “minority” shareholders of Lorus are all
Shareholders other than High Tech, any related party of High Tech within the meaning of Rule 61-501 and
Regulation Q-27, subject to the exceptions set out therein, and any person actling jointly or in concert with High
Tech or with a related party of High Tech. As of the date of this Circular, High Tech (1ogether with any related
parties of High Tech and any person acting jointly or in concert with High Tech or with a related party of High
Tech) owns 29,090,000 Common Shares (representing approximately 149% of the outstanding Common Shares).
To the knowledge of Lorus after reasonable inquiry, the aforementioned 29,090,000 Common Shares are the
only Common Shares that will be excluded in determining whether minority approval of the Arrangement has
been oblained.

No formal valuation is required for the Arrangement under Rule 61-501 as no “interested party”
(as defined in Rule 61-501), whether alone or with joint actors, would, as a consequence of the Arrangement,
directly or indirectly, acquire Lorus and no interested party is a party 1o any connected transaction to the
Arrangement for which Lorus is required to obtain a formal valuation. As a formal valuation would be required
for the Arrangement under Regulation Q-27, Lorus has applied for exemptive relief from the Autorité des
marchés financiers confirming that Lorus will not have 10 obtain a formal valuation on the basis that one is not
required under Rule 61-501. However, there can be no assurance that the necessary exemption from the
Autorité des marchés financiers will be obtained on a timely basis, on terms and conditions satisfactory 1o Lorus,
or at all.

Prior Valuation Disclosure

Lorus engaged an independent third party, C/A Valuations Inc. (the “Valuator™), to provide an opinion as
to the fair market value of Lorus’ intellectual property associated with its leading drug candidates (the “Subject
Property”). Lorus commissioned the valuation to satisfy its tax reporting obligations as they relate 1o the transfer
of property between non-arm’s length parties as proposed under the Arrangement. C/A Valuations Inc.
completed its valuation of the Subject Property and reported its opinion 1o Lorus on December 11, 2006
(the “Prior Valuation™).




The Prior Valuation ascribed a fair market value of US$33.1 million to the Subject Property as of
November 30, 2006 (the “Valuation Date”). This opinion is based on the scope of review described in the Prior
Valuation and is subject to the restrictions, qualifications and assumptions contained therein.

The scope of the review undertaken by the Valvator included, among other things:

* a review of Lorus’ consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2006 and the
three-month period ended August 31, 2006;

* Lorus’ 2006 anaual report, annual information form dated August 11, 2006 and management information
circular dated August 11, 2006;

* Lorus’ 2007 annual budget for research and development expenditures;

« Lorus’ critical path for the commercialization of its leading drug candidates, including decision tree
analyses and projected milestone dates (the “Management Business Case Assumptions”);

* a summary description of Lorus’ intellectual property portfolio, issued and pending, as of the
Valuation Date;

= certain analysts’ reports;
* selected information on guideline companies and precedent transactions;
* selected economic, market and industry information relevant to the biotechnology sector; and

* meetings and correspondence with members of Lorus’ senior management team to discuss, among other
things, Lorus’ drug development programs and opportunities and possible risks associated with each of
the strategies Lorus may pursue in commercializing its leading drug candidates.

Some of the assumptions used by the Valuator in ascribing the fair market value 10 the Subject Property
included:

* the annual financial statements of Lorus properly disclose all contingent liabilities, unusual contractual
obligations and commitments or litigation pending or threatened as at the Valuation Date,

+ all material transactions reflected in the Financial Accounts were consummated at normal commercial
terms and conditions;

* Lorus was the beneficial owner of the Subject Property at the Valuation Date, its ownership being free
and clear of any liens or encumbrances unless otherwise stated;

* following the Valuation Date, the Subject Property will continue 1o be subject 1o responsible ownership
and competent management,;

*» with the exception of those agreements governing the Arrangement, there are no agreements or contracts
currently being considered that would have a material effect on the future operations and financial
position of Laorus;

* the legal description of the Subject Property, provided by management of Lorus, is accurate and complete
in all malterial respects and unless otherwise stated, there are no hidden or unapparent conditions
regarding the Subject Property that would restrict is marketability; and

* Lorus is in full compliance with all federal, provincial and local laws and regulations.

The basis used by the Valuator in compuling the fair markel value of the Subject Property included: (i} an
assessment of a stream of economic earnings or cash flows that can be properly attributed to the Subject
Property during a finite future period; (ii) an assessment of an appropriate discount factor 1o be used 1o convert
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the future cash flow stream into a capital sum; and (iii) an assessment of the continuing or terminal value of the
Subject Property, if any, at the end of the finite future period. This latter assessment is dependent on, among
other things, the remaining useful life of the Subject Property and the extent to which the holder of the
intellectual property can extend the economic life of the Subject Property through re-investment.

In completing the Prior Valuation, the Valuator relied upon the Management Business Case Assumptions,
which, among other things, established Lorus’ expectations regarding the expected level of economic earnings
anticipated from each of Lorus’ leading drug candidates. In determining the appropriate discount factor to be
used, the Valuator relied on two asset pricing models and determined that a discount rate of 12% was
appropriate. In assessing the terminal value of the Subject Property, the Valuator assumed that the Subject
Property would have no residual value 12 years after commercial launch. As a test of reasonableness, the
Valuator compared its value assessment to the corresponding value the public markets have ascribed to Lorus’
technology assets at the Valuation Date.

Securityholders are advised that the foregoing is intended to be a summary only and is qualified in its
entirety by the statements, restrictions, qualifications and assumptions contained in the Prior Valuation.

Securityholders can obtain a copy of the Prior Valuation upon request without charge by contacting the
Corporate Secretary of Lorus at 2 Meridian Road, Toronto, Ontario, MOW 4Z7, Telephone: (416} 798-1200.
Lorus has made an application to the relevant Canadian Securities Regulatory Authorities to have certain
commercially sensitive information redacted from the Prior Valuation. Lorus cannot assure Securityholders that
such application will be approved.

Prior Offers

In the twenty-four month period preceding the date of this Circular, the anly bona fide written offer Lorus
has received that is relevant to this transaction is a term sheet regarding a potential financing that did not
proceed as certain conditions precedent were not met, The potential financing was announced by Lorus by way
of press release on January 17, 2006 and a press release announcing that the transaction would not proceed was
issued by Lorus on February 16, 2006.

Judicial Developments

Prior 10 the adoption of Rule 61-501 and Regulation Q-27, Canadian courts had, in few instances, granted
preliminary injunctions to prohibit transactions that constituted business combinations within the meaning of
Rule 61-501 and Regulation Q-27. The trend both in legislation, including the CBCA, and in Canadian judicial
decisions has been towards permitting business combinations to proceed, subject to compliance with
requirements designed 10 ensure procedural and substantive fairness to the minority shareholders. Shareholders
should consult their legal advisors for a determination of their legal rights.

TIMING

If the Meeting is held as scheduled and is not adjourned, the Arrangement Resolution is passed and the
other necessary conditions are satisfied or waived by the appropriate parties, Lorus will apply to the Court for
the Final Order approving the Arrangement. If the Final Order is obtained on or about June 27, 2007 in form
and substance satisfactory 10 Lorus, New Lorus and Investor, and all other condilions 10 the Arrangement are
satisfied or waived, Lorus expects that the Effective Date will be on or about June 29, 2007. It is not possible,
however, to specify when the Effective Date will occur. Lorus or Investor may terminate the Arrangement
Agreement in cerlain circumstances, in which case the Arrangement will not be completed. See “The
Arrangemenl — Arrangement Agreement”.

The Arrangement will become effective upon the filing with, and acceptance by, the Director of the Articles
of Arrangement.

45




The Effective Date could be delayed, however, for a number of reasons, including an objection before the
Court at the hearing of the motion for the Final Order. As soon as the Effective Date is determined, Lorus will
issue a press release confirming the same.

CERTAIN CANADIAN FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES FOR SHAREHOLDERS

In the opinion of McCarthy Tétrault LLF, counsel to Lorus and New Lorus, the following is a fair summary
of the principal Canadian federal income tax consequences under the Tax Act generally applicable 1o a
Sharcholder who, for purposes of the Tax Act, and at all relevant times, holds Common Shares and will hold the
New Lorus Common Shares and RealCo Volting Shares as capital property and deals at arm’s length with, and is
not and will not be affiliated with, any of Lorus, New Lorus, RealCo or Investor (a “Holder”).

Common Shares will generally be considered to be capital property to a Sharcholder unless the shares are
held in the course of carrying on a business of trading or dealing in securities, or were acquired in one or more
transactions considered 10 be an adventure in the nature of trade. Certain Shareholders who are resident of
Canada for the purposes of the Tax Act, and whose Common Shares might not otherwise qualify as capital
property, may be entitled to make an irrevocable election in accordance with subsection 39(4) of the Tax Act 10
have the Common Shares and every “Canadian security” (as defined in the Tax Act} owned by such Shareholder
in the taxation vear of the election and in all subsequent taxation years deemed to be capital property.
Shareholders who do not hold their Common Shares as capital property should consult their own 1ax advisors
regarding their particular circumstances.

This summary is based on the facts as set out in this Circular, the Tax Act and counsel’s understanding of
the administrative policies and assessing practices published in writing by the Canada Revenue Agency
(the “CRA™), all in effect as of the daie of this document. This summary takes into account all proposed
amendments o the Tax Act that have been publicly announced by or on behalf of the Minister of Finance
(Canada) prior to the date hereof and assumes that such proposed amendments will be ¢nacted substantially as
proposed. However, no assurance can be given that such proposed amendments will be enacted in the form
proposed, or at all, This summary does not take inte account or anticipate any other changes in law or any
changes in CRA administrative policies and assessing practices, whether by judicial, regulatory or legislative
aclion or decision, nor does it take into account other federal or any provincial, territorial or foreign income 1ax
legislation or considerations, which may differ significantly from the Canadian federal income tax consequences
described herein.

This summary assumes that the Common Shares and New Lorus Common Shares will be listed on a
prescribed stock exchange for purposes of the Tax Act at all relevant times.

This summary is of a general nature only and is not exhaustive of all possible Canadian federal income tax
considerations applicable to Shareholders in all circumstances. This summary is not intended to be, and should
not be construed to be, legal, business or tax advice to any particalar Shareholder and does not take into account
the particular circumstances of any particular Shareholder. Shareholders should consult their own tax advisors
with respect to conseguences of the transactions under the Arrangement that are applicable to their own
particular circomstances.

This summary does not apply to a Shareholder that is a financial institution (as defined in the Tax Act for
purposes of the mark-lo-market rules) or a specified financial institution (as defined in the Tax Act), that is an
insurer carrying on business in Canada and elsewhere that is not a Canadian resident for the purpose of the
Tax Act, or to a Shareholder, an interest in which would be a “tax shelter investment” (as defined in the
Tax Act).

Holders who are Residents of Canada

The following portion of this summary is applicable to a Holder who, for the purpose of the Tax Act and any
applicable income 1ax treaty, is or is deemed (o be a resident of Canada at ali relevant times.
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Exchange of Common Shares

A Holder who exchanges Common Shares for New Lorus Common Shares will be deemed to have disposed
of such Common Shares for proceeds of disposition equal to their adjusted cost base to such Holder
immediately before the exchange, and to have acquired the New Lorus Common Shares received on the
exchange at a cost equal 10 the Holder's adjusted cost base of the exchanged Common Shares. The Holder will
not realize a capital gain (or capital joss) on the exchange far purposes of the Tax Act.

Generally, the aggregate paid-up capital of all the New Lorus Common Shares immediately after the time
of the exchange should be equal to the paid-up capital of all the Common Shares immediately prior to
the exchange.

A Holder will not receive a dividend or deemed dividend for the purpose of the Tax Act as a result of the
exchange of Common Shares for New Lorus Common Shares.

Reduction of Stated Capital of New Lorus

The fair market value of the RealCo Voting Shares distributed to a Holder as a reduction of stated capital
of New Lorus Common Shares will not be included in the income of such Holder, but will reduce the Holder’s
adjusted cost base by such fair market value. The amount, if any, by which the fair market value of such
distributed RealCo Voting Shares exceeds the paid-up capital of New Lorus Common Shares will be deemed to
be a dividend received by such Holder. New Lorus expects no such dividend 1o arise, given the amount of the
paid-up capital of the New Lorus Common Shares.

Dissenting Shareholders

A Dissenting Shareholder may be entitled to receive the fair value of Lorus Common Shares held by the
Dissenting Shareholder. The Dissenting Shareholder will be considered to have disposed of the Lorus Common
Shares for proceeds of disposition equal 1o the amount received by the Dissenting Shareholder, less the amount
of any deemed dividend referred 1o below and any interest awarded by the Court. Where the amount is received
from Lorus, the Lorus Shareholder wili be deemed to receive a 1axable dividend equal to the amount by which
the amount received (other than in respect of interest awarded by the Court) exceeds the paid-up capital of such
Sharcholder’s Lorus Common Shares. In the case of a Lorus Common Shareholder that is a corporation, in
some circumslances, the amount of any such deemed dividend may be treated as proceeds of disposition and not
as a dividend. Any interest awarded 1o a Dissenting Shareholder by the Court will be included in the Dissenting
Shareholder’s income for purposes of the Tax Act.

Holders who are Residents of the United States

The following portion of this summary is applicable to a Holder who, for the purposes of the Tax Act and
the Canada-US Income Tax Convention (“Tax ‘lIreaty”), at all relevant times, (i) is a resident of the
United States, (ii) is not, and is not deemed to be, a resident of Canada, (iii} does not, and is not deemed 10, use
or hold Common Shares and New Lorus Common Shares in, or in the course of, carrying on a business in
Canada, and (iv} is not a foreign affiliate of a taxpayer resident in Canada for the purpose of the Tax Act and any
applicable income tax treaty (“U.S. Holder”).

A U.S, Holder will not realize a capital gain {(or capital loss) on the exchange of Common Shares for
New Lorus Common Shares.

Exchange of Common Shares

If the Common Shares constitute “taxable Canadian property” (as defined by the Tax Act) 1o a U.S. Holder,
at the Effective Time, the U.S. Holder will be required 1o file a Canadian tax return reporting the disposition of
such shares. Generally, Commaon Shares will not be “taxable Canadian property” to a U.S, Holder at the time of
the exchange, provided thai (i) the shares are listed on a “prescribed stock exchange™ (which includes the TSX)
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at that time, (i) the U.S. Holder, persons not dealing at arm’s length with the U.S. Holder, or the U.S. Holder
together with such persons, have not owned 25% or more of the shares of any class of shares of Lorus at any
time during the 60-month period ending at the particular time, and (iii) the shares are not deemed to be taxable
Canadian property to the U.S, Holder under the provisions of the Tax Act.

Reduction of Stated Capital of New Lorus

A U.S. Holder will be considered 1o receive a dividend equal to the amount by which the cash distributed
exceeds the paid-up capital reduction of New Lorus. New Lorus expects no dividend to arise on such
distribution, given the amount of the paid-up capital of the New Lorus Common Shares. The amount of cash
distributed to a U.S. Holder will not be included in the income of such U.S. Holder, but will reduce the
U.S. Holder’s adjusted cost base of New Lorus Common Shares.

Dissenting Shareholders

A Dissenting Shareholder who receives a cash payment from Lorus in respect of the U.S. Holder’s
Common Shares in respect of which the U.S. Holder dissents will be deemed to receive a dividend to the extent
the amount received exceeds the paid-up capital of such shares. Such dividend will be subject Canadian
withholding tax imposed at the rate generally of 15%, under the Tax Treaty. A U.S. Holder will be considered to
have disposed of such Lorus Common Shares for procceds of disposition equal to the amount of the cash
payment, less the portion thereof that is deemed to be a dividend and the portion that is interest awarded by a
court. A U.S. Holder will not be subject to 1ax under the Tax Act on any capital gain, or entitled to deduct any
capital loss, realized on such disposition of Lorus Common Shares (assuming such Common Shares are not
taxable Canadian property to such U.S. Holder). A Dissenting Shareholder who receives interest will subject to
withholding tax thereon at a rate of 10%, under the Tax Treaty.

For a description of the U.S. Federal income tax consideration, see “Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax
Consequences for Shareholders”.

CERTAIN CANADIAN FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES FOR HOLDERS OF OPTIONS
Exercise of Options to Acquire Common Shares

Holders of Options who exercise their Options 10 acquire Common Shares prior to the Effective Time may
be subject to income tax consequences arising on such exercise which are not addressed in this summary and
which may be relevant to their decision as to whether to exercise their Options to acquire Common Shares prior
1o such time. Holders of Options who are considering the exercise of their Options should consult their own tax
advisors to determine the tax consequences to them of such exercise.

Exchange of Options for New Lorus Options

The following portion of this summary is applicable 10 a holder of Options who at all relevant times (i) is
resident or deemed to be resident in Canada for the purpose of the Tax Act and any applicable income tax
treaty, (ii) deals at arm’s length with, and is not and will not be affiliated with, any of Lorus, New Lorus, RealCo
or Investor, (iil) is a current or former employee or director of Lorus (or any subsidiary), (iv) received Options
in respect of, in the course of, or by virtue of, such employment or in consideration for the services performed as
a director, as the case may be (*Optionholder”).

An Oplionholder who exchanges an Option for a New Lorus Option will not be considered to have
disposed of the Option and the New Lorus Option will be deemed to be the same as, and a continuation of, the
Option, provided that the only consideration received by the Optionholder on the exchange is a New Lorus
Option, and that (i) the 10tal vaiee of the New Lorus Common Shares that the Optionholder is entitled to
acquire under the New Lorus Stock Option Plan immediately after the exchange (in excess of the total amount
payable by the Optionholder to acquire the New Lorus Common Shares thereunder) is not greater than (ii) the
total value of the Common Shares that the Optionholder was entitled to acquire under the Lorus Stock Option
Plan immediately before the exchange (in excess of the amount payable by the holder to acquire the Common
Shares thercunder).
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ELIGIBILITY FOR INVESTMENT

In the opinion of McCarthy Tétrault LLP, counsel 1o Lorus and New Lorus, the New Lorus Common
Shares, at the Effective Time, will be “qualified investments” under the Tax Act for trusts governed by registered
retirement savings plans (RRSPs), regisiered retirement income funds (RRIFs), deferred profit sharing plans
(DPSPs) or registered education savings plans (RESPs), as defined in the Tax Act, provided that the New Lorus
Common Shares are listed on a “prescribed stock exchange” (which includes the TSX), or that New Lorus is a
“public corporation” (as defined in the Tax Act) at the Effective Time. If the New Lorus Common Shares are
not listed on a “prescribed stock exchange” (which includes the TSX) at the Effective Time, New Lorus has
indicated that it intends to duly make an election under the Tax Act to be a “public corporation” as of the
Effective Time.

CERTAIN UNITED STATES FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES FOR SHAREHOLDERS

The following is a general summary of certain United States federal income tax consequences, under
current law, generally applicable 10 a U.S. Shareholder (as defined below). This summary does not address all
potentially relevant United States federal income tax matters and it does nol address consequences Lo certain
Persons subject 10 special provisions of United Siates federal income 1ax law, such as those described below as
excluded from the definition of a U.S. Shareholder. United States alternative minimum tax considerations are
not addressed in this semmary. In addition, this summary does not cover any state, local or foreign tax
consequences. (See “Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Consequences” above).

The following summary is based upon the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code™),
Treasury Regulations, published Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) rulings, published administrative positions of
the IRS, and court decisions that are currently applicable, any of which could be materially and adversely
changed, possibly on a retroactive basis, al any time, This summary does not consider the potential effects, both
adverse and beneficial, of any recently proposed legislation which, if enacted, could be applied (possibly on a
retroactive basis) at any time (including changes in applicable tax rates). No ruling from the IRS has been or will
be sought on any of the issues discussed below, and as a result, there can be no assurance that the IRS will not
successfully challenge the tax treatment described herein. No legal opinion will be obtained with respect to the
issues discussed below,

This summary is for general information only and it is not intended to be, nor should it be construed to be,
legal or tax advice to any Shareholder, and no opinion or representation with respect to the United States federal
income tax consequences to any Shareholder is made. Accordingly, Shareholders should consult their own tax
advisors about the lederal, state, local, and foreign tax consequences of the transactions under the Arrangement
and the purchasing, owning and disposing of Commeon Shares, New Lorus Common Shares and RealCo Voting
Shares (for the purpaoses of this section, any one class of such shares, as applicable, or collectively is referred to as
the “Shares™).

Circular 230 Disclosure

Any tax statement made herein regarding any U.S. federal tax is not intended or written to be used, and
cannot be used, by any taxpayer for purposes of avoiding any penalties. Any such statement herein is written in
connection with the marketing or promotion of the transaction to which the statement relates. Each taxpayer
should seek advice based on the taxpaver’s particular circomstances from an independent tax advisor.

U.S. Shareholders

As used herein, a “U.S. Shareholder”™ means an owner of Shares who is a citizen or individual resident
(as defined under United Stales tax laws) of the United States; a corporation or other entity taxable as a
corporation created or organized in or under the laws of the United States or of any political subdivision thereof;
an estale the income of which is taxable in the United States irrespective of source; or a trust if (a) a court within
the United States is able to exercise primary supervision over the trust’s adminisiration and one or more
United States Persons have the authority 1o control all of the substantial decisions or (b} the trust was in
existence on August 20, 1996 and has properly elected to continue to be treated as a United States Person. This
summary does not address the tax consequences to, and “U.8. Shareholder” does not include, tax-exempt
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Persons or organizations; qualified retirement plans, individual retirement accounts, and other tax-deferred
accounts; broker-dealers; non-resident alien individuals or entities not created or organized in or under the laws
of the United States: Persans or entities that have a “functional currency” other than the U.S. dollar; Persons
who hold Shares as part of a straddle, hedging or conversion transaction; Persons or entities that own, directly or
constructively, 10% or more, by voting power or value, of the outstanding shares of Lorus, and Persons who
acquire their Shares as compensation for services. This summary is limited to U.S. Shareholders who own Shares
as capital assets and who hold the Shares directly (e.g., not through an intermediary entity such as a corporation,
partnership, LLLC or trust). This summary does not address the consequences to a Person or entity of the
ownership, exercise or disposition of any options, warrants or other rights to acquire Shares.

U.S. Tax Characterization of the Arrangement

The Arrangement sets forth a series of complex steps that should result in taxation for U.S. Shareholders.
Generally, in order for the Arrangement 10 qualify as a tax-deferred transaction to U.S. Shareholders, each step
of the Arrangement would have to qualify for non-recognition treatment under U.S. law, which does not appear
to be the case here. Moreover, even if each step, considered individually, qualified for tax-deferred treatment to
the U.S. Sharcholders, application of general U.S. “substance over form” principles could cause the
Arrangement as a whole 10 be taxable 10 the U.S. Shareholders. It appears that the Arrangement (or one or
more of its parts) should be viewed as a 1axable disposition of Shares.

Generally, neither a distribution on Shares nor a disposition of Shares is tax-deferred under U.S. law, unless
an exceplion 1o taxable characterization applies. There is no authority addressing the U.S. federal income tax
treatment of a transaction like the Arrangement and therefore, there is uncertainty as to the U.S. federal income
tax consequences of the Arrangement. Section 351 of the Code treats transfers of property (including securities
in other corporations) to a “controlled” corporation solely in exchange for shares of the controlled corporation
as tax-deferred in certain circumstances. It is unlikely that the Arrangement, taking into account all of its steps,
would constitute a tax-deferred transfer of securities to a controlled corporation. Section 368 of the Code
describes certain corporale transactions which qualify as a “reorpanization” under the U.S. income 1ax laws, and
thus are tax-deferred to the corporation and its shareholders. Taken as a whole, it appears unlikely that the
Arrangement would be considered a tax-deferred reorganization to the U.S. Shareholders. Even if the
tax-deferred incorporation or reorganization provisions of Sections 351 or 368 were to apply to the
Arrangement, tax-deferred treatment to the U.S. Sharcholders may nonetheless be unavailable if Lorus is a
“passive foreign investment company” (“PFIC”), discussed below.

If the Arrangement is Treated as a Disposition of Lorus’ Stock

Subject to the discussion below regarding PFICs, gain or loss, if any, realized by a U.S. Sharcholder on the
exchange of his, her or its Shares generally would be subject 10 United Siates federal income taxation as capital
gain (or capital loss) in an amount equal to the difference between the U.S. Shareholder’s adjusted tax basis in
the Shares and the amount realized on the disposition. Net capital gain (i.e., capital gain in excess of capital loss)
recognized by a non-corporate U.S. Sharcholder upon a sale or other disposition of Shares that have been held
for more than one year is generally subject to a maximum United States federal income tax rate of 15%, under
present law. Deductions for capital losses are subject 1o limitations.

U.S. Shareholders Exercising Dissent Rights

A .S, Shareholder that exercises Dissent Rights and is paid cash in exchange for all of such Shareholder’s
Common Shares generally would recognize gain or loss in an amount ¢qual to the difference, if any, between
(a) the amount of cash received by such U.S. Sharcholder in exchange for the Common Shares surrendered
(other than amounts, if any, that are or are deemed to be interest for U.S. federal income tax purposes, which
amounts will be taxed as ordinary income) and (b) the tax basis of such U.S. Sharcholder in such Common
Shares surrendered. Subject to the discussion below regarding PFICs, such gain or loss generally should be
capital gain or loss, which will be long-term capital gain or loss if such Common Shares are held for more than
one year. Preferential tax rates apply 1o long-term capital pains of a U.S. Shareholder that is an individual,
estate, or trust. There are currently no preferential 1ax rates for long-lerm capital gains of a U.S. Shareholder
that is a corporation. Deductions for capital losses are subject to complex limitations under the Code.
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Passive Foreign Investment Company

Lorus would be considered a PFIC if during any taxable year, 75% or more of its gross income consists of
certain types of “passive” income, or if the average fair market value during a taxable year.of its “passive assets”
(generally, assets that generate passive income) is 50% or more of the average fair market value of ail assets held
by it. Passive income generally includes items such as dividends, interest, rents and rovalties. Companies that
have operating losses, but investment income, may be PFICs, according to certain IRS rulings and other relevant
auvthority.

Lorus believes it was a PFIC for one or more prior laxable years and Lorus expects to be a PFIC for its
current taxable year. However, the determination of whether Lorus was, or will be, a PFIC for a taxable year
depends, in part, on the application of complex U.S. federal income 1ax rules, which are subject to various
interpretations. In addition, whether Lorus will be a PFIC for the current taxable year and each subsequent
taxable year depends on the assets and income of Lorus over the course of each such taxable year and, as a
result, cannot be predicied with certainty as of the date of this Circular. Accordingly, there can be no assurance
that the IRS will not challenge the determination made by Lorus concerning its PFIC status or that Lorus was
not, or will not be, a PFIC for any taxable year.

If Lorus is classified as a PFIC for any taxable year in which a U.S. shareholder held Shares, the
U.S. federal income tax consequences of the Arrangement could be materially different than as described above
with respect to such U.S. Shareholder. In general, a U.S. Sharcholder of stock in a PFIC is subject to increased
United States federal income t(ax liability (generally, in the form of ordinary income treatment at the highest
applicable U.S. tax rate plus an interest charge) in respect of gain recognized on the disposition of his, her or its
Shares or upon the receipt of certain distributions. An exception to PFIC taxation is available if the
U.S. Shareholder makes a “qualified elecling fund” election within a certain time period 10 be taxed currently on
his, or her or its pro rata portion of Lorus’ income and gain (whether or not such income or gain is distributed in
the form of dividends or otherwise), and Lorus provides certain annual statements which include the
information necessary to determine inclusions and assure compliance with the PFIC rules. As an alternative to
the foregoing rules, a U.S, Shareholder may make a “mark-to-market” election to include in income each year
as ordinary income an amount equal Lo the increase in value of his, her or its Shares for that year or to claim a
deduction for any decrease in value (but only 10 the extent of previous mark-to-market gains).

The PFIC rules are very complex, and their application to a corporation like Lorus is very unclear. Lorus can
give no assurance as to its status as a PFIC for the current or any future year. U.S. Shareholders should consult
their own tax advisors with respect to the PFIC issue and its applicability to their particular situation.

Foreign Tax Credit

A U.S, Shareholder who pays (or has withheld from distributions) Canadian income tax with respect to the
Shares may be entitled to either a deduction or a 1ax credit for such foreign 1ax paid or withheld, at the option of
the U.S. Shareholder. Generally, it is more advanilageous to claim a credit because a credit reduces
United States federal income tax on a dollar-for-dollar basis, while a deduction merely reduces the taxpayer’s
income subject to tax. This election is made on a year-by-year basis and generally applies to all foreign taxes paid
by (or withheld from) the U.S. Shareholder during that year.

There are significant and complex limitations which apply to the foreign 1ax credit, among which is the
general limitation that the credit cannot exceed the proportionate share of the U.S, Shareholder’s United States
income tax liability that the U.S. Shareholder’s foreign source income bears 10 worldwide taxable income. This
limitation is designed to prevent foreign tax credits from offsetting United States source income. In determining
this limitation, the various items of income and deduction must be classified into foreign and domestic sources.
Complex rules govern this classification process.

In addition, this limitation is calculated separately with respect to specific “baskets” of income. Foreign
laxes assigned 10 a particular class of income generally cannot offset United States tax on income assigned to
another class. The types of “baskets”, and thus how this limitation operates, will change significantly afier 2006,
due to recent United States tax legislation.
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U.S. Shareholders should consult their own tax advisors concerning their ability to utilize foreign tax credits,
especially in light of the changes made by recent legislation.

Currency Fluctuations

For United States federal income 1ax purposes, the amount received by a U.S. Shareholder as payment with
respect to a distribution on, or disposition of Shares, if paid in Canadian dollars, is the U.S. dollar value at the
date of the payment, regardless of whether the payment is later converied into U.S. dollars. In such case, the
U.S. Shareholder may recognize additional ordinary income or loss as a result of currency fluctuations between
the date on which the payment is made and the date the payment is converted into U.S. dollars.

AMENDMENT OF LORUS’ ARTICLES AND CONTINUANCE OF LORUS INTO BRITISH COLUMBIA

New Lorus will, at the time during the steps of the Plan of Arrangement at which New Lorus is the sole
shareholder of Lorus, resolve 10 continue Lorus, which is currently incorporated under the CBCA, to the
provincial jurisdiction of British Columbia under the BCBCA (the “Continuation™) and to approve the {iling of
the articles (“BCBCA Articles™) in order to effect the Continuation (Lorus, following the completion of the
Arrangement, is referred to in this Circular as “RealCo” and RealCo as continued under the BCBCA is referred
to in this section as “RealCo (BC)”). The Continuation will not be effecled uniil after the completion of the
Arrangement and does not form part of the Plan of Arrangement. In the opinion of management of RealCo,
there are a number of advantages to the Continuation, including: (i) no residency requirement for directors;
(it} flexibility for corporate reorganizations; and (iii) flexibility for shareholder approvals.

The BCBCA Articles will reflect changes from the current articles of Lorus. The BCBCA Articles will
include a statement of the rights and restrictions attaching to the shares of RealCo (BC). The rights and
restrictions attaching to the shares of RealCo (BC) will be substantially the same as the form of the articles of
amendment of RealCo described in Appendix B (Form of Articles of Amendment of RealCo) attached hereto.
The BCBCA Anticles will contain many of the same provisions as are contained in Lorus’ current articles and
by-laws. Upon the Continuation becoming effective, the proposed BCBCA Articles will become the new charter
documents of RealCo (BC), replacing the existing articles and by-laws. See also Appendix H (Information
Respecting RealCo and Financial Statements of the Pinnacle Partnerships) atiached hereto.

The CBCA permits a corporation to continue to another jurisdiction so long as two thirds of the votes cast
by the shareholders are in favor of the continuance and the Director under the CBCA is satisfied that the
continuance will not adversely affect the corporation’s creditors or shareholders. A foreign corporation which
seeks to continue under the BCBCA must file an application and certain other required forms with the Registrar
of Companies (British Columbia). The Registrar may also require an authorization for continuation from the
corporation’s jurisdiction of incorporation.

The Continuation will not affect the application of securities laws, regulations, rules and policies that
presently apply to RealCo. In addition, the provisions of the CBCA and the BCBCA in relation to shareholder
prolections in the nature of derivative actions, oppression, dissent and appraisal rights are substantially similar
under the CBCA and BCBCA, however, there are certain differences of which Shareholders should be aware.
For a summary comparison of certain provisions of the CBCA and BCBCA, see Appendix K (Comparison of
CBCA 10 BCBCA) attached hereto. The summary provided is not intended to be exhaustive and Shareholders
should consult their own legal advisors regarding implications of the Continuation which may be of particular
importance to them.

DISTRIBUTION OF CERTIFICATES AND CASH PAYMENTS
Distribution of Share Certificates Representing the New Lorus Common Shares and RealCo Voting Shares

Included with this Circular is a Letter of Transmittal containing, among other things, instructions for
obtaining delivery of (i) New Lorus Common Shares that each Shareholder is entitled to receive, (ii) RealCo
Voting Shares that each Non-U.8. Person is entitled to receive, and (iii) the cash payment that each U.S. Person
is, subject to certain limitations, entitled 1o receive pursvani to the Arrangement. Lorus will, as soon as
practicable following the later of the Effective Date and the delivery to the Transfer Agent and Registrar for
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cancellation of certificates representing such Shareholder’s Common Shares and the Letter of Transmittal, duly
completed in accordance with the instructions contained therein, and such other documents as the Transfer
Agent and Registrar may reasonably require, cause the Transfer Agent and Registrar to deliver to such holder
certificates representing the number of New Lorus Common Shares and RealCo Voting Shares that such holder
is entitled to receive and the certificates so surrendered will forthwith be cancelled. Until surrendered as
contemplated by the Arrangement, each certificate which immediately prior to the Effective Date represented
one or more outstanding Common Share(s) will be deemed at all times after the Effective Date to represent
only the right to receive, upon such surrender, the certificates representing the New Lorus Common Shares and
RealCo Voting Shares and the dividends and distributions accruing to the holder of such shares, if any (less any
applicable withholding tax).

Holders of Common Shares are reminded that, where a share certificate formerly representing the Common
Shares is not deposited with the Letter of Transmittal on or prior to the sixth anniversary date of the Effective
Time, such share certificate will cease to represent a right or claim of any kind or nature. Thereafter, the
New Lorus Commeon Shares to be exchanged with the former holder of such certificate will be deemed to be
surrendered to New Lorus together with all distributions and sale proceeds thereon held for such holder.

In addition, Lorus will, as soon as practicable following the later of the Effective Date and the delivery 10
the Transfer Agent and Registrar for cancellation of certificates representing Common Shares held by a
U.S. Person and the Letter of Transmittal, duly completed in accordance with the instructions contained therein,
and such other documents as the Transfer Agent and Registrar may reasonably require, cause the Transfer
Agent and Registrar to deliver to such U.S. Person a cash payment in an amount equal to the value of the
RealCo Voting Shares otherwise distributable to them.

Failure to Forward Letters of Transmittal and to Deposit Certificates

Pursuant to the terms of the Plan of Arrangement, any certificates which immediately prior to the Effective
Time represented Common Shares that are not deposited with the Transfer Agent and Registrar together with a
duly completed Letter of Transmittal and any other document the Transfer Agent and Registrar may reasonably
require on or before the sixth anniversary of the Effective Date, will cease to represent a right or claim of any
kind or nature and the right of the holder of certificates of Common Shares to receive New Lorus Common
Shares and RealCo Voting Shares or a cash payment in licu thereof, as applicable, will cease and such Common
Shares will be deemed to be surrendered to New Lorus, together with all dividends and distributions thereon
held by such holder, if any.

Distribution of Certificates Representing New Lorus Options and New Lorus Warrants

Also, at the Effective Time, the certificates representing the Options and Warrants will be cancelled and, as
soon as practicable thereafter, certificates representing the New Lorus Options and New Lorus Warrants (upon
presentation of the original certificates representing the Warrants) will be issued by New Lorus.

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTINGS

The Common Shares are currently listed and posted for trading on the TSX under the symbol “LOR” and
on the AMEX under the symbol “LRP”. On April 30, 2007, being the last Trading Day prior to the date of
announcement of the Arrangement, the closing price of the Commeon Shares on the TSX and the AMEX was
$0.26 and U.S. $0.25, respectively, per Common Share.

Lorus has made an application for a substitutional listing of the New Lorus Common Shares (and the
New Lorus Common Shares issuable upon the exercise or conversion of the New Lorus Options and New Lorus
Warrants) on the TSX and on the AMEX in substitution for the Common Shares.

As of the date of this Circular, Lorus has not received approval from the AMEX in respect of the
substitutional listing of the New Lorus Common Shares. Lorus cannot assure Shareholders that the AMEX will
approve a substitutional listing or whether the New Lorus Common Shares will continue to be listed on
the AMEX.
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The TSX has conditionally approved the listing of the New Lorus Common Shares on the TSX under the
symbol “LOR”, which approval is subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions on or before June 28, 2007,
including (i) the Securityholders of Lorus approving the Arrangement at the Meeting, (ii) the Minority
Shareholders approving the Arrangement Resolution at the Meeting, (iii) the Closing of the Arrangement,
(iv) the filing of all documents required by the TSX and the payment of the fees required pursuant to the
policies of the TSX, and (v} New Lorus meeting the TSX’s continued listing requirements.

New Lorus expects that it will be able to satisfy any conditions of the TSX and any imposed by the AMEX
relating to the listing of the New Lorus Common Shares upon completion of the Arrangement. If New Lorus is
not able 10 meet the continued listing requirements of the TSX and the AMEX, then New Lorus intends 1o seek
to list the New Lorus Common Shares on another North American stock exchange. There can be no assurance
that the New Lorus Common Shares will be listed on the TSX, AMEX or any other stock exchange.

Upon the substitutional listing of the New Lorus Common Shares, the Common Shares will cease to be
listed on the TSX and the AMEX. Neither the RealCo Voting Shares nor the RealCo Non-Voting Shares wilt be
listed on the TSX, AMEX or any other stock exchange or other public securities market.

Trading in Securities

The Common Shares are currently listed and posted for trading on both the TSX under the symbol “LOR”
and the AMEX under the symbol “LRP”. After the Arrangement is completed, it is expected that the
New Lorus Common Shares will be listed and posted for trading on the TSX, subject 10 New Lorus fulfilling the
requirements of the TSX. An application has been made to the AMEX to list the New Lorus Common Shares
on the AMEX. See “Stock Exchange Listings”. The following trading information has been rounded to the
nearest $0.01, and has been obtained by Lorus from public sources.

TSX AMEX

(CDNS$) (USS)
Volume Volume
EEE m ﬂ {Average) w ﬂ (Average)
May 2007 (1o May 23,2007) .. ... ... . ... ., 029 0206 232200 0.27 022 36,000
April 2007 .. e e e 0.33 026 363,500 029 022 64,900
March 2007 . ... . . e 033 026 155700 028 0.23 27000
February 2007 . . . ... ... . . 039 028 524,400 034 020 44,400
January 2007 . . . .. e 033 023 552,700 027 014 61,300
December 2006. ... ... ... .. .. ... . . . . ... 028 0.22 306,500 024 019 383800
November 2006, ... .. .. ... . e 029 022 164,700 025 019 31,800
October 2006 .. ... .. .. e 030 023 303,700 027 020 39,500
September 2006 . ... ... ... e e e 034 028 194,100 031 024 23,000
August 2006 . ... 039 030 194,600 034 025 17,300
July 2006 .. .. e 038 028 107,500 032 026 12,000
June 2006 . . .. . e e e (37 031 106100 033 028 20,600
May 2006 . ... . e (038 034 160,500 035 030 23,900

RESALE OF SECURITIES

It is anticipated that the New Lorus Common Shares, the New Lorus Options, the New Lorus Warrants and
the RealCo Voting Shares to be issued to Securitvholders pursuant 1o the Arrangement (including the
New Lorus Common Shares issuable upon the exercise or conversion of the New Lorus Options and New Lorus
Warrants), will be issued in reliance on exemptions from the prospectus and registration requirements of
applicable Canadian securities laws. The first trade of New Lorus Common Shares (including New Lorus
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Common Shares issuable upon the exercise or conversion of the New Lorus Options and New Lorus Warrants),
will not be subject to any restricted or hold peried in Canada if:

« at the time of such first trade, New Lorus is a reporting issuer or the equivalent under the legislation of a
jurisdiction of Canada (it is intended that New Lorus will be a reporting issuer after Closing or the
equivalent in certain of such jurisdictions};

* the first trade is not from the holdings of an individual or company or a combination of individuals or
companies holding a sufficient number of any securities of New Lorus so as to affect malerially the
control of New Lorus (a holding by any individual, company or combination of individuals and/or
companies of more than 20% of the outstanding voting securities of New Lorus is deemed, in the absence
of evidence to the contrary, to affect materially the control of New Lorus);

» no unusual effort is made to prepare the market or to create a demand for the New Lorus Common
Shares that are the subject of the trade;

* no extraordinary commission or consideration is paid to an individual or company in respect of the
trade; and

» if the seiler of the securities is an insider or officer of New Lorus, the seller has no reasonable grounds to
believe that New Lorus is in default of any requirement of the applicable securities legislation.

The New Lorus Common Shares, New Lorus Options, New Lorus Warrants and RealCo Voting Shares have
not been and will not be registered under the 1933 Act, and will be issued in reliance upon the exemption from
registration provided by Section 3(a)(10) of the 1933 Act. Section 3(a)(10) exempts securities issued in exchange
for one or more outstanding securities, claims or property interests from the general requirement of registration
where the terms and conditions of the issuance and exchange of such securities have been approved by any court
of competent jurisdiction, after a hearing upon the fairness of the terms and conditions of the issuance and
exchange at which ail Persons 10 whom the securities will be issued have the right to appear. The Courl is
authorized 1o conduct a hearing at which the fairness of the terms and conditions of the Arrangement will be
considered. The Court granted the Interim Order on May 16, 2007 and, subject to the approval of the
Arrangement by Securityholders, a hearing on the Arrangement will be held on June 27, 2007 by the Court. Sec
“The Arrangement — Procedure for the Arrangement Becoming Effective — Court Approval™.

The New Lorus Common Shares, New Lorus Options, New Lorus Warrants and RealCo Voting Shares (o
be issued pursuant to the Arrangement will be freely tradable under U.S. federal securities laws, except by
Persons who are “affiliates” of Lorus, New Lorus, RealCo, Pinnacle or Investor immediately prior to the
Arrangement or “affiliates” of New Lorus, RealCo, Pinnacle or Investor after the Arrangement. Persons who
may be deemed to be “affiliates™ of an issuer include individuals or entities that control, are controlled by, or are
under common control with, the issuer, and generally include exccutive officers and directors of the issuer as
well as principal shareholders of the issuer.

Subject to certain limitations, such affiliates may immediately resell New Lorus Common Shares,
New Lorus Warrants and RealCo Voting Shares received pursuant to the Arrangement outside the
United States without registration under the 1933 Act pursuant to Regulation S. Such securities held by such
affiliates may also be resold in compliance with the resale provisions of Rule 145(d)(1}, (2), or (3) under the
1933 Act or as otherwise permitted under the 1933 Act. Rule 145(d){1) generally provides that such affiliates
may not sell such securities received pursvant 10 the Arrangement unless pursuant 1o an effeclive registration
statement or in accordance with the volume, current public information and manner of sale limitations of
Rule 144 under the 1933 Act. These limitations generally require that any sales made by an affiliate in any three-
month period not exceed the greater of 1% of the outstanding applicable securities of New Lorus or RealCo, if
such securities are listed on a United States securities exchange, the average weekly trading volume over the four
calendar weeks preceding the placement of the sell order, and that sales be made in unsolicited, open market
“broker transactions” at times when certain information specified by Rule 144 is publicly available with respect
to New Lorus or RealCo, as applicable. Rules 145(d)(2) and (3) generally provide that these limitations lapse for
non-affiliates of New Lorus or RealCo afiler a period of one or two years, depending upon whether information
continues to be publicly available with respect to such entity.
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Section 3(a)(10) of the 1933 Act does not exempt the issuance of securities upon the exercise or conversion
of securities that were issued pursuant to Section 3(a)(10). Therefare, the New Lorus Common Shares issuable
upon the exercise of the New Lorus Options or New Lorus Warrants may not be issued in reliance upon
Section 3(a)(10) and such securities may be exercised only pursuant to an exemption or exclusion from the
registration requirements of the 1933 Act and applicable state securities laws. As a result, the New Lorus
Options and the New Lorus Warrants may be exercised only by a holder who represents that at the time of
exercise the holder is not then located in the United States, is not a U.S. Person as defined in Rule 902 of
Regulation S, and is not exercising the New Lorus Options or New Lorus Warrants for the account or benefit
of a U.S. Person or a Person located in the United States, unless the holder provides a legal opinion or other
evidence reasonably satisfactory to New Lorus to the effect that the exercise of the New Lorus Options or
New Lorus Warrants does not require registration under the 1933 Act or applicable stale securities laws. In
addition, any New Lorus Common Shares issuable upon the exercise of the New Lorus Options or New Lorus
Warrants in the United States or for the account or benefit of a U.S. Person or a Person localed in the
United States will be “restricted securities” within the meaning of Rule 144 under the 1933 Act, certificates
representing such New Lorus Common Shares will bear a legend to that effect, and such New Lorus Common
Shares may be resold only pursuant to an exemption or exclusion from the registration requirements of the 1933
Act and applicable state securities laws. Subject to certain limitations, the New Lorus Warrants may be resold
outside the United States without registration under the 1933 Act pursuant to Regulation S.

The foregoing discussion is only a general overview of certain requirements of Canadian and United States
securities laws applicable to the New Lorus Common Shares, New Lorus Options, New Lorus Warrants, if
applicable, and RealCo Volting Shares 1o be received by Securityholders upon completion of the Arrangement.
All holders of such securities are urged to consult with counsel to ensure that the resale of their securities
complies with applicable securities legislation.

The New Lorus Options are not transferable.

No market will exist for the trading of the RealCo Voting Shares or the RealCe Non-Voting Shares after the
completion of the Arrangement and none is expected to develop.

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

There is not as of the date hereof, and has not been since the beginning of Lorus’ last completed financial
year, any indebtedness, other than routine indebtedness, owing to Lorus by the current directors and officers of
Lorus, or any of their associates or affiliates.

INFORMATION RESPECTING LORUS

Lorus is a life sciences company that was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) on
September 5, 1986 under the name RML Medical Laboratories Inc. On October 28, 1991, RML Medical
Laboratories Inc. amalgamated with Mint Gold Resources Lid., resulting in the company becoming a reporting
issuer (as defined under applicable securities law) in Ontario on such date. On August 25, 1992, the company
changed its name to IMUTEC Corporation. On November 27, 1996, the company changed its name to Imutec
Pharma Inc, and on November 19, 1998, the company changed its name to Lorus Therapeutics Inc. On
October 1, 2005, Lorus continued under the CBCA. Lorus’ Common Shares have been listed on the TSX under
the symbol “LOR” since June 4, 1993 and have been listed on the AMEX under the symbol “LRP” since
February 23, 2004. For more information regarding Lorus, sec Appendix F (Information Respecting Lorus)
atlached hereto.

INFORMATION RESPECTING NEW LORUS

New Lorus is currently a wholly-owned subsidiary of Lorus and was incorporated under the CBCA on
November 1, 2006 under the name 6650309 Canada Inc. and will change its name to Lorus Therapeutics Inc. on
the Effective Date. Following completion of the Arrangement, New Lorus will perform the business as carried
on by Lorus prior to completion of the Arrangement. For more information regarding New Lorus, see
Appendix G (Information Respecting New Lorus) and Appendix J (Balance Sheet of New Lorus) attached hereto.
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INFORMATION RESPECTING REALCO

Following the Effective Date, RealCo will hold limited partnership interests in two residential and
mixed-use condominium projects in Toronto, Ontario and may raise additional capital on a dilutive basis to focus
on pursuing opportunities as a real estate development company. Following the completion of the Arrangement,
RealCo’s head office will be located at Suite 300, 911 Homer Street, Vancouver, British Columbia V6B 2W6.
Neither the RealCo Voting Shares nor the RealCo Non-Voting Shares will be listed on any stock exchange or
other public securities market. Detailed information regarding RealCo can be found at Appendix H
(Information Respecting RealCo and Financial Siatements of the Pinnacle Partnerships) attached herelo.

As soon as practicable following completion of the Arrangement, it is expected that RealCo will be
continued from the Canadian federal jurisdiction to the Province of British Columbia. Following such
continuance, RealCo will be governed by the BCBCA. See “Amendment of Lorus’ Articles and Continuance of
Lorus into British Columbia”. Please see Appendix K (Comparison of CBCA to BCBCA) attached hereto for a
summary comparison of certain provisions of the CBCA and the BCBCA.

RISK FACTORS

Securityholders should carefully consider the following risk factors relating to the Arrangement before
deciding o vote or instruct their vote 10 be cast to approve the matters relating to the Arrangement. In addition
1o the risk factors relating (o the Arrangement set out below, Securityholders should also carefully consider the
risk faciors incorporated by reference in Appendix F (Information Respecting Lorus} and those described in
Appendix G (Information Respeciing New Lorus) and Appendix H (Information Respecting RealCo and
Financial Statements of the Pinnacle Partnerships) atlached hereta. All of the risks below should be considered
by the Securityholders in conjunction with other information included in this Circular, including the appendices
attached hereto.

Exchange Listings

Although the TSX has conditionally approved the listing of the New Lorus Common Shares and an
application has been made to the Amex 1o list the New Lorus Common Shares, there can be no assurance that,
or when, the New Lorus Cammon Shares will be listed on those stock exchanges, or that if listed New Lorus will
continue to meel the continued listing requirements of the TSX and the AMEX.

Going Concern of New Larus

To date, Lorus has financed its operations and technology acquisitions primarily from equity and debt
financings, the exercise of warrants and stock options, and interest income on funds held for future investments.
Lorus has incurred significant operating losses and cash outflows from operations. The ability of New Lorus,
following completion of the Arrangement, to contlinue as a going concern is dependent upon raising additional
funds through borrowings or equity financings, collaborative research contracts or product licensing agreements
and ultimately achieving future profitable operations. The outcome of these matters is dependent on a number
of factors outside of New Lorus’ control. As a result, there is significant uncertainty as (o whether New Lorus
will have the ability to continue as a going concern,

RealCo Business

RealCo has not carried on any business and may not be successful in carrying on business as a real estale
development company. For additional risk factors relating to RealCo, please see Appendix H (Information
Respecting RealCo and Financial Statements of the Pinnacle Partnerships) attached hereto.

Absence of Trading Market for RealCo Shares

Upon the completion of the Arrangement, neither the RealCo Voling Shares nor the RealCo Non-Voling
Shares will be listed on any stock exchange. As a result, an active market for the RealCo Voting Shares and
RealCo Non-Voting Shares may not develop following the completion of the Arrangement. A holder of RealCo
Voting Shares and/or RealCo Non-Voting Shares may not be able to sell such shares at a particular time or at all
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and the prices that a holder receives when it sells the shares may not be favourable. For additional risk factors
relating to RealCo, please see Appendix H (Information Respecting RealCo and Financial Statements of the
Pinnacle Partnerships} attached hereto.

The Arrangement May Be Taxable for U.S. Shareholders

Implementation of the Arrangement may give rise to significant adverse income lax consequences to
U.S. Shareholders. See “Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Consequences for Shareholders” and “Cerntain
United States Federal Income Tax Consequences for Shareholders”. In addition 1o the Arrangement being
taxable to U.S. Shareholders under general U.S. tax rules, the “passive foreign investment company” (“PFIC”)
rules may also apply. The PFIC rules generally apply in a manner that increase a U.S. Shareholder’s U.S. 1ax
liabilities by imposing taxation at the highest rate with an interest charge as well.

ARRANGEMENT DISSENT RIGHTS

Section 190 of the CBCA provides registered shareholders of a corporation with the right to dissent from
certain resolutions that effect extraordinary corporate transactions or fundamental corporate changes. The
Interim Order expressly provides Registered Shareholders with the right to dissent from the Arrangement
Resolution pursuant to section 190 of the CBCA, with modifications to the provisions of section 190 as provided
in the Plan of Arrangement and the Interim Order. Any Regisiered Shareholder who dissents from the
Arrangement Resolution (any such Shareholder referred to herein as a “Dissenting Shareholder”) in
compliance with section 190 of the CBCA, as modified by the Plan of Arrangement and the Interim Order, will
be entitled, in the event the Arrangement becomes effective, to be paid the fair value of Common Shares held by
such Dissenting Sharcholder determined as of the close of business on the day before the Arrangement
Resolution is adopied. Shareholders are cautioned that fair value may be the same as, more than, or less than
the consideration offered under the Arrangement. If a Dissenting Sharcholder fails to strictly comply with the
requirements of the Dissent Rights setl out in the Interim Order, it will lose its Dissent Rights, Lorus will return
10 the Dissenting Shareholder the certificates representing the Common Shares that were delivered to Lorus, if
any, and, if the Arrangement is completed, that Dissenting Shareholder shall be deemed to have participated in
the Arrangement on the same terms as a Shareholder who is deemed to have not made a valid election.

Scction 190 of the CBCA provides that a shareholder may only make a claim under that section with respect
to all of the shares of a class held by the sharchoider on behalf of any one beneficial owner and registered in the
shareholder’s name. One consequence of this provision is that only a Registered Shareholder may exercise the
Dissent Rights in respect of Common Shares that are registered in that Shareholder’s name.

In many cases, shares beneficially owned by a2 non-Regisiered Shareholder are registered either (a) in the
name of an intermediary (such as a broker, trust or bank) (the “Intermediary™) or (b) in the name of a clearing
agency (such as CDS) of which the Intermediary is a participant. Accordingly, a non-Registered Shareholder will
not be entitled to exercise its Dissent Rights directly (unless the shares are re-registered in the non-Registered
Shareholder’s name). A non-Registered Shareholder who wishes to exercise Dissent Rights should immediately
contact the Intermediary with whom the non-Registered Shareholder deals in respect of its shares and either
(i) instruct the Intermediary to exercise the Dissent Rights on the non-Registered Shareholder’s behalf (which, if
the Common Shares are registered in the name of CDS or other clearing agency, may require that such
Common Shares first be re-registered in the name of the Intermediary), or (ii) instruct the Intermediary to
re-register such Common Shares in the name of the non-Registered Shareholder, in which case the
non-Registered Shareholder would be able to exercise the Dissent Rights directly.

A Registered Shareholder who wishes to dissent must provide a Dissent Notice to Lorus at 2 Meridian Road,
Toronto, ON M9W 4Z7 (Attention: Corporate Secretary) at or before 5:00 p.m. (Toronto time) on June 21, 2007
(or 5:00 p.m. (Torento time) on the day that is one Business Day immediately preceding any adjourned or
postponed Meeting).

The filing of a Dissent Notice does not deprive a Registered Shareholder of the right to vote at the Meeting.
However, the CBCA provides, in effect, thatl a Registered Sharcholder who has submitted a Dissent Nolice and
who votes in favour of the Arrangement Resolution will no longer be considered a Dissenting Shareholder with
respect to that class of shares voted in favour of the Arrangement Resolution, being the Common Shares. The
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CBCA does not provide, and Lorus will not assume, that a proxy submitted to Lorus instructing the proxyholder
10 vote against the Arrangement Resolution, a vole against the Arrangement Resolution or an abstention
conslitutes a Dissent Notice, but a Registered Shareholder need not vote its Common Shares against the
Arrangement Resolution in order to dissent. Similarly, the revocation of a proxy conferring authority on the
proxyholder to vote in favour of the Arrangement Resolution does not constitute a Dissent Notice. However,
any proxy granied by a Registered Sharcholder who intends to dissent, other than a proxy that instructs the
proxvholder 1o vote apainst the Arrangement Resolution, should be validly revoked in order to prevent the
proxyholder from voling such Common Shares in favour of the Arrangement Resolution and thereby causing the
Registered Sharcholder to forfeit its Dissent Rights.

A Dissenting Shareholder who has not withdrawn its Dissent Notice prior to the Meeting must, within
20 days after receipt of notice that the Arrangement Resolution has been adopted, or if the Dissenting
Shareholder does not receive such notice, within 20 days after learning that the Arrangement Resolution has
been adopted, send to Lorus ¢/o the Transfer Agent a written notice (a “Demand for Payment’”) containing its
name and address, the number of Common Shares in respect of which he or she dissents (the “Dissenting
Comman Shares”), and a demand for payment of the fair value of such Dissenting Common Shares. Within thirty
(30) days after sending the Demand for Payment, the Dissenting Shareholder must send to Lorus or the Transfer
Ageni certificates representing Dissenting Shares. The Transfer Agent will endorse on the share certificates
received from a Dissenting Shareholder a notice that the holder is a Dissenting Shareholder and will forthwith
return the share certificates to the Dissenting Shareholder. A Dissenting Shareholder who fails to make a
Demand for Payment or 1o send certificates representing Dissenting Shares in the time required has no right to
make a claim under section 190 of the CBCA.

Under section 190 of the CBCA, after sending a Demand for Payment, a Dissenting Sharcholder ceases to
have any rights as a Shareholder in respect of its Dissenting Shares other than the right 10 be paid the fair value
of the Dissenting Shares as determined pursuant to the Interim Order, unless (i) the Dissenting Shareholder
withdraws its Dissent Notice before Lorus makes an “Offer to Pay”, in accordance with subsection 190(12) of
the CBCA or (ii) Lorus fails to make an Offer to Pay in accordance with subsection 190(12) of the CBCA and
the Dissenting Shareholder withdraws the Demand for Payment, in which case the Dissenting Shareholder’s
rights as a Sharcholder will be reinstated. Pursuant to the Plan of Arrangement, in no case shall Lorus or any
other Person be required to recognize any Dissenting Shareholder as a Shareholder afier the Closing Date, and
the names of such Sharcholders shall be deleted from the list of Registered Shareholders at the Closing Date.

Pursuant to the Plan of Arrangement, Dissenting Shareholders who are ultimately determined to be
entitled 10 be paid fair value for their Dissenting Shares shall be deemed 1o have transferred such Dissenting
Shares to Lorus at the Effective Time.

Pursuant to the Plan of Arrangement, Dissenting Shareholders who are ultimalely delermined not to be
entitled, for any reason whatsocver, to be paid fair value for their Dissenting Shares, shall be deemed to have
participated in the Arrangement on the same basis as any non-Dissenting Sharcholder who did not make an
¢lection as at and from the Closing Datc.

Lorus is required, not later than scven days after the later of the Closing Date and the date on which a
Demand for Payment is received from a Dissenting Shareholder, to send to each such Dissenting Shareholder
who has sent a Demand for Pavment an Offer to Pay for its Dissenting Shares in an amount considered by the
Board to be the fair value of such Dissenting Shareholders Common Shares, accompanied by a statement
showing the manner in which the fair value was determined. Every Offer to Pay must be on the same terms.
Lorus must pay for the Dissenting Shares of a Dissenting Shareholder within ten days afier an Offer 1o Pay has
been accepted by a such Dissenting Sharcholder, but any such offer will lapse if Lorus does not receive an
acceptance within 30 days after the Offer 10 Pay has been made.

If Lorus fails to make an Offer 1o Pay for a Dissenting Shareholder’s Common Shares, or if a Dissenting
Shareholder fails 10 accept an Offer to Pay that has been made, Lorus may, within 50 days after the Closing Date
or within such further period as a court may allow, apply to a court to fix a fair value for the Common Shares of
Dissenting Shareholders. If Lorus fails 10 apply 1o a court, a Dissenting Shareholder may apply to a court for the
same purpose within a further period of 20 days ar within such further period as a court may allow. A Dissenting
Shareholder is not required to give security for costs in such an application.
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Before making any such application 10 a court itself after receiving a notice that a Dissenting Shareholder
has made an application to a court, Lorus will be required to notify each affecied Dissenting Shareholder of the
date, place and consequences of the application and of its right to appear and be heard in person or through
counsel. Upon an application 10 a court, al} Dissenting Shareholders who have not accepted an Offer to Pay will
be joined as parties and be bound by the decision of the court. Upon any such application to a court, the court
may determine whether any Person is a Dissenting Shareholder who should be joined as a party, and the court
will then fix a fair value for the Dissenting Shares of all Dissenting Shareholders. The final order of a court will
be rendered against Lorus in favour of each Dissenting Shareholder for the amount of the fair value of its
Dissenting Shares as fixed by the court. The court may, in its discretion, allow a reasonable rate of interest on
the amount payable to each Dissenting Shareholder from the Closing Date until the date of payment. Registered
Shareholders who are considering exercising Dissent Rights should be aware that there can be no assurance that
the fair value of their Common Shares as determined under the applicable provisions of the CBCA (as modified
by the Plan of Arrangement and the Interim Order) will be more than or equal to the consideration under the
Arrangement. In addition, any judicial determination of fair value will result in delay of receipt by a Dissenting
Shareholder of consideration for such Dissenting Shareholder’s Dissenting Shares.

The foregoing is only a summary of the dissenting shareholder provisions of the CBCA (as modified by the
Plan of Arrangement and the Interim Order), which are technical and complex. A complete copy of section 190 of
the CBCA is attached as Appendix L to this Circular. It is recommended that any Registered Shareholder wishing
to avail itself of its Dissent Rights under those provisions seek legal advice, as failure to comply strictly with the
provisions of the CBCA (as modified by the Plan of Arrangement and the Interim Order) may prejudice its
Dissent Rights.

For a general summary of certain income tax implications for Dissenting Sharecholders, see “Certain
Canadian Federal Income Tax Consequences for Shareholders” and “Certain United States Federal Income Tax
Consequences for Shareholders”,

OTHER BUSINESS

Management of Lorus is not aware of any matter to come before the Meeting other than the matiers
referred 10 in the Notice of Meeting. However, if any other matter properly comes before the Meeting, the
accompanying forms of proxy confer discretionary authority to vote with respect 10 amendments or variations 10
matters identified in the Notice of Meeting and with respect to other matters that may properly come before
the Meeting.

AUDITORS

KPMG LLP is the auditor of Lorus.

LEGAL MATTERS

Certain legal matters relating to the Arrangement are (o be passed upon at the Closing by McCarthy
Tetrault LLP, on behalf of Lorus and New Lorus and on behalf of Pinnacle and Invesior. As at May 24, 2007, the
partners and associates of McCarthy Tétrault LLP beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, less than 1% of the
Common Shares on a fully diluted basis.

APPROVAL OF DIRECTORS

The contents of this Circular have been approved by the Board of Direclors.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Additional information relating to Lorus can be found on SEDAR at www._sedar.com. Financial information
is provided in Lorus’ audited annual financial statements and management discussion and analysis, as refiled for
the financial year ended May 31, 2006.

Copies are also available by contacting the Director of Finance of Lorus at 2 Meridian Reoad, Toronto,
Ontario, M9W 4Z7, Canada,
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AUDITORS’ CONSENT

The Board of Directors of Lorus Therapeutics Inc.

We have read the Management Proxy Circular dated May 24, 2007 for a special meeting of holders of
common shares, options, warrants and convertible debentures of Lorus Therapeutics Inc. (the “Company”) to
seek approval for an arrangement. We have complied with Canadian generally accepted standards for an
auditor’s involvement with offering documents.

We consent 10 the incorporation by reference in the above-mentioned Management Proxy Circular of our
report to the shareholders of the Company on the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as at May 31,
2006 and 2005 and the consolidated statements of loss and deficit and cash flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended May 31, 2006 and for the period from inception on September 5, 1986 to May 31, 2006.
Our report is dated August 9, 2006.

We also consent 10 the use in the above mentioned Management Proxy Circular of our report to the
Directors of 6650309 Canada Inc. (“New Lorus”) on the balance sheet of New Lorus as at November 1, 2006.
Our reporl is dated May 24, 2007.

Toronto, Canada (Signed) KPMG LLP
May 24, 2007 Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
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AUDITORS’ CONSENT

We have read the Management Proxy Circular dated May 25, 2007 for a special meeting of holders of
common shares, options, warrants and convertible debentures of Lorus Therapeutics Inc. to seek approval for an
arrangement. We have complied with Canadian generally accepted standards for an auditor’s involvement with
offering documents.

We consenl to the use in the above mentioned Management Proxy Circular of our report to the
Shareholders of Pinnacle International (Bay Street 111} Plaza Inc. on the balance sheet of the Company as at
October 31, 2006 and the statement of cash flows for the period from February 13, 2006 (date of formation) to
October 31, 2006. Our report is daled April 11, 2007,

We consenl to the use in the above mentioned Management Proxy Circular of our report to the
Shareholders of Pinnacle International {Bay Street 1V) Plaza Inc. on the balance sheet of the Company as at
October 31, 2006 and the statement of cash flows for the period from February 13, 2006 (date of formation) to
October 31, 2006. Our report is dated April 11, 2007.

We consent to the use in the above mentioned Management Proxy Circular of our report to the General
Partners of Pinnacle Centre Three Limited Partnership on the balance sheet of the Partnership as at October 31,
2006 and the statement of partners’ equity and cash flows for the period from February 15, 2006 {date of
formation) to October 31, 2006. Our report is dated April 11, 2007.

We consent to the use in the above mentioned Management Proxy Circular of our report to the General
Partners of Pinnacle Centre Four Limited Partnership on the balance sheet of the Partnership as at October 31,
2006 and the statement of partners’ equily and cash flows for the period from February 15, 2006 (date of
formation) to October 31, 2006. Qur report is dated April 11, 2007.

Vancouver, Canada (Signed) PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP
May 25, 2007 Chartered Accountants
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APPENDIX “A”
ARRANGEMENT RESOLUTION

BE IT RESOLVED THAT:

1.

1

The arrangement (the “Arrangement”) under Section 192 of the Canada Business Corporations Acl
(the “CBCA”) involving Lorus Therapeutics Inc. (“Lorus”), all as more particularly described and set forth
in the Management Proxy Circular (the “Circular”) of Lorus dated May 25, 2007, accompanying the notice
of this meeting (as the Arrangement may be modified or amended), is hereby authorized, approved
and adopted,

The plan of arrangement, as it may be or has been amended (1the “Plan of Arrangement”), involving Lorus
and implementing the Arrangement, the full text of which is set out in Appendix C to the Circular (as the
Plan of Arrangement may be, or may have been, modified or amended), is hereby approved and adopted;

The arrangement agreement (the “Arrangement Agreement”)  between Lorus, NuChem
Pharmaceuticals Inc., GeneSense Technologies Inc., 6650309 Canada Inc, Pinnacle International
Lands, Inc. and 6707157 Canada Inc., made as of May 1, 2007, the actions of the directors of Lorus in
approving the Arrangement and the actions of the officers of Lorus in executing and delivering the
Arrangement Agreement and any amendments thereto are hereby ratified and approved;

Notwithstanding that this resolution has been passed (and the Arrangement adopted) by the securityholders
of Lorus or that the Arrangement has been approved by the Superior Court of Justice (Ontario), the
directors of Lorus are hereby authorized and empowered without further notice to, or approval of, the
securityholders of Lorus (i) to amend the Arrangement Agreement or the Plan of Arrangement to the
extent permitied by the Arrangement Agreement or the Plan of Arrangement, or (ii) subject to the terms of
the Arrangement Agreement, not 10 proceed with the Arrangement,

Any officer or director of Lorus is hereby authorized and directed for and on behalf of Lorus to execute and
deliver articles of arrangement and such other documents as are necessary or desirable to the Direclor
under the CBCA in accordance with the Arrangement Agreement; and

Any officer or director of Lorus is hereby authorized and directed for and on behalf of Lorus to execute or
cause to be executed and to deliver or cause to be delivered, all such other documents, agreements and
instruments and 1o perform or cause 10 be performed all such other acts and things as in such person’s
opinion may be necessary or desirable to give full effect 1o the foregoing resolutions and the matters
authorized thereby, such determination to be conclusively evidenced by the execution and delivery of such
document, agreement or instrument or the doing of any such act or thing.
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APPENDIX “B”
FORM OF ARTICLES OF AMENDMENT OF REALCO

The articles of the Corporation are amended as follows:

1.

1

10.

11.

To change the name of the Corporation from “Lorus Therapeutics Inc.” to 4325231 Canada Inc.”.

To change the address of the registered office of the Corporation to Suite 300, 911 Homer Street,
Vancouver, British Columbia, V6B 2W6.

To provide that the number of directors of the Corporation is fixed at five.
To add the following “other provisions’:

Subject 10 applicable law and Corporation’s contractual obligations then in effect, the directors may fill any
vacancies among the directors, whether arising duc to an increase in the number of directors set forth in the
articles of the Corporation or otherwise.

The directors will be divided into three groups, with the first group (“Group 1”) being comprised of one
director to be elected for an initial term of one year, the second group (“Group 11”) being comprised of two
directors to be elected for an initial term of two years, and the third group (“Group 11I") being comprised
of two directors 10 be elected for an initial term of three years. At each election of directors after the
effective date hereof 1o elect directors whose terms have cxpired, directors will be elected for a term of
three years. In any election or appointment of a director to fill a vacancy created by any director ceasing 10
hold office, the election or appoiniment will be for the uncxpired term of the director who has ceased to
hold office. If the number of directors is changed, any increase or decrease will be apportioned among the
classes of directors in such a manner as will maintain or attain, to the extent possible, an equal number of
directors in each class of directors. If such equality is not possible, the increase or decrease will be
apportioned among the classes of directors in such a manner that the difference in the number of direclors
in any two classes will not exceed one.

To remove the objects of the Corporation and 1o provide the restrictions on the business that the
Corporation may carry on and the powers the Corporation may exercise as set forth on Exhibit A hereto.

To change the designation of the common shares to voting common shares and to restate the rights,
privileges, restriclions and conditions attaching to the voting common shares as set forth on
Exhibit B hereto,

To create an unlimited number of non-voting common shares.

To provide the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to the non-voling common shares as
set forth on Exhibit B hereto.

To declare that the capital of the Corpaoration after giving effect to the foregoing consists of an unlimited
number of voting common shares and an unlimited number of non-voting common shares.

To provide that any matter that, by the terms of these articles or the Corporation’s governing statute,
requires approval by a special resolution will require approval by a resolution that is passed by a majority of
not less than 75% of the votes cast by the shareholders who voted in respect of that resolution or signed by
all the sharcholders entitled to vote on that resolution,

To provide that the articles and by-laws of the Corporation may be amended only if approved by a special
resolution.

To provide that, if the Corporation’s governing statule so permits, a director of the Corporation may be
removed before the expiration of the direcior’s term of office only if approved by a special reselution.

To provide that no share in the capital of the Corporation may be issued at a subscription price of less than
$1.00 per share and no security may be issued that is excrcisable for, convertible inte or that otherwise
entitles the holder to acquire shares of the Corporation at an exercise, conversion or acquisition price of
less than $1.00 per share, except that the Corporation may issue shares by way of a distribution to holders of
shares of the Corporation that affects all holdings of such shares the same way on a per share basis.
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EXHIBIT A
(to Appendix B — Form of Articles of Amendment of RealCo)

Restrictions on the Business of the Corporation

{1) Restrictions on Business.

|

|

i (a) The objective of the Corporation will be to maximize Distributable Cash Flow and to distribute all

. Distributable Cash Flow to holders of the voting common shares and non-voting common shares and,

‘ in connection therewith, the Corporation will, at the end of each Distribution Period, distribute all
Distributable Cash Flow to holders of its voting common shares and non-voting common shares by way
of dividends andfor other distributions, subject to the other provisions of these articles and to
applicable law.

I

|

(b) The business of the Corporation will be restricted to:

(i) real estate development, investment in real estate and real estate development projects, and the
provision of services related to real estate development and/or real estate development projects
including, without limitation, management, marketing, financial and adminisirative services
related to real estate development and/or real estate development projects;

(ii) borrowing money upon the credit of the Corporation, and granting security therefor, in the
ordinary course of the Corporation’s business;

(iv) engaging in any acls or exercising any powers necessary or desirable to carry out the ordinary
course of the Corporation’s business, including, without limitation, as provided in the articles and
by-laws of the Corporation.

(2) Defined Terms.
As used herein, the following terms will have the following meanings:

(a) “Arrangement” means the arrangement under Section 192 of the Canada Business Corporations Act on
the terms and subject to the conditions set out in the plan of arrangement pursuant to which these

‘ (iii} satisfying the obligations, liabilities or indebtedness of the Corporation; and
articles became effective.

(b) *“Cash Flow”, for any Distribution Period, will equal the following:

(i) all cash and cash equivalents which are received by the Corporation in such Distribution Period,
including, without limitation, all income, interest, dividends, proceeds from the disposition of
securities, returns of capital and repayments of indebtedness (except to the exient such
repayments of indebledness are reinvested);

plus:

(i) all cash and cash equivalents received by the Corporation in any prior Distribution Period to the
extent not previously distributed unless such amounts have been set aside by the Board of
Directors in a prior Distribution Period for distribution to the holders of the voting common
shares and/or the non-voling common shares in a subsequent Distribution Period, in which case
such amounts set aside will not be included in Cash Flow;

less the following amounts (referred to collectively as the “Cash Flow Deductions™):

(iii) all costs, expenses, reserves, allowances and debts of the Corporation which, in the opinion of the
Board of Directors, may reasonably be considered 1o have accrued or become owing in respect of,
or which relate to, such Distribution Period or a prior Distribution Period if not deducted in the
calculation of Cash Flow for such prior period;

(iv) stated capital of the voting common shares and the non-voting common shares;
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(d)

()

(v) any tax liability of the Corporation in respect of, or which relates 10, such Distribution Period; and

(vi} all cash and cash equivalents which are received by the Corporation in the Distribution Period
which the Board of Directors has determined to set aside for distribution to the holders of the
voling common shares and/or the non-voting common shares in a subsequent Distribution Period.

“Distributable Cash Flow” for, or in respect of, a Distribution Period will be the Cash Flow of the
Corporation for such Distribution Period, together with any Cash Flow set aside in a prior Distribution
Period for distribution 1o the holders of the voting common shares and/or the non-voeting common
shares in a subsequent Distribution Period which the Board of Directors has determined to distribute
in respect of the curreni Distribution Period, less any amount which the Board of Directors may
reasonably consider to be necessary to provide for the payment of any costs or expenses and
repayments of debts which have been or are reasonably expected to be incurred in the activities and
operations of the Corporation in addition to the Cash Flow Deductions.

“Distribution Period” means such period or periods, as determined by the Board of Directors, occurring
at least once each fiscal year of the Corporation, provided that the first Distribution Period will begin
on (and include) the Effective Date and will end on (and include) the last day of the fiscal year in
which the Effective Date occurs.

“Effective Date” means the effective date set out in the articles of arrangement which were filed with the
Director in connection with the Arrangement.

B-3
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EXHIBIT B
(to Appendix B — Form of Articles of Amendment of RealCo)

Provisions Attaching to the Voting Common Shares
and the Non-Voting Common Shares

1.01 Voting Common Shares

The voting common shares will have attached thercto the following rights, privileges, restrictions
and conditions:

(1) Dividends

Subject to the prior rights of the holders of any other shares ranking senior to the voting common
shares with respect Lo priority in the payment of dividends, the holders of voting common shares will be
entitled (o receive dividends and the Corporation will pay dividends thereon, as and when declared by the
Board of Directors (provided that no dividends will be declared on or prior to the Effective Date) out of
Distributable Cash Flow, in such amount and in such form as the Board of Directors may from time to
time determine. However, all dividends which the Board of Directors may determine to declare and pay
in any financial year of the Corporation must be declared and paid in equal or equivalent amounts per
share on all of the voting common shares and non-voting common shares at the time outstanding without
preference or distinction. Unless otherwise agreed to by the holders of the voting common shares, such
dividends will be paid by cheques of the Corporation payable at par at any branch of the Corporation’s
bankers for the time being in Canada issued in respect of such dividends or in such other manner as is
required by the Corporation’s bankers or as required by law (less any tax required to be withheld by the
Corporation) and payment thereof will satisfy such dividends. Dividends which are represented by a
cheque which has not been presented to the Corporation’s bankers for payment or that otherwise remain
unclaimed for a period of six years from the date on which they were declared to be payable will be
forfeited to the Corporation,

(2) Participation upon Liguidation, Dissolution or Winding Up

In the event of the dissolution, liguidation or winding-up of the Corporation, whether voluntary or
involuntary, or any other distribution of assets of the Corporation among its shareholders for the purpose
of winding-up its affairs, the voting common shares and non-voting common shares will rank equally as to
priority of distribution and the holders of the voting common shares will, subject to the rights of the
holders of any other shares of the Corporation entitled to receive assets of the Corporation upon such a
distribution in priority to or concurrently with the holders of the voling common shares, participate
concurrently with the holders of the non-voting common shares in the distribution. Such distribution will
be made in equal amounts per share on all the voting common shares and non-voting common shares at
the time outstanding withoul preference or distinction.

(3) Voting Rights

Subject 10 Section 1.02(6), the holders of the voting common shares will be entitled 10 receive notice
of and to attend all meetings of the shareholders of the Corporation and will have one vote for each
voling common share held at all meetings of the shareholders of the Corporation, except meetings at
which only holders of another specified class or series of shares of the Corporation are entitled 1o vote
separalely as a class or series.
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1.02 Non-Voting Common Shares

The non-voting common shares will have attached thereto the following rights, privileges, restrictions

and conditions:

(1) Defined Terms

As used herein, the following terms will have the following meanings:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)
(¢)

()

®

(h)

()

0
(k)

“Bid Price” means the consideration for each voting common share and each non-voting
common share offered to holders of voting common shares and holders of non-voting common
shares, respectively, under the Required Bids, which consideration will have a fair market value
of not less than the average of the fair market value of a voting common share on the date that
the Required Bids are made as determined in writing by two nationally recognized investment
banking firms retained by the Offeror for the purpose of providing such valuation in connection
with the Required Bids.

“Designated Number” means the number of voting common shares that are subject to a Specified
Offer, together with the Offeror’s Voting Common Shares.

“Group” means one or more persons acting jointly or in concert (within the meaning of
section 91 of the Securities Act (Ontario)).

“Offeror Date” means the date on which a Specified Offer is made.
“Offer to Acquire” includes:

(i) an offer to purchase, a public announcement of an intention to make an offer to purchase
or a solicitation of an offer to sell, securities;

(ii) the receipt of an offer to sell securities, whether or not such offer to sell has been solicited,

or any combination thereof, and the Person receiving an offer to sell will be deemed to be
making an Offer to Acquire to the Person that made the offer to sell.

“Offeror” means a Person that makes an Offer 10 Acquire voting common shares, and includes
any Person related to such Person for purposes of the Tax Act or any other Person that is acting
jointly or in concert with such Person or who would, together with such Person (and other
Persons), constitute a Group.

“Offeror’s Voting Common Shares”, on any date, means the number of voting common shares
beneficially owned, direcily or indirectly, or over which control or direction is exercised
(including any combination of the foregoing), on the relevant date by the Offeror either alone
or together with a Group.

“Required Bids” means the concurrent offers required to be made to all holders of voting
common shares and to all holders of non-votling common shares in the circumstances provided
in Section 1.02(5).

“Specified Offer” means an Offer 10 Acquire voting common shares made by an Offeror where
the number of voting common shares subject to the Offer to Acquire (the “Specified Offer
Shares™), together with the Offeror’s Voting Common Shares on the Offer Date, would
constilute in the aggregate more than 50% of the total issved and outstanding voting common
shares on the Offer Date.

“Specified Offer Shares” has the meaning set out in Section 1.02(1)(i).

“Tax Act” means the /ncome Tax Act (Canada) R.S.C. 1985, C.1, 5" Supplement, as amended,
including the tax regulations made thereunder.

77




(2) Dividends

Subject to the prior rights of the holders of any other shares ranking senior to the non-voting
common shares with respect to priority in the payment of dividends, the holders of non-voting common
shares will be entitled to receive dividends and the Corporation will pay dividends thereon, as and when
declared by the Board of Directors (provided that no dividends will be declared on or prior to Effective
Date) out of Distributable Cash Flow, in such amount and in such form as the Board of Directors may
from time to time determine. However, all dividends which the Board of Directors may determine to
declare and pay in any financial year of the Corporation must be declared and paid in equal or equivalent
amounts per share on all of the voling common shares and non-voting common shares at the time
outstanding without preference or distinction. Unless otherwise agreed to by the holders of the
non-voting caommon shares, such dividends will be paid by cheques of the Corporation payable at par at
any branch of the Corporation’s bankers for the time being in Canada issued in respect of such dividends
or in such other manner as is required hy the Corporation’s bankers or as required by law (less any lax
required 1o be withheld by the Corporation) and payment thereof will satisfy such dividends. Dividends
which are represented by a cheque which has not been presented to the Corporation’s bankers for
payment or that otherwise remain unclaimed for a period of six years from the date on which they were
declared to be payable will be forfeited to the Corporation.

(3) Participation upon Ligquidation, Dissolution or Winding Up

In the event of the dissolution, liquidation or winding-up of the Corporation, whether voluntary or
involuntary, or any other distribution of assets of the Corporation among its shareholders for the purpose
of winding-up its affairs, the voting common shares and non-voting common shares will rank equally as to
priority of distribution and the holders of the non-voting common shares will, subject to the rights of the
holders of any other shares of the Corporation entitled 1o receive assets of the Corporation upon such a
distribution in priority 1o or concurrently with the holders of the voting common shares, participate
concurrently with the holders of the voting common shares in the distribution. Such distribution will be
made in equal amounts per share on all the voling common shares and non-voting common shares at the
time outstanding without preference or distinction.

(4) Voting Rights

Subject to applicable law and any other provisions of the articles of the Corporation, the holders of
the non-voling common shares will not be entitled 10 receive notice of, nor to attend nor vote at any
meetings of the shareholders of the Corporation; provided that in the event that holders of the
non-voting common shares are entitled by law or the articles of the Corporation 1o vote at a meeting of
holders of non-voling common shares, the holders of non-voting common shares will have one vote for
each non-voting common share held.

(5) Specified Offer

An Offeror will not acquire any voting common shares under a Specified Offer without first
complying with the provisions of this Section 1.02(5). Prior to, and as a condition precedent to, the
acquisition by an Offeror of any voting common shares under a Specified Offer, the Offeror will make
concurrent offers to acquire voting common shares and non-voting commeon shares for consideration for
each voling common share and each non-voting common share equal to the Bid Price, on the same terms,
except as to the number of shares subject to the offers, which offers will comply with the provisions of
applicable securities legislation relating to a formal takeover bid (whether or not such offers are required
by law to so comply) (the “Required Bids”):

(a) to all holders of voting common shares for such number of voling common shares as is equal 10
the number of Specified Offer Shares; and
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(b) to all holders of non-voting common shares for such number of non-voting common shares that
is equal to the lesser of:

(i) A x B, where A equals the Designated Number of voling common shares divided by the
total number of issued and outstanding voling common shares on the Offer Date and B
equals the total number of issued and outstanding non-voting common shares on the date
that the Required Bids are made; and

(ii) the number of issued and outstanding non-voting common shares excluding those that are
beneficially owned, or over which contro! or direction is exercised, on the date that the
Required Bids are made (including any combination of the foregoing) by the Offeror;

provided that:

(c) no shares may be taken-up or paid for under either of the Required Bids, unless all shares
tendered to each of the Required Bids are taken-up and paid for concurrently; and

(d} the Offeror will issue a press release following the expiry of the Required Bids and one Business
Day prior to the 1ake-up of any shares lendered to the Required Bids, which press release
will disclose:

(i) the approximate number of voling common shares and non-voting common shares
tendered to the Required Bids; and

(i) whether a sufficient number of voting common shares has been tendered to the Required
Bids such that the Offeror would acquire, on take-up and payment for such shares, when
added o the Offeror’s Voting Common Shares on the date of take-up, more than 50% of
the total issued and outstanding voting common shares on the date of take-up.

(6} Failure to Comply

In the event that an Offeror acquires, directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the total issued and
oulstanding voting common shares in violation of Section 1.02(5), then, effective on the completion of
such acquisition and during such time that the Offeror’s Voting Common Shares constitute more than
50% of the total issued and outstanding voting common shares, the total number of votes attaching to the
Offeror’s Voting Common Shares will equal the difference between: (a) the total number of issued and
outstanding voling common shares; and (b) the number of the Otferor’s Voting Common Shares, and, for
greater certainty, the voting common shares other than the Offeror’s Voting Common Shares will
continue o have one vote per share.
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1.01

APPENIHX “C”
PLAN OF ARRANGEMENT

PLAN OF ARRANGEMENT
made pursuant to

Section 192 of the Canada Business Corporations Act

ARTICLE 1
DEFINITIONS

Definitions

In this Plan, unless the context otherwise requires:

1)
2
&)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(%)
(10)

(1)

(12)
(13)

(14)

“Act” means the Canada Business Corporations Act, R.S8.C. 1985, ¢. C-44, as from time to time
amended or re-enacted, including all regulations promulgated thereunder;

“Antisense Patent Assets” means those assets set out in the Antisense Patent Assets Transfer
Apreement;

“Antisense Patent Assets Transfer Agreement” means the asset purchase agreement to be entered
into between GeneSense and New Lorus pursuant to which GeneSense will transfer the Antisense
Patent Assets to New Lorus and substantially in the form attached as Schedule C to the
Arrangement Agreement;

“Appropriate Number” means that number of Old Lorus Voting Shares which, if combined with the
aggregate number of Old Lorus Voting Shares purchased pursuant to Section 3.01(24), would result
in Investor holding a total number of Old Lorus Voting Shares representing approximately 41% of
the issued and outstanding Old Lorus Voting Shares at the conclusion of the Arrangement;

“Arrangement” means the business reorganization pursuant to which, among other things, Investor
will acquire approximately 41% of the issued and outstanding voting shares and all of the issued and
outstanding non-voting shares of Old Lorus as contemplated by this Plan pursuant to section 192 of
the Act;

“Arrangement Agreement” means the arrangement agreement between Old Lorus, NuChem,
GeneSense, New Lorus, Pinnacle and Investor dated as of May 1, 2007 which sets out the terms and
conditions pursuant to which the parties thereto will effect the Arrangement;

“Articles of Arrangement” mecans the articles of arrangement of Old Lorus in respect of the
Arrangement required under subsection 193(6) of the Act 1o be filed with the Director after the
Final Order has been made in order 1o give effect to the Arrangement;

“Business Day” means a day, other than a Saturday, Sunday or other day, when banks in Toronto,
Ontario or Vancouver, British Columbia are not generally open for business;

“Court” means the Ontario Superior Court of Justice;

“Debenture Assumption Agreement” means the agreement to be entered into between Old Lorus and
New Lorus pursuant 10 which New Lorus will assume Old Lorus’ obligation to pay TEMIC the
aggregate principal amount of $15,000,000 plus accrued interest owing under the OIld Lorus
Debentures, as contemplated by Section 3.01(3);

“Depositary” means Computershare Investor Services Inc., the appointed depositary in respect of
the Arrangement at its principal transfer office in Toronto, Ontario;

“Director” means the Director appointed under the Act;
“Dissent Rights” has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 5.01;

“Effective Date” means the effective date set out in the Articles of Arrangement which are filed with
the Director;
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(15) “Effective Time” means 12:01 a.m. (Toronto time) on the Effective Date;
(16) “Escrow Agreement” has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Arrangement Agreement;

(17) “Final Order” means the final order of the Court issued in connection with the approval of the
Arrangement, providing, among other matters, for the Arrangement to be sanctioned and to take
effect, as such order may be affirmed, amended or modified by any court of competent jurisdiction;

(18) “GeneSense” means GeneSense Technologies Inc., a corporation cxisting under the laws of Canada;

(19) “GeneSense Share Purchase Agreement” means the share purchase agreement to be entered into
between Old Lorus and New Lorus pursuant 10 which Old Lorus will transfer all of the GeneSense
Shares 1o New Lorus and substantially in the form attached as Schedule G to the Arrangement
Agreement;

(20) “GeneSense Shares” means common shares in the capital of GeneSense;

(21) “Information Circular” means the management proxy circular relating to the OIld Lorus
Securityholders’ Meeting and forwarded to Old Lorus Securityholders in connection with, among
other things, the transactions contemplated in this Plan;

(22) “Interim Order” means an interim order of the Court concerning the Arrangement under
subsection 192(4) of the Act, containing declarations and directions with respect 1o the Arrangement
and the holding of the Otd Lorus Securityholders’ Meeting, as such order may be affirmed, amended
or modified by any court of compelent jurisdiction;

(23) “Investor” means 6707157 Canada lInc., a corporation existing under the laws of Canada;

(24) “Letter of Transmittal” means the letier of transmittal enclosed with the Information Circular
pursuant 1o which an Old Lorus Securityholder is required to surrender certificates representing Old
Lorus Securilies in order to receive, upon completion of the Arrangement, New Lorus Securities
issued pursuant to the Arrangement and, as applicable, Old Lorus Voling Shares or a cash payment
in lieu thereof;

{25) “Lock-Up Holders” has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 3.01(24);

(26) “New Lorus” means 6650309 Canada Inc., a corporation existing under the laws of Canada;
(27) “New Lorus Note 17 has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 3.01(10);

(28) “New Lorus Note 2” has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 3.01(14);

(29) “New Lorus Note 3” has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 3.01(15);

(30) “New Lorus Replacement Note” has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 3.01(18);

(31) “New Lorus Options” has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 3.01(1);

(32) “New Lorus Securities” has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 3.01(1);

(33) “New Lorus Shares” has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 3.01(1};

(34) “New Lorus Warrants” has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 3.01(1);

(35) “NuChem” means NuChem Pharmaceuticals Inc., a corporation existing under the laws of Ontario;

(36) “NuChem Share Purchase Agreement” means the share purchase agreement to be entered into
between Old Lorus and New Lorus pursuant to which Old Lorus will transfer all of the NuChem
Shares held by it 1o New Lorus and substantially in the form atiached as Schedule H to the
Arrangement Agreement;

(37) “NuChem Shares” means common shares in the capital of NuChem,;
(38) “Old Lorus” means Lorus Therapeutics Inc., a corporation existing under the laws of Canada;

(39) “OId Lorus Debentures” means the prime plus 1% secured convertible debentures of Old Lorus due
on October 6, 2009 in the aggregate principal amount of $15,000,000, issued to TEMIC in equal
amounts of $5,000,000 each on each of Oclober 6, 2004, January 15, 2005 and April 15, 2005;




(40) “Old Lorus Non-Voting Shares” means the non-voting common shares of Old Lorus issued and
outstanding following the reorganization of Old Lorus’ share capital pursuant to the Arrangement;

(41) “0O1d Lorus Note” has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 3.01(3);

(42) “01d Lorus Options” means the issued and outstanding stock options issued 1o directors, senior
officers, employees and consultants of Old Lorus, governed by the terms of the Old Lorus Stock
Option Plans and permitting the holders thereof to purchase an aggregate of up to 25,921,000 Old
Lorus Shares, as such number may be amended from time 10 time;

(43) #01d Lorus Securities” means, collectively, the Old Lorus Debentures, the Old Lorus Options, the
Old Lorus Shares and the Old Lorus Warrants;

(44) “Old Lorus Securityholders” means, collectively, the holders of Old Lorus Shares, Old Lorus
Options, Old Lorus Warrants and Old Lorus Debentures;

(45) “Old Lorus Securityholders’ Meeting” means the special meeting of Old Lorus Securityholders, and
any adjournmenis thereof, called to consider and authorize, approve and adopt, among other things,
the Arrangement in accordance with the Interim Order;

{46) “Old Lorus Shareholders” means the holders of Old Lorus Shares;
(47) “OM Lorus Share Purchase Plan” means the Old Lorus employee share purchase plan;

(48) “OMld Lorus Shares” means the common shares of Old Lorus issued and outstanding immediately
prior to the reorganization of Old Lorus’ share capital pursuant to the Arrangement;

(49) “Old Lorus Stock Option Plans” means, collectively, Old Lorus’ 2003 Stock Option Plan and the 1993
Stock Option Plan;

(50) *Old Lorus Voting Shares” means the voling common shares of Old Lorus issued and outstanding
following the reorganization of Old Lorus’ share capital pursuant to the Arrangement;

(51) “Old Lorus Warrants” means the 3,000,000 issued and outstanding common share purchase warrants
of Old Lorus issued to TEMIC, each of which entitles TEMIC to acquire, subject to adjustment, one
Old Lorus Share at a price per share of $1.00;

(52) “Pinnacle” means Pinnacle International Lands, Inc., a corporation existing under the laws of British
Columbia;

(53) “Pinnacle Share Purchase Agreement” means the share purchase agreement to be cntered into
between Investor and New Lorus pursuant to which Investor will purchase from New Lorus the
Appropriate Number of Old Lorus Voting Shares and all of the Old Lorus Non-Voling Shares and
substantially in the form attached as Schedule I to the Arrangement Agreement,

(54) “Plan” means this plan of arrangement as amended or supplemented from time to time, and

“hereby”, “hereof’, “herein”, “hereunder”, “herewith” and similar terms refer to this Plan and not
to any particular provision of this Plan;

(55) “Prepaid Expenses and Receivables” means those assets set out in the Prepaid Expenses and
Receivables Transfer Agreement;

(56) “Prepaid Expenses and Receivables Transfer Agreement” means the asset purchase agreement (o be
entered into between Old Lorus and GeneSense pursuant to which Old Lorus will transfer the
Prepaid Expenses and Receivables to GeneSensc and subsiantially in the form attached as
Schedule F 10 the Arrangement Agreement;

(57) “resident in the United States” shall be determined as provided in Rule 12g-4(a}(2) under the
United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended;

(58) ““Tangible Business Assets” means Old Lorus’ depreciable property set out in the Tangible Business
Assets Transfer Agreement;

(59) ‘“Fangible Business Assets Transfer Agreement” means the asset purchase agreement to be entered
into between Old Lorus and GeneSense pursuant to which Old Lorus will transfer the Tangible
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Business Assels (0 GeneSense and substantially in the form attached as Schedule E to the
Arrangement Agreement;

(60) “TEMIC” means The Erin Mills Investment Corporation;
(61) “Transfer Agent and Registrar” means Computershare Investor Services Inc.;

{62) *“United States” means the United States of America, its lerritories and possessions, any state of the
United States and the District of Columbia;

{63) “Virulizin and Small Molecule Patent Assets” means those assets set out in the Virulizin and Small
Molecule Palent Assets Transfer Agreement;

{64) “Virolizin and Small Molecule Patent Assets Transfer Agreement” means the asset purchase
agreement to be entered ino by Old Lorus and GeneSense pursuant to which Old Lorus will
transfer the Virulizin and Small Molecule Patent Assets to GeneSense and substantially in the form
attached as Schedule D to the Arrangement Agreement; and

{65) “Warrant Purchase Agreement” means the warrant purchase agreement between New Lorus and
TEMIC pursuant to which New Lorus has agreed to purchase the New Lorus Warrants from TEMIC
dated May 1, 2007.

1.02  Headings

The headings contained in this Plan are for reference purposes only and will not affect in any way the
meaning or interpretation of this Plan.

103 Interpretation

Unless the contrary iniention appears, references in this Plan to an article, section, paragraph,
subparagraph or schedule by number or letier or both refer to the arlicle, section, paragraph, subparagraph or
schedule bearing that designation in this Plan.

1.04 Extended Meanings

In this Plan, unless the contrary intention appears, words importing the singular inciude the plural and
vice versa; words importing gender will include all genders; “person” includes any individual, partnership, firm,
trust, body corporate, governmeni, governmental body, agency or instrumentality, unincorporated body of
persons or association; and the term “including” mecans “including without limiting the generality of
the foregoing”.

1.05 Date for any Action

In the event that the date on which any action is required 1o be taken hereunder by any of the parties is
not a Business Day in the place where the action is required to be taken, such action will be required to be taken
on the next succecding day which is a Business Day in such place.
1.06  Statutory References

References in this Plan to any statute or sections thereof will include such statute as amended or
substituted and any regulations promulgated thereunder from time to time in effect.

1.07 Deemed Currency

Unless otherwise staled, all references in this Plan 1o sums of money are expressed in lawful money
of Canada.

ARTICLE 2
PURPOSE AND EFFECT OF THE PLAN
2.01  Purpose and Effect of the Plan

The purpose of this Plan is to carry out a reorganization of the business, assels, liabilities and share
capital of Old Lorus, GeneSense, NuChem and New Lorus as described in Section 3.01.
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ARTICLE 3
ARRANGEMENT

3.01 Arrangement

At the Effective Time, each of the events set out below will occur and be deemed to occur in the
sequence set out without further act or formality:

(1)

(2)

(3

4)
()

(6)
(7

(8)

(9)

The Old Lorus Shareholders, holders of Old Lorus Options and holders of Old Lorus Warrants will
transfer their Old Lorus Shares, Old Lorus Options and Old Lorus Warrants, as applicable, to
New Lorus in exchange for the issuance by New Lorus of shares (the “New Lorus Shares”), options
(the “New Lorus Options”) and warrants (the “New Lorus Warrants” and, together with the
New Lorus Shares and the New Lorus Oplions, the “New Lorus Securities™), respectively, having the
same value, terms and conditions as the Old Lorus Shares, Old Lorus Options and Old
Lorus Warrants;

New Lorus will repurchase the New Lorus Warrants from TEMIC pursuant to the Warrant Purchase
Agreement;

Pursuant to the Debenture Assumption Agreement, New Lorus will assume Old Lorus’ obligation to
pay TEMIC the $15,000,000 aggregate principal amount of the Old Lorus Debentures plus accrued
and unpaid interest thereon in consideration for Old Lorus issuing a non-interest bearing promissory
note to New Lorus for an amount equal to the amount owing under the Old Lorus Debentures
(the “Old Lorus Note”). The right of TEMIC under the Old Lorus Debentures to convert such
debentures into Old Lorus Shares will be exchanged for the right to convert such debentures into an
equal number of New Lorus Shares;

Old Lorus will surrender to New Lorus for cancellation the initial New Lorus Share that was issued
to Old Lorus upon the incorporation of New Lorus;

The articles of Old Lorus will be amended 1o change its name to 4325231 Canada Inc.” or a name
to be used for real esitate development purposes;

The articles of New Lorus will be amended 10 change its name to “Lorus Therapeutics Inc.”;

The articles of Old Lorus will be amended to conform with the form of the amended articles agreed
upon in writing by the parties to the Arrangement Agreement on or prior to the date of the Interim
Order, such amendments 1o effect, among other things, a reorganization of the share capital of Old
Lorus 1o create an unlimited number of Old Lorus Voting Shares and an unlimited number of Old
Lorus Non-Voting Shares. The Old Lorus Voting Shares and the Old Lorus Non-Voting Shares will
rank equally with respect to participation in dividends and the liguidation of Old Lorus;

As parl of the reorganization of the share capital of Old Lorus, the Old Lorus Shares held by
New Lorus will be exchanged for 21,127,828 Old Lorus Voting Shares and 2,078,872,172 Old Lorus
Non-Voting Shares, the Old Lorus Options and the Old Lorus Warrants will be cancelled and a right
to acquire OId Lorus Shares under the Old Lorus Share Purchase Plan will become a right to acquire
an equivalent number of New Lorus Shares under such plan;

Pursuant to the Tangible Business Assets Transfer Agreement, Old Lorus will transfer the Tangible
Business Assets 10 GeneSense in consideration for the issuance by GeneSense of one GeneSense
Share to Old Lorus;

(10) Pursuant to the Antisense Patent Assets Transfer Agreement, GeneSense will transfer the Antisense

Patent Assets to New Lorus in consideration for the issuance by New Lorus to GeneSense of a
demand non-interest bearing promissory note in an amount equal to the fair market value of the
Antisense Patent Assets (“New Lorus Note 17);

(11) Pursuant to the Virulizin and Small Molecule Patent Assets Transfer Agreement, Old Lorus will

transfer the Virulizin and Small Molecule Patent Assets to GeneSense in consideration for the
issuance by GeneSense of one GeneSense Share to Old Lorus;

(12) GeneSense will repay its debt owing to Old Lorus in exchange for the issuance by GeneSense of one

GeneSense Share to Old Lorus;
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(13) Pursuant to the Prepaid Expenses and Receivables Transfer Agreement, Old Lorus will transfer the
Prepaid Expenses and Receivables to GeneSense in exchange for the issuance by GeneSense of one
GeneSense Share to Old Lorus;

(14) Pursuant 10 the GeneSense Share Purchase Agreement, Old Lorus will transfer all of the GeneSense
Shares 10 New Lorus at a price equal to their fair market value in exchange for the assumption by
New Lorus of Old Lorus’ remaining liabilities and transaction costs (other than the Old Lorus Note)
and the issuance by New Lorus of a demand non-interest bearing promissory note to Old Lorus for
an amount equal to the amount by which the purchase price for the GeneSense Shares exceeds the
amount of Old Lorus’ liabilities assumed by New Lorus (“New Lorus Note 2”);

(15) Pursuant to the NuChem Share Purchase Agreement, Old Lorus will transfer all of the NuChem
Shares held by it 1o New Lorus at a price equal to their fair market value in consideration for the
issuance by New Lorus 10 Old Lorus of a demand, non-interest bearing promissory note in an
amount equal to the purchase price for the NuChem Shares (“New Lorus Note 3);

(16) Old Lorus will assign all of its contractual obligations to New Lorus or its assignee and New Lorus or
its assignee will assume such obligations;

(17y New Lorus will offer employment 1o all of the employees of Old Lorus and will assume all
employment obligations related therelto;

(18) New Lorus will repay the amount owing by New L.orus to Old Lorus under the New Lorus Note 2
and the New Lorus Note 3 by way of set off against the Old Lorus Note and the issuance to Old
Lorus of a replacement non-interest bearing demand promissory note (the “New Lorus Replacement
Note) for an amount equal to the amount by which the aggregate amounlt owing by New Lorus
under the New Lorus Note 2 and the New Lorus Nole 3 exceeds the amount of the Old Lorus Note;

(19) OId Lorus will reduce its stated capital by an amount equal to its remaining cash, cash equivalents,
and short term and long term investments, less the amount required to fund the repurchase of Old
Lorus Voting Shares described in Section 3.01(24), plus an amount equal to the amount of the
New Lorus Replacement Note and will distribute such property to New Lorus in satisfaction of the
capital reduction amount;

(20) [intentionally deleted]

(21) Pursuant to the Pinnacle Share Purchase Agreement, Investor will purchase the Appropriate
Number of the Old Lorus Voling Shares and all of the Old Lorus Non-Voting Shares from
New Lorus in consideration of a cash payment equal to $0.0040775156 per Old Lorus Voting Share
and $0.0040775156 per Old Lorus Non-Voling Share, subject to payment and adjustment in
accordance with the Pinnacle Share Purchase Agreement and a holdback pursuant to the Escrow
Agreement,

(22) The New Lorus Shares will be conditionally approved for listing on the Toronto Stock Exchange and
the American Stock Exchange subject to the fulfillment of the condilions set out in the applicable
conditional approval letter;

(23) New Lorus will reduce its siated capital by an amount equal to the fair market value of its Old Lorus
Voting Shares, determined based on the price per Old Lorus Voling Share paid by Investor in
Section 3.01(21) above. In satisfaction of the capital reduction, New Lorus will: {i) in the case of
shareholders of New Lorus who are not resident in the United States, distribute Old Lorus Voting
Shares on a pro rata basis, disregarding fractions (provided such distribution effects a distribution of
not less than 90% of the Old Lorus Voting Shares then owned by New Lorus); and (ii) in the case of
shareholders of New Lorus who are resident in the United States, sell o Old Lorus for cash
consideration New Lorus’ remaining Old Lorus Voting Shares (not to exceed 10% of the Old Lorus
Voting Shares then owned by New Lorus) at the price per Old Lorus Voting Share paid by Investor
at the Effective Time in Section 3.01(21) and distribute the proceeds of such sale to such
shareholders who are resident in the United States on a pro rata basis, disregarding fractions, as the
cash equivalent to the value of the Old Lorus Voting Shares otherwise distributable to them;
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(24) Invesior  will purchase all of the Old Lorus Voting Shares held by High Tech
Beteilingungen GmbH & Co. KG, Technifund lnc. and Herbert Abramson (collectively, the
“Lock-Up Holders™) at a fair market price determined based on the price per Old Lorus Voting Share
paid at the Effective Time by the Investor in Section 3.01(21);

(25) Investor will subscribe for 294,296,851 additional Old Lorus Non-Voting Shares for a cash payment
of $1,200,000; and

(26) Pinnacle or an affiliate thereof will transfer interests in certain real estate development projects to
Old Lorus in return for a cash payment and a promissory note of Old Lorus and Old Lorus will enter
into certain development, management and marketing agreements with Pinnacle and/or one or more
affiliates thereof.

ARTICLE 4

OUTSTANDING SECURITIES
Outstanding Certificates

From and after the Effective Date, certificates representing the Old Lorus Securities prior to the

Arrangement will, thereafter represent only the right to receive the certificates representing the New Lorus
Securities which such holder is entitled to receive pursuant to Section 3.01(1) and any distributions accruing 1o
the holder of such securities, upon the holder depositing with the Depositary the certificates duly endorsed for
transfer and accompanied by such other documenis as such Depositary may reasonably require, subject to
compliance with the requirements set forth in this Article 4.

4.02 0Old Lorus Shares

(1) As soon as practicable following the Effective Time, New Lorus shall cause to be delivered for the
benefit of the Old Lorus Sharcholders, certificates representing, in the aggregate, the New Lorus
Shares 10 which such holders are entitled pursuant to Section 3.01(1). New Lorus will, as soon as
practicable following the later of the Effective Date and the date of deposit {by a former holder of
OIld Lorus Shares exchanged under the Arrangement) of a duly completed Letter of Transmittal and
the certificates representing such Old Lorus Shares, either:

(a) forward or cause to be forwarded by first class mail (postage prepaid) (or, in the case of postal
disruption, by such other mcans as the Depositary may deem prudent) to such former holder at
the address specified in the Letter of Transmittal; or

(b) if requested by such holder in the Letier of Transmitial, make available or cause 1o be made
available at the Depositary for pickup by such holder;

certificates representing the number of New Lorus Shares issued to such holder under the
Arrangement.

(2) All distributions made with respect to any New Lorus Shares allotted and issued pursuant to this
Arrangement but for which a certificate has not been issued will be paid or delivered to the
Depositary to be held by the Depositary in trust for the registered holder thereof. All monies
received by the Depositary will be invested by it in trust accounts upon such terms as the Depositary
may rcasonably deem appropriate. The Depositary will pay and deliver to any such registered holder,
as soon as reasonably practicable after application therefore is made by the registered holder to the
Depositary in such form as the Depositary may reasonably require, such distributions to which such
holder is entitled, net of applicable withholding and other taxes.

(3) Where a certificate formerly representing Old Lorus Shares is not deposited with all other
documents as provided for in Section 4.02(1) or or prior to the sixth anniversary dale of the
Effective Time, it will cease to represent a right or claim of any kind or nature. Thereafter, the
New Lorus Shares 10 be exchanged with the former holder of such certificate will be deemed to be
surrendered to New Lorus together with all distributions and sale proceeds thereon held for
such holder.
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(4) New Lorus will be entitled to deduct and withhold from any consideration otherwise payable to any
holder of Otd Lorus Securities such amounts as New Lorus is required to deduct and withhold with
respect 1o such payment under the Income Tax Act (Canada), the United Siates Internal Revenue
Code of 1986 or any provision of federal, provincial, slate, local or foreign tax law, in each case, as
amended. To the extent that amounts are so withheld, such withheld amounts will be treated for all
purposes hereof as having been paid to the holder of the Old Lorus Securities in respect of which
such deduction and withholding was made, provided that such withheld amounts are actually
remitted to the appropriate 1axing authority.

(5) If any certificate which immediately prior to the Effective Time represented an interest in
outstanding Old Lorus Shares that were exchanged pursuant to Section 3.01(1) has been lost, stolen
or destroyed, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the person claiming such certificate to
have been losi, stolen or destroyed, the Transfer Agent and Registrar will issue and the Depositary
will deliver in exchange for such lost, stolen or destroyed certificate the consideration to which the
holder is entitled pursuant (o the Arrangement {(and any distributions with respect thereto) as
determined in accordance with the Arrangement. The person who is entitled to receive such
consideration will, as a condition precedent to the receipt thereof, give a bond to each of New Lorus
and its Depositary, which bond is in form and substance satisfactory to each of New Lorus and the
Depositary, or will otherwise indemnify New Lorus and its Depositary against any claim that may be
made against any of them with respect to the certificate alleged to have been lost, stolen
or destroyed.

403 Old Lorus Options and Old Lorus Warrants

Each Old Lorus Option and each Old Lorus Warrant will be cancelled without further act or formality.
Each New Lorus Option will represent a right 10 purchase that number of New Lorus Shares equal to the
number of OId Lorus Shares underlying the Old Lorus Option. The term to expiry, conditions 10 and manner of
exercising, vesting schedule and all other terms and conditions of each New Lorus Option will otherwise be the
same as the terms and conditions of the corresponding Old Lorus Option. Except as specified in this Plan, any
document or agreement previously evidencing such Old Lorus Option wiil thereafter evidence and be deemed to
evidence such New Lorus Option, with any adjustments deemed to be made thereto as are necessary to ensure
consistency with the provisions of this Section 4.03.

4.04 Old Lorus Share Purchase I’lan

From and after the Effective Date, the entitlement of any participant to receive Old Lorus Shares prior to
the Arrangement under the Old Lorus Share Purchase Plan will thereafter represent only the right to receive an
equivalent number of New Lorus Shares. Except as specified in this Plan, the terms and conditions of the Old
Lorus Share Purchase Plan will otherwise be the same. Except as specified in this Plan, any document or
agreement previously evidencing a right o acquire an Old Lorus Share pursuant to the Old Lorus Share
Purchase Pian will thereafier evidence and be deemed to evidence a right to require a New Lorus Share, with
any adjustments deemed 1o be made thereto as are necessary 10 ensure consistency with the provisions of this
Section 4.04.

405 Old Lorus Voting Shares

(1) As soon as practicable following the Effective Time, New Lorus shall cause to be delivered for the
benefit of the sharcholders of New Lorus who are not resident in the United States, certificates
representing, in the aggregate, the Old Lorus Voting Shares to which such holders are entitled
pursuant 1o Section 3.01(23). New Lorus will, as soon as practicable following the Effective
Date, either:

(a) forward or cause to be forwarded by first class mail (postage prepaid) (or, in the case of postal
disruption, by such other means as the Deposilary may deem prudent) to such holder at the
address specified in the Letter of Transmittal; or

(b) if requested by such holder in the Letter of Transminal, make available or cause to be made
available at the Depositary for pickup by such holder,




certificates representing the number of Old Lorus Voting Shares issued to such holder under the
Arrangement.

(2) New Lorus will be entitled to deduct and withhold from any consideration otherwise payable to any
holder of New Lorus Shares such amounts as New Lorus is required to deduct and withhold with
respect to such payment under the Income Tax Act (Canada), the United States Internal Revenue
Code of 1986 or any provision of federal, provincial, state, local or foreign tax law, in each case, as
amended. To the extent thal amounts are so withheld, such withheld amounts will be treated for all
purposes hereof as having been paid to the holder of the New Lorus Shares in respect of which such
deduction and withholding was made, provided that such withheld amounts are actually remitted 10
the appropriate taxing authority,

406 Cash Payments Pursuant to Section 3.01(23)(ii)

(1) As soon as practicable following the Effective Time, New Lorus shall cause to be delivered to the
Transfer Agent and Registrar, for the benefit of each shareholder of New Lorus who is resident in
the United States, an amount equal to the aggregate of the payments representing each holder’s
pro rata portion of the cash equivalent of the value of the Old Lorus Voting Shares otherwise
distributable to New Lorus sharcholders who are resident in the United Siates pursuant to
Section 3.01(23).

(2) Such payment shall be made by cheque payable at par at any branch of New Lorus’ bankers for the
time being in Canada (or, with the consent of the holder, by any other means of immediately
available funds).

(3) New Lorus will be entitled to deduct and withhold from any consideration otherwise payable to any
holder of New Lorus Shares such amounts as New Lorus is required to deduct and withhold with
respect 1o such payment under the Income Tax Act (Canada), the United Siates Internal Revenue
Code of 1986 or any provision of federal, provincial, state, local or foreign 1ax law, in each case, as
amended. To the extent that amounts are so withheld, such withheld amounts will be treated for all
purposes hereof as having been paid to the holder of the New Lorus Shares in respect of which such
deduction and withholding was made, provided that such withheld amounts are actually remitted to
the appropriate taxing authority.

ARTICLE §
RIGHTS OF DISSENT
5.01 Rights of Dissent

Old Lorus Sharcholders (other than the Lock-Up Holders) may exercise rights of dissent in connection
with the Arrangement with respect to their Shares pursuant to and in the manner set forth in the Interim Order,
seclion 190 of the Act and this Section 5.01 (the “Dissent Rights”) as the same may be modified by the Interim
Order or the Final Order. Old Lorus Shareholders who duly exercise such Dissent Rights and who:

(a) are ultimately entitled to be paid fair value for their Old Lorus Shares shall be deemed to have
transferred such Old Lorus Shares to New Lorus on the Effective Date simultaneously with the
transactions described in Section 3.01(1) without any further act or formality and free and clear of all
liens, claims and encumbrances, with New Lorus being obligated to pay such Old Lorus
Shareholders in consideration therefor the fair value of such Old Lorus Shares, which fair value,
notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Act, if permitted by the Court, shall be determined as
of the close of business on the day before the special resolution of Securityholders approving this
Plan is adopted, and the name of each such Old Lorus Shareholder will be removed from the register
of holders of Old Lorus Shares and New Lorus will be recorded as the registered holder of the Old
Lorus Shares so transferred and will be deemed to be the legal and beneficial owner of such Old
Lorus Shares free and clear of any liens, claims or encumbrances; or

{b) for any reason are ultimately not entitled 10 be paid fair value for their Old Lorus Shares shall be
deemed 10 have participated in the Arrangement on the same basis as any non-dissenting Old Lorus
Shareholder who is not a Lock-Up Holder as at and from the Effective Time, and shall be deemed to
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7.01

have transferred their Old Lorus Shares to New Lorus in exchange for New Lorus Shares under
Section 3.01(1), but in no case shall Old Lorus, New Lorus or any other person be required to
recognize such Old Lorus Shareholders as holders of Old Lorus Shares after the time set out in
Section 3.01(1), and the names of such Old Lorus Sharehoiders shall be deleted from the register of
Old Lorus Shareholders at the time set out in Section 3.01(1).

ARTICLE 6
AMENDMENTS
Amendments
(1) OIld Lorus, GeneSense, NuChem, New Lorus, Investor and Pinnacle reserve the right to amend,

modify and/or supplement this Plan from time 10 time at any time prior to the Effective Time
provided that any such amendment, modification or supplement must be contained in a written
document that is:

(a) agreed to by all such parties;
(b) filed with the Court and approved by the Court; and

(¢) communicated to Old Lorus Securityholders in the manner required by the Court
(if so required).

Any amendment, modification or supplement to this Plan which is approved by the Court will be

effective only:

(a) if it is consented to by Old Lorus and Pinnacle; and
(b) if required by the Court or Applicable Law, it is consented to by the Old Lorus Securityholders.

Notwithstanding that the transactions and events set out herein will occur and be deemed to occur in
the order set out in this Plan without any further act or formality, each of the parties to the
Arrangement Agreement shall make, do and execute, or cause to be made, done and execuled, all
such further acts, deeds, agreements, transfers, assurances, instruments or documents as may
reasonably be required by any of them in order further to document or evidence any of the
transactions or events set out herein.

ARTICLE 7
GENERAL
General
(1) Any director or officer of Old Lorus is hereby authorized to execute and file the Articles of

)

Arrangement and to execute and deliver all other documents and do all such other acts and things
necessary or desirable to give effect to this Arrangement.

The directors of Old Lorus are hereby authorized, if they deem appropriate in their sole discretion,
to revoke this Plan of Arrangement and to not proceed with the Arrangement without further
approval of the Old Lorus Securityholders.
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APPENDIX “D”
INTERIM ORDER

Court File No. 07-CL-7015

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
COMMERCIAL LIST
THE HONOURABLE | ) WEDNESDAY, THE 16™
)
JUSTICE SIEGEL ) DAY OF MAY, 2007

IN THE MATTER OF AN APPLICATION under section
192 of the Canada Business Corporations Act, being R.S.C.
1985, ¢. C-44;

AND AN APPLICATION under Rule 14.05(2) and Rule
14.05(3)f) of the Rules of Civil Procedure;

AND IN THE MATTER OF a proposed plan of arrangement
involving Lorus Therapeutics Inc.

LORUS THERAPEUTICS INC. and 6650309 CANADA INC.

Applicants
APPLICATION UNDER the Canada Business Corporations Act,R.S.C. 1985, ¢. C-44, C.
192 and Rule 14.05 of the Ruldes of Civil Procedure.

INTERIM ORDER

THIS APPLICATION, made by the Applicants Lorus Therapeutics Inc. (“Lorus™)
and 6650309 Canada Inc. (*New Lorus”) for an interim order pursuant to section 192 of the
Canada Business Corporations Act (the “CBCA™) for advice and directions in connection
with the within application (the “Interim Order™), was heard this day at 330 University

Avenue, Toronto, Ontario.




_2.

ON READING the notice of application, the notice of motion and the afﬁdavit of
Aiping H. Young swom May 11, 2007 (the “Young Affidavit”), and on hearing the

submissions of counsel for Lorus:

1. THIS COURT ORDERS that Lorus may call and conduct a special meeting (the
“Securityholders’ Meeting”) of the holders of common shares, options, warrants and
convertible debentures (collectively the “Securities™) of Lorus in accordance with the notice

of a special meeting to be provided to the Securityholders for the following purposes:

(a) to consider, apd if deemed advisable, pass a special resolution (the
“Arrangement Resolution”) authorizing and approving an arrangement under '
section 192 of the CBCA (the “Arrangement”j as described in the draft
management proxy circular (the “Circular”) attached as Exhibit “A™ to the

affidavit of Aiping H. Young; and

(b) - totransact such further or other business as may properly come before the

Securityholders’ Meeting and any and all adjournments thereof.

2. THIS COURT ORDERS that Lorus is authorized 10 make such amendments,
revisions or supplements to the Arrangement as it may determine without any additional
notice to the Securityholders, and the Armrangement, as so amended, revised or supplemented,
shall be the Arrangement to be submitied o the Securityholders’ Meeting and to be the

subject of the Arrangement Resolution.
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3. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Securityholders’ Meeting shall be called, held and
conducted in Toronto, Ontario on June 25, 2007 at the time set out in the Notice of

Securityholders’” Meeting and as described in the Circular.

4, THIS COURT ORDERS that notwithstanding the provisions of the CBCA, Lorus is
entitled to adjourn or postpone the Securityholders’ Meeting on one or more occasions
without the necessity of first convening the Securityholders’ Meeting or first obtaining any

vote of the Securityholders respecting the adjournment or postponement.

5. THI1S COURT ORDERS that Lorus is hereby autﬂon'zed and directed to send to the
Securityholderé of record as at the close of business on May 24, 2007 (the “Record Date™),
together with other documentation required to be sent to the Securityholders under applicable
laws, the Circular, subject to such amendments or supplements as Lorus may deem
appropriate, which Circular will include the Notice of Application in this proceeding and this
Interim Order. The Circular shall be distributed and made available in accordance with
paragraph 6 of this Interim Order and shall be deemed to have been received in accordance
with paragraph 7 of this Interim Order, and such delivery will constitute good and valid

service of the Notice of Application under the Rules of Civil Procedure.

6. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Notice of Securityholders’ Meeting, the Circular
and form of proxy (the “Form of Proxy™), subject to such amendments or supplements as

Lorus may deem appropriate, shall be distributed by Lorus to:

(a)  registered Securityholders as at the Record Date, the auditors of Lorus and the

directors of Lorus at least 21 days prior 1o the date of the Securityholders’
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Meeting, excluding the date of the mailing and including the date of the

Securityholders’ Meeting, by:

) prepaid ordinary mail, addressed to each registered Securityholder at
the address as shown on the books of Lorus as at the Record Date, the

auditors of Lorus and to the directors of Lorus; or

(iiy by delivery, in person, by courier service, or by electronic transmission
(provided that the recipient has provided an e-mail address and has
consented 1o receiving such materials electronically), to the address

specified in (i) above.

(b)  non-registered Securityholders by providing copies of the Circular and related
materials in accordance with applicable securities laws for delivery to

beneficial holders of securities.

_ Substantial compliance with this paragraph shall constituie good and sufficient notice of the

Securityholders’. Meeting.

7. THIS COURT ORDERS 1hat the Notice of Securityholders’ Meeting, the Circular
and the Form of Proxy shall be deemed for the purposes of this Interim Order to have been

received by the Securityholders:
(a)  in the case of mailing, 3 days after the delivery thereof to the post office; and

(b)  inthe case of delivery, upon receipt thereof by the intended addressee or by the

courier,

%




8. THIS COURT ORDERS that accidental failure of or omission by Lorus to give
notice to 'any one or more Securityholders or ahy other person entitled to notice of the
Securityholders’ Meeting, or any failure or omission to give such notice as a result of events
beyond the reasonable control of L'_orus (including without limitation any inability to utilize
postal services), shall not constitute a breach of 1his Interim Oraet or a defect in the calling or
giving of notice of the Securityholders’ Meeting, but if any such failure or omission is
brought 1o the attention of Lorus, they shall use their best efforts to rectify it by the method
and in the time most reasonably practicable in the circumstances. Such rectified notice shall

be deemed to have been received in accordance with paragraph 7 of this Interim Order.

9. THIS COURT ORDERS that any officer, director or trustee of Lorus shall act as
chairperson of, and may appoint a secretary and scrutineer or scrutineers for, the

Securityholders’ Meeting.

10,  THIS COURT ORDERS that a sufficient quorum for the holding of the
Securityholders’ Meeting to consider the Arrangement Resolution shall be at least two
persons present in person, each being a Securityholder or duly appointed proxy holder
together holding not less than 10% of the Securities entitled to vote (either present in person
or represented by proxy), with provision for an adjourned meeting 10 proceed whether or not

the quorum is present at the adjourned meeting.

11.  THIS COURT ORDERS that the vote required to pass the Arrangement Resolution
shall be not less than (i) 66 2/3 per cent of the votes cast at the Securityholders’ Meeting in
person or by proxy by the Securityholders of record as of the Record Date; and (ii) a simple

majority of the votes cast at the Securityholders’ Meeting in person or by proxy by
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Securityholders of record as of the Record Date other than High Tech Beteilingungen GmbH
& Co. KG (“High Tech”), any related party of High Tech within the meaning of Rule 61-501
of the Ontario Securities Commission subject to the exceptions set out therein, and any peréon
acting jointly or in concert with High Tech. The Securityholders shall vote as a single class,
with each holder of common shares (a “Shareholder”) being entitled to one vote for each
common share held and, with each holder of options, warrants and convertible debenturés
being entitled to one vote for each common share such holder would have been entitled to
receive upon the valid exercise or conversion of his, her or its options, warrants or convertible
debenture, as applicable. Such vote shail be sufficient to authorize and direct Lorus to do all
such acts and things as may be necessary and desirable to give effect to the Arrangement on a
basis consistent with what is provided for in the Circular without the neécssity of any further
approval by the Securityholders, subject only to the final approval of the Arrangement by this

Honourable Court.

12, THIS COURT ORDERS that Shareholders shall have the right to dissent (the
“Arrangement Dissent Rights™) from the Arrangement Resolution (“Dissenting
Shareholders”™). A registered Shareholder who wishes to dissent must deliver a written
objection (a “Dissent Notice”) to Lorus ¢/o Computershare Investor Services Inc. (the
“Transfer Agent”), 100 University Avenue, 8" Floor, Toronto, ON M5J 2Y1, by personal
Adelivcry, courier, mail or by facsimile transmission to Computershare Investor Ser\{ices Inc,,
with a copy to the Secretary of Lorus at 2 Meridian Road Toronto, Ontario M9W 4Z7, on or
before 10:00 a.m. (Eastern Standard Time) on June 21, 2007, or otherwise at least 48 hours
(excluding Saturdays, Sundays and statutory holidays in the City of Toronto) prior to the time
of the Securityholders’ Meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof. A non-

registered Shareholder who wishes to exercise the Arrangement Dissent Rights must
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immediately contact the intermediary with whom the non-registered Shareholder deals in

respect of its shares and instruct the intermediary to instruct the Canadian Depository for

Securities Limited 10 take the necessary steps required to validly exercise the Arrangement

Dissent Rights on behalf of the non-registered Shareholder in its capacity as the registered

Shareholder.

" 13.  THIS COURT ORDERS that any registered Sharcholder who sends a Dissent Notice

as provided above and does not subsequently vote in favour of the Arrangement Resolution:

()

(b)

(©)

will be deemed to have concurrently sent a demand for payment of the fair

value of all of the shares registered in their name;

must deliver the certificates representing their shares to the Transfer Agent at
the address notéed above within 30 days after receiving wnitten notice from
Lorus that the Arrangement Resolution has been adopted by the Shareholders
and in the absence of such delivery such registered Sharcholders will be

deemed to have so delivered his, her or its certificates representing shares; and

will cease to have any rights as a Shareholder in respect of the shares -
registered in the name of the Shareholder other than the right to be paid the fair

value of the shares as determined puréuant to the Interim Order, unless:

(i)  Lorus consents to the withdrawal or abandonment of the Dissent Notice

of the Shareholder;
(ii) Lorus fails to make an offer to pay as outlined in the Circular;

(iii)  the directors elect not to proceed with the Arrangement; or

D-7
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(iv)  the application by Lorus to the court for an order approving the
Arrangement is refused and all appeal rights in respect of such refusal

have been exhausted without success;

in which case the registered Shareholders” rights as a Shareholder will be

reinstated.

14.  THIS COURT dRDERS that a dissenting Shareholder will be entitled, in the event
that the Arrangement Resolution is approved and the Arrangement becomes effective, to be
paid the fair value of the shares registered in the name of such Dissenting Shareholder. The
valuation date utilized for this purpose will be the close of business on the last day occurring
immediately prior o the date of the Shareholders’ Meeting. Lorus may, in its sole discretion,
pay or cause to be paid such fair value amount in cash or shares, or a combination of cash and

shares as described in the Circular.

15. THIS COURT ORDERS that registered Shareholders who duly exercise their

Arrangement Dissent Rights and who:

(a)  are ultimately entitled to be paid fair value for their shares will be deemed to
have their shares cancelled immediately prior to the effective date of the
Arrangement (the “Effective Date”) in consideration for the fair value paid to
them by Lorus and will not be entitled to any other payment or consideration
including any payment that would be payable under the Arrangement had such

Dissenting Shareholders not exercised their Arrangement Dissent Rights; or

(b)  are ultimately not entitled, for any reason, to be paid fair value for their Units,
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will be deemed to have participated in the Arrangement on the same basis as a non-dissenting

Shareholder in accordance with the Arrangement.

16. THIS COURT ORDERS that in no case shall Lorus or any other person be required
to recognize such Dissenting Shareholders as Sharcholders after the Effective Date, and the
names of such Shareholders shall be deleted from the register of Shareholders on the Effective

Date.

17.  THIS COURT ORDERS that notice to Shareholders of the right to dissent with
respect to the Arrangement Resolution and to receive, subject to the provisions of this Interim
Order, the fair value of Lorus’ units shall be good and sufﬁciemly given by including

information with respect thereto in the Circular 10 be sent to the Securityholders in accordance

‘with paragraph 6 above.

" 18.  THIS COURT ORDERS that the only persons entitled to be represented and to vote

at the Securityholders’ Meeting, either in person or by proxy, shall be the Securityholders of

record at the close of business on the Record Date.

19.  THIS COURT ORDERS that Lorus is authorized, a1 its own expense, to solicit
proxies, directly and through their officers, directors and employees, and through such agents
or representatives as they may retain for that purpose, and by mail or such other fonné of
personal or electronic communication as they may determine, and may use the proxies at the

Securityholders’ Meeting.

D-9
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20.  THIS COURT ORDERS that the proxies to be used at the Securityholders’ Meeting
must be feceived by Computershare, 100 University Avenue, 8™ Floor, Toronto, ON

M5J 2Y1, no later than 5:00 p.m. (Eastern Standard Time) on June 21, 2007 or, if the
Secﬁrityholders’ Meeting is adjourned, not less than 48 hours (excluding Saturdays, Sundays
and statutory holidays in the City of Toronto) befére the time set for the adjoumed

Securityholders’ Meeting.

21.  THIS COURT ORDERS that, unless a Securityholder who has granted a proxy has
agreed that it shall be irrevocable, a Securityholder shall be entitled to revoke a proxy given at

any time prior to the exercise thereof at the Securityholders’ Meeting by:

(a) cdmpleting and signing a proxy bearing a later date and depositing it with
Computershare, 100 University Avenue, 82 Floor, Toronto, ON M5J 2Y1; or
(b)  depositing an instrument in writing executed by him or her or by his or her

attorney authorized in writing:

@) at the registered office of Lorus at any time up to0 and including the
second last business day preceding the day of the Securitvholders’

Meeting or any adjournment thereof; or

(i)  with the Chairperson of the Securityholders” Meeting prior to the
commencement of the Securityholders” Meeting on the day of the

Securityholders® Meeting or any adjournment thereof.

22.  THIS COURT ORDERS that persons desiring to appear at the hearing for final

approval of the Arrangement, scheduled for June 27, 2007 (the *Sanction Hearing”), are
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required to serve on Lorus and file with the court on or before June 25, 2007, a notice of
appearance in the form prescribed by the Rules of Civil Procedure, together with any evidence
or material which is to be presented to the court. Service on Lorus is to be effected by
delivery in a manner authorized by the Rules of Civil Procedure to the solicitors for Lorus at:
McCarthy Tétrault LLP, Suite 4700, Toronto Dominion Bank Tower, Toronto-Dominion

Centre, Toronto, Ontario MSK 1E6, Attention: Geoff R. Hall.

23.  THIS COURT ORDERS that if the Sanction Hearing is adjourned, then, subject to a
further order of this court, only those persons having previously served a notice of appearance

in accordance with paragraph 22 shall have to be given notice of the adjoumnment date.

24, THIS COURT ORDERS that service of the Circular in accordance with paragraphs 6

and 7 shall constitute good and sufficient service of notice of the Sanction Hearing.

25. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Circular (Exhibit “A” to the Young Afﬁdavii) shall
be segregated from other documents or information filed in connection with this motion and
shall be provided to the court in a sealed envelope identifying the action and prominently
marked with the following legend:

“CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION

Pursuant to an order dated May 16, 2007 (the “Order”), this envelope

shall remain sealed in the court file and shall not be opened until the filing

with the court of a certificate signed by McCarthy Tétrault LLP in

accordance with paragraph 25 of the Order, or upon further order of the
court.”

and the sealed envelope shall not be opened until the filing with the court of a certificate
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signed by McCarthy Tétrauit LLP confirming that the Circular, as finalized, has been made

public, or upon further order of the court.

26. THIS COURT ORDERS that 1o the extent of any inconsistency or discrepancy with
respect to the matters provided for in this Interim Order between this Interim Order and the
terms of any instrument creating, governing or collateral to the Securities or to which such

Securities are collateral, this Interim Order shall govemn.

27.  THIS COURT ORDERS that this application is amended to add New Lorus as an

applicant along with Lorus, and that the title of proceedings is amended 1o read as follows:

“IN THE MATTER OF AN APPLICATION under section
192 of the Canada Business Corporations Act, being R.8.C.
1985, c. C44;

AND AN APPLICATION under Rule 14.05(2) and Rule
14.05(3)(f) of the Rules of Civil Procedure,

AND IN THE MATTER OF a proposed plan of arrangement
involving Lorus Therapeutics Inc.

LORUS THERAPEUTICS INC. and 6650309 CANADA INC.

1t

Applicants

(o/




28. THISC | ' '
S COURT ORDERS that Lorus shall be entitled at any time to bring a motion to

this court to vary this Interim Order.

-13-
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IN THE MATTER OF a proposed plan of arrangement involving Lorus Therapeutics Inc.

LORUS THERAPEUTICS INC. et al.
Applicants

Court File No. 97-CL-7015

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
COMMERCIAL LIST

Proceeding Commenced at Toronto

INTERIM ORDER

McCarthy Tétrault LLP

Box 48, Suite 4700

Toronto Dominion Bank Tower
Toronto, Ontario MSK 1E6

Geoff R. Hall LSUC# 347010
Tel. 416 601-7856
Fax: 416 868-0673

Solicitor for the Applicants

4167078 v. 7
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Court File No.

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
COMMERCIAL LIST

IN THE MATTER OF AN APPLICATION under section 192
of the Canada Business Corporations Act, being R.S.C. 1985, ¢, C-
44;

AND AN APPLICATION under Rule 14.05(2) and Rule
14.05(3X{) of the Rules of Civil Procedure;

AND IN THE MATTER OF a proposed plan of arrangement

LORUS THERAPEUTICS INC.

Applicant

APPLICATION UNDER the Canada Business Corporations Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-44, section
192 and Rule 14.05 of the Rules of Civil Procedure.

NOTICE OF APPLICATION

A LEGAL PROCEEDING HAS BEEN COMMENCED by the Applicant. The claim
made by the Applicant appears on the following page.

THIS APPLICATION will come on for a hearing before a judge presiding over the
Commercial List on Wednesday, June 27, 2007, at {0:00 a.m., or as soon after that time as the
application can be heard, at 330 University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario.

IF YOU WISH TO OPFPOSE THIS APPLICATION, to receive notice of any step in
the application or to be served with any documents in the application you or an Ontario lawyer
acting for you must forthwith prepare a notice of appearance in Form 38A prescribed by the
Rules of Civil Procedure, serve it on the Applicant’s lawyer or, where the Applicant does not
have a lawyer, serve it on the Applicant, and file it, with proof of service, in this court office, and
you of your lawyer must appear at the hearing.

IF YOU WISH TO PRESENT AFFIDAVIT OR OTHER DOCUMENTARY
EVIDENCE TO THE COURT OR TO EXAMINE OR CROSS-EXAMINE WITNESSES
ON THE APPLICATION, you or your lawyer must, in addition to serving your notice of
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appearance, serve a copy of the evidence on the Applicant's lawyer or, where the Applicant does
not have a lawyer, serve it on the Applicant, and file it, with proof of service, in the court office
where the application is to be heard as soon as possible, but at least 2 days before the hearing.

IF YOU FAIL TO APPEAR AT THE HEARING, JUDGMENT MAY BE GIVEN
IN YOUR ABSENCE AND WITHOUT FURTHER NOTICE TO YOU. IF YOU WISH
TG OPPOSE THIS APPLICATION BUT ARE UNABLE TO PAY LEGAL FEES,
LEGAL AID MAY BE AVAILABLE TO YOU BY CONTACTING A LOCAL LEGAL
AID OFFICE.

Date: \\Aa,u\ HIA {/ "f Issued by: /},J_’&‘,\/L{"\.

Local ‘lie;istmr/

Address of court office:

330 University Avenue
Toronto, Ontario M5G 1Eé

TO: SECURITYHOLDERS OF LORUS THERAPEUTICS INC,

AND Richard Shaw
TO: Director General
Industry Canada
Corporation Directorate
9™ Floor, Jean Edmends Tower South
365 Laurier Avenue West
Ottawa, ON KI1A 0C8
Tel: 613/941-2837
Fax: 613/941-5783

Email: Shaw.Richard(@ic.ge.ca
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APPLICATION

1. The Applicant Lorus Therapeutics Inc. (*Lorus™) makes an application for:

(a)  aninterim order {the “Interim Order™), without notice, for advice and directions
pursuant to section 192(4) of the Canada Business Corporations Act, R.S.C.

1985, c. C-44 (the “CBCA™);

(b}  anorder approving the proposed plan of arrangement (the “Arrangement™) of

Lorus under section 192 of the CBCA; and

(c)  such further and other relief as this Honourable Court may deem just in the

circumstances.

THE GROUNDS FOR THE APPLICATION ARE:

1. Lorus is incorporated under the CBCA.

2. The Arrangement is in the best interests of Lorus, is fair and reasanable to the holders of

securities of Lorus and is put forth in good faith,

3 It is not practicable for Lorus to effect fundamental changes in the nature of those

contemplated by the Arrangement under any other provision of the CBCA.
4, All statutory requirements of the CBCA have been fulfilled.

5. Lorus will rely on section 192 of the CBCA and Rule 14.05 of the Rules of Civil

Procedure.

Ik



6. Lorus will also rely on such further and other grounds as counsel may advise and this

Honourable Court may permit.

THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE will be used at the hearing of the

application:

1. the Interim Order and other orders as may be granted by this Honourable Court;

2. the affidavit of Aiping H. Young, sworn May 11, 2007;

3. further affidavits including one reporting as to the results of any meetings convened

pursuant to the Interim Order; and

4. such further and other material as counsel may advise and this Honourable Court may
pemit.
Dated: May 11, 2007 McCarthy Tétrault LLP
Box 48, Toronto Dominion Bank Tower
Toronto-Dominion Centre

Toronto, ON M3K 1E5
Geoff R. Hall

Tel. 416 601-7856
Fax: 416 868-0673
LSUC# 347010

Solicitors for the Applicant

D-18
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IN THE MATTER OF a proposed plan of arrangement involving Lorus Therapeutics Inc.
LORUS THERAPEUTICS INC.

(of

Applicant

Court File No.

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
COMMERCIAL LIST

Proceeding Commenced at Toronto

NOTICE OF APPLICATION

McCarthy Tétrault LLP

Box 48, Toronto Dominion Bank Tower
Toronto-Dominion Centre

Toronto, ON MS5K LES

Geoff R. Hall

Tel. 416 601-7856
Fax: 416 868-0673
LSUCH 347010

Solicitors for the Applicant

4163867 v2
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APPENDIX “E”
FAIRNESS OPINION

»
e I o I tte Deloitte & Touche LLP
' 79 Wellington Street West

Suite 1900
P.0O. Box 29, TD Centre
Toranto, ON M5K 1B9

Tel: (416) 601-6150
Fax: {416) 601-6690
www . deloitte.ca

April 30, 2007

Mr. Graham Strachan

Chairman of the Board of Directors
Lorus Therapeutics Inc.

2 Meridian Road

Toronio ON

MOW 477

Dear Mr. Strachan:
Subject: Fairness Opinion Related to a Proposed Recapitalization and Reorganization
Introduction

Deloitte has been engaged by the Board of Directors of Lorus Therapeutics Inc. (“Lorus™) to provide a
written fairness opinion (the “Fairness Opinion”) related 1o a proposed recapitalization and recrganization
(the “Arrangement™) of Lorus. Specifically, we have been asked to determine if the Arrangement is fair,
from a financial point of view, 1o the shareholders, optionholders, debentureholders, and warrantholders
(collectively referred to as the “Securityholders™) of Lorus.

Deloitte was not engaged to prepare. and did not prepare, a formal valuation' of Lorus, its subsidiaries or
any other entities or assets in connection with this Fairness Opinion.

Purpose of the Fairness Opinion

We understand that the Board of Directors of Lorus requires our Fairness Opinion for corporate
governance purposes. Lorus, the subsidiaries of Lorus, 6650309 Canada Inc. ("Newco"™), Pinnacle
International Lands. Inc. ("Pinnacle™), and an affiliate of Pinnacle (“Investor”) intend 10 complete the
Arrangement, whereby, among other things:

(a) The Securityholders will transfer their common shares, options, and warrants in exchange
for the issuance by Newco of Newco common shares, Newco options, and Newco
warrants, respectively, having the same value, terms, and conditions as the common
shares, options, and warrants of Lorus;

(b) Newco will assume Lorus’ obligation to pay the $15,000.000 convertible debentures
issued to The Erin Mills Investment Corporation (“TEMIC™) (the “Debentures™), plus
acerued interest, in consideration for Lorus issuing a non-interest bearing promissory note
to Newco for an amount equal to the amount owing under the Debentures. The right of

1This Fairness Opinion does not constitute a Calculation Valuation Report, an Estimate Valuation Report, or
Comprehensive Valuation Report, as defined by the practice standards of the Canadian Institute of Chartered
Business Valuators.

Audit . Tax.Consulting . Financial Advisory. e O che Tarmrtou
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The Board of Directors of Lorus Therapeutics Inc,

April 30, 2007

Page 2

(©)

(d)

(e

4]

(g

(h)

H

0

TEMIC 10 convert the Debentures into Lorus common shares will be exchanged for the
right to conven such debentures into an equal number of Newco common shares;

The share capital of Lorus will be reorganized to create an unlimited number of voting
common shares and an unlimited number of non-voling common shares. The voting
common shares and the non-voting common shares shall rank equally with respect to
participation in dividends and liguidation of Lorus;

Lorus™ 1angible business assets. prepaid expenses, receivables, antisense patent assets.
Virulizin patent assets, small molecule patent assets, subsidiary shares, and all of the
remaining liabilities will be transferred to Newco with the result that they become the
direct and indirect assets, and liabilities of Newco in exchange for debt of Newco and the
assumption of debt by Newco:

Lorus will reduce its stated capital by an amount equal to its remaining cash, less the
amount required to redeem its shares held by Newco in step (h) plus the remaining
amount due from Newco and will distribute such property to Newco in satisfaction of the
capital reduction amount;

Investor will purchase the number of the Lorus voting common shares which, if
combined with the aggregate number of Lorus voting common shares purchased pursuant
to the Arrangement and associated transactions, would result in Investor holding a total
number of Lorus voting common shares representing approximately 41% of the issued
and outstanding Lorus voting common shares al the conclusion of the Arrangement. As
well, Invesior will purchase 100% of the Lorus non-voting commeon shares from Newco.
The consideration for the purchases will be a cash payment of approximately $8,510,000
(the “Buyout Amount”) less the aggregate of the amounts in step (j) (“Purchase Price™);

The Buyout Amount is subject to adjustmem based on certain tax attributes of Lorus as at
the close of the Arrangement. which adjustment could result in a reduction in the
Purchase Price or an increase in the Purchase Price. such increase 10 be not more than
$270,000,

A portion of the Purchase Price, $600,000, will be held in escrow for one year, subjeci 1o
the escrow agreement made among Investor, Newco, and an escrow agent. As well, the
Purchase Price will be subject 10 payment and adjustment, in accordance with the share
purchase agreement entered into by Investor and New Lorus;

A portion of the Lorus voting common shares held by Newco that would otherwise be
distributable to US residemt Newco shareholders, if Newco were (o distribute those shares
pro rata to Newco shareholders, will be sold by Newco to Lorus in consideration of a
cash payment to Newco. The cash payment will be the same price per share as is paid by
[nvestor 10 Newco for Lorus shares;

Pursuant to a reduction of Newco's capital, Newco will distribute:

i) 10 US resident Newco shareholders, the cash received by Newco on the sale of
Lorus voting common shares; and

ii) to the other Newco shareholders, the remaining Lorus voting common shares
held by Newco: and
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k) Investor will purchase the Lorus voling common shares held by certain significant
sharcholders at the fair market value price for such shares.

Upon completion of the Arrangement, Lorus shareholders will own 100% of Newco, which will continue
1o carry on the business of Lorus and maintain a share capital structure, board of directors, and
management team substantially the same as Lorus' current share capital structure, Board of Directors, and
management team, Newco will have an additional cash inflow of approximately $8,510,000 less costs
incurred for the Arrungement. Lorus shareholders not resident in the US will also own approximately
0.5% of the equity interest of Lorus {to be renamed following the Arrangement).

As part of the Arrangement, Newco will apply 10 list its common shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange.
The primary benefit of the Arrangement is the provision of non-dilutive funding for the continuation of
Lorus’ business.

Pinnacle expects 1o transfer to Lorus a 99.99% interest in Pinnacle Centre Three Limited Partnership, a
99.99% interest in Pinnacle Centre Four Limited Partnership, and shares of each general partner (Pinnacle
International (Bay Sireet 1) Inc. and Pinnacle International (Bay Street IV) Inc., respectively) at fair
market value in exchange for a cash payment and debl. Both partnerships are in the business of
residential real esiate development in Toronto. Lorus will obtain the cash necessary for the purchase
through the subscription of non-voting common shares by the Investor.

We understand that the Faimess Opinion will be sent to the Securityholders as part of the management
proxy circular describing the Arrangement (the “Circular). Any recipient of the Fairness Opinion
acknowledges the resirictions in its use and circulation stated herein.

Engagement

Deloitte was first contacted by Lorus in respect of the Arrangement on August 2, 2006. Mr. Graham
Strachan, Chairman of the Board of Directors, formally engaged Deloitte on Oclober 2, 2006 to provide
the Fairmess Opinion (the “Engagement Agreement”). The terms of the Engagement Agreement provide
that Deloitte is to be paid a fee based on time spent at standard hourly billing rates. In addition, Deleitte is
10 be reimbursed for its reasonable oul-of-pocket expenses and be indemnified by Lorus in respect of
certain liabilities which may be incurred by Deloitte in connection with the provision of its services
hereunder. No part of Deloitte’s fee is contingent upon the conclusions reached in this Fainess Opinion
or upon the successful completion of the Arrangement.

The effective date of the Fairness Opinion is April 30, 2007.
Credentials of Deloitte

Deloitte is one of the world’s largest and most reputable professional services organizations. With
approximately 120,000 people in nearly 150 countries, the member firms of Deloitte deliver a broad range
of professional services and serve more than one-hal{ of the world’s largest companies, Deloitte’s
professionals have significant experience in providing advisory services for various purposes, including
fairness opinions, mergers and acquisitions, corporate finance, business valuations, litigation matters, and
corporate income tax, amongst other things.

In Canada, Deloitte is one of the country's leading professional services firms and provides audit. tax,

financial advisory and consulting services through more than 6,600 people in more than 46 offices. The
Canadian firm is a member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.
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As a global market leader with over 50 valuation professionals in Canada, and 500 globally, Deloitte is a
leading valuation practice with international delivery capabilities, deep financial and accounting acumen,
and robust industry experience. In Taronto, our valuation services group comprises finance professionals,
muny of whom have eamed professional designations including Chantered Business Valuaior (CBV),
Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA), Chanered Accoumant {CA), Certified Public Accountant (CPA), and
Accredited Senior Appraiser {(ASA).

Independence of Deloitte

Deloitte is not an insider, associate or affiliate (as such terms are defined in the Securities Act (Ontario))
of Lorus. Neither Deloitte nor any of its affiliates is an advisor to Lorus in respect of the Arrangement.

On February 17, 2004, Deloitte was engaged by Lorus to provide property 1ax services. Property tax
assessment appeals were filed for calendar years 2003 to 2003, and remain outstanding. Other than the
aforementioned, Deloitte has not conducted any engagements for Lorus in the two years prior 0 accepting
this engagement and does not have any agreed upon or conternplated future engagements to provide
services 10 Lorus and/or its subsidiaries.

Scope of Review

In connection with preparing and rendering this Fairness Opinion, Deloitte has reviewed and relied upon,
among other information, the following:

1. Non-binding letter of intent prepared by Pinnacle and addressed 1o Lorus;
2. Various memoranda prepared for management related to the Arrangement;

3. Draft arangement agreement between Lorus, Nuchem Pharmaceuticals Inc. (“Nuchem”), GeneSense
Technologies Inc. (“GeneSense’), Newco, Pinnacle, and Investor {the “Arrangement Agreement™);

4. Specific purpose intangible asset valuation report dated December 11. 2006 and issued by Frank De
Lisio, CAeCBYV (the "DeLisic Valuation™):

5. Leuer from Frank DeLisio, CA*CBV 1o management of Lorus dated March 19, 2007 regarding
intangible asset valuation;

6. Tax returns for Lorus und Nuchem for the years ended June 2, 2006 and May 31, 2006, respectively;

7. Draft1ax return for GeneSense for the year ended December 31, 2006;

8. Vanous analyst reports on Lorus;

9. Subscription agreement among Lorus. GeneSense, Nuchem, and TEMIC dated October 2004;

10. List of patents including junsdiction and expiry dates;

1 1. Discussions with management of Lorus, with respect to the historic and current operations, and future
prospects of Lorus” drug development candidates, competitors, and other relevant business and

industry wends;

12. External research sources with respect to similar or comparable transactions;

>
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13,

14,

15.

16.

17.

18.

20.

Draft share purchase agreement between Investor and Newco dated April 15, 2007,

Draft indemnification agreement between Lorus and Newco and Nuchem and Genesense received
March 26, 2007 (the “Indemnification Agreement™);

Drafi notice of special meeting of Securityholders and the management proxy circular received on
April 16, 2007;

Draft arrangement agreement among Lorus, Nuchem, Genesense, Investor, Newco, and Pinnacle
received March 26, 2007;

Drafi escrow agreernent beiween Investor and Newco received March 26, 2007,

Draft letter dated April 26, 2007 from Investor to Lorus regarding the determination of buyout
amount;

. A letter of representation obtained from management of Lorus wherein they confirmed the accuracy

of certain facts, and confirmed certain representations and warranties that they have made to us
including a general representation that they had no information or knowledge of any facts or material
information not specifically noted in this Fairness Opinion which, in their view, would reasonably be
expected to affect our conclusion as to the fairness of the Arrangement; and

Other corporale, scientific, industry and financial market information, and analyses as Deloitte
considered necessary or appropriate in the circumstances,

Deloitte’s procedures consisted primarily of inquiry, review, analysis, and discussion of this information.
Deloitie has not. 10 the best of its knowledge, been denied access by Lorus to any information requested.

Restrictions and Limitations

The Fairness Opinion is subject to the following restrictions. limitations, and qualifications, changes (o
which could have a significant impact on Deloitie’s assessment of the faimess of the Arrangement 10 the
Securityholders:

The Fairness Opinion has been prepared for the Board of Directors of Lorus and is intended for
inclusion in the Circular o be distributed to the Securityholders with respect to the Arrangement. The
Faimess Opinion is not to be used for any purpose other than as stated herein, and except as provided
in the last sentence of this paragraph, is not intended for general circulation, nor is it to be published
or made available to other parties in whole or in part without Deloitte's prior written consenl in each
specific instance. We do not assume any responsibility or liability for losses incurred by any parties
as a result of the circulation. publication, reproduction, or use of the Fairness Opinion contrary to the
provisions of this paragraph. Subject to the terms of the Engagement Agreement, Deluitie consents to
the inclusion of this Fairmess Opinion in 2 form acceptable to Deloitte in the Circular, and Lo the filing
thereof, as necessary, by Lorus with the applicable securities commissions, stock exchanges or similar
regulatory authorities in Canada and the US:

No opinion, counsel or interpretation is intended in matters that require legal or other appropriate
professional advice. It s assumed that such opinions, counse! or interpretations have been or will be
obtained from the appropriate protessional sources;

(3
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3.

12,

This Faimess Opinion is rendered as of April 30, 2007 on the basis of securities markets and
economic and general business and financial conditions prevailing on such date and the condition and
prospects, financial and otherwise, of Lorus as they were reflected in the information and documents
reviewed by Deloitie and as they were represented to Deloitie in discussions with management of
Lorus;

Deloitte disclaims any undentaking or obligation 10 advise any person of any change in any fact or
matter affecting this Fairness Opinion which may come or be brought to Deloitte’s attention after the
date hereof. Without limiting the foregoing, in the event that there is a material change in any fact or
matter affecting this Faimess Opinion after the date hereof, Deloitte reserves the right 1o change,
modify or withdraw the Fairness Opinion:

The preparation of a faimess opinion is a complex process and is not necessarily susceptible to parnial
analysis or a summary description. Accordingly, Deloitte’s analyses must be considered as a whole

and the selection of portions of the analyses or factors considered, without considering all factors and
analyses together, could create a misleading view of the approaches underlying the Fairness Opinion;

Deloitie has not been engaged 1o provide and has nol provided a valuation of the assets to be
transferred to Lorus, specifically the 99.99% interest in Pinnacle Centre Three Limited Parinership,
the 99.99% interest in Pinnacle Centre Four Limited Partnership, and shares of each general pariner
{Pinnacle International (Bay Street 1I1) Inc. and Pinnacle International (Bay Street IV} Inc.,
respectively);

Deloitte has not been engaged to provide and has not provided an opinion: 1) as to the relative
fairness of the Arrangement as between the classes of Securityholders: i1) as to the fairness of the
process underlying the Arrangement; iii} on the 1ax structure relating to the Arrangement; and iv) on
the calculation of tax attributes that are pant of this Arrangement;

Deloitte has not contemplated the degree of risk associated with the occurrence of certain events
subsequent (o the Arrangement that may aftect contingent payments pursuant to the Indemnification
Agreement:

The Fairness Opinion is not 1o be construed as a recommendation to any Director or Securityholder of
Lorus to support or reject the proposed Arrangement. The Fairness Opinion does not provide
assurance that the best possible price was obtained for assets included in the Arrangement. Deloitte
has not been retained 1o comment on the invesiment or strategic merit of the Arrangement or the
future operations of Lorus. Future business conditions are subject to change and are beyond the
comrol of Deloitte. and the parties involved in the Arrangement;

. The Fairness Opinion does not contemplate the specific tax implications. as a result of the

Arrangement, to individual Securityholders;

. This Faimess Opinion does not constitute a Calculation Valuation Report, an Estimate Valuation

Report, or Comprehensive Valuation Report. as defined by the practice slandards of the Canadian
Institute of Chartered Business Valuators ("CICBV™). In preparing this Fairness Opinion, we were
guided by Appendix B of CICBYV Pructice Standard No. 110 “Fairness Opinions™; and

In preparing the Fairness Opinion, we have nol exposed the assets included in the Arrangement to the
market 10 determine whether some third party purchasers would be prepared to negotiate prices

and/or consideration for the acquisition of the assets other than those negotiated by Lorus with
Investor pursuant to the Arrangement. We were not requested to solicit expressions of interest from,
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or negotiate with, any third parties concerning potential alternatives to the Arrangement and we have
not done so.

Major Assumptions

Deloitte has not independently verified the accuracy and completeness of the financial and other
information supplied to us by management of Lorus. Deloitte has relied upon and assumed, where
rcasonable, the completeness, accuracy, and fair presentation of all the financial and other information,
data. advice, opinions, representations, and other material obtained by us from public sources or provided
to us by, on behalf of or at the request of Management or the Board of Directors, and this Faimess
Opinion is conditional upon such completeness, accuracy, and fair presentation.

In addition, Deloitte has relied upon the following major assumptions in preparing this Fairness Opinion:

1. The information referred to under “Scope of Review” is complete in all material respects:

-2

With respect to Lorus’ income forecasts - based on probabilities of clinical trial success, lime (0
commercialization, market sizes and shares. revenues per patient, royalties and mileslone payments
from strategic partners, among other factors - provided to us and relied upon in our analysis, we have
assumed that the income forecasts have been prepared on a reasonable basis reflecting current best
assumptions, estimates, and judgements of management of Lorus;

3. The title to all assets, properties, or business interests purportedly owned by Lorus is good and
marketable and there ure no adverse interests, encumbrances, engineering, environmental, zoning,
planning, or related issues associated with these interests and that the subject assets, properties. or
business interests are free and clear of any and all liens, encumbrances, and encroachments, except
for security granted to TEMIC in respect of the Debentures:

4. There were no material contingent or unrecorded liabilities, environmental liabilities. and litigation
pending or threatened other than in the ordinary course of business or other than as noted in the
Fairness Opinion;

5. The executed agreements related Lo the Armangement would not be materially different than the draft
agreements outlined in the “Scope of Review"; and

6. The Armrangement is non-dilutive to the Securityholders. Securityholder rights and privileges remain
the same once the Amangement is complete (other thun such changes to ownership rights, as are

contemplated by the Arrangement).

Other than the offers associated with the Arrangement or as publicly disclosed, there were no written
offers to purchase the businesses or assets of Lorus during the preceding 24 months.

Should any of the above assumptions not be accurate or should any of the other information provided to
us not be factual or correct, our Fairness Opinion, as expressed herein, could be different.

In completing this Fairness Opinion, Deloitie has made certain assumptions in addition to those noted
herein which it considered to be reasonable and appropriate in the circumstances.

Summary Description of Lorus

Lorus is a biopharmaceutical company specializing in research and development of pharmaceutical
products and technologies for the treatment of cancer. Lorus has established a diverse anticancer product
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pipeline, with products in various stages of develepment ranging from pre-clinical compounds to multiple
ongoing Phase Il clinical trials.

Lorus’ success is dependent upon several factors, including establishing the efficacy and safety of ils
products in clinical trials, obtaining the necessary regulatory approvals to enable it to market any producits
that may be approved, and maintaining sufficient levels of funding through public and/or private
financing.

Lorus has product candidates in three classes of anmicancer therapies:

1. Immunotherapy: based on macrophage-stimulating biological response modifiers;

2. Antisense therapies: based on synihetic sepments of DNA designed to bind to the messenger
RNA (mRNA} that is responsible for the production of proteins over-expressed in cancer cells;
and

3. Small Molecule Therapies: based on anti-angiogenic, anti-proliferative and anti-metastatic agents.

In addition. Lorus has a number of anticancer technologies in the research and pre-clinical stages of
development, including tumour suppressor gene therapy, siRNA, and U-Sense technoiogy.

Lorus’ three product candidates, that are furthest along the clinical development pipeline and with the
highest probability of generating income over the next several years, are outlined below:

Virulizin

The most clinically tested product in Lorus’ pipeline is Virulizin. an immunotherapy that mobilizes the
body’s immune systems 10 attack and eliminate cancer cells. Virulizin was granted Orphan Drug Status
by the US Food and Drug Administration in 20012, In October 2005, Lorus announced Phase 111 clinical
tnal results for Virulizin, namely that the product failed 1o reach statistical significance in overall mean
survival times for the treatment of pancreatic cancer. However, certain patieni sub-groups yielded
clinically significant results and, as a consequence, Lorus decided to search for a strategic partner to fund
further clinical development costs of Virulizin. Lorus has stated that it will not incur any {urther clinical
development costs related 1o Virulizin without the assistance of a strategic partner.

GT1-2040 for Renal Cell Carcinoma
Lorus’ leading antisense drug candidate. GTI-2040, has completed Phase 11 testing for renal cell
carcinoma.

GT1-2040 for Acuie Myeloid Leukemia (AML)
GTI1-2040 is being developed for an indication in AML..  The product has completed Phase 11 testing in
this regard, under the supervision of the US National Cancer Institute.

Transaction and Consideration

Inn summary, Deloitte understands that the Arrangement involves those steps outlined in the section titled
“Purpose of the Fairness Opinion™.

? Orphan Drug Status is awarded by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) to a drug used in the treatment of
a disease that afflicts less than 200,000 patients annually in the US. The purpose of Orphan Drug Status is to
encourage research and testing of drugs that would help small patient poputations. The FDA will help to facilitate
the drug’s development process by providing financial incentives, including seven years of market exclusivity after
commercial approval.
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Upon completion of the Arrangement, Lorus shareholders will own 100% of Newco, which wiil continue
to carry on the business of Lorus and maintain a share capital structure, board of directors, and
management team substantially the same as Lorus’ current share capital structure, Board of Directors, and
management team. Newco will have an additional cash inflow of approximately $8,510,000 less costs
incurred for the Arrangement. Lorus’ shareholders not resident in the US will also own approximately
0.5% of the equity interest in Lorus (1o be renamed following the Arrangement).

Approach to Reaching Fairness Opinion
In considering the faimess of the Arrangement, Deloitte performed the following analyses, among others:

l. We considered the fair markel value of Lorus® assets remaining after the Amangement, and
specifically, considered transactions that are the same as or similar to the Arrangement, and which
have occurred over the last five years;

2. We reviewed and considered Lorus’ tax attributes;

3. We met with management of Lorus to discuss the assumptions used in the DeLisio Valuation and in
the structuring of the Arrangement;

4, We reviewed and considered Lorus management’s future expeclations of income from the product
development candidates;

5. We reviewed Lorus’ market capitalization and deduced the implied values and expectations related to
Lorus’ product development candidates;

6. We reviewed the process underiaken by management of Lorus and the Board of Directors in the
contemplation and negotiation of the Arrangement;

7. We reviewed the various lerms and conditions noted in the Arrangement Agreement to assess their
impact on the overall faimess of the Arrangememt to the Securityholders: and

8. We considered such other Mnancial, market. corporate, and industry information. investigations and
analysis, research, and testing of assumiptions. as we considered appropriate in the circumstances.

Other Fairness Considerations

In considering the fairmess of the Arrangement. Deloitte also evaluated other significant factors, which are
discussed below:

. Form of consideration. Many purchases of assets involve contingent consideration, including cash
paid over time, depending on the actual utilization of those assets. In the case of the Arrangement, the
consideration to be received by Lorus is cash to be paid at the close of the Arrangement, other than
$600.000 10 be held in escrow for one vear. Payment of most of the consideration at the close of
Arrangement is relatively more valuable due to time value of money considerations and risk
considerations. We have considered the form of consideration of the Arrangement in our evaluaiion
of fairness.

2, Other interested parties. The ability to determine what constitutes a fair price in any transaction is

enhanced as the number of interesied parties increase. Management of Lorus has indicated that they
have spoken with two other panties regarding transactions similar to the Arrangement. one of which
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did not proceed and the other was on terms less favourable than those available under the
Arrangement.

Fairness Conclusion
Based upon and subject 10 the foregoing and such other matters Deloitte considered to be relevant,

Deloiue is of the opinion that. as at the date hereof, the Arrangement is fair, from a financial peint of
view, to the Sccurityholders.

Yours truly,

L

Eﬁeﬂo«}&‘f Jpuche L

Iseo Pasquali
Partner
Deloitte & Touche LLP
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APPENDIX “F”
INFORMATION RESPECTING LORUS
Incorporation

Capitalized terms used in this Appendix F that are not defined herein have those meanings set forth in the
Circular to which this Appendix F is attached, under the heading “Glossary of Terms”.

General Development of the Business

Lorus is a life sciences company focused on the research and development of effective anticancer
development stage therapies with high safety. Lorus believes that it has established a diverse anticancer product
pipeline, with products in various stages of development ranging from pre-clinical compounds to multiple
ongoing Phase 11 clinical trials. A growing intellectual property portfolio supports this product pipeline.

Lorus’ commercial success is dependent upon several factors, including establishing the efficacy and safety
of products in clinical trials, obtaining the necessary regulatory approvals 1o enable it to market any products
that may be approved and maintaining sufficient levels of funding through public andfor private financing.

Lorus has product candidates in three classes of anticancer therapies: (i) immunotherapy, based on
macrophage-stimulating biological response modifiers; (ii) antisense therapies, based on synthetic segments of
DNA designed to bind to the messenger RNA (mRNA) that is responsible for the production of proteins
over-expressed in cancer cells; and (iii) small molecule therapies based on anti-angiogenic, anti-proliferative and
anti-melastatic agents. In addition, Lorus has a number of anticancer technologies in the research and
pre-clinical stages of development, including tumour suppressor gene therapy, siRNA and U-Sense technology.

Over the past three years, Lorus has focused on advancing its product candidates through pre-clinical and
clinical testing. You should be aware that it can cost millions of dollars and take many years before a product
candidale may be approved for therapeutic use in humans. In addition, a product candidate may not meet the
end points of any Phase 1, Phase II or Phase 111 clinical trial.

4




Previous Distributions of Securities

During the five years preceding the date of this Circular, Lorus has not distributed any Common Shares

other than as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended Purpose

Beginning Share Balance (June 1,2001) .. .. ...................

May 31, 2002

Exercise of Compensation Warrants. . .........

May 31, 2003
May 31, 2004

Share Issuance . ......... ... nnn.

May 31, 2005
Issuances in respect of interest on Convertible

Debentures . ... .. .. e

Issuance under Alternate Compensation Plans
May 31, 2006

Issuances in respect of interest on Converltible

Debentures .. ... ..t

May 31, 2007

(To May 24, 2007) Exercise of Options .. ....................

Issuances in respect of interest on Convertible

Debentures . ........ ... ... ... . . o .,
Private placement of Common Shares . ........

Private placement of Common Shares . ........

Dividends

Dividends on Common Shares are declared atl the discretion of Lorus’ board of directors. To date, Lorus

has not paid any dividends on its Common Shares.

Exercise of Options .. ....................

Exercise of Options .. ....................
Exercise of Options . ............... ... ...

Exercise of Options ... .......... ... ... ...

Exercise of Options . ............ ... .....

Number of

Common Shares

Gross Proceeds

C000’s)

..... 142,411
..... 1,525

..... 3,383
..... 28,800
..... 5,000

$(°000's)

1,194
265
715
171

32,775
112

300
37

882

22

961
10,400
1,800
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Previous Purchases and Sales of Securities

Excluding securities purchased or sold pursuant to the exercise of employee stock options, warrants and
conversion rights, the only securities purchased or sold by Lorus in the past twelve months are as follows:

Date

June, 2006
July, 2006
August, 2006

August 31, 2006
August 31, 2006
September, 2006

October, 2006
November, 2006
December, 2006
January, 2007
February, 2007
March, 2007
April, 2007

May, 2007

(to May 23, 2007 )

Number of
Price Per Common Gross

Sale/lssuance of Common Shares Common Share Shares Proceeds
Issuance in respect of interest on Convertible $0.34 253,711 N/A
Debentures

Issuance in respect of interest on Convertible $0.33 268,933 N/A
Debentures

Issuance in respect of interest on Convertible $0.33 269,485 N/A
Debentures

Private placement of Common Shares $0.36 28,800,000 $10,400,000
Private placement of Common Shares $0.36 5,000,000  $1,800,000
Issuance in respect of interest on Convertible $0.29 293,916 N/A
Debentures

Issuance in respect of interest on Converlible $0.25 360,622 N/A
Debentures

Issuance in respect of interest on Converlible $0.23 376,925 N/A
Debentures

Issuance in respect of interest on Convertible $0.24 371,408 N/A
Debentures

Issuance in respect of interest on Convertible $0.30 300,013 N/A
Debentures

Issuance in respect of interest on Convertible $£0.33 243,631 N/A
Debentures

Issuance in respect of interest on Convertible $0.27 331,582 N/A
Debentures

Issuance in respect of interest on Convertible $0.28 312,418 N/A
Debentures

None N/A N/A N/A
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Consolidated Capitalization Table

The following table and notes sets out Lorus’ consolidated capitalization as at May 31, 2006 and
February 28, 2007. The table should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements
and related notes for the year ended May 31, 2006 that have been specifically incorporated by reference in the
Circular.

As at As al
May 31,2006 February 28, 2007
($°000) ($°000)
(Unaudited)

Capitalization:
CommMOD ShaTes . . . .ttt e e e e $145,001 $157,449
Debt portion of secured convertible debentures . ............ ... 11,002 11,684
Equity portion of secured convertible debentures . . ................ ... 3,814 3,814
SIOCK OPLIONS . . . ottt e 4,525 4,844
Contributed surplus . .. .. ..o e s 7,665 7,706
B2 720 5 1 11 - o9 991
Deficit accumulated during developmentstage . .. ... ... .o L (164,552) (172,501)
O AL . .. e e $ 8,446 $ 13,987

To the knowledge of the directors and senior officers of Lorus, after reasonable enquiry, as of May 23, 2007,
the only persons that owned, of record or beneficially (directly or indirectly) or exercise control or direction over
securities of Lorus carrying more than 10% of any class of equity of Lorus are as follows:

As at May 23, 2007

Number of Percentage of

Name, Class Type of Ownership Securities Class
High Tech Beteilippngen GmbH & Co. KG, Common Beneficial and of 29,090,000 13.7%
Dusseldorf, Germany') ... ... ............ Shares record

(1) Includes 290,000 Common Shares owned by Conpharm Anstali, which exercises control and direction oves the securities on authority
delegated to it by the general pariner of High Tech.

Description of Convertible Dehentures and Warrants

On October 6, 2004, Lorus entered into a Subscription Agreement (the “Agreement”} 10 issue an aggregate
of $15 million of secured convertible debentures. The Convertible Debentures are secured by a first charge over
all of the assets of Lorus. Lorus received $4.4 million on October 6, 2004 (representing a $5 million Convertible
Debenture less an investor fee representing 4% of the $15 million 1o be received under the Agreement), and
$5 million on each of January 14 and April 15, 2005. All debentures issued under this Agreement are due on
Oclober 6, 2009 and are subject to interest payable monthly at a rate of prime +1% until such time as Lorus’
share price reaches $1.75 for 60 consecutive trading days, at which time, interest will no longer be charged.
Interest is payable in Common Shares until the Common Shares trade at a price of $1.00 or more after which
interest will be payable in cash or Common Shares at the option of the debenture holder. Common Shares
issued in paymeni of interest will be issued at a price equal to the weighted average trading price of such shares
for the ten trading days immediately preceding their issue in respect of each interest payment. The $15 million
principal amount of Convertible Debentures issued on October 6, 2004, January 14 and April 15, 2005 is
convertible at the holder’s option at any time into Common Shares with a conversion price per share of $1.00.
With the issuance of each $5 million debenture, Lorus issued to the debt holder from escrow one million
purchase warrants expiring October 6, 2009 to buy Common Shares at a price per share equal to $1.00.

The Warrants are convertible into Common Shares at an exercise price of $1.00 per Common Share and
expire on October 6, 2009. In connection with the Arrangement, the Warrants will be repurchased from the
holder for an aggregate purchase price of $252,000.
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Additional Information concerning Lorus and Documents Incorporated by Reference

Information has been incorporated by reference in the Circular from the documents filed with the securities
commissions or similar regulatory authorities in Canada (the “Canadian Securities Authorities”). Copies of the
documents incorporated by reference may be obtained on request without charge from the Corporate Secretary
of Lorus, at 2 Meridian Road, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, M9W 4Z7, Telephone: (416) 798-1200, Facsimile:
(416) 798-2200. These documents are also available through the Internet on the System for Electronic
Document Analysis and Retrieval, which can be accessed online at www.sedar.com. For the purposes of the
Province of Québec, this Circular contains information to be completed by consulting the permanent
information record. A copy of the permanent information record may be obtained without charge from the
Corporate Secretary of Lorus at the above-mentioned address and telephone number and is also available
electronically at www.sedar.com.

The following documents filed by Lorus with the Canadian Securitics Authorities are specifically
incorporated by reference into, and form an integral part, of the Circular:

* the management information circular of Lorus dated August 11, 2006 prepared in connection with the
annual meeting of shareholders of Lorus held on September 21, 2006 (excluding those sections not
required to be incorporated by reference herein);

* Lorus’ Annual Information Form dated August 11, 2006 for the financial year ended May 31, 2006;

+ Lorus' audited consolidated balance sheets as at May 31, 2006 and 2005 and consolidated statements of
loss and deficit and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended May 31, 2006, and the
notes thereto, together with the report of the auditors thereon dated August 9, 2006;

* Lorus’ refiled management’s discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operations
for the financial year ended May 31, 2006;

* the interim unaudited consolidated financial statements relating to the three and nine month periods
ended February 28, 2007, and the notes thereon;

+ Lorus’ management’s discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operations for the
quarter ended February 28, 2007;

* Lorus’ material change report daled September 8, 2006 announcing the successful completion of the
transaction with High Tech to issuc 28.8 million common shares at $0.36 per share for gross proceeds of
$10.4 million, pursuant to a share purchase agreement dated as of July 13, 2006;

* Lorus’ material change report dated September 8, 2006 announcing the successful completion of the
transaction with Technifund 10 issue, on a private placement basis, 5 million common shares at $0.36 per
share for gross proceeds of $1.8 million;

* Lorus’ malterial change report dated September 26, 2006 announcing that Dr. Jim A. Wright will siep
down as the President and Chief Executive Officer of Lorus on September 21, 2006 and that Dr. Aiping
Young will assume the position of President and Chief Executive Officer of Lorus on September 21, 2006;

* Lorus’ material change report dated May 11, 2007 announcing the entering into of the Arrangement
Agreement; and

* the Arrangement Agreement,
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APPENDIX “G”
INFORMATION RESPECTING NEW LORUS

Incorporation

Capitalized terms used in this Appendix G that are not defined herein will have those meanings set forth in
the Circular to which this Appendix G is attached, under the heading “Glossary of Terms”.

. 6650309 Canada Inc. (“New Lorus”) was incorporated by Certificate of Incorporation issued pursuant to

‘ the provisions of the CBCA on November 1, 2006. New Lorus’ head office is located at 2 Meridian Road,

‘ Toronto, Ontario, M9W 4Z7. The articles and by-laws of New Lorus are substantially the same as those
of Lorus.

| General Development of Business

‘ New Lorus has not carried on any aclive business since its incorporation. As of the date hereof, the sole
shareholder of New Lorus is Lorus. Following the completion of the Arrangement, New Lorus will use the
Assets transferred from Lorus 10 New Lorus pursuant to the Arrangement to carry out the business as carried
on by Lorus prior to the completion of the Arrangement.

Directors and Management

Following completion of the Arrangement, the board of directors of New Lorus will be comprised of those
same individuals who are currently the directors of Lorus. In addition, the management team of New Lorus will
be comprised of those individuals who are currently the management team of Lorus.

BUSINESS AND STRATEGY

New Lorus will carry out the business carried on by Lorus prior 1o the completion of the Arrangement. For
more information regarding the business (o be carried out by New Lorus, please see Appendix F (Information
respecling Lorus) attached to this Circular and in particular the Annual Information Form of Lorus dated
August 11, 2006 for the financial year ended May 31, 2006, which is incorporated by reference therein.

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

New Lorus will carry out the same business carried on by Lorus prior to the completion of the
| Arrangement. As such, the historical selected consolidated financial information regarding this business, as
carried on by Lorus, may be of interest to readers. For information regarding this historical selected |
consolidated financial information, please see the financial information incorporated by reference in
this Circular.

As well, for information regarding the opening balance sheet of New Lorus on November 1, 2006, please
sec Appendix J (Balance Sheet of New Lorus) attached to this Circular.

For pro forma information relating to New Lorus after giving effect 10 the Arrangement and certain other
adjustments, see Appendix 1 (Unaudited Pro Forma Balance Sheet Of RealCo} attached to this Circular.

CAPITALIZATION

New Lorus is authorized to issue an unlimited number of New Lorus Common Shares. Upon the
Arrangement being completed, a number of New Lorus Common Shares equal to the number of Common
Shares issued and outstanding immediately prior to the completion of the Arrangement will be issued and,
outstanding. Additional New Lorus Common Shares will be reserved for issuance in order to satisfy New Lorus
obligations under the New Lorus Stock Option Plan, estimated to be 31,788,000 New Lorus Common Shares
and the valid conversion of the Convertible Debentures, representing 15,000,000 New Lorus Common Shares.
See “Convertible Securities™.
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The holders of the New Lorus Common Shares are entitled to dividends if, as and when declared by the
board of directors, to one vote per New Lorus Common Share at meetings of the shareholders, and upon
liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of New Lorus, to receive such assets of New Lorus as are distributable to
the holders of the New Lorus Common Shares. All of the New Lorus Commeon Shares issued and outstanding
on completion of the Arrangement will be fully paid-up and non-assessable. As of the date hereof, the sole
shareholder of New Lorus is Lorus. Lorus owns one New Lorus Common Share, having a stated capital of §1.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES

New Lorus currently has no options or convertible securities outstanding nor has it reserved any shares for
this purpose.

Pursuant 10 the Arrangement, the Options and Warrants will be exchanged for the New Lorus Options and
the New Lorus Warranis. The Convertible Debentures will be assumed by New Lorus pursuant to the Debenture
Assumption Agreement and the New Lorus Warrants will be repurchased by New Lorus pursuant to the Warrant
Repurchase Agreement. See Appendix F (Information respectling Lorus) for a description of the Convertible
Debentures.

The New Lorus Stock Option Plan will be substantially the same as the current Lorus Stock Option Plans,
other than rights to acquire Common Shares will be substituted for rights to acquire New Lorus
Common Shares.

Accordingly, the New Lorus Stock Option Plan will enable New Lorus 1o grant share options to employees,
directors, and individuals in special contract relationships.

The number of New Lorus Common Shares available for issue under the New Lorus Stock Option Plan will
be a rolling rate of 15% of the issued New Lorus Common Shares. The board of directors of New Lorus, within
certain limitations, will determine the terms, conditions and limitations of options granted under the New Lorus
Stock Option Plan. Under the New Lorus Stock Option Plan, (a) the number of New Lorus Common Shares
reserved for insiders, at any time, under all share compensation arrangements, cannot exceed 10 per cent of
issued and outstanding New Lorus Common Shares, (b} the number of New Lorus Common Shares issued to
any one insider, within any one year period, under all share compensation arrangements, cannot exceed
10 per cent of issued and outstanding New Lorus Common Shares, and (c) the number of New Lorus Common
Shares reserved for issuance under all share compensation arrangements may not exceed 5 per cent of issued
and outstanding New Lorus Common Shares. The New Lorus Stock Option Plan may be amended by the board
of directors of New Lorus for the proper administration of such plan, subject to regulatory approval, if required.
The exercise price per New Lorus Common Share will be determined by the board of directors of New Lorus,
but shall not be less than the closing price of the New Lorus Comimon Shares on the TSX on the day prior to the
day on which the option is granted. The board of New Lorus will fix the term of each option when the option is
granted, but such term may not be greater than 10 years from the date on which the option is granted. In
general, the right of an oplionee (o exercise an optlion commences on the first anniversary date of the option
grant and the optionee will be entitled 1o purchase, on a cumulative basis, 50 per cent after the first year and
25 per cent of the optioned New Lorus Common Shares in cach of the next two years. However, in certain
circumstances, oplions may be granled entitling an optionee to purchase 100 per cent of the New Lorus
Common Shares earlier than the general pattern. In the event that New Lorus’ relationship with an optionee
terminates, the provisions of the New Lorus Stock Option Plan specifies the applicable period for exercising
options dependent upon the event giving rise 10 the termination and the position of the optionee with
New Lorus. Entilement 10 unvested options ceases immedialely upon termination of employment and
entitlement 1o vested options ceases three months after employment is terminated. The board of New Lorus will
be entitled to provide exceptions to this termination as deemed appropriate. For all optionees, entitlement wiil
coniinue for nine months in the event of death. The ability of an optionee to exercise an option under the
New Lorus Stock Option Plan may be accelerated in the event of a change of control of New Lorus. The exercise
price per New Lorus Common Share is payable in full on the date of exercise. Options granted under the
New Lorus Stock Option Plan are not assignable.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

To date, New Lorus has not paid any dividends on its issued and outstanding common shares. Consistent
with Lorus’ past practice, New Lorus intends to retain future earnings, if any, for use in its business. Any
determination to pay future dividends will remain at the discretion of New Lorus’ board of directors and will be
made taking into account its financial condition and other factors deemed relevant by New Lorus.

PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDER

To the knowledge of New Lorus, no single person will, directly or indirectly, own more than 10% of the
issued and outstanding New Lorus Common Shares upon completion of the Arrangement other than High Tech.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

Currently and following completion of the Arrangement, the board of directors New Lorus is and will be
comprised of those directors who are currently directors of Lorus. In addition, the management leam of
New Lorus will be comprised of those individuals who are currently the management team of New Lorus.

For a full description of the directors and officers of New Lorus, see the Management Information Circular
of Lorus dated August 11, 2006 incorporated herein by reference in Appendix F (Information respecting Lorus)
attached to this Circular.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In connection with the Arrangement, New Lorus will adopt and continue Lorus’ existing corporate
governance practices, including the adoption of the mandates and policies and a code of business conduct and
ethics, which are substantially similar to those of Lorus. For a description of Lorus’ corporate governance
practices, see Schedule “A” of the Management Information Circular of Lorus dated August 11, 2006 under the
heading “Corporate Governance Practices” and Lorus’ Annual Information Form dated August 11, 2006 for the
financial year ended May 31, 2006 under the heading “Audit Commitiee Information”, all of which are
incorporated by reference in this Circular.

RISK FACTORS

New Lorus will carry out substantially the same business carried on by Lorus prior to the completion of the
Arrangement. The risk factors affecting this business are those listed in the Annual Information Form of Lorus
dated August 11, 2006 for the financial year ended May 31, 2006, which is incorporated by reference in
this Circular.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

New Lorus is not currently a party 10 any legal proceedings, nor is New Lorus currently contemplating any
legal proceedings.

Pursuant to the Indemnification Agreement, New Lorus will fully indemnify and save harmless Lorus and
its directors, officers and employees from and against all damages, losses, expenses (including fines and
penalties), other third party costs and Jegal expenses, to which any of them may be subject arising out of any
matter occurring (i) prior to, at or after the Effective Time relating to the Assets or the conduct of the business
of Lorus prior 1o the Effective Time; (ii) prior 1o, al or after the Effective Time as a result of any and all
interests, rights, liabilities and other matters relating to the Assets, and (iii) prior to or at the Effective Time
relating to, with certain exceptions, any of the activities of Lorus or the Arrangement.




AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

The auditors of New Lorus are expected to be KPMG LLP, 4100 Yonge Street, Suite 200, Toronto, Onlario,
M2P 2H3.

Computershare Investor Services Inc. is expected to be named the registrar and transfer agent for the
New Lorus Common Shares at its principal offices in Toronto, Ontario.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

New Lorus has not entered into any material contracts prior 1o the date hereof, other than the
Arrangement Agreement.

Pursuant to the Arrangement, New Lorus will enter into the agreements contemplated by the Arrangement,
including the Antisense Patent Assets Transfer Agreement, the Debenture Assumption Agreement, the
Subsidiary Share Purchase Agreements, the Pinnacle Share Purchase Agreement, the Warrant Repurchase
Agreement and the Indemnification Agreement.

INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS

Except as disclosed under the heading “Interests of Certain Persons in Matters to be Acted On” in the
Circutar and under the heading ‘“Material Contracts” in this Appendix G, no material transactions involving
New Lorus have been entered into since ils incorporation, or are proposed to be entered into, in which any
existing director, officer or principal shareholder of Lorus or New Lorus, or any associates or affiliates thereof or
any other informed person within the meaning of National Instrument 51-102 — Continuous Disclosure
Obligations, has had or expects to have a mailerial interest. See “Voting Securities and Principal Holders
Thereof” and “The Arrangement — Treatment of Options, Warrants and Convertible Debentures” of
this Circular.
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APPENDIX “H”
INFORMATION RESPECTING REALCO

The information provided in this Appendix H, other than any information relating to Lorus prior to the
Effective Time, has been prepared for Securityholders by Investor in order for Securityholders to form a
reasoned judgment regarding certain proposed transactions as part of the Arrangement. Other than any
information relating 10 Lorus prior to the Effective Time, Lorus, Lorus’ board of directors and Lorus’ officers
and employees are not responsible for the contents of this Appendix H nor for any omission on the part of
Investor to disclose facts or events that may affect the accuracy of any such information.

Unless otherwise defined in this Appendix H, terms used in this Appendix H will have the meaning as
ascribed to such terms in the Circular under the heading “Glossary of Terms”.

As part of the transactions contemplated by the Plan of Arrangement, Securityholders will be approving
and ratifying the following transactions (collectively, the “Follow-On Real Estate Transactions™):

* the purchase by RealCo of all of the limited partnership units in Pinpacle Centre Three Limited
Partnership (“Pinnacle LP IIF’) and Pinnacle Centre Four Limited Partnership (“Pinnacle LP IV”) held
by Pinnacle Bay Street Development Partnership (“GP Lands”), a related entity of Pinnacle, for a total
purchase price of $1,200,000 (the “Purchase Price”). The Purchase Price will be satisfied by way of a cash
payment in the amount of $700,000 and an interest bearing demand promissory note in the principal
amount of $500,000;

* the issue by RealCo 1o Investor of 294,296,851 RealCo Non-Voting Shares at a subscription price of
$0.0040775156 per RealCo Non-Voling Share for a total subscription price of $1,200,000, part of which
will be used to fund the cash portion of the Purchase Price and for peneral working capital;

* the engagement by each of Pinnacle International (Bay Street Ill) Plaza Inc. (“GP III”) (on behalf of
Pinnacle LP III} and Pinnacle International {Bay Street 1V) Plaza Inc. (“GP IV”) (on behalf of
Pinnacle LP 1V) of Mondiale Construction Lid. (“Mondiale”), a rclated entity of Pinnacle, GP 111
and GP 1V, 1o provide general contractor services in connection with the construction of the Towers
(as defined in this Appendix) pursuant to separate services agreements to be entered into between cach
of GP Il and GP IV and Mondiale (collectively, the “Construction Services Agreements”);

* the engagement of Anson Realty Lid. (“Anson Realty”) by Pinnacle LLP Il and Pinnacle LP IV to acl as
the exclusive agent to market and sell the residential condeminium units in the Towers (as defined in this
Appendix) (the “Sales Agency Agreement”); and

* the engagement of RealCo by Pinnacle and its affiliates, including Pinnacle LP 111 and Pinnacle LP 1V, for
the provision of real estate development project management services or marketing services, or both, in
respect of current and future real estate development projects (the “Project Services Agreement’),

The Follow-On Real Estate Transactions are described in this Appendix. With the exception of the Sales Agency
Agreement, which was entered into on September 1, 2006, the Follow-On Real Estate Transactions are expected
to be completed concurrently with the completion of the Arrangement.

Summary of the Follow-On Real Estate Transactions

At the Meeting, Securityholders will be asked 1o approve the Arrangement, which will include the
Follow-On Real Estate Transactions and the other transactions described below.

As part of the Arrangement, Investor will acquire approximately 41% of the RealCo Voting Shares and
100% of the RealCo Non-Voling Shares then outstanding (together, the “RealCo Shares”) and RealCo will
complete the Foliow-On Real Estate Transactions. At the Effective Time, Non-U.S. Persons will hold, in the
agpregale, approximately 59% of the RealCo Voling Shares then outsianding, representing approximately a
0.5% economic equity interest in RealCo. Following the completion of the Arrangement, RealCo may raise
additional capital on a dilutive basis to focus on pursuing opportunities as a real estale development company.
Following the completion of the Arrangement, RealCo will comtinue to British Columbia under the BCBCA.

(27




The Purchase Price is equal to the total of the estimated fair market value of the LP 1H Units and LP 1V
Units (as such terms are defined in this Appendix). Investor proposes to provide the $1,200,000 to fund, in part,
the cash portion of the Purchase Price and for general working capital through the subscription by Investor for
an additional 294,296,851 RealCo Non-Voting Shares, resulting in Investor owning at the Effective Time, in the
aggregate, approximately a 99.5% economic equity interest in RealCo (following the acquisition of the RealCo
Shares and issue of such additional RealCo Non-Voting Shares).

Pinnacle LP I and Pinnacle LP 1V, together with cerlain other entities related to Pinnacle, intend to
pursue a real estate development project (the “Project”™) to be known as “Pinnacle Centre” (with the
development by Pinnacle LP III known as “Success Tower”), comprising four residential and mixed-use towers
and parking facilities in downtown Toronto, Ontario on a site bounded by Yonge Street, Bay Street, Harbour
Street and Lakeshore Boulevard, of which the Pinnacle Lands (as defined below) form a part {the “Site).
Pinnacle LP 111 and Pinnacle LP 1V intend to develop and construct two of those four towers and related
parking facilities to be known as Tower 1II and Tower IV, respectively, on lands bencficially owned by GP Lands
that are legally known as PIN 21384-0117 (LT) Par1 of Block 5, Registered Plan 655E, designated as Parts 1, 2, 3,
4,9, 15, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 39, 40, 41, 42, 43, 44, 45, 50, 51, 54, 55, 56 and 57, Plan
66R-22447 and Part of Block 5, Plan 655E, designated as Part 1, Plan 66R-22840, save and except Part of Block
5, Plan 655E, designated as Part 1, Plan 66R-22753 and save and except Part 1, Plan 66R-22821, City of Toronto.
These lands (collectively, the “Pinnacle Lands™) include the lands on which Tower 11I and Tower IV will be
constructed and the portion of Tower I, Tower 11, Tower 111 and Tower 1V designated as retail, office and hotel
use (Tower 1V only) and commercial parking facilities (collectively, the “Retail Portion”).

The first stage of the Project was the construction of Tower I, which is located on the Site and was
developed by Pinnacle Centre One Limited Parinership. The second stage of the Project was the construction of
Tower 11, which is located on the Site and was developed by Pinnacle Centre Two Limited Partnership. Site
preparation and initial construction work for Tower IIl, for which Pinnacle LP 111 is the developer, has
commenced with an expected completion date of August 2009. Construction of Tower 1V, for which Pinnacle LP
IV is the developer, is expected to commence in 2008 with completion expecied in the fall of 2010. (Tower 1,
Tower 11, Tower 111 and Tower 1V are collectively referred to in this Appendix as the “Towers™). It is expected
that cach of the Towers will be a residential and mixed-use condominium building. The timing for the
commencement and completion of construction of Tower I11 and Tower 1V depends on a number of factors,
including general markei conditions, and may be altered at the sole discretion of the respective developer of
Tower 111 and Tower IV.

The following table sets out, based on current expectations, additional details of the Towers:

Gross Floor Aren

Tower (sq. It} Total Number of Units
Jower 1. oo e 474,538 508
Tower 11 ... e e 245,188 297
Tower 1T, .. e e e e 464,280 501
Tower TV . e e e 429,243 496

Total L e e 1,613,249 1802

Pursuant to two lease agreements {collectively, the “Leases™) each dated February 15, 2006, as amended,
Pinnacle International (Bay St.} Lid. pursuant to the direction of GP Lands has leased a portion of the Pinnacle
Lands to each of Pinnacle LP 1II and Pinnacle LP IV, respectively. Each Lease includes, subject 1o certain terms
and conditions, an option in favour of Pinnacle LP 111 and Pinnacle LP IV to purchase the respective portions
of GP Lands’ beneficial interest of the Pinnacle Lands (excluding the Retail Portion) attributable to the
applicable Tower and included in the registration of the Tower as a freehold condominium under the
Condominium Act 1998 (Ontario) (the “Condo Act”). In the event that such options are exercised, the total
purchase price for the Pinnacle Lands (excluding the Retail Portion) will be $45,000,000, being the estimated fair
market value on the date hereof. Each option will become exercisable upon registration of the relevant Tower
under the Conde Act. In addition, each Lease provides for a cost sharing agreement (collectively, the “Cost



Sharing Agreements”) between GP Lands, Pinnacle International (Bay St.) Ltd. and Pinnacle LP III or
Pinnacle LP IV, as applicable, regarding the allocation of costs relating to the construction of portions of Tower
111 that will be designated as retail and office use and commercial parking facilities and portions of Tower IV
that will be designated as retail and office use, commercial parking facilities and the Hotel Component
(as defined in this Appendix). The Retail Portion will not be subject to any option to purchase and GP Lands
will remain as the owner of that portion.

RealCo, initially through Pinnacle LP 111 and Pinnacle LP 1V, is expected to focus its activities on the
development of the Pinnacle Lands. In the future, RealCo may pursue opportunities in the real estate seclor,
depending upon marke! conditions and available financing, but no other opportunity has been identified or is
contemplated at this time,

Pinnacle International Lands, Inc.

Pinnacle was incorporated on July 26, 2001 pursuant to the BCBCA. Its head office is located at Suite 300,
911 Homer Streel, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6B 2W6é. Mr. Michael De Cetiis is the Chair and Chief
Executive Officer of Pinnacle and is also the President of Investor.

Pinnacle and its affiliates have been involved in the development, design, construction and management of
real estate for over thirty years. Pinnacle’s developments include exclusive vrban residences from Toronto
high-rise penthouses to waterview landmarks in Vancouver.

Pinnacle Centre Three Limited Partnership
General

Pinnacle LP III is a limited partnership formed under the laws of the Province of Ontario pursuant to a
limited partnership agreement (the “Original Pinnacle 111 LP Agreement”} dated February 15, 2006
between GP 111 and GP Lands. The sole general partner of Pinnacle LP 111 is GP 111, an affiliate of Pinnacle.
The business of Pinnacle LP I11 is to acquire and develop a portion of the Pinnacle Lands and finance, construct
and develop Tower I11. Prior to the closing of the Follow-On Real Estate Transactions, the Original Pinnacle
III LP Agreement will be amended. The following is a description of the amended limited partnership
agreement (such amended agreement referred to hereinafter as the “Pinnacle 11I LP Agreement”).

Allocation of Net Income and Losses
The net income or loss of Pinnacle LP 111 for each fiscal year will be allocated as follows:

(i) to GP III, the greater of 0.01% and the percentage obtained by dividing (A) the amount paid in cash or
the amount agreed 10 in respect of property contributed by GP I to Pinnacle LP I11 in respect of the
partnership interest of GP 111 less the amount of cash or the amount agreed to in respect of property
which has been paid or distributed to GP 11l as a return of stated capital prior 10 such time (the
“GP Stated Capital”) hy (B) the total of the GP Siated Capital and the amount paid in cash or the agreed
value of property contributed by the limited pariner(s) to Pinnacle LP 111 in respect of the LP 111 Units
{(as defined below) held by such limited pariner(s) less the amount of cash or the agreed vaiue of
property which has been paid or distributed to such limited pariner(s) as a return of stated capital prior
to such time; and

(ii) to the limited partner(s), the balance thereof pro rata 1o the number of LP Il Units held by such
limited pariner at the end of such fiscal period.

Income and loss of Pinnacle LP III for tax purposes is allocated to each partner in the same proportion as
income or loss is allocated for accounting purposes with certain adjustments based on applicable tax legislation.
Capital Contribution

The interests of the limited pariner(s) in Pinnacle LP II1 are represented by an unlimited number of
Class A limited partnership units (“Class A I11 Units”) and an unlimited number of Class B limited partnership
units (“Class B 111 Units”; the Class A III Units and the Class B 111 Units are collectively referred to herein as
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the “LP HI Units™). As part of the Follow-On Real Estate Transactions, RealCo will purchase from GP Lands
all of the LLP 111 Units held by GP Lands, which consist of 999 Class A Units.

GP 111, as general partner, is nol required to subscribe for any LP Il Units or otherwise coatribute any
capital 1o Pinnacle LP 111 (other than the $1 of consideration previously contributed). GP 111 is entitled, at its
discretion, to contribute further amounts 1o Pinnacle LP 111 through the purchase of additional LP II1 Units, but
in doing so must offer the limited partner the right to purchase the same number of LP II1 Units. Such an offer
will constitute the only circumstances in which a limited partner will be entitled to increase its contribution in
Pinnacle LP HI, except as otherwise agreed 10 by GP 111

Reimbursement of GP H1

Pinnacle LP III will reimburse GP III for all direct costs and expenses incurred in the performance of its
duties as general partner under the Pinnacie 111 LP Agreement.

Compensation

GP 111 shall be entitled 1o an additional profit allocation of Pinnacle LP III based on the performance of
Pinnacle LP 111. If the Project is completed at a 1o1al construction cost equal 1o or less than the approved
construction budget, as determined by the parties to the Construction Services Agreement (the “Approved
Construction Budget”}, or completed on or before December 31, 2009 (the “Projected Completion Date™), the
General Partner’s Share (as defined in the Pinnacle 111 LLP Agreement) will include an additional profit
allocation equal to 0.5% of the Approved Construction Budget.

Limited Liability

The liability of the limited partner(s) is limited to the amount of the subscription price paid in respect of
the LP 111 Units. Insofar as the liability of limited partner(s) is not so limited, GP 111, as general partner, shall
indemnify the limited pariner(s) for any loss, damage, injury or other liability suffered or incurred as a result of
any act or omission of GP III attributable to fraud, bad faith, or as a result of willful misfeasance or gross
neglipence. Where such liability arises out of an act or omission of limited partner(s), GP Ill will have no

abligation to indemnify limited partner(s). Since GP III has no significant assets or financial resources, ils
indemnity in this regard may have only nominal value.

A limited partner may lose its limited liability in cerlain circumstances, including as a result of the limited
partner taking part in the management or control of the business conducted by the partnership of which it is a
limited partner. Pursuant to the Project Services Agreement, RealCo will be retained by Pinnacle and its
affiliates, including Pinnacle LP III and Pinnacle LP 1V, Lo provide project and construction management
services that may be considered Lo be related to the management of the business such entities.

Pinnacle LP III will indemnify GP III, the general partner, from any losses or other liabilities incurred
by GP 11 arising out of its activities on behalf of Pinnacle LP 111, but only where such activities were performed
in good faith and are not in breach of the Pinnacle 111 LP Agreement, fraudulent, in bad faith, or as a result of
willful misfeasance or gross negligence. Such an indemnification contemplated in this paragraph will be satisfied
from the assets of Pinnacle LP IIl and the limited partners of Pinnacle LP 111 will not be liable.

Restriction on Borrowing from Affiliated Entities

Pinnacle LP III may, directly or indirectly, enter into contracts, including the obtaining of financing
from GP 111 or any Affiliated Entity (as defined below), without the necessity of obtaining any consent from any
limited partner to any such contract, if such contract has been entered into in good faith on terms that are
comparable to those that could have heen obtained in a comparable transaction by Pinnacle LP 1!I on an arm’s
length basis with a third party and such contract: (A) does not result in Pinnacle LP 1II guaranteeing or
becoming liable for any separale liability or indebtedness of the general partner or any Affiliated Entity,
{B) does not involve Pinnacle LP 111 lending any funds of Pinnacle LP 111 10 GP 111, and (C) is not for the
purchase of any securities of GP 111,




For the purposes of the Pinnacle 111 LP Agreement, an Affiliated Entity is defined as:

(a) any other body corporate affiliated (within the meaning of the Business Corporations Act (Ontario)
(the “OBCA™)) with the general partner;

(b) any partnership in which GP Lands is the general partner; or

(c) any person who (alone or together with another Affiliated Entity) controls the general partner or is
related (within the meaning of the Tax Act) to the general partner.

Where GP 111 enters into such a contract as described, it shall give at least 30 days written notice 1o the limited
partners of Pinnacle LP 111.

Pursuant to a loan agreement (the “Pinnacle 111 Loan Agreement”) to be entered into between Pinnacle LLP
I11 and Pinnacle International Realty Group Inc., a related entity of Pinnacle, Pinnacle LP 111 may, subject to the
satisfaction of certain conditions in favour of Pinnacle International Realty Group Inc., borrow up to
$60,000,000 from Pinnacle International Realty Group Inc. or one or more of its affiliates. Pursuant to the
Pinnacle 111 L.LP Agreement, the limited partner has acknowledged and agreed that the Pinnacle I1I Loan
Agreement and any loans to Pinnacle LP 1II by an Affiliated Entity outstanding as of April 27, 2007 meet the
requirements described above without the necessity of obtaining any further consent.

Pinnacle International (Bay Street 111) Plaza Inc.
General

GP 111 was incorporated on February 13, 2006 pursuant io the OBCA 1o act as the general partner of
Pinnacle LP 111. Its head office is located at 40 King Street West, Suite 3800, Toronto, Ontario. Mr. Michael De
Cotiis is the presideni, secretary and sole director of GP IIL

Functions and Powers of GP 1]

GP IiI has the sole authority to manage the business and affairs of Pinnacle LP 111, 1o make all decisions
regarding the business of Pinnacle LP 111 and 1o bind Pinnacle LP 1II in respect of any such decisions. GP 111 has
the power to enter into certain transactions on behalf of the Pinnacle LP 111 with entities related to GP 111
without the consent of the limited partner(s). GP 111 is required to exercise ils powers and discharge its duties
honestly, in good faith and in the best interests of Pinnacle LP 11 and to exercise the care, diligence and skill of
a reasonably prudent person in comparable circumstances.

The authority and power vested in GP 111 to manage the business and affairs of Pinnacle LP I include all
authority necessary or incidental to carry oul the objects, purposes and business of Pinnacle LP 11, including the
ability to engage agents to assist GP 111 1o carry out its management obligations and adminisirative functions in
respect of Pinnacle LP HI and its business.

Restrictions on Authority of GP IlI

GP 111 is prohibited, without the prior approval of the limited partner(s), from dissolving Pinnacle LP 111,
Also, GP 111 is prohibited from transferring any or all its LP HI Units, unless il secks Lo resign as general partner
and such resignation is consistent with the terms of the Pinnacle 111 LP Agreement.

Withdrawal or Removal of GP 11

GP Il will be permitted to resign as general partner provided that certain conditions under the Pinnacle
111 LP Agreement are met, and provided that GP 11l may not resign if the effect of its resignation would be to
dissolve Pinnacle LP 111

GP 111 may be removed as general partner by the limited partner(s) only where GP 111 does not exercise its
power and discharge its duties under the Pinnacle 111 LP Agreement honesily, in good faith and in the bests
interest of the partnership, or does not exercise the degree of care, diligence and skill that a reasonably prudent
person would exercise in comparable circumstances. Additionally, the limited partner(s) may remove GP 111 as
general partner by a resolution appointing a successor general pariner which meets the requirements set out in

H-6

(35




the Pinnacle 111 LP Agreement and has agreed to act as general partner under the Pinnacle I1I LP Agreement,
which resolution must be approved by not less than 67% of votes cast by holders of the LP III Units then
outstanding,

In the event of bankruptcy, insolvency or making an assignment for the benefit of creditors of GP 111, GP
I1I will not be deemed to have resigned as general partner of the Pinnacle 111 LP.

Pinnacle Centre Four Limited Partnership
General

Pinnacle LP IV is a limited partnership formed under the laws of the Province of Ontario pursuant to a
limited partnership agreement (the “Original Pinnacle IV LP Agreement”) dated February 15, 2006 between GF
1V and GP Lands. The sole general partner of Pinnacle LP 1V is GP IV, an affiliate of Pinnacle. The business of
Pinnacle LP 1V is to acquire and develop a portion of the Pinnacle Lands and finance, construct and develop
Tower IV. Prior 1o the closing of the Follow-On Real Estate Transactions, the Original Pinnacle IV LP
Agreement will be amended to, among other things, allow for the transfer of the LP IV Units (as defined in this
Appendix) to RealCo (such amended agreement referred to hercinafter as the “Pinnacle IV LP Agreement”).

Except as otherwise described herein, the terms of the Pinnacle IV LP Agreement are, in substance,
identical to those contained in the Pinnacle 111 LP Agreement and described above.

Similar to Pinnacle LP 111, the interests of the limited partner(s) in Pinnacle LP IV are represented by an
untimited number of Class A limited partnership units (“Class A TV Units”) and an unlimited number of Class B
limited partnership units (“Class B IV Units”, the Class A IV Units and the Class B IV Units are collectively
referred to herein as the “LP IV Units”). As part of the Follow-On Real Estate Transactions, RealCo will
purchase from GP Lands all of the LP 1V Units held by GP Lands, which consist of 999 Class A Units.

Limited Liability

The liability of the limited partner(s) is limited to the amount of the subscription price paid in respect of
the LP IV Units. Insofar as the liability of limited partner(s) is not so limited, GP 1V, as general partner, shall
indemnify the limited partner(s) for any loss, damage, injury or other liability suffered or incurred as a result of
any act or omission of GP IV attributable to fraud, bad faith, or as a result of wilful misfeasance or gross
negligence. Where such liability arises out of an act or omission of limited partner(s), GP IV will have no

obligation to indemnify limited partner(s). Since GP 1V has no significant assets or financial resources, its
indemnity in this regard may have only nominal value.

A limited pariner may lose its limited liability in certain circumstances, including as a result of the limited
partner taking part in the management or control of the business conducted by the partnership of which it is a
limited partner. Pursuant to the Project Services Agreement, RealCo will be retained by Pinnacle and its
affiliates, including Pinnacle LP III and Pinnacle LP 1V, to provide project and construction management
services that may be considered 1o be related to the management of the business such entities.

Pinnacle LP 1V will indemnify GP IV, the general partner, from any losses or other liabilities incurred
by GP 1V arising out of its activities on behalf of Pinnacle LP IV, but only where such activities were performed
in good faith and are not in breach of the Pinnacle TV LP Agrcement, fraudulent, in bad faith, or as a result of
wilful misfeasance or gross negligence. Such an indemnification contemplated in this paragraph will be satisfied
from the assets of Pinnacle LP 1V and the limited partners of Pinnacle LP TV will not be liable.

Restriction on Borrowing from Affiliated Entities

Pinnacle LP IV may, directly or indirecily, enter into contracts, including the obtaining of financing
from GP IV or any Affiliated Entity (as defined below), without the necessity of obtaining any consent from any
limited partner 1o any such contract, if such contract has been entered into in good faith on terms that are
comparable 10 those that could have been obtained in a comparable transaction by Pinnacle LP 1V on an arm’s
length basis with a third party and such contract: (A) does not result in Pinnacle LP IV guaranteeing or
becoming liable for any separate liability or indebtedness of the general partner or any Affiliated Entity,

H-7




(B} does not involve Pinnacle LP 1V lending any funds of Pinnacle LP IV to GP 1V, and (C) is not for the
purchase of any securities of GP I'V.

Where GP 1V enters into such a contract as described, it shall give at least 30 days written notice ta the
limited partners of Pinnacle LP 1IV.

Pursuant to a loan agreement (the “Pinnacle IV Loan Agreement”) to be entered into between Pinnacle LP
IV and Pinnacle International Realty Group Inc., a related entity of Pinnacle, Pinnacle LP 1V may, subject to the
satisfaction of certain conditions in favour of Pinnacle International Realty Group Inc., borrow up 1o
$60,000,000 from Pinnacle International Realty Group Inc. or one or more of its affiliates. Pursuant to the
Pinnacle IV LP Agreement, the limited partner has acknowledged and agreed that the Pinnacle 1V Loan
Agreement and any loans to Pinnacle LP IV by an Affiliatcd Entity (as defined above) outstanding as of
April 27, 2007 meel the requirements described above without the necessity of obtaining any further consent.

Pinnacle International (Bay Street 1V) Plaza Inc.

GP 1V was incorporated on February 13, 2006 pursuant to the OBCA to act as the general partner of
Pinnacle LP I'V. Iis head office is located at 40 King Street West, Suite 5800, Toronto, Ontario. Mr. Michael De
Cotiis is the president and secretary and sole director of GP IV.

Similar to GP I, GP 1V has no significant assets or financial resources, and therefore the indemnity
provided by GP IV to the limited partner(s) may have only nominal value.

The Pinnacle Lands
General

The Project is located near a waterfront district on a parce! of land in downtown Toronto, Ontario bounded
by Yonge Street, Bay Street, Harbour Street and Lakeshore Boulevard. The Project is a short distance from the
central business district, the entertainment and the theatre district of Toronto, the Rogers Centre, the Air
Canada Centre and the Canadian National Exhibition grounds. The Pinnacle Lands are approximately a
30 minute drive from Pearson International Airport.

When fully developed, the Project is expected to include close to 1800 residential condominium units and
over 1,600,000 square feet of residential, commercial, hotel and retai! space.

Proposed Development

The Project will be comprised of four residential and mixed-use towers. The first and second phases of the
Pinnacle Centre have been completed. Towers 111 and 1V are the last phases of the Project to be known as the
“Pinnacle Centre” (with the development by Pinnacle LP Il known as “Success Tower”).

The Relail Portion of the Project will be designed and constrocted to include mixed-use elements, including
retail, office, hotel and commercial parking elements. The Retail Portion will not form part of the condominium
corporations thal will be created and transferred to the applicable condominium owners. Upon completion of
each Tower, ownership of the Retail Portion will be transferred to one or more Pinnacle related entities, See “—
The Transactions — Leases™.

Description of the Buildings

The following is a brief description of Tower 111 and Tower 1V to be developed by Pinnacle LP 11 and
Pinnacle LP 1V, respectively, on the Pinnacle Lands. The descriptions below are based on current designs and
are subject to change at the sole discretion of the respective developer of Tower HI1 and Tower IV.

General Description of Tower 111

Based on current designs, it is expected that Tower I11 will be a 50 storey high-rise building containing a
total of approximately 501 residential condominium units with a total floor area of approximately
464,280 square feet.
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The residential condominium units will be approximately the following types:

1 Bedroom. . . e e e e e e e e e 187
2 BedrOomS . . o e e e e e e e e e 299
3 BEdTOOMS .+ . o vt ot et et e e e e e e e e _E

Total Residential Condominium Units .. ... ... ... . .. . ... 501

It is currently expected that Tower 111 will also include a retail component {approximately 5,920 square feet)
and an office component {approximately 11,797 square feet). In addition, Tower II1 will include a multi-level
underground parking facility that will be separated into separate components for use by residential and
commercial occupants. The portion designated for residential occupants will form part of the condominium
portion of the Project, and the commercial component will form part of the Retail Portion. The actual number
of parking stalls allocated to the condominium portion of the Project will be set at the minimum amount as
required by the applicable zoning bylaw, All other parking stalls will form part of the commercial parkade.

General Description of Tower IV

Based on current designs, it is expected that Tower IV will be a 40 storey high-rise building containing a
total of appreximately 417 residential condominium units with a total floor area of approximately
429,243 square feet.

The residential condominium units will be approximately the following types:

L BedroOm . . . e e e e e e e e e e 144
2 BedrOOmIS . . . e e e e e e e e e 264
I 76 | (o] 131U _2

Total Residential Condominium Units . . . .. . o0ttt et i ﬂ

Pinnacle LP IV currently intends to construct a freehold or condominium hotel component comprised of
approximately 79 hotel units (the “Hotel Component’) within a portion of Tower IV (but not forming part of the
residential condominium portion of Tower 1V). If Pinnacle LP IV elects (o construct the Hotel Component, it is
expected that the residents and guests of the Hotel Component will be entitled to the use and enjoyment of all
or some of the facilitics and amenities that may be included in the Project.

It is expected that Tower TV will contain a retail component (approximately 8,654 square feet) and will
include similar parking facilities as Tower III.

Recreation Facilities

It is expected that the Project will include certain recreational facilities and other amenities for use by
occupants of all or certain of the Towers. To the extent that any recreational facilities or other amenities are
included as part of the Project, it is expected that such facilities and amenities will be shared by occupants of all
or certain of the Towers.

The actual facilities and amenities provided and the access and other restrictions applicable to such facilities
and amenities, save and except as may have already been established pursuant 1o the declarations that have been
registered for Tower 1 and Tower 11, is in the sole discretion of the developer of each Tower and has not yet been
determined.

The Transactions
Purchase of LP Units

Pursuant 1o a purchase agreement (the “LP Purchase Agreement”) to be entered into between RealCo
and GP Lands as part of the Arrangement, RealCo will purchase from GP Lands all of the LP 11T Units and all
of the LP IV Units held by GP Lands. The cash portion of the Purchase Price is to be provided by Investor
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through the subscription of 294,296,851 RealCo Non-Voting Shares, resulting in Investor owning, upon the
purchase of outstanding RealCo Shares pursuant 10 the Arrangement and the issue of additional RealCo Shares,
in the aggregate, approximately a 99.5% economic equity interest in RealCo. The balance of the Purchase Price
will be paid by the issue of an interest bearing demand promissory note by RealCo to GP Lands. The Hotel
Component will form part of the Retail Portion, which is not subject to the option 10 purchase in favour of
Pinnacle LP 1V contained in the related Lease.

Leases

Pursuant to the Leases, GP Lands has leased a portion of the Pinnacle Lands to each of Pinnacle LP Il and
Pinnacle LP IV. Each Lease includes, subject to a Cost Sharing Agreement {as described below), an option in
favour of Pinnacle LP IIl and Pinnacle LP IV to purchase the respective portions of the Pinnacle Lands
attributable to the applicable Tower and included in the registration of the Tower as a freehold condominium
under the Condo Act. In the event that such options are exercised, the total purchase price for the Pinnacle
Lands will be $45,000,000, being the estimated fair market value on the date hereof. Each option is exercisable
upon registration of the respective Tower under the Condo Act. The Retail Portion of the Project will not be
subject to any option to purchase and GP Lands will remain as owner of that portion.

Cost Sharing Agreements

GP Lands and Pinnacle International (Bay St.) Lid., as landlords, have entered into an agreement with
Pinnacle LP H1, as tenant, 10 allocate certain construction costs related to the Retail Portion of the Project,
Pursuant to the Cost Sharing Agreement between Pinnacle LP III, GP Lands and Pinnacle International
(Bay S1.) Lid., Pinnacle LP 11T will construct and fully complete Tower 111, including the Retail Portion thereof,
but will not be responsible for the costs of construction of the Retail Portion. Pinnacle LP 111 and GP Lands will
determine the costs to construct the Retail Portion and Pinnacle LP 111 will be entitled to reimbursement of the
reasonable costs incurred in connection therewith and, upon completion of construction of the Retail
Partion, GP Lands will pay such amount to Pinnacle LP I11. A substantially similar Cost Sharing Agreement has
also been entered into with Pinnacle LP IV in respect of Tower [V,

Construction Services Agreement

Mondiale, as contractor, and Pinnacle LP 111 (by its general partner, GP 111), as developer, have entered
into the Construction Services Agreement whereby Mondiale will cause Tower III 10 be constructed and
completed in an expeditious manner prior 1o Projected Completion Date, unless Mondiale advises that the
completion date will be delayed as provided for in the terms of the Construction Services Agreement. Pursuant
to the terms of the Construction Services Agreement, Pinnacle LP 111 wili pay Mondiale an amount equal to
103% of the totat amount actually paid by Mondiale in completing construction of Tower I11 (plus value added
taxes), excluding certain overhead and administration cxpenses. Mondiale will arrange and maintain
comprehensive general liability and course of construction insurance and will remedy any defect in Tower 111 due
to faulty materials or workmanship appearing within one year from the date of substantial completion.
Pinnacle LP IV has also entered into the Construction Services Agreement with Mondiale on substantially the
same terms and conditions for the construction of Tower IV, Mondiale is a related party of Pinnacle, GP 111
and GP 1V for the purposes of applicable securities law.

Sales Agency Agreement

RealCo has engaged Anson Realty as its exclusive agent to market and sell the condominium units in the
Towers. Anson Realty is a related party of Pinnacle, GP 111 and GP IV for the purposes of applicable securities
law. Anson Realty will be paid a fee calculated as follows: (i} 5% of the first $100,000 of the selling price of each
residential condominium unit sold; plus (i) 2.5% on the balance of the selling price of each residential
condominium unit sold. In addition, Anson Realty will provide marketing, consulting and related services for the
Project in respect of which it will be paid a fee of 0.5% of the selling prices of the residential condominium
units sold.
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Project Services Agreentent

Pursuant to the Project Services Agreement, RealCo will be retained by Pinnacle and its affiliates, including
Pinnacle LP 111 and Pinnacle LP 1V, as project and construction manager to manage and supervise current and
future real estate development projects. The Project Services Agreement will set out various specific duties of
the manager including, among other things, the design of the development, the engagement and coordination of
consultants and other advisors, project advisory services, coordination of approval processes with various
governmental entities, strategic planning, the development and implementation of marketing plans,
management of finance and accounting matters and such other duties as may be deemed advisable for the most
efficient and economic management and operation of the relevant project.

It is the expectation of the parties 10 the Project Services Agreement that the fees payable 1o RealCo, as
project and construction manager, will be dependant on the volume and type of services rendered and the
amount of time expended by the manager in performing such services. In the event of a material variation in any
of such faciors, the parties may, in good faith, by mutval agreement, adjust the management fee to reflect
such variation.

Additional Information Respecting RealCo
Introduction

Lorus was incorporaled under the OBCA on September 5, 1986 under the name RML Medical
Laboratories Inc. On October 28, 1991, RML Medical Laboratories Inc. amalgamated with Mint Gold
Resources Ltd. resulting in the company becoming a reporting issuer (as defined under applicable securities law)
in Ontario on such date. On August 25, 1992, the company changed its name to IMUTEC Corporation. On
November 27, 1996, the company changed its name to Imutec Pharma Inc., and on November 19, 1998, the
company changed its name te Lorus Therapeutics Inc. On October 1, 2005 the company continued under
the CBCA.

Pursuant to the Arrangement, Lorus will amend its constating documents in the manner described in the
Plan of Arrangement pursuant to which, among other things, it will change its name to 4325231 Canada Inc.
(referred Lo throughout the Circular and this Appendix as “RealCo”). The form of the articles of amendment of
RealCo, including the amended share conditions, are set forth in Appendix B (Form of Articles of Amendment
of RealCo).

At the Effective Time, Non-U.S. Persons will hold, in the aggregale, approximately 59% of the RealCo
Voting Shares then outstanding and Investor will hold approximately 41% of the RealCo Voting Shares and all
of the RealCo Non-Voting Shares then outstanding, representing, in the aggregate, approximately a 99.5%
economic ¢quity interest in RealCo. As at the date, hereof Lorus’ head office and registered office is Jocated at
2 Meridian Road, Toronto, Ontario, MOW 4Z7. Following completion of the Arrangement, RealCo will continue
from the Canadian federal jurisdiction to the Province of British Columbia under the BCBCA, and RealCo’s
head office and registered office will be Suite 300, 911 Homer Street, Vancouver, British Columbia.
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The following chart shows a simplified version of the relationship of RealCo, Investor and the other
relevant entities discussed in this Appendix immediately after the completion of the Arrangement.

Pinnacle International Realty Group, Inc.

Investor Non-U.S. Persons
2093920 Ontario Inc. 41% voting 59% voting 2093921 Ontario Inc.
100% non-voting
100% 100%
/ e \ G) )
99.99 % 99.99 %
\ 0.01%
Pinnacle Pinnacle
LP Ll LPIV
Tower 111 Tower 1V

General Development of the Business

Upon completion of the Arrangement, RealCo, indirectly through Pinnacle LP 11 and Pinnacle LP 1V, is
expected to focus its activities on real estate development opportunities. In the future, RealCo may pursue other
opportunities in the real estate sector, depending upon market conditions and available financing, but no other
opportunity has been identified or is contemplated at this time.

Selected Consolidated Financial Information

The pro forma financial statements of RealCo, after giving effect 10 the Arrangement, are set forth in
Appendix I (Unaudited Pro Forma Balance Sheet of RealCo). The unaudited pro forma financial statements of
RealCo are presented for comparative purposes only and are not necessarily indicative of what RealCo’s actual
future results of operations and financial position will be.

Capitalization

As part of the Arrangement, the share capital of Lorus will be amended to create an unlimited number of
RealCo Voling Shares and an unlimited number of RealCo Non-Voting Shares. The foliowing table shows the
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expected capitalization of RealCo after giving effect o the Arrangement and the Follow-On Real Estate
Transactions:

RealCo Voling Shares . . ... ...ttt ittt et e e e e 19,437,602(1
RealCo Non-Voting Shares. . ....... e e e e e e e e e e 2,373,169,023
Total RealCo Shares . . . .ottt ittt e et et e e e s 2,392,606,625()
Note:

(1) The actual number of RealCo Voting Shares outstanding upon completion of the Arrangement will vary depending upon the number of
common shares of Lorus held by Non-U.S. Persons at the Effective Time.

The holders of RealCo Voting Shares and RealCo Non-Voting Shares will be entitled to dividends if, as and
when declared by the board of directors of RealCo out of Distributable Cash Flow (as defined below) in such
amount and in such form as the board of directors of RealCo may from time 1o time determine. The future
payment of dividends will be dependent upon the financial requirements of RealCo and other factors that the
board of directors of RealCo may consider in the circumstances. It is not contemplated that any dividends will be
paid in the immediate future. In the event of dissolution, liquidation or winding-up of RealCo, whether
voluntary or involuntary, or any other distribution of assets of RealCo among its shareholders for the purposes
of winding up its affairs, the RealCo Voting Shares and RealCo Non-Voting Shares will be entitled to share
equally in such assets of RealCo as are distributable to the holders of the RealCo Voting Shares and RealCo
Non-Voling Shares without preference or priority over each other. Holders of RealCo Voting Shares will be
entitled to one vote per RealCo Voting Share at meetings of the shareholders of RealCo. Subject to the
provisions of RealCo’s governing statute, holders of RealCo Non-Voting Shares will not be entitled to attend or
vote at any meeling of shareholders of RealCo, except for mectings of RealCo Non-Voting Shares as a class.

The articles of RealCo provide that no share in the capital of RealCo may be issued and no security that is
exercisable for, convertible into or that otherwise entitles the holder to acquire, any security of RealCo will be
issued at a price (or having an exercise, conversion or acquisition price) of less than $1.00.

The form of the articles of amendment of RealCo, including the amended share conditions, are set forth in
Appendix B (Form of Articles of Amendment of RealCo).

As used in this Appendix, the following terms have the following meanings:
“Cash Flow”, for any Distribution Period, will equal the following:

(i) all cash and cash equivalents which are received by RealCo in such Distribution Period, including,
without limitation, all income, interest, dividends, proceeds from the disposition of securities,
returns of capital and repayments of indebledness (except lo the extent such repayments of
indebtedness are reinvested);

plus:

(if} all cash and cash equivalents received by RealCo in any prior Distribution Period to the extent not
previously distributed unless such amounts have been set aside by the board of directors of RealCo
in a prior Distribution Period for distribution to the holders of the RealCo Voting Shares and/or
the RealCo Non-Voting Shares in a subsequent Distribution Period, in which case such amounis
sel aside will not be included in Cash Flow;

less the following amounts (referred Lo collectively as the “Cash Flow Deductions™):

(iii) all costs, expenses, reserves, allowances and debts of RealCo which, in the opinion of the board of
directors of RealCo, may reasonably be considered to have accrued or become owing in respect of,
or which relate to, such Distribution Period or a prior Distribution Period if not deducted in the
calculation of Cash Flow for such prior period;
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(iv) stated capital of the RealCo Voting Shares and the RealCo Non-Voting Shares;
(v) any tax liability of RealCo in respect of, or which relates to, such Distribution Period; and

(vi) all cash and cash equivaients which are received by RealCo in the Distribution Period which the
board of directors of RealCo has determined to set aside for distribution to the holders of the
RealCo Voting Shares and/or the RealCo Non-Voting Shares in a subsequent Distribution Period.

“Distributable Cash Flow” for, or in respect of, a Distribution Period will be the Cash Flow of RealCo for
such Distribution Period, together with any Cash Flow set aside in a prior Distribution Period for
distribution 1o the holders of the RealCo Voting Shares and/or the RealCo Non-Voting Shares in a
subsequent Distribution Period which the board of directors of RealCo has determined to distribute in
respect of the current Distribution Period, less any amount which the board of directors of RealCo may
reasonably consider to be necessary to provide for the payment of any costs or expenses and repayments of
debts which have been or are reasonably expected to be incurred in the activities and operations of RealCo
in addition to the Cash Flow Deductions.

“Distribution Peried” means such period or periods, as determined by the board of directors of RealCo,
occurring at least once each fiscal year of RealCo, provided that the first Distribution Period will begin on
(and include) the Effective Date and will end on (and include) the last day of the fiscal year in which the
Effective Date occurs.

Special Resolutions; Approval of Certain Matters

The amended articles of RealCo provide that, any matter that, by the terms of such articles or RealCo’s
by-laws or governing statute, requires approval by a special resolution will require approval by a resolution that
is passed by a majority of not less than 75% of the votes cast by the shareholders who voted in respect of that
resolution or signed by all the shareholders entitled to vote on that resolution. In addition, the amended articles
of RealCo provide that a special resolution is required to (a) if RealCo’s governing stalule so permits, remove a
director before the expiration of the director’s term of office and (b) amend RealCo’s articles or by-laws.

The form of the articles of amendment of RealCo, including the amended share conditions, are set out al
Appendix B (Form of Articles of Amendment of RealCo).

Restrictions on the Business of RealCo

The objective of RealCo will be to maximize Distributable Cash Flow and to distribute all Distributable
Cash Flow to holders of the RealCo Voting Shares and RealCo Non-Voting Shares and, in connection therewith,
RealCo will, at the end of each Distribution Period, distribute all Distributable Cash Flow to holders of its
RealCo Voting Shares and RealCo Non-Voting Shares by way of dividends and/or other distributions, subject to
the other provisions of the articles and to applicable law.

The business of RealCo will be restricted 1o (i) real estate development, investment in real estate and real
estate development projects, and the provision of scrvices related to real estate development and/or real estate
development projects including, without limitation, management, marketing, financial and administrative
services refated to real estate development and/or real estate development projects; (ii) borrowing money upon
the credit of RealCo, and granting security therefor, in the ordinary course of RealCo’s business; (iii) satisfying
the obligations, liabilities or indebtedness of RealCo; and (iv) engaging in any acls or exercising any powers
necessary or desirable to carry out the ordinary course of the RealCo’s business, including, without limitation, as
provided in the articles and by-laws of ReaiCo.

Specified Offers

Pursuant 1o the share conditions attached to the RealCo Non-Voting Shares, an Offeror (as defined below)
may not acquire any RealCo Voling Shares under a Specified Offer (as defined below) without first complying
with the following provisions. Prior to, and as a condition precedent to, the acquisition by an Offeror of any
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RealCo Voting Shares under a Specified Offer, the Offeror will make concurrent offers to acquire RealCo
Voting Shares and RealCo Non-Voting Shares for consideration for each RealCo Voting Share and RealCo
Non-Voting Share equal to the Bid Price (as defined below), on the same terms, except as to the number of
shares subject to the offers, which offers will comply with the provisions of applicable securities legislation
relating to a formal takeover bid (whether or not such offers are required by law to so comply) (the “Required
Bids”):

(a) to all holders of RealCo Voling Shares for such number of RealCo Voling Shares as is equal to the
number of Specified Offer Shares (as defined below); and

(b) to ali holders of RealCo Non-Voting Shares for such number of RealCo Non-Voting Shares that is
equal to the lesser of:

(i) A x B, where A equals the Designaled Number (as defined below) of RealCo Voting Shares
divided by the total number of issued and outstanding RealCo Voting Shares on the Offer Date
{(as defined below) and B equals the total number of issued and cutstanding RealCo Non-Voling
Shares on the date that the Required Bids are made; and

(ii) the number of issued and outstanding RcalCo Non-Voting Shares excluding those that are
beneficially owned, or over which control or direction is exercised, on the date that the Required
Bids are made (including any combination of the foregoing) by the Offeror;

provided that:

(c) no shares may be taken-up or paid for under either of the Required Bids, unless all shares tendered o
each of the Required Bids are taken-up and paid for concurrently; and

(d) the Offeror will issue a press release following the expiry of the Required Bids and one Business Day
prior to the take-up of any shares tendered to the Required Bids, which press release will disclose:

(i) the approximate number of RealCo Voting Shares and RealCo Non-Voting Shares tendered to the
Required Bids; and

(ii) whether a sufficient number of RealCo Voting Shares has been tendered to the Required Bids
such that the Offeror would acquire, on take-up and payment for such shares, when added to the
Offeror’s Voting Shares on the date of take-up, more than 50% of the total issued and outstanding
RealCo Voting Shares on the date of take-up.

In the event that an Offeror acquires, directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the total issued and
outstanding RealCo Voting Shares in violation of the provisions described above, then, effective on the
completion of such acquisition and during such time that the Offeror’s Voting Shares constitute more than 50%
of the 10tal issued and outstanding RealCo Voting Shares, the total number of voles attaching to the Offeror’s
Voting Shares will equal the difference between: (a) the to1al number of issuved and outstanding RealCo Volting
Shares, and (b) the number of the Offeror’s Voting Shares, and, for greater certainty, the RealCo Voling Shares
other than the Offeror’s Voting Shares will continue 10 have one vole per share.

As used in this Appendix, the following terms have the following meanings:

“Bid Price” means the consideration for each RealCo Voting Share and each RealCo Non-Voting Share
offered to holders of RealCo Voling Shares and holders of RealCo Non-Voting Shares, respectively, under
the Required Bids, which consideration will have a fair market value of not less than the average of the fair
market value of a RealCo Voting Share on the date that the Required Bids are made as determined in
writing by two nationally recognized investment banking firms retained by the Offeror for the purpose of
providing such valuation in conncction with the Required Bids.

“Designated Number” means the number of RealCo Voting Shares that are subject to a Specified Offer,
1ogether with the Offeror’s Voting Common Shares.
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“Group” means one or more persons acling jointly or in concert (within the meaning of section 91 of the
Securities Act (Ontario)).

“Offeror Date” means the date on which a Specified Offer is made.
“Offer to Acquire” includes:

(i) an offer 10 purchase, a public announcement of an intention to make an offer to purchase, or a
solicitation of an offer to sell, securities;

(ii) the receipt of an offer 10 sell securities, whether or not such offer to sell has been solicited,

or any combination thereof, and the Person receiving an offer to sell will be deemed to be making an Offer
to Acquire to the Person that made the offer to sell.

“Offeror” means a Person that makes an Offer to Acquire RealCo Voting Shares, and includes any Person
related 1o such Person for purposes of the Tax Act or any other Person that is acting jointly or in concert
with such Person or who would, together with such Person (and other Persons), constitute a Group.

“Offeror’s Voting Shares”, on any date, means the number of RealCo Voting Share beneficially owned,
directly or indirecily, or over which control or direction is exercised (including any combination of the
foregoing), on the relevant date by the Offeror either alone or together with a Group.

“Required Bids” means the concurrent offers required to be made to all holders of RealCo Voting Shares and
1o all holders of RealCo Non-Voting Shares in the circumstances described above under the heading
“Specified Offers™.

“Specified Offer” means an Offer to Acquire RealCo Voting Shares made by an Offeror where the number of
RealCo Voting Shares subject to the Offer 10 Acquire (the “Specified Offer Shares”), together with the
Offeror’s Voling Common Shares on the Offer Date, would constitute in the aggregate more than 50% of
the tolal issued and outstanding RealCo Voting Shares on the Offer Date.

“Specified Offer Shares™ has the meaning set out in the definition of “Specified Offer”, above.

The form of the articles of amendment of RealCo, including the amended share conditions, are set out at
Appendix B (Form of Articles of Amendment of RealCo).

Options 1o Purchase Securities

Upon the completion of the transaction contemplated by the Arrangement, RealCo will have no options or
other convertible securities outstanding, nor will it have reserved any RealCo Shares for this purpose.

Principal Securityholders

Following completion of the Arrangement and based on information provided by Lorus as to the number of
issued and outstanding shares of Lorus at the date of this Circular, it is expected that no person, other than
Investor, will direcily or indirecily own more than 10% of the issued and outstanding RealCo Shares upon
completion of the Arrangement.

Directors and Officers

The number of directors of RealCo is fixed at five and, subject to applicable law and RealCo’s contractual
obligations then in efiect, the directors may fill any vacancies among the directors, whether arising due to an
increase in the number of directors set forth in the articles of RealCo or otherwise.

The following are the names, municipality of residence and principal occupations of the individuals who are
{0 be appointed directors and officers of RealCo pursuant to a shareholder’s resolution to be passed by New
Lorus at the time during the steps of the Plan of Arrangement at which New Lorus is the sole sharehotder of
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Lorus, such appointments to commence immediately following the completion of the Arrangement, and the
number of shares of RealCo 10 be owned by each of them or over which control or direction is exercised by each
of them:

Position with RealCo
Name and Municipality of Residence Group Pinnacle Principal Occupation Shares
Michael De Cotiis . . . ...... ... Il Chairman & CEO President & CEOQ, Pinnacle None
Vancouver, British Columbia International Realty Group Inc.
LesFovenyi ................ 111 N/A President, None
Vancouver, British Columbia L. Fovenyi Co. Inc.
Grace Kwok ................ 11 N/A Vice President, None
Vancouver, British Columbia Anson Realty Ltd.
Geoffrey Glotman .. .......... I1 N/A Managing Principal, None
Vancouver, British Columbia Glotman Simpson Group
Bob Klimek .. ........... ... 1 N/A Principal, None
Vancouver, British Columbia Elan Capital Corporation

For the past five years Michael De Cotiis has been employed by Pinnacle as Chief Executive Officer and
cach of Grace Kwok, Les Fovenyi, Geoffrey Glotman and Bob Klimek are frequently engaged by Pinnacle as
independent consuliants. None of the foregoing individuals has previously served as a director of RealCo. No
compensation has been paid to any director or officer of RealCo.

The directors are divided into three groups, with the first group (“Group 1”) being comprised of one
director 1o be elected for an initial term of one year, the second group (“Group II"”) being comprised of two
directors 10 be elected for an initial term of two years, and the third group (“Group I1I") being comprised of
two directors to be elected for an initial term of three years. At each election of directors after the Effective
Date 10 elect directors whose terms have expired, directors will be elecied for a term of three years. In any
election or appointment of a director to fill a vacancy created by any director ceasing to hold office, the election
or appointment will be for the unexpired term of the director who has ceased to hold office. If the number of
directors is changed, any increase or decrease will be apportioned among the classes of directors in such a
manner as will maintain or attain, to the extent possible, an equal number of directors in each class of directors.
1f such equality is not possible, the increase or decrease will be apportioned among the classes of directors in
such a manner that the difference in the number of directors in any two classes will not exceed one.

The articles of RealCo specify that, if RealCo’s governing statute so permits, a director of RealCo may be
removed before the expiration of the director’s term of office only if approved by a special resolution, and that a
special resolution must be passed by a special majority of not less than 75% of the votes cast by the shareholders
who voted in respect of that resolution.

Risk Factors

The following risk factors, in addition 1o the other information contained in this Appendix, are applicable to the
business of RealCo following completion of the Follow-On Real Estate Transactions and to the holding of RealCo
Shares. Securityholders should consider these risks in the context of the other information set forth in the Circular and
this Appendix.

Risks Related to the Limited Present Business Objectives of RealCo and the Market for the RealCo Shares

The business objectives of RealCo are currently limited to pursing real estate development opporiunities pending
favourable market conditions.

RealCo has no plans at present to engage in aclivities other than the development of the Pinnacle Lands as
described herein. While RealCo may engage in other activities in the future, the decision to engage in these
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activities will depend upon market and financial conditions and the nature of the opportunities that are available
to RealCo. Consequently, the ability of RealCo to earn income and the value of the RealCo Shares may be
adversely affected by the limited business activities of RealCo.

There is no established trading market for the RealCo Shares and a holder of RealCo Shares may not be able to
sell them quickly or at all.

Upon the completion of the Arrangement, the RealCo Shares will not be listed on any stock exchange. As a
result, an active market for the RealCo Shares may not develop following the completion of the Arrangement. A
holder of RealCo Shares may not be able to sell such shares at any particular time or at all and the prices that a
holder receives when it sells the shares may not be favourable.

The issue of additional shares of RealCo could be dilutive to the Securityholders of RealCo.

Depending on the future financing needs of RealCo, RealCo may resolve to issue additional RealCo Shares
or other securities. The issue of additional RealCo Shares or other securities could be dilutive to the
shareholders of RealCo,

Share ownership by Investor may adversely affect the price of the RealCo Voting Shares

Immediately following the Arrangement, Invesior will own approximately 41% of the issued and
outstanding RealCo Voting Shares, but will own approximately a 99.5% economic equity in RealCo. As a result,
Investor will be in a position to vote its RealCo Voting Shares on matters requiring approval by 66%% or more
of the holders of RealCo Voting Shares, including the determination of significant corporate actions and the
removal of directors. In addition, the interests of Investor may not correspond with those of other holders of
RealCo shares. The extent of Investor’s ownership may limit the price that investors may be willing to pay in the
future for RealCo Voting Shares.

Risks Related to the Construction, Completion and Sale of the Residential Condominiums and the Residential
Condominium and Commercial Real Estate Business

The revenues from the sale of residential condominium units may be adversely affected if demand for housing
declines as a result of changes in economic and business conditions.

The residential condominium and home construction industry is cyclical and is highly sensitive to changes in
general economic conditions such as levels of employment, consumer confidence and income, availability of
financing for acquisitions, construction and permanent morlgages, interest rate levels, inflation, in-migration
trends and demand for housing. Should current economic and business conditions decline, demand for any
residential condominium units that RealCo intends to construct could be significantly adversely affected.
Moreover, during such periods, sales prices may have to be reduced and greater incentives may have to be
offered to buyers to compete for sales that may result in reduced margins. Increases in the rate of inflation, and
particularly in the costs of construction could adversely affect expected profit margins by increasing cosis and
expenses. In particular, construction costs in Toronto have increased in 2006. In times of high inflation, demand
for housing may declinc and RealCo may be unable to recover its increased costs through higher sales.

Fluctuations in real estate values may require RealCo to write-down the book value of real estaie assets.

The residential condominium and commercial real estate development industries are subject to significant
variability and fluctuations in real estate values. As a resull, RealCo may be required 1o write-down the book
value of its real estate assets in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and some of those
write-downs could be material. Any material write-downs of assets could have a material adverse effect on the
financial condition and earnings of the RealCo.
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Competition for Real Property Investments

RealCo will have to compete for suitable real property investments with individuals, corporations, other real
estate investment trusts and institutions (both Canadian and foreign) which are presently seeking or which may
seek in the future real property investments similar 1o the Pinnacle Lands. Many of these investors have greater
financial resources than those of RealCo. An increase in the availability of investment funds, and an increase in
interest in real property investments, would tend to increase competition for real property investments thereby
increasing purchase prices and reducing the yields thereon.

Interest rates and the unavailability of mongage financing can adversely affect demand for residential
condominiums.

In general, housing demand is negatively impacted by increases in interest rates and housing costs and the
unavailability of mortgage financing. Most buyers of residential condominiums finance their purchases through
third-party lenders providing mortgage financing. 1f mortgage interest rates increase and, consequently, the
ability of prospective buyers Lo finance condominium purchases is reduced, condominium sales, gross margins
and cash flow may also be adversely affected and the impact may be material.

The financial condition and results of operations of ReaiCo maybe adversely affected by any decrease in the value
of the Pinnacle Lands that RealCo has agreed to purchase, as well as by the associated carrying cosls.

The market value of land, building sites and residential condominium inventories can fluctuate significantly
as a result of changing market conditions. In addition, inventory carrying costs can be significant and can result
in losses in a poorly performing project or market. In the event of significant changes in economic or market
conditions after RealCo begins a construction project, RealCo may have to sell condominium units at
significantly lower margins or at a loss.

Risks beyond the contral of RealCo may increase costs, cause project delays and reduce consumer demand for
condominium units, all of which would adversely affect results of operations and prospects of RealCo.

RealCo is subject 10 numerous risks, many of which are beyond the control of RealCo, including: adverse
weather conditions, which could damage Towers 111 and 1V while under construction, cause delays in completion
of Towers 111 and IV, or reduce consumer demand for the condominium vnits in Towers III and 1V; and
shortages in labour and/or materials, which could delay completion of Towers 111 and 1V and cause increases in
the prices that RealCo must pay for labour or materials, thereby affecting sales and profitability.

RealCo may not be able to0 compete effectively against its competitors in the residential condominium and
homebuilding industry.

The residential condominium industry is highly competitive. Developers compete for, among other things,
desirable properties, financing, raw materials and skilled labour. There are a number of residential
condominium developers that are active in the market area of the Pinnacle Lands, and with whom RealCo will
compete. In addition, there may be new entrants in the market. RealCo will alse compete for sales with
individual re-sales of existing homes and with available rental housing.

Because the business of RealCo is geographically concentrated, sales, results of operations, financial condition and
business may be negatively impacted by a decline in a regional economies.

RealCo presenily expects to undertake real estate development activity only on the Pinnacle Lands in the
core of Toronto, Ontario. Because the operations of RealCo are concentrated on the development of the
Pinnacle Lands in this geographic area, an economic downturn in that market could cauvse residential
condominium unit prices and sales to decline, which could have a material adverse cffect on the business, results
of operations, and financial condition of RealCo.
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The operating results of RealCo are variable, and these variations may be material.

The condominium industry has historically experienced, and will likely continue to experience, variability in
operating results on a quarterly and an annual basis. Factors expected to contribute to this variability include,
among other things:

* the timing of zoning and other regulatory approvals;
* the timing of closings or sales and level of sales;
* the condition of the real estate market and the general economy;

* delays in construction due to acts of God, adverse weather, reduced subcontractor availability,
and strikes;

» changes in prevailing interests rates and the availability of mortgage financing; and
+ the costs of materials and labour.

Many of the factors that could affect the results of RealCo are beyond its control and may be difficult to predict.

Difficulty in obraining financing could result in increased costs and delays of construction.

Any construction that RealCo undertakes would require significant expenditures and any such construction
aclivities may be adversely affected by any shortage or increased cost of financing. Any difficulty in obtaining
sufficient financing for construction could cause project delays and any such delays could result in cost increases
and may adversely affect potential sales and future results of operations and cash flows.

Governmental laws and regulations may increase expenses, or delay completion of any project that RealCo has
undertaken or may undertake.

The development of the Site is subject to numercus local, provincial, federal and other statutes, ordinances,
rules and regulations concerning zoning, development, building design, construction and similar matters which
impose restrictive zoning and density requirements in order (o limit the number of residential condominium
towers that can eventually be built within the boundaries of a particular area.

RealCo Is subject 10 environmental laws and regulations, which may increase costs and delay completion of the
development of the Pinnacle Lands.

The development of the Site will be subject to a variety of local, provincial, federal and other statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations concerning the environment.

The business of RealCo and results of operations are dependent on the availabifity and skill of subcontractors.

Substantially all of the construction work required in the development of the Pinnacle Lands will be done by
subcontractors. Accordingly, the timing and quality of any construction depends on the availability and skill of
subcontractors. The inability 10 contract with skilled subcontractors at reasanable costs on a timely basis could
have a material adverse effect on the business and results of operations of RealCo.

Risks Related to the Potential Loss of Limited Liability

A limited partner may lose its limited liability in certain circumstances, including as a result of the limited
partner 1aking parl in the management or control of the business conducted by the partnership of which it is a
limited partner. Pursuant 1o the Project Services Agreement, RealCo will be retained by Pinnacle and its
affiliates, including Pinnacle LP II1 and Pinnacle LP IV, to provide project and construction management
services that may be considered to be related 1o the management of the business of Pinnacle LP Il and

H-20

147




Pinnacle LP IV. The engagement of RealCo by Pinnacle LP 1}l and Pinnacle LP 1V may result in the loss of
limited liability status for RealCo.

Risks related to the Anti-Takeover Effects of the Articles of RealCo

RealCo’s articles and by-laws will contain certain provisions that may discourage or make more difficult a
takeover bid, proxy contest or transaction that a sharcholder might consider in its best interest. These provisions
may also adversely affect prevailing market prices for RealCo Shares. In particular, among other things,
RealCo’s articles and by-laws will provide (a) certain restrictions on RealCo’s business, (b) staggered terms for
the members of RealCo’s board of directors and related removal and vacancy requirements that would make it
difficult for an acquiror to gain control of RealCo’s board of directors, (c¢) certain requirements and conditions
with respect to offers 10 acquire RealCo Shares, (d) a minimum subscription price for the issuance of additional
RealCo Shares or other securilies, and (e) that certain matters (including, if the governing statute of RealCo so
permits, the remaval of a director of RealCo) will require approval by a special resolution of shareholders that is
passed by a majority of not less than 75% of the votes cast thereon. The description of these provisions set forth
in this Appendix is a summary only. For more complete information, see the form of the articles of amendment
of RealCo, including the amended share conditions, set out at Appendix B (Form of Articles of Amendment
of RealCo).

The requirement of certain conditions precedent to the acquisition of RealCo Voting Shares may discourage a
take-over bid for the RealCo Voting Shares

The articles of RealCo require that a person or group wishing to acquire a majority of the RealCo Voting
Shares comply with certain conditions precedent to the acquisition of RealCo Voting Shares. These provisions,
in effect, require such a person or group to concurrently acquire a comparable portion of the RealCo
Non-Voting Shares at fair market value. This may discourage take-over bids for the RealCo Voting Shares.

Forward-looking statements

This Appendix may contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Canadian and U.S. securities
laws. Such statements include, but are not limited 1o, statements relating to future financial position, business
strategy, budgets, project costs and plans and objectives of management for future operations. You can identify
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many of these statements by looking for words such as “anticipate”, “contemplate”, “continue”, “believe”,

“plan”, “estimate”, “expect”, “intend”, “will”, “should”, “may”, and other similar expressions.

These forward-looking statements include statements with respect to: future financial performance
{including future revenues, earnings or growth rates), ongoing business strategies or prospects, and possible
future actions by RealCo or its affiliates, which may be provided by management are also forward-looking
statements. Forward-looking slalements are based upon expectations and projections about future events and
are subject to assumptions, risks and uncertainties about, among other things, RealCo, economic and market
factors and the condominium industry in Toronto and the Province of Ontario. We cannot assure you that any of
the plans, objectives, intentions or expectations upon which these forward-iooking statements are based
will occur.

Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should the assumptions set out in the
section enlitled “Risk Factors” underlying those forward-looking statements prove incorrect, actual results may
vary materially from those described herein. These forward-looking statements are made as of the date of the
Circular and we do not intend, and do not assume any obligation, to update these forward-looking statements,
excepl as required by law. We cannot assure you that such siatements will prove to be accurate as actual results
and future events could differ materially from those anticipated in such statements. Securityholders are
cautioned that forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and accordingly are
cautioned not to put undue reliance on forward-looking statements due to the inherent uncertainty therein.
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Interests of Management and Others in Material Transactions

The Follow-On Real Estate Transactions are to be carried out by RealCo with Pinnacle, Pinnacle LP 111,
Pinnacle LP 1V and GP Lands. Mr. Michael De Cotiis is a director and/or officer of each of these entities
{excluding Pinnacle LP 111 and Pinnacle LP IV) and has, directly or indirectly, a malerial ownership interest in
each entity.

Conflicts of Interest

Mr. Michael De Cotiis, who is to be appointed a director and officer of RealCo upon completion of the
Arrangement, is also an officer of Pinnacle. Mr. Michael De Cotiis is the direct holder of all of the issued shares
of Investor and the indirect holder of all of the issued shares of Pinnacle, GP III and GP IV. Because of these
relationships, conflicts of interest may arise between RealCo and Pinnacle.

Grace Kwok, who is the vice-president and a shareholder of Anson Realty, with whom each of
Pinnacle LP 1 and Pinnacle LP IV has entered into the Sales Agency Agreement, will be a director of RealCo
upon completion of the Arrangement. Also, Pinnacle has retained and continues to retain as consultants Grace
Kwok, Les Fovenyi, Geoffrey Glotman and Bob Klimek, each of whom is to be appointed a director of RealCo
upon completion of the Arrangement. Each has been retained as an independent contractor and is not an
employee of Pinnacle.

Legal Proceedings

Investor has been advised by Lorus that, immediately prior 1o the Effective Time of the Arrangement,
RealCo was not a party to any legal proceedings, nor was RealCo contemplating any legal proceedings.

Material Contracts

The Follow-On Real Estate Transactions contemplate RealCo e¢ntering into the foliowing material
contracts:

* the LP Purchase Agreement described in this Appendix under “The Transactions — Purchase of
LP Units™;

* the Construction Services Agreement described in this Appendix under “The Transactions —
Construction Services Agreement”; and

* the Project Services Agreement described in this Appendix under “The Transactions — Project Services
Agreement”.

Copies of the foregoing documents may be examined by a Securityholder at any time before the Meeting
during normal course business hours at the offices of Pinnacle, Suite 300, 911 Homer Street, Vancouver, British
Columbia.

Registrar and Transfer Agent

Following the completion of the Arrangement, RealCo expects to appoint Computershare Trust Company
of Canada as the registrar and transfer agent for the RealCo Shares at its principal offices in Vancouver, British
Columbia and Toronto, Ontario.

Auditors

The board of directors of RealCo intends to appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP of Suite 700, 500 Howe
Street, Vancouver, British Columbia as the auditors of RealCo.
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AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the General Partner of
Pinnacle Centre Three Limited Partnership

We have audited the balance sheet of Pinmacle Centre Three Limited Partnership (an Ontario limited
partnership) as at October 31, 2006 and the statements of pariners’ equity and cash flows for the period from
February 15, 2006 (date of formation) to October 31, 2006. These financial statements are the responsibility of
the Partnership’s management. Our responsibility is 1o express an opinion on these financial statements based on
our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Partnership as at October 31, 2006 and its cash flows for the period from February 15, 2006 (date of formation)
to October 31, 2006 in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

April 11, 2007 (Signed) PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP
Chartered Accountants
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PINNACLE CENTRE THREE LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
(an Ontario limited partnership)

BALANCE SHEET
As at October 31, 2006

$
Assets
Property under development (note 3} . . ... ... L e 2,897,386
Cash held in trust (NOle ). . . .. L Lt it i i 183,066
7 T-1 4 AR 1,000
3,081,452
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities . .. .. .. ... . . e 133,608
Due to related parties (N0te 5. . . ... oL 2,763,718
Sales deposits (NOtE 4) . . L L Lo e e 183,066
3,080,452
Pariners’ EQUIty (ROLE 1) . . ..o e e e e s 1,000
3,081,452

Formation, nature of operations and going concern (note 1)

Commitments (notes 3 and 6)

Approved by the General Partner

(Signed) PINNACLE INTERNATIONAL
(BAY STREET HI) PLAaZA INC.
General Partner

See accompanying notes to financial stalements.
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PINNACLE CENTRE THREE LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

(an Ontario limited partnership)
STATEMENT OF PARTNERS’ EQUITY

For the period from February 15, 2006 (date of formation) to October 31, 2006

Pinnacle Pinnacle
Bay Street International
Development  (Bay Street 11I)
Parinership Plaza Inc. Total
5 3 $
Partners’ capital — Beginning of period ... ..................... — — —
ContnbUlIONS . . .o et e e e e e 9_92 1 1,
Partners’ capital —End ofperiod . . ... ... ... ... . .......... 999 1 1,000

See accompanying notes 10 financial statements.
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PINNACLE CENTRE THREE LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
{an Ontario limited partnership)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the period from February 15, 2006 (date of formation) to October 31, 2006

$
Cash ftows from operating activities
Expenditures on property under development net of change in consiruction payables . . . ... .. (2,763,718)
Cash held N IrUSl . o ..ot it e e e e e e e e 183,066
Sales depPOSIES . .. ... e e s (183,066)
(2,763,718)
Cash flows from financing activities
Advances from related parties. . ... ... L e e e 2,763,718
Contributions from Parthners . . .. ... ... it i e 1,000
2,764,718
Increase Im cash . . . .. ... e e e e e e 1,000
Cash—Beginning of period . . . . .. ... .. . . e —_
Cash—End of period . ... ... . . e e 1,000

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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PINNACLE CENTRE THREE LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
(an Ontario limited partnership)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL S’i‘ATEMENTS
October 31, 2006

FORMATION, NATURE OF OPERATIONS, AND GOING CONCERN

Pinnacle Centre Three Limited Parinership, an Omario limited parinership, (the “Parinership”) was established on February 15, 2006
for the purpose of developing, marketing and selling a real estate development comprising 501 residential condominium units and
approximately 17,000 square feet of office and retail space in Toronto, Ontario (the “Project”). The limited parinership agreement
(the “LP Agreement”) provides that the Parinership shall be dissolved on the earlier of the end of the fiscal year in which all of the
assets of the Partnership have been disposed of or February 15, 2031, unless otherwise dissolved by way of an extraordinary resolution of
the partners.

The partners and their parinership interests are:

%
Pinnacle Bay Stree1 Development Partnership (the “Limited Partner™) . .. ... .. ... ... . .. .. .. .. . .. ... ... 99.99
Pinnacle International (Bay Street III) Plaza Inc. (the “General Paniner™) . . .. . ... .. . . i, 0.0
100.00

These financial statements have been prepared using Canadian generally accepted accounting principles that are applicable to a going
concern, which includes the assumption that the Parinership will be able to realize its assets and settle it liabilities in the normal course
of business. The Partnership's ability to continue its real estate development activities is dependent on managements’ ability to achieve a
sufficient level of pre-sales of condominium units and obtain adequate construction financing. There can be no assurances that the
Parinership will be able to accomplish these requirements. Because of this uncertainty, there is substantial doubt about the ability of the
Partnership to continue as a going concern. The Partnership is currently dependent on advances from related parties to be able to meet
its lizbilities in the short term.

No provision has been made in these financial statements for adjustments to the carrying value of assets and liabilities should the
Parinership be unable to continue as a going concern. Such adjusiments could be material.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
General
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepled accounting principles.

These financial statements contain only those assets, liabilities and results of operations relating 10 the Partnership. There is no
provision for income (axes as the partners are taxed individually on their share of the Parinership’s income.

Property under development

Property under development is recorded at the lower of cost and its estimated net realizable value. The Partnership provides for an
impairment provision where the carrying value of its property exceeds its estimated net realizable value,

Cost includes all expenditures incurred in connection with the acquisition, development and construction of the property. These
expenditures consist of all direct costs, interest on debt incurred 1o finance the acquisition, development and construction, and general
and administrative expenses that are directly attributable to the Project. Incidental revenue relating specifically to the Project earned
during the holding, development and construction phases is treated as a reduction of cost.

Management’s estimates of the net realizable value of the project are based on the best available information at the time of the
assessment. Costs are inherently subject 10 fluctvation and unforeseen costs or expenses could be incurred in the development process.
The costs associated with the Project could be significantly increased by events outside the Partnership’s control, including increases in
inlerest rates, increases in materials or labor costs, or increases in service charges. The Pannership’s anticipated revenue from the
Project is based upon the sale of condominium units and retail space al estimated prices that are subject to market forces. There can be
no assurance that the various assumptions will be realized or that the Project witl not be adversely affecied by unforeseen economic
factors, resulting in a diminution in its anticipated value.
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PINNACLE CENTRE THREE LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
{an Ontario limited partnership)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
October 31, 2006

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition

Revenue from the sale of condominium units is recorded when the purchasers are entitled to cccupancy, there is persuasive evidence of
an arrangement for the sale of the property, the proceeds are fixed and determinable, coltection of the sale proceeds is reasonably
assured, and the purchaser has received an undertaking from the Partnership to assign title.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales is determined using the net yield method whereby the cost of sales for the period is a pro-rated amount of 10tal estimated
costs for the Project based on revenue for the period versus projected revenue for the entire Project.

Warranly costs

Estimated future warranty costs are accrued and charged to cost of sales in the period in which revenue is recognized from the sale of
units in the Project. The recognized amount of future warranty costs is based on the Partnership’s best information and judgmem and is
based in part upon management’s historical experience. The inherent uncertainty associated with real estate development makes it
reasonably possible that future conditions may materially affect the amount of any warranty obligations. An increase in the provision for
warranly costs, with a corresponding charge to earnings, is recorded in the period in which management eslimates that additional
warranty obligations are likely.

Cash

For purposes of determining cash flows, cash consists of deposits with banks and highly liquid short-term interest bearing securities with
maturities at the date of purchase of three months or less and exclude cash subject to restrictions thal prevent its use for current
purposes.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period, Aciual
results could differ from those estimates.

PROPERTY UNDER DEVELOPMENT

$
Land OpUOn . . L. e e e 10
Development costs net of incidemal revenue of $93.341 . . . .. .. . L e e 2,897,376
2,897,386

During the period ended Oclober 31, 2006, the Partnership entered into a five-year ground lease with the Limited Partner. The
Partnership paid $10 for an option 1o acquire the beneficial interest in the land at a purchase price equal to the fair market value,

During the period ended October 31, 2006, the Partnership was charged rent of $372.417 that has been capitalized Lo the property under
development.

In accordance with the terms of the ground lease agreement, the Partnership is committed 1o pay rent of 105% of the aggregate of
a) the to1al interest charges payable by the Limited Partner incurred in connection with its acquisition of the leased land and b) the
operating costs and taxes {as defined in the lease agreement) incurred by the Limited Partner during the lease term.

Upen commencing development of the Project, as defined in the ground lease agreement, the rent on the leased land is reduced to
$120 per annum.

These transactions, occurring in the normal course of operations, are measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of
consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.
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PINNACLE CENTRE THREE LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
(an Ontario limited partnership)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
October 31, 2006

CASH HELD IN TRUST AND SALES DEPOSITS

The Partnership receives deposits from purchasers of condominium units which it places in trust. In accordance with Ontario legislation,
the deposits can be utilized by the Pantnership in connection with the construction of the project. At October 31, 2006, the Partnership
had not used any of the deposits.

DUE TO RELATED PARTIES

$
Pinnacle Intermnational Realty Group Inc. . . . .. .. . L e 2,391,301
Pinnacle Bay Street Development Partnership .. ... ... o o e 372417
2,763,718

All of the amounts due 1o related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing, and without stated repayment terms. Pinnacle Bay Street
Development Partnership (the Limited Partner) and Pinnacle International Realty Group Inc. are under common control.
COMMITMENTS

At October 31, 2006, the Partnership is committed 10 various non-related parties aggregating $1,823,378 with respect 1o the
development of the project.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair values

The fair values of cash held in trust, cash, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, amounts due to related parties and sales deposits
approximate their carrying values given the shorl term to maturity of these instruments.

Intercsi rate risk

All of the Paninership’s financial instruments are non-interest bearing except for cash held in trust that earns interest ai variable
markel rates.

Credit risk exposures

The Partnership’s exposures to credit risk are as indicated by the carrying amount of its cash and cash held in trust. The Pannership
regularly monitors the credit worthiness of its debtors and believes it is not exposed to an unusual risk of credit loss.
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AUDITORS® REPORT

To the General Partner of
Pinnacle Centre Four Limited Partnership

We have audited the balance sheet of Pinnacle Centre Four Limited Partnership (an Ontario limited
partnership) as at October 31, 2006 and the statements of partners’ equity and cash flows for the period from
February 15, 2006 (date of formation) to October 31, 2006. These financial statements are the responsibility of
the Partnership’s managemenlt. Qur responsibilily is 1o express an opinion on these financial statements based on
our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial
statements are free of material misstalement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement preseniation.

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Partnership as at October 31, 2006 and its cash flows for the period from February 15, 2006 (date of formation)
to October 31, 2006 in accordance with Canadian pgenerally accepied accounting principles.

April 11, 2007 (Signed) PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP
Chartered Accountants

H-30

w7




PINNACLE CENTRE FOUR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
(an Ontario limited partnership)

BALANCE SHEET
As at October 31, 2006

Assets

Property under development (note 3) .. .. ... ... . e
Cash o e e e e e
Due from related party (NO1E 4) .. .. ..o o e

Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities . .. ... .. L
Due to related party (ROLE 4) . ...ttt i i e e e

Partners’ Equity (note 1) ... .. . e e

Formation, nature of operations and going concern (note 1)

Commitments (notes 3 and 5)

Approved by the General Partner

{Signed) PINNACLE INTERNATIONAL
(BAY STREET 1V) PLAZA INC.
General Partner

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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PINNACLE CENTRE FOUR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
{an Ontario limited parinership)

STATEMENT OF PARTNERS® EQUITY
For the period from February 15, 2006 (date of formation) to October 31, 2006

Pinnacle Pinnacle
Bay Street International
Development  (Bay Street IV)
Partnership Flaza Inc. Total
$ $ $
Partners’ capital — Beginningof period. . . .. .. ......... ... ...... —_ —_ —_
ConI bULIONS . . . . e e e e 999 1 1,000
Partners’ capital —End of period . . . . .. .. ... ... ... ... . ... 999 1 1,000

See accompanying noles to financial stalements.
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PINNACLE CENTRE FOUR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
{an Ontario limited partnership)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the period from February 15, 2006 (date of formatien) to October 31, 2006

$
Cash flows from operating activities
Expenditures on property under development net of change in construction payables .. ........ (313,884)
Cash flows from financing activities
Advances from related parties . . .. .. e e e e 371,063
Contributions from pariners . ... .. ... it e e e 1,000
372,063
Cash flows from investing activities
Advances 1o related Parties . . ..o v e e (57,179)
Increase in cash . . ... . . e e e s 1,000
Cash—Beginning of period . .. ... ... . ... . . . .. . e —
Cash—End of period . . ... ... . .. . e 1,000

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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PINNACLE CENTRE FOUR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
(an Ontario limited partnership)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
October 31, 2006

FORMATION, NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN

Pinnacle Centre Four Limited Partnership, an Ontario limited partnership, (the “Partnership™) was established on February 15, 2006 for
the purpose of developing, marketing and selling a real estaie development comprising 417 residential condominium units, 79 hotel
units and approximately 8000 square feet of retail space in Toronto, Ontario (the “Project”). The limited partnership agreement
(the “LP Agreement”) provides that the Paninership shall be dissolved on the earlier of the end of the fiscal year in which all of 1he
assets of the Pannership have been disposed of or February 15, 2031, unless mherwise disselved by way of an extraordinary resolution of
the partners.

The partners and their partnership inlerests are:

%
Pinnacle Bay Sireet Development Partnership (the “Limited Partner™) .. . . .. ... .. . . i 99.99
Pinnacle International (Bay Street TV) Plaza Inc. (the “General Partner™) . . . . . ... ottt e i e e a s 0.01

100.00

These financial statements have been prepared using Canadian generally accepted accounting principles that are applicable to a going
concern, which includes the assumption that the Partnership will be able 10 realize its assets and settle it liabilities in the normal course
of business. The Partnership’s ability 10 continue its real estale development activities is dependent on managements’ ability to achieve a
sufficient level of pre-sales of condominium unils and obtain adequate construction financing. There can be no assurances that the
Partnership will be able to accomplish these requirements. Because of this uncertainty, there is substantial doubt about the ability of 1he
Partnership 10 continue as a going concern, The Partnership is currently dependent on advances from related parties to be able to meet
its liabilities in the short term.

No provision has been made in these financial siatements for adjustiments to the carrying value of assets and liabilities should the
Partnership be unable to continue as a going concern. Such adjustments could be matenial.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
General
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

These financial statements contain only those assels, liabilities, and results of operations relating to the Partnership. There is no
provision for income laxes as the partners are 1axed individually on their share of the Partnership’s income.

Property under development

Property under development is recorded at the lower of cost and its estimated net realizable value. The Partnership provides for an
impairment provision where the carrying value of its property exceeds its estimated net realizable value.

Cost includes all expenditures incurred in connection with the acquisition, development and construction of the property. These
expenditures consist of all direct costs, interest on debt incurred to finance the acquisition, development, and construction, and general
and administrative expenses that are directly autributable 10 the Project. Incidental revenue relating specifically 1o the Project earned
during the holding, development and construction phases is treated as a reduction of cost.

Management’s estimates of the net realizable value of the Project are based on the best available information at the time of the
assessment. Cosls are inherently subject to fluctuation and unforeseen costs or expenses could be incurred in the development process.
The costs associated with the Project could be significantly increased by events outside the Partnership's control, including increases in
inlerest rates, increases in maderials or labor costs, or increases in service charges. The Partnership’s anticipated revenue from the
Project is based upon the sale of condominium units and retail space at estimated prices that are subject to markel forces. There can be
no assurance that the various assumptions will be realized or that the Project will not be adversely affecied by unforeseen economic
factors, resulting in a diminution in its anticipated value.
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PINNACLE CENTRE FOUR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
(an Ontario limited partnership)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {(Continued)
October 31, 2006

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition

Revenue from the sale of condominium units is recorded when the purchasers are entitled to occupancy, there is persuasive evidence of
an arrangement for the sale of the property, the proceeds are fixed and determinable, collection of the sale proceeds is reasonably
assured, and the purchaser has received an undertaking from the Partnership to assign title.

Cast of sales

Cost of sales is determined using the net yield method whereby the cost of sales for the period is a pro-rated amount of total estimated
costs for the Project based on revenue for the period versus projected revenue for the entire Project.

Warranty costs

Estimated future warranty costs are accrued and charged to cost of sales in the period in which revenue is recognized from the sale of
units in the Project. The recognized amount of future warranty costs is based on the Parinership’s best information and judgment and is
based in part upon management’s historical experience. The inherent uncertainty associated with real estate development makes it
reasonably possible that future conditions may materially affect the amount of any warranty obligations. An increase in the provision for
warranly costs, with a corresponding charge to earnings, is recorded in the period in which management estimates that additional
warranty obligations are likely.

Cash

For purposes of determining cash flows, cash consists of deposits with banks and highly liquid short-term interest bearing securities with
maturities at the date of purchase of three momhs or less and exclude cash subject to restrictions that prevent its use for currem
purposes.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles requires management (o
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financisl statements and the reponed amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

PROPERTY UNDER DEVELOPMENT

$
Land OpliOn . . ... e e e e e e 10
Development costs net of incidental revenue of $93265 . . . . .. L L L L e e 358,722
358,732

During the period ended Oclober 31, 2006, the Pannership entered into a five-year ground lease with the Limited Partner. The
Partnership paid $10 for an option Lo acquire the beneficial interest in the land at a purchase price equal to the fair marker value.

During the period ended Octaber 31, 2006, the Parinership was charged rent of $371,063 that has been capitalized 1o the property under
development.

In accordance with the terms of the ground lease agreement, the Paninership is committed 10 pay rent of 105% of the aggregate of
a) the total interest charges payable by the Limited Partner incurred in connection with its acquisition of the leased land and b) the
operating costs and taxes (as defined in the lease agreement) incurred by the Limited Partner during the lease term,

Upon commencing development of the Project, as defined in the ground lease agreement, the rent on the leased land is reduced 10
$120 per annum.

These transactions, occurring in the normal course of operations, are measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of
consideration established and agreed 10 by the related parties.
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PINNACLE CENTRE FOUR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
(an Ontario limited partnership)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
October 31, 2006

DUE FROM AND DUE TO RELATED PARTIES

8
Due from related party
Pinnacle International Realty Group Inc. . . . . .. ... o s 57,179
Due to related party
Pinnacle Bay Street Development Partnership . . . .. .. .. L e e 371,063

All of the amounts due from and to related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing, and without stated repayment terms. Pinnacle
International Realty Group Inc. and Pinnacle Bay Street Development Partnership (the Limited Pariner) are under common control.
COMMITMENTS

At October 31, 2006, the Pannership is committed to various nen-related parties aggregating $2,899,470 with respect 10 the
development of the project.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair values

The fair values of cash, due from related party, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and due to related party approximates their
carrying values given the short term to maturity of these instruments.

Interest rate risk

All of the Partnership’s financial instruments are non-interest bearing,

Credil risk exposures

The Parinership’s exposures 1o credit risk are as indicated by the carrying amount of the amounts due from related parties. The
Partnership regularly monitors the credit worthiness of its debtors and believes it is not exposed 1o an unusual risk of credit loss,
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AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Shareholders of
Pinnacle International (Bay Street II1) Plaza Inc,

We have audited the balance sheet of Pinnacle International (Bay Street III) Plaza Inc. (an Oniario
corporation) as at October 31, 2006 and the statement of cash flows for the period from February 13, 2006 (date
of formation) to October 31, 2006. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing sitandards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain rcasonable assurance whether the financial
statements are free of material missiatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation.

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as at October 31, 2006 and its cash flows for the period from February 13, 2006 (date of formation) to
October 31, 2006 in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

April 11, 2007 (Signed) PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP
Chartered Accountants
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PINNACLE INTERNATIONAL (BAY STREET 111) PLAZA INC.
(an Ontario corporation)

BALANCE SHEET
As at October 31, 2006

Assets
Cash .. e e e s
Investment in Pinnacle Centre Three Limited Partnership .. ........... . ... ... ... ... ...

Liahilities

ACCOURTS PaYaAbIe . . ... e e
Shareholders’ Equity

Capital S1ock (DMO1E 3) . . . ..o i e e

Approved by the Director

(Signed) MICHAEL DE CoTiis
Director

See accompanying notes to financial stalements.
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PINNACLE INTERNATIONAL (BAY STREET III) PLAZA INC.
(an Ontario corporation)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the period from February 13, 2006 (date of formation) to Octaber 31, 2006

Cash flows from operating activities
Accounts payable .. ... e e

Cash flows from investing activities
Investment in Pinnacle Centre Three Limited Partnership ... .. .. . o o o0,

Cash flows from financing activities
Issuance of COMMON SharE . . . . .. i e e ettt et et e e

Increase im CaASh . .. .. e e et e e e e

Cash—Beginning of period. . . . ... .. .. ... . .. .. e

Cash—End of period . . .. ... . i e e e e

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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PINNACLE INTERNATIONAL (BAY STREET 111} PLAZA INC.
{an Ontario limited corporation)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
October 31, 2006

NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Pinnacle International {Bay Street 111) Plaza Inc. (an Omario corporation) (the Company) was established on February 13, 2006 as a
helding company.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investmenl in partnership

The Company accounts for its investment in a limited partnership on an equity basis.

Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles requires management to
make estimates and assumptions thal affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingeni._ assels and
liabilities a1 the date of the financial statements. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
CAPITAL STOCK
Authorized

Unlimited number of common sharers

Issued

J a1 111175 3 T 1 T V<N

- |»

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Fair values

The fair values of cash and accounts payable approximate their carrying value because of the shori-term nature of these instruments,
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AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the General Partner of
Pinnacle International (Bay Street IV) Plaza Inc.

We have audited the balance sheet of Pinnacle International (Bay Street IV) Plaza Inc. (an Ontario
corporation) as al October 31, 2006 and the statement of cash flows for the period from February 13, 2006 (date
of formation) to October 31, 2006. These financial stalements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is 10 express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation.

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as at October 31, 2006 and its cash flows for the period from February 13, 2006 (date of formation) to
October 31, 2006 in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

April 11, 2007 (Signed) PRICEWATERHOUSECQOPERS LLP
Chartered Accountants
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PINNACLE INTERNATIONAL (BAY STREET IV) PLAZA INC.
{an Ontario corporation)

BALANCE SHEET
As at October 31, 2006

Assets
00T |
Investment in Pinnacle Centre Four Limited Partnership . . ... ... . .. . o

Liabilities

ACCOUNLS Payable . . .. . e e
Shareholders’ Equity

Capital S10cK (MOTE 3) . . .. e e

Approved by the Director

(Signed) MICHAEL DE CoTIIS
Director

See accompanying notes to financial statements,
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PINNACLE INTERNATIONAL (BAY STREET IV) PLAZA INC.
{an Ontario corporation)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
As at October 31, 2006

Cash flows from operating activities
ACCOUNTS PAYADIC . . . .. e e e e
Cash flows from investing activities
Investment in Pinnacle Centre Four Limited Partnership . ... ... ..o o o o i
Cash flows from financing activities
Issuance of common share . . . ... ... L L e e

Increase im €ash . . ... .. . . . e i e s
Cash — Beginning of period . . . . .. ... . . . . e

Cash—End of period . . . .. ... ... .. e e

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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PINNACLE INTERNATIONAL (BAY STREET IV) PLAZA INC.
{an Ontario corporation)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period from February 13, 2006 to October 31, 2006

NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Pinnacle International (Bay Street V) Plaza Inc. (an Ontario corporation) (the Company) was established on February 13, 2006 as a
holding company.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investment in partnership

The Company accounts for its investment in a limited partnership on an equity basis.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles requires management to
make eslimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Aclual results could differ from those estimates.
CAPITAL STOCK
Authorized

Unlimited number of common sharers

Issued

= o

BT 1T To T T 1 -1

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Fair values

The fair values of cash and accounts pavable approximate their carrying value because of the short-term nature of these instruments,
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PINNACLE CENTRE THREE LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

(an Ontario limited partnership)
BALANCE SHEET
(Unaudited)

Assetls

Property under development (note 3). . ........ ... i
Cash held in trust (note 4) ... ... i e e e e e e
Cash ... e
Accountsreceivable .. ... ... . . . . e
Prepaid COommisSIiOn . ... ... ittt i e e
Due from related party (note 5) ... ... .. e e

Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities . . . .. ... ... .. ... L L,
Due torelated parties (note 5) .. ... ... . . e e
Sales deposits (note 4} . ... ... .. e

Partners” Equity {note 1). .. .. .. ... e

Formation, nature of operations and going concern {(note 1)

Commitments (notes 3 and 6)

Approved by the General Partner

(Signed) PINNACLE INTERNATIONAL
{BAY STREET 111) PLAZA INC.
General Partner

See accompanying notes to financial slatements.
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January 31, October 31,
2007 2006
$6,515,100 $2,897,386

1,046,097 183,066
1,000 1,000
5,677 —

87,505 —

1,073,113 —
$8,728,492 §3,081,452
$ 17926 $ 133,068

7,670,837 2,763,718

1,038,729 183,066

8,727,492 3,080,452
1,000 1,000

$8,728,492 83,081,452
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PINNACLE CENTRE THREE LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

(an Ontario limited partnership)

STATEMENT OF PARTNERS’ EQUITY

(Unaudited)

Partners’ capital — February 15, 2006 (date of formation} . ....... ..
Contribulions . . . .o vttt e

Partners’ capital — October 31,2006. . .. ... ...................
Contributions . . .. ... . .. e

Partners’ capital — Janvary 31, 2007. . . ... ........ . ... . ... ..

Pinnacle Pinnacle
Bay Street International
Development  (Bay Street I1I)
Partnership Plaza Inc. Total
— $— $ —
999 1 1,000
999 1 1,000
$999 $ 1 $1,000

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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PINNACLE CENTRE THREE LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

(an Ontario limited partnership)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited)

Cash flows from operating activities
Expenditures on property under development net of change in construction

payables . . . . ... e
Cash held In IruSl . . ... i e e e
Sales deposils . ... e e e
Accounts receivable . .. ... ...
Prepaid commission . ........ ... ... . .. i e e

Cash flows from financing activities

Advances from related parties . . . . ... .. . ... e
Contributions from partners . ........... . ... it

Cash flows from investing activities

Advancestorelated party . . . .. ... . ... e

Increase imcash. . ... ... . e e e
Cash — Beginning of period . . . ... ... . ... ... ... . i il

Cash—End of period ... ... ... .. ... .. i e

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Period from

February 15,

Three-month 2006 (date of

period ended formation} to

January 31, October 31,
2007 2006

$(3,733,456) $(2,763,718)

(863,031)  (183,066)

855,663 183,066
(5,.677) —
(87,505) —

(3,834,006)  (2,763,718)

4,907,119 2,763,718
— 1,000

4,907,119 2,764,718

(1,073,113) —

— 1,000
1,060 —

$ 1,000 $ 1,000
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PINNACLE CENTRE THREE LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
(an Ontario limited partnership)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)
January 31, 2007

FORMATION, NATURE OF OPERATIONS, AND GOING CONCERN

Pinnacle Centre Three Limited Partnership, an Ontario limited partnership, (the “*Partnership”) was established on February 15, 2006
for the purpose of developing, marketing and selling a real estate development comprising 501 residential condominium units and
approximaltely 17,000 square feet of office and retail space in Toronto, Ontario (the “Project”). The limited partnership agreement
(the “LP Agreement™) provides that the Partnership shall be dissolved on the earlier of the end of the fiscal year in which all of the
assets of the Parinership have been disposed of or February 15, 2031, unless mherwise dissolved by way of an extraordinary resolution of
the partners.

The partners and their parinership interests are:

%
Pinnacle Bay Street Development Partnership (the “Limited Partner™) . .. ... .. ... .. ... ... ... ... ... ..... 99.99
Pinnacle International (Bay Street III} Plaza Inc. (the “General Partner”™) . . .. ... ... .. ... ... ... i aiuian 0.01
100.00

These financial staternents have been prepared using Canadian generally accepted accounting principles that are applicable to a going
concern, which includes the assumption that the Parinership will be able 10 realize its assels and settle it liabilities in the normal course
of business. The Partnership’s ability to continue its real estate development activities is dependent on managements’ ability 1o achieve a
sufficient level of pre-sales of condominium units and obtain adequate construction financing. There can be no assurances that the
Partnership will be able 10 accomplish these requirements. Because of this uncertainty, there is substantial doubt about the ability of the
Partnership to continue as a going concern. The Partnership is currently dependent on advances from related parties 10 be able 10 meet
its liabilities in the shon term.

No provision has been made in these financial statements for adjustments to the carrying value of assets and liabilities should the
Partnership be unable to continue as a going concern. Such adjusiments could be material.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
General
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

These financial statemenis contain only those assets, liabilities and results of operations relating to the Partnership. There is no
provision for income (axes as the pariners are 1axed individually on their share of the Partnership’s income.

Property under development

Property under development is recorded at the lower of cost and its estimated net realizable value. The Partnership provides for an
impairment provision where the carrying value of its property exceeds ils estimated net realizable value.

Cost includes all expenditures incurred in connection with the acquisition, development and construction of the property. These
expendilures consist of all direct costs, interest on debt incurred 1o finance the acquisition, development and construction, and general
and administrative expenses that are directly attribumable 10 the Project. Incidental revenue relating specifically to the Project earned
during the holding, development and construction phases is treated as a reduction of cost.

Management's estimates of the net realizable value of the project are based an the best available information a1 the time of the
assessment. Costs are inherently subject to fluctuation and unforeseen costs or expenses could be incurred in the development process.
The costs associated with the Project could be significantly increased by events outside the Partnership’s control, including increases in
interest rates, increases in materials or labor costs, or increases in service charges. The Partnership’s anticipated revenue from the
Project is based upon the sale of condeminium units and retail space a1 estimated prices that are subject to market forces. There can be
no assurance that the various assumptions will be realized or that the Project will not be adversely aftected by unforeseen economic
factors, resulting in a diminution in its anticipated value,
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PINNACLE CENTRE THREE LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
(an Ontario limited partnership)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(Unaudited)
January 31, 2007

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition

Revenue from the sale of condominium units is recorded when the purchasers are entitled 10 occupancy, there is persuasive evidence of
an arrangement for the sale of the property, the proceeds are fixed and determinable, collection of the sale proceeds is reasonably
assured, and the purchaser has received an undertaking from the Partnership to assign title.

Cosl of sales

Cost of sales is determined using the net yield method whereby the cost of sales for the period is a pro-rated amount of total estimated
costs for the Project based on revenue for the period versus projected revenue for the entire Project.

Warranoty costs

Estimated future warranty costs are accrued and charged to cost of sales in the period in which revenue is recognized from the sale of
units in the Project. The recognized amouni of future warranty costs is based on the Partnership’s best information and judgment and is
based in part upon management’s historical experience. The inherent uncertainty associated with real estate development makes it
reasonably possible that future conditions may materially affect the amount of any warranty obligations, An increase in the provision for
warranly costs, with a corresponding charge to earnings, is recorded in the period in which management estimates that additional
warranty obligations are likely.

Cash

For purposes of determining cash flows, cash consists of deposits with banks and highly liquid shorn-term interes1 bearing securities with
maturities at the date of purchase of three months or less and exclude cash subject to restrictions that prevent its use for current

purposes.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepied accounting principles requires management (o
make estimates and assumptions that aflect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of comlingent assets and
liabilivies at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

PROPERTY UNDER DEVELOPMENT
January 31,  October 31,

2007 2006
$ $
Land oplion . . . .. e e e e e e 10 10
Development cosis net of incidental revenue of 393341 . . .. ... ..o Lol 6,515,090 2,897,376

6,515,100 2,897,386

During the period ended October 31, 2006, the Pannership entered into a five-year ground lease with the Limited Partner. The
Partnership paid $10 for an option to acquire the beneficial interest in the land at a purchase price equal 1o the fair markel value.

During the period ended January 31, 2007, the Partnership was charged rent of $30 (October 31, 2006 — $372.417) that has been
capitalized 1o the property under developmeni,

In accordance with the 1erms of the ground lease agreement, the Partnership is commitied to pay rent of 105% of the aggrepate of
a) the total interest charges payable by the Limited Partner incurred in connection with its acquisition of the leased land and b) the
operating costs and taxes (as defined in the lease agreement) incurred by the Limited Partner during the lease term.

Upon commencing development of the Project, as defined in the ground lease agreement, the rent on the leased land is reduced 1o
$120 per annum.
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PINNACLE CENTRE THREE LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
(an Ontario limited partnership)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {(Continued)
(Unaudited)
Januvary 31, 2007

3. PROPERTY UNDER DEVELOPMENT (Continued)

These transactions, occurring in the normal course of operations, are measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of
' consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.
I 4. CASH HELD IN TRUST AND SALES DEPOSITS

The Partnership receives deposits from purchasers of condominium units which it places in trust. In accordance with Ontario legislation,
the deposils can be utilized by the Partnership in conneclion with the construction of the project. At January 31, 2007, the Partnership
had not used any of the deposits.

5. DUE FROM AND DUE TO RELATED PARTIES
January 31, October 31,

2007 2006
$ 5
Due from related party
Pinnacle Centre Four Limited Partnership . . . ... ... ... ... . . oo oo, 1,073,113 —
Due to related parties
Pinnacle International Realty Group Inc.. . .. . . ... o i 7,298,420 2,391,301
Pinnacle Bay Street Development Partnership .. .. ... ... ... . o o ooio 72,417 372,417

7.670,837 2,763,118

All of the amounts due from and due 10 related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing, and without siated repayment terms.
Pinnacle Bay Street Development Parinership (the Limited Partner), Pinnacle Centre Four Limited Partnership and Pinnacle
International Realty Group Inc. are under common control.

6. COMMITMENTS
At January 31, 2007, the Partnership is commitied Lo various non-related parties aggregating $1,472,132 (October 31, 2006 —
$1,823,378) with respect to the development of the project.

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Fair values
The fair values of cash held in trust, cash, accounts receivable. amounts due from related party, accounts payable and accrued liabilities,
amounts due to related parties and sales deposits approximate their carrying values given the short term 1o malurity of these
instruments.
Interest rate risk
All of the Partnership’s financial instruments are non-interest bearing except for cash held in trust that earns interest a1 variable
markel rates.
Credit risk exposures

The Parinership’s exposures 10 credit risk are as indicated by the carrying amount of its cash, cash held in trust, accounts receivable and
amounts due from related party. The Parinership regularly monitors the credit worthiness of its debtors and believes it is not exposed to
an unusual risk of credit loss,
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PINNACLE CENTRE FOUR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

{an Ontario limited partnership)
BALANCE SHEET
{Unaudited)

Assets

Property under development (note 3) .. ... ... ... ... . ... . . i,
Cash . . e
Due from related party (note 4) . . .. ..o

Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities . . ....... ... ... o oo oo
Due to related parties (note 4} . .. .. ... e

Partners’ Equity (note 1) . . . .. .. . e

Formation, nature of operations and going concern (note 1)
Commitments {notes 3 and 5}

Approved by the General Partner

(Signed) PINNACLE INTERNATIONAL
(BAY STREET 1V) PLAZA INC.
General Partner

See accompanying notes 1o financial statements.
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January 31, October 31,
2007 2006
5 $
1,429,297 358,732
1,000 1,000
14,879 57,179
1,445,176 416,911
— 44,848
1,444,176 371,063
1,444,176 415911
1,000 1,000
1,445,176 416,911
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PINNACLE CENTRE FOUR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
{an Ontario limited partnership)

STATEMENT OF PARTNERS’ EQUITY

{Unaudited)
Pinnacle Pinnacle
Bay Street International
Development  (Bay Street IV)
Partnership Plaza Inc. Total
s $ $
Partners’ capital — February 15, 2006 (date of formation) . . ... ... —_ —_ —
ContribULIoNS . .. .. i e e e e e e % _] 1,
Partners’ capital — October 31,2006 ... .................... 999 1 1,000
Contribulions .. ... .. .. . e — — —
Partners’ capital — January 31,2007 .. ... . ................. 999 1 1,000

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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PINNACLE CENTRE FOUR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

Cash flows from operating activities

(an Ontario limited partnership)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited)

Expenditures on property under development net of change in

construction payables ........

Cash flows from financing activities
Advances from related parlies

Contributions from partners

Cash flows from investing activities
Repayment from (advances to) related party

Increaseincash..............

Cash — Beginning of period

Cash — End of period . .. .. ...

See accompanying notes to financial stalements.
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Period from
Three-month  February 15, 2006
period ended  {date of formation)

January 31, to October 31,
2007 2006
$ $
(1,115,413)  (313,884)
1,073,113 371,063
— 1,000
1,073,113 372,063
42,300 (57,179)
— 1,000
1,000 —
1,000 1,000
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PINNACLE CENTRE FOUR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
{an Ontario limited partnership)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
{(Unaudited)
January 31, 2007

FORMATION, NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN

Pinnacle Cenire Four Limited Parinership, an Ontario limited parinership, (the “Partnership”) was established on February 15, 2006 for
the purpose of developing, marketing and selling a real estate development comprising 417 residential condominium units, 79 hotel
units and approximately 8,000 square feet of retail space in Toronto, Ontario (the “Project”). The limited partnership agreement
(the “LP Agreement”) pravides that the Parinership shall be dissolved on the earlier of the end of the fiscal year in which all of the
assets of the Partnership have been disposed of or February 15, 2031, unless otherwise dissolved by way of an extraordinary resolution of
the partners.

The partners and their partnership interests are:

%

Pinnacle Bay Street Development Partnership (the “Limited Partner™ . ... ... .. ... ... .. . o oL,

99.99
Pinnacle International (Bay Street 1V) Plaza Inc. (the “General Partner™) . ... ... .. .. L i 0.01
100.00

These financial statements have been prepared using Canadian generally accepled accounting principles that are applicable 1o a going
concern, which includes the assumption that the Parinership will be able to realize its assets and settle it liabilities in the normal course
of business. The Partnership's ability to continue its real estate development activities is dependent on managements’ ability to achieve a
sufficient level of pre-sales of condominium units and obtain adequate construction financing. There can be no assurances that the
Partnership will be able to accomplish these requirements. Because of this uncertainty, there is substantial doubt about the ability of the
Partnership 10 continue as a going concern. The Partnership is currently dependent on advances from related parties to be able to meet
its liabilities in the short term.

No provision has been made in these financial statements for adjustments to the carrying value of assets and liabilities should the
Partnership be unable 10 continue as a going concern. Such adjustments could be malerial,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
General
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

These financial slatements contain only those assets, liabilities, and results of operations relating to the Parnership. There is no
provision for income taxes as the partners are taxed individually on their share of the Parnership’s income,

Property under development

Property under development is recorded at the lower of cost and its estimated net realizable value, The Parinership provides for an
impairment provision where the carrying value of its property exceeds its estimated net realizable value,

Cost includes all expenditures incurred in connection with the acquisition, development and construction of the property. These
expendilures consist of all direct costs, interest on debt incurred to finance the acquisition, development, and construction, and general
and administralive expenses that are directly auributable to the Project. Incidental revenue relaling specifically to the Project earned
during the holding, development and construction phases is trealed as a reduction of cost.

Management’s eslimates of the net realizable value of the Project are based on the best available information at the time of the
assessmenl. Costs are inherently subject to fluctuation and unforeseen costs or expenses could be incurred in the development process.
The costs associated with the Project could be significantly increased by events outside the Partnership’s control, including increases in
interest raies, increases in materials or labor costs, or increases in service charges. The Partnership’s anticipated revenue from the
Project is based upon the sale of condominium units and re1ail space at estimated prices that are subject to market forces. There can be
no assurance that the various assumptions will be tealized or that the Project will not be adversely affected by unforeseen economic
factors, resulting in a diminution in its anticipated value.
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PINNACLE CENTRE FOUR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
(an Ontario limited partnership)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {(Continued)
(Unaudited)
Januvary 31, 2007

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {Continued)
Revenue recognition

Revenue from the sale of condominium units is recorded when the purchasers are entitled 1o occupancy, there is persuasive evidence of
an arrangement for the sale of the property, the proceeds are fixed and determinable, collection of the sale proceeds is reasonably
assured, and the purchaser has received an undertaking from the Partnership to assign title.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales is determined using the net yield method whereby the cost of sales for the period is a pro-rated amount of tolal estimated
cosis for the Project based on revenue for the period versus projected revenue for the entire Project.

Warranty costs

Estimated future warranty costs are accrued and charged 1o cost of sales in the period in which revenue is recognized from the sale of
units in the Project. The recognized amount of future warranty costs is based on the Parinership’s best information and judgment and is
based in part upon management’s historical experience. The inherent uncertainty associated with real estate development makes it
reasonably possible thai future conditions may materially affect the amount of any warranty obligations. An increase in the provision for
warranty costs, with a corresponding charge Lo earnings, is recorded in the period in which managemem estimates that additional
warranty obligations are likely.

Cash

For purposes of determining cash flows, cash consists of deposits with banks and highly liquid shor-term interest bearing securities with
malurities at the date of purchase of three months or less and exclude cash subject o restrictions that prevent its use for current

purposes.
Use of estimaltes

The preparation of financia statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles requires management to
make estimates and assumplions that affect the reporied amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities a1 the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

PROPERTY UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Janwary 31,  October 31,

2007 2006
$ $
Land OPHOM . . . ..o e e e e e e i e 10 10
Development costs net of incidemal revenue of $93,265. . . . . ... ... ... . . e 1,429,287 358,722
1,429,297 358,732

During the period ended October 31, 2006, the Parinership entered into a five-year ground lease with the Limited Partner. The
Partnership paid $10 for an option to acquire the beneficia! interest in the land at a purchase price equal to the fair market value.

During the period ended January 31, 2007, the Partnership was charged rem of $30 (Ociober 31, 2006 — $371,063) that has been
capitalized 1o the property under development.

In accordance with the terms of the ground lease agreement, the Partnership is commitied to pay rent of 105% of the apgregale of
a) the total interest charges payable by the Limited Partner incurred in connection with its acquisition of the leased land and b} the
operating costs and taxes {(as defined in the lease agreement) incurred by the Limited Partner during the lease term.

Upon commencing development of the Project, as defined in the ground lease agreemen, the rent on the leased land is reduced 10
$120 per annum,
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PINNACLE CENTRE FOUR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
{an Ontario limited partnership)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(Unaudited)
January 31, 2007

PROPERTY UNDER DEVELOPMENT (Continued)

These transactions, occurring in the normal course of aperations, are measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of
consideration established and agreed to by the relaled parties.

DUE FROM AND DUE TO RELATED PARTIES

Janvary 31,  October 31,

2007 2006
$ b3
Due from related party
Pinnacle Imernational Realty Group Inc.. . ... ... ... .. .. o o 14,879 57,179
Due to related parties
Pinnacle Bay Street Development Partnership .. .. .o o o i i 371,063 371,063
Pinnacle Centre Three Limited Partnership . . . . .. .. . i i e 1,073,113 —
1,444,176 IN063

All of the amounts due from and to related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing, and without stated repayment terms. Pinnacle
International Realty Group Inc., Pinnacle Bay Street Development Partnership (the Limited Partner) and Pinnacle Centre Three
Limited Partnership are under common control.

COMMITMENTS

At January 31, 2007, the Partnership is committed 1o various non-related parties aggregating $1.967.204 (October 31, 2006 —
$2,899,470) with respect to the development of the project.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair values

The fair values of cash, due from related party, accounts payable and acerued liabilities, and due to related parties approximates their
carrying values given the short term to maturity of these instruments,

Interest rate risk

All of the Parinership’s financial instruments are non-interest bearing.

Credit risk exposures

The Partnership’s exposures 1o credit risk are as indicated by the camrying amount of the amounts due from related party. The
Parinership regularly monitors the credit worthiness of its debtors and believes it is not exposed to an unusual risk of credit loss.
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{amounts in 000’s)
(Canadian dollars)

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents .

Accounts receivable . . . ..
Marketable securities and
other investments . . . ..
Due from related parties . .
Prepaid expenses and other
asSetS L v
Property under
developmemt ........
Fixed assets . .........
Deferred financing charges .
Deferred arrangement cosis
Goodwill . ...........
Cash held intrust . ... ..

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities . . . ..

Due to related parties . . . .

Sales deposits .. ... ... .

Secured convertible
debentures ... ... ...

Note payable ... ......

SHAREHOLDERS'
EQUITY

Common shares — voting . .

Common shares — non
voting . . .. .........

Partners capital . .. ... ..
Equity portion of secured
convertible debentures . .
Stock options . .. ... ...
Contributed surplus . . . ..
Warramts ... ... ...
Deficit accumulated during
development stage . . . . .

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA BALANCE SHEET

APPENDIX “1”

OF REALCO
Pro forma Pro forma
adjustments  RealCo as at Combined adjustments Pro forma
As at Column 1 February 28, Partnerships as at Column 2 Combined
February 28, 2007 {note 3) 2007 Jan 31, 2007 {note 4) RealCo
{Unaudited)
$ 2,284 $ (2,284) $— $ 2 $1,200 (4a)
(700) (4b) $ 502
6 6
10,952 (10,952) — —
— 15 15
614 (614) - 88 88
7.944 7,944
590 (590) - -
402 (402) “— -
530 {530) - —
606 {606) - —
1.046 1.046
$ 15978 $— $9,101 $9,601
$ 1991 $ (1,991) 5§ — $ 18 § 18
8,042 8,042
1,039 1,039
11,684 (11,684} — —
500 {4b} 500
157,449 (157,449) - —
1,200 (4a)
(1,200) (4b)
2 (4b) 2
2 (2) (4b) —
3,814 (3.814) — —
4,844 (4,844} —_ —
1,706 {7,706) -_— —
991 (991) — -
(172,501) 172,501 — 1,200 (4b)
{1,200) (4b) —
2,303 — 2 2
$ 15978 $ — $9.101 $9.601

See accompanying notes to the unaudited pro forma balance sheet.
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NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA BALANCE SHEET OF REALCO
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

As of February 28, 2007

THE REORGANIZATION AND THE PROBABLE ACQUISITION
a) The Reorganization

Lorus Therapeutics Inc. (“Lorus™} was incorporated under the laws of the Province of Ontario on September 5, 1986 and effective
October 1, 2005, Lorus was continued under the laws of Canada.

Under the terms of an arrangement agreement (the “Arrangement Agreement”) dated May 1, 2007 and described in the “The
Arrangement” section of the Management Proxy Circular (the “Reorganization™}, Lorus will transfer all of the assets (excluding future
tax assets and related valuation allowance), liabilities and operations of Lorus to a newly incorporated subsidiary ("“New Lorus™) or a
subsidiary of New Lorus.

As part of the transaction, current holders of Lorus common shares, options to acquire Lorus common shares, and warrants 1o acquire
Lorus common shares will exchange sich shares, options and warrants for shares, options and warrants of New Lorus on a one-for-one
basis.

In connection with the Reorganization, and after the exchange of securities described above, the share capital of Lorus will be
reorganized into voting common shares and non-voting common shares and 6707157 Canada Inc., an affiliate of Pinnacle Intemnational
Lands, Inc. ("Investor™), will acquire approximately 41% of the Lorus voling commaon shares and all of the non-voting common shares
by making a cash payment to New Lorus and the Selling Shareholders (as defined below) equal to approximately $8.5 million on closing
of the transaction less an escrowed amount of $600,000, subject 10 certain post-closing adjustments. The costs of the transaction will be
expensed in the financial statements of New Lorus upon closing of the transaction.

In addition to the exchange of securities described above, shareholders who are not residents of the United Si1ates will receive voting
common shares of Lorus and shareholders who are residents of the United States will receive a nominal cash payment instead of voting
common shares, As well, as a condition of the Arrangement Agreement, High Tech Beteilingungen GmbH & Co. KG and certain other
shareholders of Lorus (the “Selling Shareholders™), representing approximately 24% of Lorus’ issued and outstanding share capital,
have agreed to vote in favour of the transaction and to sell 1o Investor the Lorus voling common shares to be received under the
agreement at the same price per share as will be paid Lorus by Investor to New Lorus (as described in the paragraph above). The
directors and officers of Lorus who are security holders have expressed their intention to vote in favour of the transaction.

Current Lorus shareholders, other than residents of the United Siates and the Selling Sharcholders, will receive approximately 59% of
the Lorus voling common shares representing, in the aggregate upon completion of the transaction, an economic equity interest of
approximately 0.5% of Lorus in addition to their continued equity interest in Newco.

Also as a condition of the transaction, the holder of Lorus’ $15 million secured convertible debentures has agreed 10 vote in favour of
the transaction. Lorus has agreed to repurchase such holder’s outstanding three million common share purchase warranis at a purchase
price of $252.000.

Concurrent with the transaction, Envesior will subscribe for an additional 294,296,851 non-voting common shares directly from Lorus
now known as RealCo for cash consideration of $1,2 million.

New Lorus will have no continving ownership interest in RealCo.

b} The Probable Acquisition

Pursuant 10 the Arrangement Agreement, an affiliaste of Pinnacle will ransfer limited partnership inlerests in two real esiate
deveiopment projects in Toronto, Ontario (“Pinnacle Partnerships™) 1o RealCo in exchange for cash consideration of $700 thousand and
a RealCo inmterest bearing note payable of 8500 thousand (“*Probable Acquisition™),

Basis of Presentation and Going Concern Contingency

The unaudited pro forma consolidated balance sheet of Lorus as at February 28, 2007 has been prepared by management based on the
unaudited interim consolidated balance sheet of Lorus as al February 28, 2007 and giving effect 1o

(a) The various transactions pursuant to the Reorganization being proposed for approval by the shareholders of Lerus in a special
general meeling to be held in June 2007 and as further deseribed in note 3 (o this unaudited pro forma cansolidated balance sheet
as at February 28, 2007.

(b) The transfer of the combined Pinnacle Pannerships as set out in the unaudited interim balance sheets as at January 31, 2007,
specifically Pinnacle Centre Three Limited Partnership and Pinnacle Centre Four Limited Partnership.

The pro forma consolidated balance sheel has been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes the approval of the
Reorganization by the sharcholders and the Ontario Superior Court of Justice and the closing of the transactions with Investor, and that
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NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA BALANCE SHEET OF REALCO
(Expressed in Canadian dellars) (Continued)

As of February 28, 2007

Basis of Presentation and Going Concern Contingency {Continued)

the combined Lorus and Pinnacle Partnerships will be able 1o realize its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments in the
ordinary course of business. These pro forma financial statements do not include any adjustments to the amounts and classification of
assets and liabilities that may be necessary should the Company not be successful in completing the Reorganization and compleling the
transaction with Investor, or if it is not successful in obtaining additional funds to commence operations.

The accounting policies used in the presentation of the pro forma consolidated balance sheet are in accordance with the audited
financial statements of the Pinnacle Partnerships as at and for the period from inception of operation: to October 31, 2006 and the
unaudited interim financial statements of the Pinnacle Partnerships as at and for the three-month period January 31, 2007; and the
audited financial statements of Lorus for the year ended May 31, 2006, and the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements of
Lorus as at February 28, 2007 and for the three-month and nine-month periods ended February 28, 2007 and 2006. The unaudited
pro forma balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements of the Pinnacle Parinerships as at and for
the period from inception of operations to October 31, 2006 and the unaudited imerim financial statements of the Pinnacle Partnerships
as at and for the three-month peried Janvary 31, 2007; and 1he audited financial statements of Lorus for the year ended May 31, 2006
and the unaudited imerim consolidated financial statements of Lorus as at February 28, 2007 and for the three-month and nine-month
periods ended February 28, 2007 and 2606.

A pro forma consolidated statement of loss has not been prepared since RealCo, after giving effect 1o the Reorganization, will have no
operations and the Pinnacle Partnerships has not reported any operating results for the period.

Actual balances of the combined parinerships could differ by the date of the acquisition.

Pro forma adjustments related to the Reorganization

{a) The various transactions to give effect to the Plan of Arrangement are described in the “The Arrangement™ section of the
Management Proxy Circular. The pro forma adjustments set oul in the column headed “Pro forma adjustments Column 17
represent steps {a) 1o (w). If all matiers presented at the special general meeting are not approved, the pro forma consolidated
balance sheet will be impacted and such impact will be material.

{b) Cenain of these pro forma transactions are 1axable and would result in income taxes otherwise payable of $4.3 million. Current
year losses and tax loss carryforwards of $11.8 million will be utilized 10 offset income 1axes otherwise payable. Accordingly, the
future tax assets would be reduced by $4.3 million and there would be a corresponding reduction of the valuation allowance, Future
tax assels refating 1o all income 1ax attributes of $43 million are not likely of being realized, accordingly a full valuation allowance
is recorded.

Pro forma adjustments related to the Probable Acquisition

The pro forma adjusiments below are set out in the column headed “*Pro forma adjustments Column 2" and represent steps (x) Lo (y) in
the section “The Arrangement” of the Management Proxy Circular.

(a} Investor will subscribe for 294,296,851 additional RealCo non-voting common shares for cash consideration of $1.2 million.

(b) Concurrent with the Reorganization, Investor will comtribute its limited partnership interests in two real estate development
projects to RealCo in return for a cash of $700 thousand and a promissory note of RealCo of $500 thousand.

These transactions have occurred between two commonly controlled entities. Since these transactions do not result in a substantive
change in ownership, the transactions are accounted for at carrying value.
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APPENDIX “J”
BALANCE SHEET OF NEW LORUS

AUDITORS® REPORT
To the Board of Directors of 6650309 Canada Inc.

We have audiled the balance sheet of 6650309 Canada Inc. as at November 1, 2006. This financial statement
is the responsibility of the Company’s management. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on this financial
statement based on our audit.

We conducied our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform an audit 1o obtain reasonable assurance whether the balance sheet is
free of material misstatement. An audit of a balance sheet includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in that balance sheet. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall balance sheet
presentation.

In our opinion, the balance sheet presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as at November 1, 2006 in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

/s KPMG LLP
Chartered Accountants,
Licensed Public Accountants

Toronto, Canada
May 24, 2007
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Assels

Shareholder’s Equity

Capilal Stock (ROLE 3) .« o ot ottt

On behalf of the Board:

{Signed) DONALD PATERSON
Director

6650309 CANADA INC.
BALANCE SHEET
November 1, 2006

(Signed) GRAHAM STRACHAN
Director

See accompanying notes to balance sheet.
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6650309 CANADA INC,
NOTES TO BALANCE SHEET
November 1, 2006

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION:

6650309 Canada Inc. (“New Lorus” or the “Company”) was incorporated by Centificate of Incorporation issued pursuant 10 the
provisions of the Canada Business Corporation Act on November 1, 2006, and has not carried oul any active business since
incorporation.

On May 1, 2007, New Lorus’ parent company, Lorus Therapeutics Inc. (“Lorus”) entered into an agreement with 6707157 Canada Inc.,
among others, which, if completed, will result in New Lorus receiving cash of approximately $8.5 million, subject 1o a $600,000 holdback
and posi-closing adjustment. The costs of the transaction will be expensed in the financial statements of New Lorus on closing of the
transaction. This agreement involves a number of transactions which will ultimately result in the transferring of all assets (excluding
future tax assets and related valuation allowance), liabilities and operations of Lorus 1o New Lorus. As part of the transaction, current
holders of Lorus common shares, oplions lo acquire common shares, and warrants to acquire common shares will exchange such shares,
options and warrants for shares, options and warrants of New Lorus on a one-for-one basis.

Pursuant 1o the Warrant Repurchase Agreement, New Lorus will purchase the warrants from its holders for cash consideration and
cancel those warranis.

In addition, under the terms of the agreement, New Lorus will indemnify Lorus and its directors, officers and employees against any and
all liabilities, losses, costs, expenses, claims and damages, other than for certain 1ax liabilities related to the operations carried out by
Lorus prior to and by the Company subsequent to the transfer of assets, liabilities and operations to the Company.

The transaction is subject to court and shareholder approval and is expected to close on June 29, 2007.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:

The balance sheet of the Company has been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

3. CAPITAL STOCK:*

Authorized:
Unlimited common shares
Issued and outstanding:
ONe COMMON SIATE . . . . . . o ittt ittt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $1
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APPENDIX “K”
COMPARISON OF CBCA TO BCBCA

General

In general terms, the CBCA provides a corporation’s shareholders with substantively the same rights as are
available to a corporation’s shareholders under the BCBCA, including rights of dissent and appraisal and rights
to bring derivative actions and oppression actions. There are, however, important differences concerning, among
other things, the qualifications of directors and certain shareholder remedies. The following is a summary
comparison of certain provisions of the CBCA and the BCBCA which pertain to rights of the shareholders and
other corporate matters. This summary is not intended 1o be exhaustive and Shareholders should consult their
legal advisers regarding implications of the Continuation which may be of particular importance to them.

Charter Documents

Under the CBCA, the charter documents of a corporation consist of (a) articles of incorporation which
must set forth, among other things, the name of the corporation, the amount and type of authorized capital and
any restriction on the business that the corporation may carry on; and (b) by-laws that regulate the business or
affairs of a corporation.

Similarly, under the BCBCA, a continued corporation has as its charter documents a notice of articles
(which, in the case of a continuance, will be contained in its continuation application) and articles which contains
the rules of conduct of the corporation. The notice of articles must set forth, among other things, the name of
the corporation, the amount and type of authorized share structure and must indicate if there are any rights and
restrictions attached to the shares.

The Continuation to the provincial jurisdiction of British Columbia and the filing of a continuation
application will not resull in any substantive changes to the constitution, powers or management of RealCo,
except as otherwise described herein.

Amendments to Charter Documents

Any substantive change to the articles of a corporation under the CBCA, such as an alteration of the
restrictions, if any, on the business carried on by a corporation, a change in the name of the corporation, an
increase or reduction of the stated capital of the corporation, or an alteration of the special rights and
restrictions attached 1o issued shares, requires a special resolution passed by not less than 66¥%:% of the votes
cast by the shareholders voting on the resolution authorizing such change {or such higher threshold as may be
provided in the corporation’s articles). In addition, the holders of a class or series of shares (if such class or
series is affected by an amendment in a manner different from other shares of the same class or series) are
cntitled 1o vote separately as a class or series on a proposal 1o amend the articles to add, change or remove any
provision that affects the rights, privileges, restrictions or conditions attached to that class or series, whether or
not they are otherwise entitled 1o vote. Other fundamental changes, such as a proposed amalgamation or a
continuation of a corporation out of the federal jurisdiction, will also require a special resolution passed by
66%% of the votes cast by shareholders voting cast on the resolution authorizing such change (or such higher
threshold as may be provided in the corporation’s articles), whether or not they are otherwise entitled to vote.

Under the BCBCA, any substantive change to the corporate charter of a corporation, such as an alteration
of the restrictions, if any, on the business carried on by the corporation, a change in the name of the corporation
or an increase or reduction of the authorized share structure of the corporation, requires a special resolution
passed by the majority of such number of votes as specified in the articles of the corporation so long as the
prescribed majority (the “special majority”) is at least 66%% and not more than 75% of the votes cast by
sharcholders on the resolution or, if the articles do not contain such a provision, a special resolution passed by at
least 66%% of the votes cast on the resolution. A propased amalgamation requires a similar resolution passed by
a special majority of all holders of shares of the corporation (or such higher threshold as may be provided in the
corporation’s articles), whether or not they are otherwise entitled to vote. In addition, a right or special right
attached to a class or series of shares cannot be prejudiced or interfered with unless at least 66%% (or such
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higher majority up to 75% as may be provided by the articles, as described above) of the votes cast by the
shareholders holding such class or series of shares consent 10 such change.

Removal of Directors

The CBCA provides that, subject to certain exceptions, the shareholders of a corporation may by ordinary
resolution at a special meeting remove any director or directors from office and that the articles of a corporation
may nol require a higher threshold to remove a director. An ordinary resolution means a resolution passed by a
majority (i.e., over 509) of the votes cast by the shareholders who voted in respect of that resolution. Under the
BCBCA, subject 10 certain exceptions, a director may be removed before the expiration of the direcior’s term of
office by a specia! resolution of the sharcholders of the corporation or by such other resolution or method as
may be set out in its articles. If the articles do not contain any such provision, the BCBCA provides that the
majority of votes required 1o pass a special resolution may be specified in the corporation’s articles (referred to
in the BCBCA as a “special majority”) if that special majority is at least 66%% and not more than 75% of the
votes cast on the resolution. The articles of RealCo specify that, if permitted by RealCo’s governing statute, a
direcior of the corporation may be removed before the expiration of the director's term of office only if
approved by a special resolution, and that a special resolution must be passed by a special majority of not less
than 75% of the votes cast by the shareholders who voted in respect of that resolution.

Sale of Undertaking

The CBCA requires approval of the holders of shares of a corporation represented at a duly called meeting
of sharehelders for a sale, lease or exchange of all or substantially all of the property (as opposed to the
“undertaking”) of the corporation, other than in the ordinary course of business of the corporation. Each share
of a corporation carries the right to vote in respect of the approval of a sale, lease or exchange of all or
substantially all of the property of the corparation whether or not it otherwise carries the right to vote. The
approval must be by no less than 66%% of the votes cast at the meeting. Holders of shares of a class or series are
entilled to vote separately as a class or series only if that class or series is affected by the sale, lease or exchange
in a manner different from the shares of another class or series.

Under the BCBCA, a corporation may sell, lease or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of the
undertaking (as opposed to the “property”) of the corporation if it does so in the ordinary course of its business
or if it has been authorized 10 do so by a special resolution passed by the majority of such number of votes as
specified in the arlicles of the corporation (being at least 66%:% and not more than 75% of the votes cast on the
resolution) or, if the articles do not contain such a provision, a special resolution passed by at least 66%:% of the
voltes cast by shareholders on the resolution,

While the shareholder approval thresholds can be the same under the BCBCA and the CBCA, the BCBCA
allows for a corporation to specify a different approval level in its articles (i.e., greater than 66%% but less than
75%) and the CBCA allows, subject to certain exceptions, the articles of a corporation to require a greater
number of votes than that prescribed by the articles. There are also differences in the nature of the sale which
requires such approval, i.e. a sale of all or substantially all of the *undertaking” under the BCBCA and of all or
substantially of the “property” under the CBCA.

Rights of Dissent and Appraisal

The CBCA provides that sharcholders who dissent with respect to certain actions being taken by a
corporalion may exercise a right of dissent and require the corporation to purchase the shares held by such
shareholder at the fair value. Under the CBCA, a holder of shares of any class may dissent if a court order
permits such dissent or if the corporation resolves to;

1. amend ils articles (o add, change or remove any provisions restricting or constraining the issve, transfer
or ownership of shares of thal class;

2. amend its articles to add, change or remove any restriction on the business or businesses that the
corporation may carry an;



3. amalgamate (other than an amalgamation between a corporation and its wholly-owned subsidiary, or
between wholly-owned subsidiaries of the same corporation);

be continued under the laws of another jurisdiction;
sell, lease or exchange all or substantially all its property,

carty oul a going-privale transaclion or a squeeze-out lransaction; or

e

amend its articles to add, modify or remove any provision that affects the characieristics, rights,
privileges, restrictions or conditions attached to the shares of a class.

The BCBCA contains similar dissent provisions which are applicable in respect of:

1. aresolution to alter the articles 1o alter restrictions on the powers of the corporation or on the business
it is permitted to carry on;

a resolution to adopt an amalgamation agreement,;
a resolulion 1o approve an amalgamation into a foreign jurisdiction;

a resolulion 1o approve an arrangement, the terms of which arrangement permit dissent;

LA W

a resolulion to authorize the sale, lease or other disposal of all or substantially all of the undertaking of
the corporation;

6. a resolution to authorize the continuation of the corporation into a jurisdiction other than British
Columbia;

7. any other resolution, if dissent is authorized by the resolution; and

8. any court order that permits dissent.

Oppression Remedies

Under the CBCA, any current or former registered or beneficial shareholder, director or officer or a former
director or officers of a corporation or any of its affiliates, the Director under the CBCA or any other person
who, in the discretion of the court, is a proper person to seek an oppression remedy, may bring an application to
the court for an order 10, among other things, restrain certain conduct where in respect of a corporation or any
of its affiliates (a) there is an act or omission of the corporation or its affiliaies which effects a result; (b) the
business or affairs of the corporation or any of its affiliates are or have been carried on or conducted in a
manner; or (c) the powers of the dircciors of the corporation or its affiliates are or have been exercised in a
manner, that is oppressive or unfairly prejudicial to, or that unfairly disregards the interests of, any security
holder, creditor, director or officer of the corporation. On such an application, the court may make other kinds
of orders and may make an interim or final order if it considers appropriate.

Under the BCBCA, a registered or beneficial shareholder of a corporation or any other person who, in the
discretion of the court, is an appropriate person has a similar right to apply to the court on the grounds that:
(a) the affairs of the corporation are being or have been conducted, or that the powers of the directors are being
or have been exercised in a manner oppressive 10 one or more of the shareholders, including the applicant; or
(b) some act of the corporation has been done or is threatened, or that some resolution of the shareholders or of
the shareholders holding shares of a class or a series of shares has been passed or is proposed, that is unfairly
prejudicial 1o one or more of the shareholders, including the applicant. Note, these grounds may be a higher
standard than that under CBCA discussed above, which higher standard may, in certain circumstances, resull in
it being more difficult for a shareholder to succeed in an oppression claim under the BCBCA. On such an
application, the court may make an interim or final order if it considers appropriate including an order to
prohibit any act proposed by the corporation.

Shareholder Derivative Actions

Under the CBCA, any current or former registered or beneficial sharehelder, director or officer or a former
director or officer of a corporation or any of its affiliates, the Director under the CBCA or any other person
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who, in the discretion of the court, is a proper person to make an application to the court to bring a derivative
action, may apply to a court for leave to bring an action in the name and on behalf of a corporation or any of its
subsidiaries, or intervene in an action to which any such body corporate is a party, for the purpose of
prosecuting, defending or discontinuing the action on behalf of the body corporate. However, no such action
may be brought unless three conditions are satisfied: (a) at least 14 days notice is given o the corporation’s
directors; {b) the complainant is acting in good faith; and (c) it appears to be in the interests of the corporation
or its subsidiary that the action be brought, prosecuted, defended or discontinued.

Under the BCBCA, a shareholder or director of a corporation or any other person who, in the discretion of
the court, is an appropriate person, may with leave of the court, bring an action in the name and on behalf of
the corporation to enforce a right, duty or obligation owed 1o the corporation that could be enforced by the
corporation itself or 1o obtain damages for any breach of such a right, duty or obligation. Likewise, with
the leave of the court, a person described in this paragraph may also defend a legal proceeding brought against
the corporation. However, the court may only grant leave under the BCBCA if (a) the complainant has made a
reasonable effort Lo cause the directors of the corporation to prosecute or defend the proceeding; (b) notice for
the application for leave has been given to the corporation and to certain others; (¢) the complainant is acting in
good faith; and (d) it appears that it is in the best interests of the corporation for the legal proceedings to be
prosecuted or defended.

Requisition of Meetings

The CBCA permits the holders of not less than 5% of the issued and outstanding shares of a corporation
that carry the right to vote at a meeling to requisition the directors to call and hold a meeting of shareholders for
the purposes stated in the requisition. If the directors do not call a meeting within 21 days on receiving the
requisition, any shareholder who signed the requisition may call the meeting.

The BCBCA provides that one or more shareholders of a corporation holding in aggregate not less than 5%
of the issued voting shares of the corporation may give notice to the directors requiring them to call and hold a
general meeting. If the directors of the corporation do not send a notice of meeting within 21 days of receiving
the requisition, the requisitioning shareholders (or any one of them holding more than 2.5% of the issued voting
shares) may do so.

Place of Meetings

The CBCA provides that meetings of shareholders must be held at the place within Canada provided for in
a corporation’s by-laws, or in the absence of such provision, at such place within Canada that the directors so
determine. A meeting may be held outside Canada if the articles so provide or if all the shareholders entitled 1o
vote al the meeting agree that such meeting is to be so held.

The BCBCA provides that meetings of shareholders must be held in British Columbia, however they may
be held at a place outside of British Columbia if such place is: (a) provided for in the articles; (b} approved in
writing by the Registrar of Companies (British Columbia) before any such meeting is held; or (¢} approved by an
ordinary resolution or such ather resolution of shareholders required by the articles (provided the articles do not
restrict the corporation from approving a location outside of British Columbia).

Notice of Shareholders’ Meetings

The minimum notice period under both the CBCA and the BCBCA for a sharcholders’ meeting of a public
corporation is 21 days. The CBCA allows a non-public corporation to reduce the notice period for shareholders’
meetings to such shorter period as provided for in a corporation’s constating documents. The BCBCA allows a
non-public corporation in its articles 1o reduce the minimum allowable notice period under the BCBCA, but it
cannot be reduced to less than 10 days.
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Number of Directors

Both the CBCA and the BCBCA provide that a public corporation must have a minimum of three directors.
The CBCA requires that at least 25% of directors of a corporation must be resident Canadians. The BCBCA
does not have any residency requirements for direclors.

Corporate Reorganizations

The CBCA prohibits the creation of par value shares and permits a subsidiary 10 purchase shares of its
parent or itself only in limited circumstances. The BCBCA allows par value shares (even in foreign currency)
and expressly confirms, subject to the articles of the corporation, the ability of a corporation to hold shares in its
parent or itself (subject to some exceptions). The BCBCA also provides for inter-jurisdictional amalgamations, a
mechanism not contemplated in the CBCA.

Waiver of Annual General Meetings

The CBCA does not provide for the waiver of annual general meetings. The BCBCA, however, allows
shareholders to waive or postpone upcoming or even past annual general meetings.

Securities Legislation

Federally incorporated companies must abide by provisions in the CBCA regarding meetings for public
companies such as notice, proxies and information circulars which are inconsistent with securities legislation.
Similar provisions were deleted from the BCBCA in the fast set of amendments. The applicable provincial
sccurities laws will apply to RealCo following the completion of the Arrangement.

Unanimous Shareholder Agreements

The CBCA permits all of the shareholders of a corporation, or all of the shareholders of the corporation
and one or more persons who are not sharcholders, Lo enter into a unanimous shareholder agreement that
restricts, in whole or in part, the powers of the directors 10 manage, or supervise the management of, the
business and affairs of the corporation. The BCBCA does not permit such agreements, but allows the powers of
directors 10 be transferred to one or more other persons in the articles of a corporation.

Status as a Federal Corporation

Currently, Lorus’ authorized capital consists of an unlimited number of common shares which as part of the
Arrangement will be amended so as to consist of an unlimited number of RealCo Volting Shares and an
unlimited number of RealCo Non-Voting Shares.

As a CBCA corporation, RealCo’s charter documents consist of articles of incorporation, by-laws and all of
the amendments made thereto to date, including the amendments to the articles of RealCo as contained in
Appendix B (Form of Articles of Amendment of RealCo). On completion of the Continuation, RealCo will cease
10 be governed by the CBCA and will thereafier be deemed to have been formed under the BCBCA. The
BCBCA Ariticles proposed to be adopted by RealCo in connection with the Continuation will be substantially
similar to RealCo’s charter documents, as amended (see Appendix B).
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APPENDIX “L”
SECTION 1%0 OF THE CBCA

190. (1) Right to dissent — Subject 1o sections 191 and 241, a holder of shares of any class of a corporation
may dissent if the corporation is subject to an order under paragraph 192(4)(d) that aifects the holder or if the
corporation resolves to

(a) amend its articles under section 173 or 174 to add, change or remove any provisions restricting or
constraining the issue, transfer or ownership of shares of that class;

(b) amend its articles under section 173 to add, change or remove any restriction on the business or
businesses that the corporation may carry on;

(c) amalgamate otherwise than under section 184;

(d) be continued under section 188;

(e) sell, lease or exchange all or substantially all its property under subsection 189(3); or
(f) carry out a going-private transaction or a squeeze-out transaction.

(2) Further right — A holder of shares of any class or series of shares entitled to vote under section 176 may
dissent if the corporation resolves to amend its articles in a manner described in that section.

(2.1) If one class of shares — The right to dissent described in subsection (2) applies even if there is only one
class of shares.

(3) Payment for shares — In addition to any other right the shareholder may have, but subject to
subsection (26), a shareholder who complies with this section is entitled, when the action approved by the
resolution from which the sharcholder dissents or an order made under subsection 192(4) becomes effective, to
be paid by the corporation the fair value of the shares in respect of which the shareholder dissents, determined
as of the close of business on the day before the resolution was adopted or the order was made.

{(4) No partial dissent — A dissenting shareholder may only claim under this section with respect to all the
shares of a class held on behalf of any onc beneficial owner and registered in the name of the dissenting
sharcholder,

(5) Objection — A dissentling shareholder shall send to the corporation, at or before any meeling of
shareholders at which a resolution referred 10 in subsection (1) or (2) is 1o be voted on, a written objection to the
resolution, unless the corporation did not give notice to the shareholder of the purpose of the meeting and of
their right to dissent.

{6) Notice of resolution — The corporation shall, within ten days afier the shareholders adopt the
resolution, send to each shareholder who has filed the objection referred 10 in subsection (5) notice that
the resolution has been adopted, but such notice is not required to be sent to any shareholder who voted for the
resolution or who has withdrawn their objection.

(7) Demand for payment — A dissenting sharcholder shall, within twenty days after receiving a notice under
subsection (6) or, if the sharecholder does not receive such notice, within twenty days afier learning that the
resolution has been adopted, send to the corporation a writlen notice containing

(a) the shareholder’s name and address;
(b) the number and class of shares in respect of which the shareholder dissents; and

(c) a demand for payment of the fair value of such shares.
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(8) Share certificate — A dissenting sharcholder shall, within thirty days after sending a notice under
subsection (7), send the certificates representing the shares in respect of which the shareholder dissents to the
corporation or its transfer agent.

(9) Forfeiture — A dissenting sharcholder who fails to comply with subsection (8) has no right to make a
claim under this section.

(10) Endorsing certificate — A corporation or its transfer agent shall endorse on any share certificate
received under subsection (8) a notice that the holder is a dissenting shareholder under this section and shall
forthwith return the share certificates to the dissenting sharecholder.

(11) Suspension of rights — On sending a notice under subsection (7}, a dissenting shareholder ceases (o
have any rights as a shareholder other than to be paid the fair value of their shares as determined under this
section except where

(a) the shareholder withdraws that notice before the corporation makes an offer under subsection (12),

(b) the corporation fails to make an offer in accordance with subsection (12) and the shareholder
withdraws the notice, or

(¢) the directors revoke a resolution to amend the articles under subsection 173(2) or 174(5), terminate an
amalgamation agreement under subsection 183(6) or an application for continuance under
subsection 188(6), or abandon a sale, lease or exchange under subsection 189(9), in which case the
shareholder’s rights are reinstated as of the date the notice was senl.

{12) Offer to pay — A corporation shall, not later than scven days after the later of the day on which the
action approved by the resolution is effective or the day the corporation received the notice referred to in
subsection (7), send to each dissenting shareholder who has sent such nolice

(a) a written offer to pay for their shares in an amount considered by the directors of the corporation to be
the fair value, accompanied by a statement showing how the fair value was determined; or

(b) if subsection {26) applies, a notification that it is unable lawfully to pay dissenting shareholders for
their shares.

(13) Same terms — Every offer made under subsection (12) for shares of the same class or series shall be on
the same terms.

(14) Payment — Subject to subsection (26), a corporation shall pay for the shares of a dissenting
shareholder within ten days after an offer made under subsection (12) has been accepied, but any such offer
lapses if the corporation does not receive an acceptance thereof within thirty days after the offer has been made.

{15) Corporation may apply to court — Where a corporation fails to make an offer under subsection (12}, or
if a dissenting shareholder fails to accept an offer, the corporation may, within fifty days after the action
approved by the resolution is effective or within such further period as a court may allow, apply to a court to fix a
fair value for the shares of any dissenting shareholder.

(16) Shareholder application to court — If a corporation fails io apply 10 a court under subsection (15), a
dissenting shareholder may apply to a court for the same purpose within a further period of twenty days or
within such further period as a court may allow.

(17) Venue — An application under subsection (15) or {16) shall be made 10 a court having jurisdiction in
the place where the corporation has ils registered office or in the province where the dissenting shareholder
resides if the corporation carries on business in that province.

{18) No security for costs — A dissenting shareholder is not required to give security for costs in an
application made under subsection (15) or (16).
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(19) Parties — On an application 1o a court under subsection (15) or (16),

(a) all dissenting shareholders whose shares have not been purchased by the corporation shall be joined as
parties and are bound by the decision of the court; and

(b) the corporation shall notify each affected dissenting shareholder of the date, place and consequences
of the application and of their right to appear and be heard in person or by counsel.

(20) Powers of court — On an application 1o a court under subsection (15) or (16), the court may determine
whether any other person is a dissenting shareholder who should be joined as a party, and the court shall then fix
a fair value for the shares of all dissenting shareholders.

(21) Appraisers — A court may in its discretion appoint one or more appraisers to assist the court to fix a
fair value for the shares of the dissenting shareholders.

(22) Final order — The final order of a court shall be rendered against the corporation in favor of each
dissenting shareholder and for the amount of his shares as fixed by the court.

(23) Interest — A courl may in its discretion altow a reasonable rate of interest on the amount payable to
each dissenting shareholder from the date the action approved by the resolution is effective until the date
of payment.

(24) Notice that subsection (26) applies — If subsection (26) applies, the corporation shall, within ten days
after the pronouncement of an order under subsection (22), notify each dissenting sharcholder that it is unable
lawfully to pay dissenting shareholders for their shares.

(25) Effect where subsection (26) applies — If subsection (26) applies, a dissenting shareholder, by written
notice delivered to the corporation within thirty days after receiving a notice under subsection (24), may
(a) withdraw their notice of dissent, in which case the corporation is deemed to consent to the withdrawal and
the shareholder is reinstated o their full rights as a shareholder, or (b) retain a status as a claimant against the
corporation, to be paid as soon as the corporation is lawfully able to do se or, in a liquidation, to be ranked
subordinate to the rights of creditors of the corporation but in priority o its shareholders.

(26) Limitation — A corporation shall not make a payment 10 a dissenting shareholder under this section if
there are reasonable grounds for believing that (a) the corporation is or would after the payment be unable to
pay its liabilities as they become due; or (b} the realizable value of the corporation’s assets would thereby be less
than the aggregate of its liahilities.
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Please read the accompanying Management Proxy Circular and the instructions attached hereto carefully before
completing this letter of transmittal.

LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL FOR REGISTERED HOLDERS OF
COMMON SHARES OF LORUS THERAPEUTICS INC.

NON-U.S. PERSONS
U.S. PERSONS

For Use in Connection with the Arrangement Involving
Lorus Therapeutics Inc., its Subsidiaries, 6650309 Canada Inc., Pinnacle International
Lands, Inc. and 6707157 Canada Inc.

This letter of transmittal (the “Letter of Transmittal™) is for usc by registered holders of common shares
(the “Common Shares”) of Lorus Therapeutics Inc. (“Lorus”) (i} not resident in the United States
(“Non-U.S. Persons”) and (i) resident in the United States (“U.S. Persons”, and together with the
Non-U.S. Persons, the “Registered Shareholders™) in conncction with a proposed arrangement
(the “Arrangement”) involving Lorus, NuChem Pharmaceuticals Inc., GeneSense Technologies Inc.,
6650309 Canada Inc. (“New Lorus™), Pinnacle International Lands, Inc. and 6707157 Canada Inc., as described
in the management proxy circular (the “Circular”™) of Lorus dated May 25, 2007, which is to be considered at a
special meeting (the “Meeting”) of holders of securities of Lorus scheduled to be held on June 25, 2007 and any
adjournment(s) thereof. Registered Shareholders are referred to the Circular, including the appendices attached
thereto, that accompanies this Letter of Transmittal. Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein
have the respective meanings ascribed thereto in the Glossary of Terms in the Circular. Registered Shareholders
whose Common Shares are regisiered in the name of a broker, investment dealer, bank, trust company or other
nominee should contact that nominee for assistance in depositing those Common Shares.

TO: Lorus Therapeutics Inc.

AND TQ: 6650309 Canada Inc.

AND TO: 4325231 Canada Inc.

AND TO: Computershare Investor Services Inc. (the “Depositary™)

THE UNDERSIGNED ACKNOWLEDGES THAT HE OR SHE HAS READ THE
RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF LORUS RELATING TO THE
PROPOSED ARRANGEMENT, AS SET OUT IN THE CIRCULAR.

The undersigned hereby irrevocably deposits the Common Shares represented by the certificates described
below (the “Deposited Shares').

Each Non-U.S. Person will receive, for cach Deposited Share, one common share of New Lorus (a “New Lorus
Common Share”) and approximately 0.08 voting common shares of RealCo, disregarding fractions (each whole
voting common share of RealCo being referred to herein as a “RealCo Voting Share™).

Each U.S. Person will receive, for each Deposited Share, one New Lorus Common Share and a cash payment of
approximately CDN$0.0040775156 for each RealCo Voting Share that would otherwise be received by such
U.S. Person had such U.S Person been a Non U.S. Person (the “Cash Payment™).

The undersigned, by the execution of this Letter of Transmittal, hereby acknowledges receipt of the Circular
and represents and warrants that: (a) the undersigned has full power and authority to deposit, scll, assign and
transfer the Deposited Shares; (b) the undersigned or the Person on whose behalf the Deposited Shares are
being deposited owns the Deposited Shares; (¢} the undersigned has good title to those shares, free and clear of
all mortgages. licns, charges, encumbrances, security interests, adverse claims and any other rights of others; and
(d) the Deposited Shares represent all of the Common Shares owned by the undersigned. The undersigned



encloses herewith the following certificate(s) for those Common Shares registered in the name of the

undersigned or duly endorsed for transfer to the undersigned:

DESCRIPTION OF COMMON SHARES DEPOSITED
(plcase print)

Certificate Number(s)

Name(s) and Address{es) of
Registered Sharchotder(s)

Number of Common Shares Deposited

Unless otherwise indicated under the delivery instructions below (in which case delivery should be made in
accordance with those instructions), the certificate(s) for the New Lorus Common Shares and the RealCo
Voting Shares issucd in exchange for the Deposited Shares and, if applicable, the Cash Payment, should be
issued in the name of the undersigned and forwarded to the undersigned at the address specified below the
signature of the undersigned, or to hold such certificate and/or payment for pick-up (or if no such address or
delivery instructions are made, to the latest address recorded on the Lorus share register). If the Arrangement is
not completed, the undersigned directs the Depositary to return the enclosed certificate(s) in accordance with

the instructions in the preceding sentence.

TOTAL:

BLOCK A
SPECIAL REGISTRATION INSTRUCTIONS

ISSUE CERTIFICATE(S) OR CHEQUE [N
THE NAME OF: {plcasc print)

BLOCK B
SPECIAL DELIVERY INSTRUCTIONS

SEND CERTIFICATE(S) OR CHEQUE TO:

{Name)

(Name}

(Street Address and Number)

{Street Address and Number)

{City and Province or State)

(City and Province or State)

{Country and Postal {(Zip) Codc}

{Country und Postal (Zip) Code)

{Telephone — Business Hours)

{Telephone — Business Hours)

(Social Insurance or Sacial Security Number)

{Social Insurance or Social Security Number)

BLOCK C

[0 Hold certificate(s) for pick-up at the office of
the Transfer Agent and Registrar where this
Letter of Transmittal is deposited

(7]




REGISTERED SHAREHOLDER SIGNATURE(S)

Signature guaranteed by Dated: , 2007
(if required under Instruction 3)

Authorized Signature Signature of Registered Shareholder or authorized
representative (sec Instructions 2 and 4)

Name of Guarantor (please print or type) Address

Address of Guarantor {pleasc print or type) Name of Registered Sharcholder
(please print or type)

Telephone No.

Name of authorized representative, if applicable
(pleasc print or type)

INSTRUCTIONS
1. Use of the Letter of Transmitial

To receive the New Lorus Common Shares and either (i) the RealCo Voting Shares for Non-U.S. Persons or
(i) the Cash Payment for U.S. Persons, upon completion of the Arrangement, Registered Shareholders must
deposit with the Depositary (at any of the offices specified below), on or before the sixth anniversary of the
closing of the Arrangement (the “Effective Date”), a duly completed Letter of Transmittal together with the
certificate(s) representing their Common Shares.

Pursuant to the terms of the Arrangement, any certificates formerly representing Common Shares that are
not deposited with the Depositary, together with a duly completed Letter of Transmittal and any other documents
the Depositary reasonably requires, on or before the sixth anniversary of the Effective Date shall cease to
represent a right or claim of any kind or nature and the right of the helder of certificates of Common Shares to
receive the New Lorus Common Shares and either (i) the RealCo Voting Shares or (ii) the Cash Payment for such
Commeon Shares shall be deemed to be surrendered together with all dividends or distributions thereon held for
such holder (less any applicable withholding tax).

The method used to deliver this Letter of Transmittal and any accompanying certificates representing the
Common Shares is at the option and risk of the holder, and delivery will be deemed effective only when such
documents are actually received by the Depositary. Lorus recommends that the nceessary documentation be
hand delivered to the Depositary, at any of the offices specified below, and a receipt obtained,; otherwise the use
of registered mail with return receipt requested, properly insured, is recommended.

2. Signatures

This Letter of Transmitlal must be filled in, dated and signed by the holder of the Common Shares
described above or by such holder’s duly authorized representative (in accordance with Instruction 4).

(a) If this Letter of Transmittal is signed by the registered owner(s) of the accompanying certificate(s),
such signature(s) on this Letter of Transmittal must correspond with the name(s) as registered or as
written on the face of such certificate(s) without any change whatsocver, and the certificate(s) nced not
be endorsed. 1f such deposited certificate(s) are owned of record by two or more joint owners, all such
owners must sign this Letter of Transmittal,




(b) If this Letter of Transmittal is signed by a person other than the registered owner(s) of the
accompanying certificate(s), or if certificate(s) representing New Lorus Commoen Shares and either
(i) RealCo Voting Shares or (ii) the Cash Payment arc to be issucd to a person other then the
registered owner(s);

(i) such deposited certificate(s) must be endorsed or be accompanied by appropriate share transfer
p
power(s) of attorney duly and properly completed by the registered owner(s); and

(ii) the signature(s) on such cndorsement or share transfer power(s) of attorney must correspond
exactly to the name(s) of the registered owner(s) as registered or as appearing on the certificate(s)
and must be guaranteed as noted in Instruction 3.

3.  Guarantee of Signatures

No signature guaraniee is required on this Letter of Transmittal if it is signed by the registered owner(s} of
the Common Shares deposited therewith, unless that Registered Shareholder has completed the box entitled
“Special Registration Instructions”.

Where the Registered Shareholder has completed the box entitled “Special Registration Instructions™, all
signatures on this Letter of Transmittal must be guaranteed by an Eligible Institution (as defined below) or in
some other manner satisfactory to the Depositary (except that no guarantee is required if the signature is that of
an Eligible Institution). See also Instruction 2.

An “Eligible Institution” means a Canadian Schedule 1 chartered bank, a major trust company in Canada, a
member of the Securities Transfer Ageni Medallion Program (STAMP), a member of the Stock Exchanges
Medallion Program (SEMP) or a member of the New York Stock Exchange Inc. Medallion Signature Program
{MSP). Members of these programs are usually members of a recognized stock exchange in Canada or the
United States, members of the Investment Dealers Association of Canada, members of the National Association
of Securitics Dealers or banks and trust companics in the United States.

4, Fiduciaries, Representatives and Authorizations

Where this Letter of Transmittal is executed by a person as an executor, administrator, trustee or guardian
or on behalf of a corporation, partnership or association or is executed by any other person acting in a
representalive or fiduciary capacity, this Letter of Transmitial must be accompanied by satisfactory evidence of
their proof of appointment and authority to act. Any of Lorus, New Lorus, RealCo or the Depositary, at their
discretion, may require additional evidence of appointment or authority or additional documentation,

5. Special Delivery Instructions

The box entitled **Special Delivery Instructions” should be completed if the certificates for the New Lorus
Common Shares and RealCo Voting Shares to be issued pursuant to the Arrangement are to be: {a) issued in the
name of a person other than the person signing this Letter of Transmittal; (b) sent to someone other than the
person signing this Letter of Transmittal or to the person signing this Letter of Transmittal at an address other
than that appearing below that person’s signature; or (c) held by the Depositary for pick-up.

6. Miscellaneous

(a) If the space on this Letter of Transmittal is insufficient to list all certificates for Common Shares,
additional certificate numbers and numbers of Common Shares may be included on a separale signed
list affixed to this Letter of Transmittal.

(b} If Common Shares are registered in different forms (e.g., “John Doe” or **J. Doe”’) a separate Letter of
Transmittal should be signed for each different registration,

(¢} No alternative, conditional or contingent deposits will be accepted.

(d) Additional copics of this Letter of Transmittal may be obtained from the Depositary at any of its offices
at the addresses listed below.

Zof




(e) Lorus, New Lorus and RealCo reserve the right, if they so elect, in their absolute discretion, to instruct
the Depositary to waive any defect or irregularity contained in any Letter of Transmittal received by
the Depositary.

(f} This Letter of Transmittal will be construed in accordance with, and be governed by the laws of the
Province of Ontario and the federal laws of Canada applicable therein.

7. Lost Certificates

If a share certificate has been lost or destroyed, this Letter of Transmittal should be completed as fully as
possible and forwarded, together with a letter describing the loss, to the Depositary. The Depositary will respond
with the replacement requirements, which must be properly completed and submitted in good order to the
Depositary on or prior to the sixth anniversary of the Effective Date.

8. Privacy Notice

The Deposilary is committed to protecting personal information. In the course of providing scrvices, the
Depositary receives non-public personal information about sharcholders from transactions the Depositary
performs, forms a shareholder may send to the Depositary or other communications the Depositary may have
with a sharcholder and its representatives, This information could include a shareholder’s name, address, social
insurance number, securities holdings and other financial information. The Depositary uses this to administer a
shareholder’s account, to betier serve client needs and for other lawful purposes relating to its services, The
Depositary has prepared a Privacy Code to tell shareholders more about its information practices and how their
privacy is protected. It is available al the Depositary’s website, at www.computershare.com, or by writing to the
Depositary at 100 University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario, M5J 2Y'L. The Depositary will use any information a
shareholder provides with this Letter of Transmittal in order to process a shareholder’s request and will consider
a sharcholder’s submission of this Letter of Transmittal as its consent to the above.

9. Depositary Information
The Depositary is:
COMPUTERSHARE INVESTOR SERVICES INC.

By Mail:

PO. Box 7021
31 Adelaide St. E
Torento, ON M5C 3H2

Attention:  Corporate Actions
By Registercd Mail, hand or courier:

100 University Avenue
9 Floor
Toronto, ON M5J 2Y1

Attention:  Corporate Actions
Phone: toll free: 1-800-564-6253

E-mail; corporateactions@computershare.com

Any questions and requests for assistance may be directed by Registered Shareholders to the Depositary at
its telephone number and location set out above,

Zo &




hxoag 4q pajuasazday
$3ABYS JO Jaquny

eq
e Jund 503 [

‘HYdH NOIS

‘Bunjaagy pies je aoa

pue puane o} wdald jsnoraaad Axoad Lue s3x0a3a Lgaaay sapioyaaeys paasiday paudissopun ay |,

‘uralay payioads se saployateys pa:131siay a4l jo sweu Yy w parnsidar uonesodion
Iy Jo SIS Yl Aoa 0) Japjoydxosd oy swwanp Agaaay 1aployateys paidsiSoy YL

-Joa19y) woaunolpe Aue 10 ‘Funaspy
pres aytk e jssaid ses Isployaieys pausisidoy paudisiopun o) 1 se szamod awes ayl yim
PUE JU23X3 Jwes 3} 0) ‘Joasayy wawwnolpe L1343 e pue uoneiodio)) 2y Jo SISPOYAILINIGS Y}

1e[nay Axo1d 1uswaFeuEy 243 Ul paquasIp 10 Sunsap ap aoyaq swos Apadoxd Aew jey) sasnew (e jo wadsal ul 1opjoyareys parsifayg

Apte[nonted axow se * SISPJOYaTeys AlLoulw,, JO ‘ugnniosal 31 JU JIBYSQ UO PUE 10J 910A PUE JIE ‘pus)e ¢l uonninsgns jo Iamod ay) Y ropoyaseys
Aeurpio o Aem £q uonnjosay wawaduey ay: saoxdde o 7 paswsi3ay oyl Jo Jreyaq uo pue 1oj Iapjoydixord se ———— ‘JuioFal0} 241 JO JOYND
Jeinosy xoug jo aaed 3y ut 10 *uonesodiol) 2yl Ju SI01VA(] JO PIEOY “liBYD) PUB 101221 "UBYIRIS WeYRID)

uawsBeurpy oY) W paquosap Lpegnoiled 210w s “UONN[OS <oy Bupjie} 1o ‘uonesodion) Yl JO SO AU JAYD pue juapisasd ‘Sunoy Suidiy 1
teads jo fem £q uonnyosay JwowsBueny ay) ascidde of 1 swiedde {gatay uonesodion Yyl Jo (Jaployaaeys pasasiday,,) 12pjoyaseys paudisiopun ag]

suedy 104

(1enoay) Axotd wawoFeurpy
pue Sunsapy Jo 210N PISOPUI Ayl 335 asedyd ‘wIN yIed jo |1k1ap () 1og) suonnjosay wooy voiduisuay
OLIEIL() ‘OFLUI0]
1sey wang Funy £¢
patapy Jury uapUIl jedoy 1

(awy o301} WY 00°01 1V ‘LO0T ‘ST 3unf NO

LV d'T4H 44 0L

ASHHATH NO SNOLIDNYLSNI UNV NOLIVIWHOANI INVINOdWI 43S (wonetodion, aqy ~HNT SOLLNAIVITH.L SNAO1
WAHLVA ANV AINDIS ST LT SSTINT QITVA LON ST WHOd AXONd SIHLL HO SYHAATOHALINNDAS AO ONILAANW "1VIODAdS

d
SYHATOHAAVHS A4 4SN H0Od SI INFINND0d SIHL

203



PISG-£9T (91p) TDIUIIY YUON 3PISING SLLL-6PT-998-1 TPILIWY YUON UIYIIY XT]
HAZ [SW oupiug) ooy,
1001f YIg ‘anuasy Ansiasiuny 0oi “idaq &xoug
PUY SANAIIS JoISIAUY 240ySanduic)

[SMOfJ0] SE S UOnNeUWIOjUL XB) pue
ssauppe Suyrew sy Sunsop pausnolpe 3y3 10§ 195 W Yy 240)3q (sAepijoy pue siepung ‘siepinieg Suipnpxa) sinoy (gy) wydie Auo) *pawnolpe s Funaspy ays J1 40 £0Z ‘17 Sun[ uo
{awmn owosol) "wd ggis ueyl I3e] ou xep AQ 10 [eWw £Q U] S0MA1a§ J0)saau] aseyssandwo;) JO IO Y} I Pasldal 2q 1snw Axold Jo wswnasuf su ‘Junsap syl 18 paisasaidas aq of

s3104 doud 24 Funum ul *aY0Aas pue SUNBIW Y] JO JUIWBIUIWWOI Y] 310JIQ SIIFUNUIS IY) Yiim DUEPUINE 13Y/S1Y
P30921 1SN 13p|oy31RYS Pa1si3ay oyl ‘us op o) wosaad up ajoa Kowr pup Suposgy ays puann 1S £ow 23pjoyaIoys pasxsiSay ayr “AX01d JO USWINGISU] SIYY PAVIWQNS SBY 13P[OYyd1eys paraisiZoy ¢ J]

*Jj §39% UO21ISIP 2(0s s11 ul 1opjoyAxoad ay se Funespy syl siuyeq 3w Alaadosd

KBW a1y SISTIRW 10 AXOLJ JO WIWNAISUL SIY) UO IO 19§ SUOHNOSA a1 JO AUE JO SUONIELIEA 10 siuawpudwe fue 01 12dsas Yim Japjoyixoid patutodde auy 4 pa10a oq wm
SoNLIN22s 2y} *1ayun, ‘K|SUIPICIIE PIIoA 3q [ sanuNdes 2yl “uodn paioe aq o1 Janew AuE 01 1Padsas yum 2010y € saijwads Japjoyaseys paimsidey Ay i ‘pue 103 pajjer 3q Aew
1BY) UONNOSAL € JO fjod AuD uo Japjoyaivys pasaisiiay ayi Jo SUOUIRLSUL Y1 YIM SIUTPIoI0 tf Fupoa wolf playyis 10 patoa ag s Kxasg fo juzwnsul suy) & pajuasasdar saymass ayf

"1} $235 Japoyixord oy se 3104 03 uoyine Aruona1osip sey sapjoyixond g1 ‘paipoads s1 adtoyd ou J 1opjoydixord
21euwsaie ue 10} papiaoid 2oeds ay) ut Sunaapy su3 18 nok wwasardas 01 gsim nok uosiad 2yl Jo dweu ayl Funuasul pue umoys ssweu Jaployixoid wawsdeurw ay
0o Surns 4q ‘suononiisur s 1apjoysieys passiay aq o1 Suipiosse oa o) ‘uonesodio]) o) jo Jopoysreys pasnisiday v 2q 10U pasu oym uapjoylrosd sapoun putodde {q)

(ANOL] JO IUDWRISU] Si U0

POYILAPI IANEW YOBD jO S00AE) ui 940a [[IM Japjoyixoad e se Junoe earuodde juawasfeuew e Axuig jo JudwiulsU[ sIgE UF INO 125 UONN|OSa) B 0) 10adsar yiim sepjoyaleys

paamsidoy v Aq payoads si 2oto0ud ou assyy (1apjoyfxoad sjewme ve Jo waunuodde a1 0] paplaoid soeds yuejg 2y 312jdwoes 10U op pue umoys ssapjoyAxosd
wawsdeuew ay) e YIS 10U Op 1) st st dsunwou e Funmodde Suiprom oy Juiaeay Aq “Axoa Jo wawnnsug sy uo paweu sapreyirord wnuaivuvu a2y fo aue nnoddo {e)

Bu1M0[|0] Y1 Op ARW SHONMIOYAL JY] O 0L D) SAYSIM TG uossad up Juiaapy Ay puIND 01 GV JOU 51 OYm J3PIOYIIDYS PIISIIN ¥
suifag Sunossp sy atupay s1aaunmos oyl Yim 12151525 Ajduns Kews wossad ur suoynjosas ay uo 2oa puv SUNPIRY Ay} PUIND O SAYSIN OHN I3PIOYDYT PIIIISIINY ¥

"Ju] 52010195 Jotsaau] aseysuaindwoyy AQ 1sployaieys paudsi3ay syl nok o1 PajIew sem ) YdIYm UC JNBp Y1 J)Je SKEp Jepuajed (1) usass
Ax01g o uswnnsu] s Aep 01 1apjoyixord sy) 10y Laployateys pa1asiday sy ‘nok £q uasd Aqasay s1 Qioyine ‘papracid adseds oyl ut pajop jou st &xedq fo jusnmasuy sl fi

‘Axoid jo
wawnnsuy sy Aueduiodae 1snw Funsspw syl Jo ney) syl o geidacor aq eys se woddns ug voneuswndop Jaylo yons 10 ‘uosiad yons Juuamodura os wswnnsu sy Jo Adoo
[eL=ION B 10 (euiBuo oy wapouasazdos panuroddo §np sayw 40 4anffo Kanope up &4 pamoaxa fi pue uonerodiod oy jo saneiussaadal 10 1Royjo pazuoyine Anp e £q ‘uonelodios

e Jo ase0 ayi ur 10 ‘Funum ul nok &g pazpoyine Lnp Aawene mok Aq 1o “1apjoyaseys pauaisiday 2y ok Ag pauds ag isru { Ax0L] 1O JUawnnsu],,) Axosd JO wlo] S|

‘uonedoddon Ul 10 wawaieaeig am {oy

o

AX0¥dd 40 NOLLITdIWOD d0d SNOILJ T4 LSNI

. [V



SEMOL) AXol,)
JuswsReuE]y Y3 UL PIQUISIP SEEnoNLEd oW SE 'ToNn[osal
1e0ads Jo Len g vonnjosyy wawadueny s aacudde o], N

wuredy 1oy

(agoainy
Axorg wawadeuryy pue Funasgy jo 330N PIsVPU 241 235 asedd 'wan yaes jo [ERp |y 10) suonnjesay

HEYAATY NO SNOILIYILSNI ANV NOILVWHOANT INVINOdIWI 3§
THIVYA ANV TANDIS §1 LI SSITTINTT AT iva ION ST WHOT AXONd SIFLL

:Axuig Aq pmuasaaday
suoudg jo saquinp

e

IEN] JULEg Iseajd

‘HYHH NOIS

‘Bupasp
PIES 1B 2104 pUE PUanE 01 uaald Ajsnociand Axosd fue sajoas iqaiy tapjeyuondQ pauliuapun ay ]

‘utaaay payoads se sapjoyuoirde) Syt jo awes
a1 up pasasidas wonesediony oy o sappnas 2yl 104 ) 1apjoydxcad g s1AIp dgalay epioyuond) Ay,

mou._.uﬁ.——

WILNGIPE AUe 30 “Bunaapy pres 241 18 1usaad sean ssppotjuondey paudisispun ay gose s1anod swes oy gien

PUE JU1XD JWES 31 O YJO3241 WAWEINO[pE LA 18 put uoneodion a1 jo sssployiiunaas ap jo dunaapy

a1 23033q awos Spadod Sew ey sianew [[e o 123d521 uaepoyuond( AP JO JIEY3q UG PUE 10§ A0 pUE
128 "PUSLE 03 BonMIsans jo sanod a1 gits Japoyuondy 241 Jo J[eyaq o pur Joj spoyisad se

“Huwdaioy g jo saye jo 20ed Sy v1 10 vonmodson) A1 Jo SI0AN( JO preog ‘YD) pue

100325(] ‘UEYIENS Wyl 3y Juiey Jo ‘wonerodiod Ay o 130 JARNIIXNT JAYD PuE 1wApsA Funo g

Fuidry 11 srugedde £ga1ay uenesodion ays jo (,39pjoyuondg,,) sucndo jo 1apjoy pauFisiopun [

(o eyuolo]) IV 00:01 LV “L00T 5T 2un{ NO

wiooy ueiduisuay
opRIu ‘o010
wseq wang Jury /¢

pIEsp Suny usapuI [eioy ¥ LV THH 949 OL

uapssodien,, 20) *gNI $OLLNFdVEHHL SN0
40 SYHATOHALIINDIS 40 ONLLAAW TVIDHJS

(a3ym) £xoxg

SNOILJO 40 S3YJddTOH Ad dSN 304 SI .LNIFNNNDO0Ad SIH.L



20k

PESEE9Z (91P) EILIDWY YITON IPISIND §LLL-GHE-998-1 TRIHIUY YHON UIJIL, XE4
FAZ S oreiug oruocief
100LL IR Uy Ausiaarury pof “idag Axoig
QU §IFIAIIG JOIsAaUf nrysidtadwon

ENMO[|0}
$E $1 BONEWIOJUE XE) pUE ssappe Buiredr ay T “Funaspy paunolpe 2y 205 195 3wn auys 3sujaq (siepioy puk sipung ‘siepimeg Supnpxa) sinoy (g4) 1yks Loy ‘pawsnolpe st Bupsapy g gt 30 L0L
17 2un[ uo (awn o1uo1n]) “wd ggig Uvy) 13 U x8j Sq S0 [rEw iq -ou] $301AIaS J0152AU| reYsINNdUIoT) JO IDLFO Y 1B PRI 3G ISAW SXCI] jo WAUNDSE] U “Bunaapy Y1 e pawasaidal 3g o,

-¥a10a soud agi *Buppa ur *eyoaas pue 3unaafy Y JO IUIWIIUIUIWOD ) J0FHY $1IULMIS R/
YILs 3DUEPUILE J9Y /S Pi0das snw aprogquond() 343 ‘os op o wosiad U 3404 Aew pur Fupddpy syl pudlie [i1s sEW 13ppoquod) ays tix0i ) JO WUSWIISE] SIY pamugns sey sapioyvond() E |

UJ 5335 UONAISP [0S SU

w1 sapjoydxosd ay st Junasgy syt a10jeq swed padord few yamga S1NEW 16 $X03] J0 WIWNLSU] $H1 U0 100 135 SUCLN[OSSI A Jo SUE Jo sbogepts 10 IUaWpuawe iur 01 13531 (e sapjoydxad

parurodde g fg patoa aq fua s50UNDIS Ay 1agun,] {BUIpIoIE pA1oa 3G [jLa SIREN3s A wodn paldk 9q vl JaLEW {ue 01 1Padses YiLs Aoy € sfpads 1aploguondcy Ay 31 'pur o pIE aq lew
1eY) uonN[Os € jo Jod Sue ue saproyuonde) I o SUCHITLISUI 4} HILE IDHEPIOIDE U] FUiIOA WO P I0 PAI0 3G [JLu AXOIJ JO JUIWNIISUL SHYL 4G PauIsardar sanUNIIS Y| 9

"1y 295 saployLxcad ay se 2904 Gp Spoyine euonassp sey Japlog.ixod
a1 “parpads st 921042 ou §1 1epjoyixoad Rewane ue sop papiacsd adeds ag1 ug Hunasyy e 1w nod juasaidas o yspa aod uosiad ags jo suru sy duniasul pue umnoys sawew spoysxod

wawadeueus ay1 1no Bunyns {q ‘suononnsur sgspuyuondgy 241 01 Juipsoase 3104 o1 *uopwodio]) 3y Jo sapoyuondQ) v 3q 10U paau oy reproydxosd Jaqroue rwiiodde (wp
¥O
{03 JO HUIWNASUY SIY3 UO PAYOUIPE SNIBW YIE JO INGALY i 2104 (L J3p[oyixoid B sz Hunde aauodde waunirue e ixosg jo wawnasu] Siy Ul N0 135 LoANjOs3
& 03 123dsas Yiew Jopjoyuondcy v iq paymads ) 2t0y ou axay g, (Ep[oyxoesd arwse ve jo wzunuodde 343 10y papraosd 2auds yue)g sy 21adwod WU op puk dwoys Lapoyisad
1waLBYUELL 341 100 24WIS 10U op “31) St sE supton € Supuodde Surpiom sy Sutaeap iq ixosd jo wawmnse] sy vo pawsty syapjoysxosd JuamaTeaewr 3y jo suo ruroddr €
Buimol[u) 1 O AW SHOLNFOSIT 41 UO 310A OF $IYsLy jag yosidd uy Suniaapy ay1 pUFIIE 07 2]GE JUU §i viys 1apjoguoiidg v Y
-sudaq Jupaagy a1 210§eq s1esunTans A i 1151321 iduns Avw wossad ur suoynpesar oyt ve d1oa pue Sunaspy 2y POITIE vl saYsIa oy Japjoyuondg v '+
“3u] saoLuag 10isaau] Aeysiandwon iq apoyuondQ 241 'noi 01 pajiEw sEx It YIYn Uo TP S 138 sfep
JEpUBED (1) UsAds dx0l] JO WARINUISU] SIQ 18P W1 Japloysxosd ay 105 S1apjeyuond() agi *nos dg uaad dgasay sy apoyine ‘paprsoxd aoeds sy g ] ~ SIS ay 3 v
“fxas] 0 wewnnsu] sip Suedwoane 1snw Gunsaty 3 Jo sy g o3 3jqeidadde 3q [eys se uoaddns ur vopmusWINILP By Yans so wossd yons
Hupamodisz o8 Juawrsil ag) jo Sdua ERnoy € o pudno 1 s peivasasdas pautodde np sayio 10 42310 WauIons Ue AG pan3axa ji put woprodion 3 jo aanewasada s 110
pazuogne Jap € iq ‘vogeodion € jo ases g ur o ‘Funia w nod iq pozpopine {np fsuzone anof q 1o TIPOOTIAT FUT TO3 W] poUSTs 3G J5HT {, Axosg jo :uswnnsuy, ) ixosd jo wiog sy rd
‘uoyesodior) 3yl Jo Juawzdeurly ay) Aq pandjos sL Axoag sig ) 1

AXO¥d 40 NOLLATAINOD Y04 SNOLLONALSNI



FLILETIgWEINY

wawadeur)y sy w1 paguasap Apgmoped aow se fuonnjosal
[eads jo fex iq vonnposyy wawadueny sy saoadde oy 1

1supEdy suq

[FTURITY
Axoa weawaFeuepy pur Funaspy jo 23003 PIsuPUa 311 335 sead WA YouI Jo AP |y 30} SUOHN[USS
d N R ) BON | Fyseajorr 1y H H |

HSHAATYH NO SNOILLINELINT ONY NOLLYIWHOAINT INVLHOAWT IS
QALVA ANV TINDIS 5141 SSTINTT AT TVA LON SI WHOH AXOHd SIH L

Axo1g Aq pawuasazday
SIUEIIEA JU J3quInp

aEg

IDUWEN] UL 2583]

HYFIH N9IS

‘Bunaspy
Pres Jt 2304 pue puane v} uaard Asnoraard £xoid Lue 5930421 Agasay sapjopueiresy, paudisiapun ayg

‘uiRIRY pagads ST IIPOIULLIE Y AU JO WU
syt i pasarsial vonesodion) Aq §o S200N3S 31 210 Ot Bpjoyixold Ay S0P SqRIaY JAploYURIE N YT

LESEIN]
1uawunolpe due 50 “Fupasyy pres 241 e 1uasaid sk Jappoipueae sy paudisiapun a4 51 se sianod Jwes u.*_.t [FITEN
PUE 1UIXD JUIES U1 01 “Joasay wawusno|pe U243 18 pue uoneredior) 2yl jo s1aploygauniss sy jo Sunsapy
A 2033q Ao Spadosd Sews ey saantew (2 jo 132d521 Ul RpIOYILELEY 3 JO J[EY2q UO PUE J0J M0A pue
128 ‘PUANE ¢ LOATUASNS Jo 320U 240 YIS IIPIOYIUBIIEN, 341 Jo f[egaq L6 pur Jof saploydsasd s —

— ‘fwedaioy u jo saqua ju 3aepd 31 ur 10 "uonesodior) 3 Jo SIODINC] JO piRCY “ieyT) pue
1012334(] ‘UEYEENS WEeyean) 3y Huipe Jo ‘uoprodion) 2y Ju 13911 FARTOINT] JAYD) PUE WAl ‘Junok
Jurdiy -1 siuredde Aqazay vonesvdion 3y ju ( Jeployrueiie g, ) s1ueaies jo apjoy paudissapun sy g

(2utn ozuo30 )} WY 09°01 LV "LDZ 5T sunf NO

wouy uniBursuay
ouBIIQ ‘“tIu0Io],
1seq 1wang Juny if

picapy Sury udlpuspy eioy | LY JTHIH 39 OL

(uonesodion., 2w} *JNT §OLLOHIVIAHL SNUOT
40 SYIATOHALINNDAS 40 ONLLIIW TVIOAdS

(oniq) Axoxg

SILNVIAVA JO SYIATOH A9 SN Ad0d SI LNINNDOA SIH.L




PESG-E9Z (918} “UIINUY YION 3PISINQG §LLL-GHT-998-T [EIIPWY YIION UEHA XEF
1AZ S oriugy oruoiog
JOOLY g ‘anuay Aysioarug} por “1daq Axorg
I $IVALIG JOISFAUL aTrysIdInduosy

SAV[|0] sE
S1 UGRELIOJUE XEf put $525pPE Jurmw ay | Hunasfy patamolpe 3y s0f 195 dwip 2Y) a1ujaq (epioy pue siepung ‘sivpsmeg Juipniasa) smog (gp) 13 Sy pawnolpe s Supaagy oy i o g0z ‘12 3un(
uo (Puwn owose]) wrd pgrg UBY 1Y) ou XE) 4q IO [FEW 5Q "DU] SIDIAIIS J015IAU] JeyssnndwroD Jo 33130 241 1E PAARII 3q 1SNW WHOJ SX0A] JO IUFWnIsU] s ‘Funaagy 3y 3e paussadas 3q o],

33104 soud 2y ‘Funia o] 'ayoadl pue Junaapy a1 Ju IUALRZUAUILIOD 311 31043 S220UHN5I35 ) Yiumn
S2UBPUINIE 1Y /51 PIUII 1S0LL 1IPOYIUELEN, A1 0 Op O] vossad Ul 2104 v pur Suriaapy 41 puanie j1s lews Japjogruesregy 243 “50l ] JO WAWNNSU] SIYI PANILGNS SEY IPIOYIUBLIEN ¥ §]

JG 5325 GC-.uUhUw,_mv 2[0S 51

ug aappogdxosd agy se Supaagy a3y 105aq awod Sppadoid Sew YoRrw SISHEW 10 S%00 ] JO IUIWIISUT SII BU 300 1335 SUONN[USIL UYL J0 UE O SUONELEL JO SIULPUILIE SUE 01 139ds52) e sepoydxosd
paunodde 3 iq paoa aq [ sapumoes sy segung SFWpIosoe pRaa 3q [[I4 sINENIS A “uodn pA1dE 3q o) 1AW ue 01 13533 I 20004 ¢ s JAP|ORUBLIEY, AT JI PUE 20) PITED 3q Sew
1B UOuNjosas & Jo ffod AUB U0 JFPIONILEIIES) I JO SUORINLIISUT 33 (I IDUEPIOIIE UF SUN0A WL PIAYILY J0 PIIOA 3G [l AXCIF JO JUNURNISUT SIYI AG PRIuIs3sdas s30Lrdas 2y 1

g a3 sap[oyixosd 3y se 3104 a1 Hsoyine Lruopasisip sey 1apjoylxosd
ayn "paads st 301042 ou §j .._om__cﬂ_.mxc.‘ﬂ Aewsie ue aof paptaord aoeds g ui Jupagy 24 e nod 1ues23das 01 gsew nod uosiad 3y Jo awen sy Jupussyy pur unoys sawew sappoysxosd
wawafruew ap ino Jurjuis 4q ‘suoponaisyy saaplogiueiseyy g o) fuipiosse Noa o ‘uonerodion) Ay jo saployIuTLIE Y, € 3q 10U padu oya Yaproydxord sagqroue wrodde (Q

{x03 ] JO WIWMASU] SIYT UG PIFAVIPT IANEW YIE3 JO IN0AE] U] 3104 J[La 1ap|uigixoid € st unoe sawodde wawadeuriu v X0l JO USWANISU] SIYI U] N0 198 UONN[GS3]
€ 01 192d320 ILn IIp[LYIUEIIE ) B G Paaxds si 201043 ou 212y “(Eapoyixoid szusaie ue jo waunuedde a1 soj papraasd 20vds jurpg 3g1 319d03 166 op put unogs ssapogosd
wwaifeurw 3y 0o 2§ 100 Lp <20 §1 se uneou ¢ Funuodde Supios ag Bunaes {q {xouy jo watmnsu sup vo pawey sspoyixosd wawaFeurus 311 jo auo Juiodde (e}

HLNG[0] 3 OP AN SUUNIUSIE 341 UG 3104 03 SHYSI Ing uosiad ur Fupraagy sy PUIIIT 61 JJGE I0U $1 0ys JIPIOIuenLy v
surdaq Bunaspy 3y aogaq s:aunnds 3G Y snsis fduns lew vessad uy sueiinosas ayr uo aroa pue Funaagy 2ys PUSIIE 01 SSLY O I2P[OYIUBIIE, ¥

*3U] $331A435 101524U] Aaeysamndwon) g Ieployiutae gy Yl ool o1 PIfEW sEx 1 YIYn UO IEP 241 Jaye sivp
JBpua(ED (7} U2ads AXus jo TUSWINKSLY SIYY a1ep 01 sapjeydxond ayy Joj saployiuesse gy, 341 ‘nod iq uaall iqsay st.Oooyine ‘papraoid aoeds ag1

“Ax0af Jo wawnnsu] syt Suedwodse e Gunsay 33 Jo areyD) 241 o1 qerdaase g (rys se doddns up tonewRWNIOP 1O YIns Jo ‘uosiad Yoms Fusamadwe
©F JUAWTULsUL 31 Jo idod [eBRIou € 10 [Fuliuo syl ‘Danrruasardal parurodde djnp rag10 10 ‘aspyo ‘Azdione or Aq parnoaxa g puk tuonekodios g1 jo 3anguasaidal 10 5d150 pazpayine
Ajnp & 4q ‘voneodiod € jo 3582 371 Ut 1o *Bupua ur nod g pazpopne np fausou ol iq 1o @ ( Ax0id o wawnnsyy,) dxoid jo wioy sy,

-uoyetodio?) 3y) Jo JUIBEUE Y Y)Y AQ PII|OS Sy AX01 S ]

AXOUd 40 NOILATIINOD J0O4 SNOILONALSNI

¥O



AB[NILNT) Axody
sURWAALLE]Y 21 Ul PIYRIAP Aot ed aow se vonn[osal
[ewads jo Sen g vopnjosay wawaiueny 2y ssondde o], 1

1surEdy 104

(3eoa7y
Axoa] uauadeue)y pue Juussyy JO 200N PS0PUY Y1 22 Istald ‘Wl YoED Ju NEIP [Ny 10 ) suopnjosay

HSYHATY NO SNOILIINHLINT ANV NOILLVIWHOANT INVINOdIWI TS
AALVT ANV TANDIS §1 .11 SSTINITATIVA LON 5T WHOH AXOYd SIHL

HAxuag Ag pauasaiday
S3IMUG(T JO JAGQUINN

eq

UTEN] JULL] IBEIY

SHHHH NOIS

-Bunzayy pres
1€ 2104 put puape o3 u3ald snowaoid Axoid Aue sajyoaas Lqasay saployaamudgaqq paudisiapun oy

utasay pagraads se Jaployaimuaqag] ay jo aweu
3y Ul PasaTsidas uankiodiuTy 3y 0 $ALN3IS Y3 Ao 01 saploydxosd g $19930p IgIAY BpOYTILAGaC) YT

Jua1391 wawmnolpe Aue 10

‘Buiraagy pies 2y 1k juasaud sean poymudqa() pauliissapun 3yl Ji se siaanod JUIRS g1 ILK PUE JUSIXI AWEs
3y 01 *joasay uswwnolps U242 18 pur vuneiodios o jo s1apEyALNIIs 341 Jo Bunasyy I 2109 N0
Spadosd Sews ey wanew (e Jo 132ds530 Wl BP{OYAINIUAGICL 341 JO J[EYIQ UO PUE JOf Hua PUE 108 ‘PURE 0}
woNMAsgns jo fasnod a3 QIun Sap[oyRanIuIgIC] 240 Jo JEYaq uo pue ey sepoyixoadse T "
T Huredaiog ayy jo seyua jo 2071d A Ul to "uopriodson) 3 JO SI0I193II(] JO PIEOY 'NEYT) PUE 101031(]
‘LEYORS WiEYELy say Jurre 10 ‘nonriodion) 3y jo 123140y 280257 JAIy7) put uepsaly ‘Buna g Surdpy
-3¢ srutedde £qaray uvnesodson) oy Jo (, I9pIoyasmuaqga(g,,) saamuaqap jo sspey paudisiapun oy

{awn o1esog) WV 00:01 LY ‘2002 ‘5Z >unf NO

wooy uordursuay
OLIBIU(Q) “0IU0I0],
1seq] 19ang Juny L€

pieapd Juny ualpuap [eloy > LV O'TdH 34 OL

(uuogeiodiog,, 2w} *NT SOLLNAJIVIAHL SNYOT
J0 SHHOTOHALIHNDHS 40 ONLLHAW TVIDHIS

(moq124) Axoxg

SHANINITIAd JO SYIATOH A dSN dOJd SI LNINNDOA SIHL




PESE-E£9T (9IF) TEILIWY YION IPISINQ ELLL-GHT-998"] TEIIIWY YIION ULHHAN Xed
IAZ [SHV orriug oiuorof
J00f of ‘Fnu2ay Ansiaazur} pof Crdaer Axory
Uy §I21Ad38 1055240 arvysindwory

SO C.‘

SB S| ULNELGIU] XE) PUE ss2Uppe Auw 34, “Bupaagy pauinolpe ay) suj 138 2WR 343 350494 (siepiuy pus siepung "siepimeg Jupnpxa) sinoy (g4) 14912 405 ‘pawanalpe s1 3unaagy 4s 31 10 1007
*1Z aun{ uo (Fwn ;muoso ) wd g uey 18] o X3 {q 10 [rew g DU $01AIG J0ISIAU] aseysIndWoTy O 33150 Y} 1E PIAIIIAL 3G SNW LX0LY JOIWAWNISU] SHp “Funaapy a1z pawasasdar aq o,

i 10AY ._.Cmn._n_ Ur: .Mﬂn_um._.’ ut .UMO.ID.- m:.—n Mﬂmauun/.. Dr—n v JUAWIFIUANLULOD Urm— ULO\«UQ .u.hUUr:.uaum 21 qikn UUCG—JGDZR
19U /SIY PI0I3S 1SN IIP|UYAMIUIGICY Y1 08 0P 0 ‘vosiad UF 3104 Aew pur FundIpy 3yl puUINE [{1$ KLU JIPOYaIaIuAGaCT F4y1 *AX01] J0 WAUNNSTT SI) PANALGNS SEY JP{U3HILIGACT & ]

‘1 $335 UQDAIISIP JfOs 11
uy 2apjoyixord ays se Funesyy 3yl 21095q swed dpadoad SBW Yoiys $I21IBW 16 AX05] JO TUIWMNSTE SIY) UO 100 138 SUCHN{OS21 243 o SUE Jo SUURBUES 10 SIUSWPUAWE (Ut ) 153dsas (s 1apjoydoid
paodde ag q paroa aq [ sanunoas g agun, ~SBuueae paoca 3q [La 5300N033s 441 ‘vodn pxae 3 01 33urw Uk 03 13530 GiEn a0 & sPDads JPPIOYAILAGA(] AP JLPUE J0f PIIED 2q fEw

1B UORN[OS2I € JO [Jod AUE HO J3PJOgAIIUIGI( 4TI JO SUORINISUL IYL ILy JIUEPIGIIE Uf Sunioa woj pragyiie 10 paioa 3q JiLe SXOIJ 0 WUIWnUISUf siyl Ag pajuasardar sanumoss oy y

3 $395 23p(oyixosd agy se 2104 03 Luogine Lruonarosip sey wp[oyixoid
ai *paymads 51 33t0yd v J] Iapjoyixosd ewate ue 10y papiacad 20eds AP ur Fupaspy 2 1 ned Wsrdas 01 gsn nes uosiad ays jo sures 3y Fuplssu pue unoys sawew seppoyixosd
yuawsdeurw sy no Buiyms £q suoEIISUL $ JPOYAINILaqag] A4 ¢ Supacade 21w 01 ‘vonedio]) g Ju PPYRINILAGIC] ¥ 3G 10U padu vy Yapreydxesd sayioue jurodde G)]

£{X01,] JU JUFBTUISU] SIYI UL PIGIIUIPI JNEW YIED JO Ihoaky Ul 310a [[Ln sapjoyixosd € se unoe anwedde juawadeurin ¢ ixosg ju uaINIISU] SIG ULINO 198 VORN{OS3S
¢ 01 1padsa1 Yin 1apjogaamiuaqag) & 4q paynads st asoyn ou 264, Epoysxond aeue ue jo wannwoedde 2 sup paprad 3seds yuek) ay1 Asdwos 10w op pue unoys s1apoy.ixosd
usundeuEw 231 00 IUIs 10U op “o) s se asunuou ¢ Funuodde Fuipiox 3y Fulaea 4 ixosg Jo wswnnsuf sy vo paweu sraproysxosd JrawsFeaeus 2 jo avo rureddy (¥}

SHULno([0f 34i v AW SUORIOSIE 4T U0 2104 0F §2Ysin ing uosiad uy Juiraagy 2y PUIIIE OF 3[QE JOT §1 Oy I3P[OYIMIUIGS] ¥
“supdaq Bupaagy 21 asvpeq s19I0mUos gl s sasia fduns few wessad Uf suotmpesar 2y Uo 2104 pur Furiaagy 241 PUTITE 01 SAYSIM O JIPIOYIIMIUIGIHT ¥V

U] $ILAG 20153at] AeYsIAndwoD) G SPP{OYANILIGIC] Y ‘0L OF PAfEW Sex I YDIYS UG IIEP 24T S3iE SiEp
SEpURED () U35 {x01y Jo aLWMRSU] sty iep o1 saploydxord sy auy sapjoyRimuaga] g nod £q uaald dgaasy st Guoyine *papraosd 20eds aqi w PITERFOT ST ANCIT JC JOowiIZyy ST JT

-{x03 jo uswnmsu] sy duedwode snw ‘Jupaapy Ayl Jo ey P 01 Ajqesdaade aq [rys s woddns ) vopERLMoOP 120 Yons 10 *vouad Yons Fumanodws
s wanmast oy jo idoo eueiou & 3o [puBuc sy Saperussardas pasutedde Sjnp 12410 10 ‘Fa010 Sousenie UE Ag painaaxap pue woneodiod 3y Jo aagraussasdal Jo 500 pRBLIne

Anp e Aq uonerodson € jo 3se2 3ya vy 0 ‘Funpa vl nod ig pazpoging {np LHuione ined iq Jo TIPOUSMTSI] 301 0L G PSR 35 JFAM ( Axo1d Jo wwawansug,) ixoid Jo wiof sy,

“uogesodio) 3y Jo Juawadeue ) 3y) Aq papdYos s1 AX0L] S|,

AX0dd 40 NOILITdIWOD JOd4 SNOLLOOALSNI

O

2Z/0



3«5 %

3 e0&is

‘¥1Y04 EHL 40 SSHAATY AL, NO ROLLDAE AXOYd YD1 KL
SHIMIIAZ Y LNOHEIM XOO SHL XUV LON 00 :AX04d TYOI1 ¥OJ 1530D3Y oy (|

', 03NDIS LON 3] OVIVANI .«

Wwraa) 3Lva

*S350d4Nd ONILOA HOA L ISN 10N 00 3S¥3Td
NG S1S0dHN IYNOILYIWHOIKI H0J 0I0IACH 51 WHD SIHL

ATNO O4N] - AdOD NOLLYINHIINOD HINSSI »

LZ% M6W NO ‘OLNDYOL
avoy NVIOQIY3W &
*ONI SJILNn3dVH3HL SNA0T

§9y UST NO 'TONVSSISSIN
AYM HIHOMAIHD 0288

28puipeolg Ed

O 3 oz

[T U]

R I
(S)IYVHS 1SNIYY  mad

(SIHILI 2

{NN1 XIV18 6O 3018 Hi WALl ¥34 [ ., xos 280 Ao i s EEEETYS

MNYIE L43T ATTYNOLLNALNT 30VdS SIHL

HOVIIULON U SWH NI OW

AOvIIU [ON OU - J\WH NTO1GT

N
WO TLOAAXOHd MMM LV 3LOA LINHILNI
HO £60L-PLP-008"1 LY I10A INOHIIATIL

“HYINOUD AXOHd DNIANVAWOOOY 3H: HUM NOLLONIINGD
NI Gv3H 38 GINOHS WHOI NOUDNHESNI DNLLOA SIHL »3LON~
*303HIHL INFWNYNOTQY

ANV HO DNUIFN JHL JHOS38 WO ATH3d0Hd AvW SY SSINISNE ¥IHIO
HONS NO 310A OL AHHOHEY ANVNOLIHISIQ SHANGD WHOA SIHL »AL0N~

“UYINOYID AXOUd INGWADVNYIN JHL N 3805

Q0BEE0C ATHVINOLLHY] 3HON S5Y SHITIOHIHVYHS ALHONIN,. 40 'NOWTIOS3Y

L e ¥OdJ << gmmmmmmees AHYNIQHD 40 AVM AR NOWMOSIH INSWASNYHHY 3HL INOHAAY OL v €

"HYINJUID AXQbd

Q0GGECD ANAWIDVNYIA THL Ni GIBIISIA ATHYINOLUNYL JHOW SY ‘NOLLMIOS3Y

SROIEVONIWWOITHONILON

L3 T80 BO4 R S -+ T3S 40 AYM AS NOWMIOSIY INIWIONVHEY JHL A0HddY OL-» T

2WYN 1ROV LNIdd 35V Td

, “MOTIE IND 3TNIODY HL NO DNLIIAW 3HE DNIANTLLY NOSH3d HL 40 AWYN ZHL U0
YN B(10A 1NI4d 'IACEY O31203dS (SINOSHI IHL NYHL H3HIO *JOAYIHL INFWNHNOIQY ANV HO ‘ONUIZW 3HL Iy
STWH3E HNO0A NO 10V ONY 2104 "ONZLY O MOSHID HIHIONY ZIYNDISZA HO DNLLIIW FHL GNILY QL HSIM NOA 41

*“ON T0HINGD

NYHOVHLS WYHVHS ‘ONNOA ONIdIV HQ D EETTIE

3 9zOsIs ‘}aine  60TTBATreS  dISND
THABINAN LNOODDV

400Z “TZ annr  :31va LS0d3Q AXOud

LOOT 'pZ AYIN J0 SY SH3TTOH HO4 :31vQ QHO23Y

103 W'Y 0O0'0T 1Y LO0Z "GT INNT AVONOW 21va ONIAIIN
ONUIIN VOIS ‘FdAl ONILIIN

E&6pL#£# 0081 “110N INOHAINAL

WOJTIOAAXOYd AMA F110A 13NE3INI | ISYIATY NO SNOILINHLISNI INILOA 335

“11V@ 115041G AXOHd 3HL 380438 AVO S5IN(SNE INO
L5V11 1Y SHOLLDRULSHI ONIL10A HNOA 3AITDTL 01 3TN IM

[

*ONI SOILN3dVYH3IHL SNYOT
WYO04 NOILINYLSNI ONILOA



J1v0

{S)FUNLYNDIS

3 (|

+ ATNO Od4N! = AdOD NOLLVINHIZNOD HINSSI «

EARN’

L3 ]

3 ¢«

$20S51LS

02

60LLELYYS

Q
—
-
=]
(=]
o
Q
o
(= ]
o
o
[
o
Q
o
o
o
Qo
o
<
-
[}
o
=]
Q
(=)
o
o
o
£~
0

LZH M6W NO ‘OLNOHOL
QY0d NYIQIN3H Z
*INI $IILNIJVHIHL SNIOT

2114 AN OOOMITAOD
AVA SIQIIHIN 1S

38puipreoug %

F
DNILI3W 3HL LY SIHVHS HNOA 3L0A ONY ON3LLY m 0
O1 NVd NOA di AKOIH AHL OL .. [&5] . X0 JHL NI 17114 NLvyy N

_ |¢= i o
sas AdDDHINSS =ee OV iRy any
OINI HIVI8 HO 3NTE NI WiLI Bid .. (55 - X0& 380 A1ko K 1) [SIENS

MNYIE 1437 ATTYNOILNILNE 3IVdS SIHL

] £0/v2/50 40 5V SHIQTOH HOL 103 "WV 00:04 LY £0/%2/90 G13H 38 OL BNLLISW TWID3dS

"ONI S211N3dVHIH]L SNHO

FAIH HITIIQ €HY OIS

JUIH Kavhia Ny aloy

WO ILONAXOHE VUM LY 3LOA LINHILNI
£898-bG6H-002-1 1V 310A INOHdITAL

" INOHR AXOBE DNIANYIWOOOY JHL HUM NOWONNINGO

Ni QvId 36 GVIOHS WHCH NOUSNHISNI SNUOA SIHL +310N-

“J0IHIHL LINFWNHNOraY

ANY HO DNUIZW 3HL J30439 W00 H3208d AYIN SY SSINISNE MIHIO

HONS NO ALOA OL ALUHOHLNY AHYNOULIHOSIO SHILNCD WHOS SIHL »310N«

“HYINOHID AXOHS INSW3DYNYIN 3HL NI 038150830

QOG6E00 ATHVINOLNYd JHOW SY WSHITIOHIHUVYHS AUHONIN, 4O ‘NOLLUTIOSIH

<< HO4 g g AUVNIQEO 40 AVM AB NOIWTIOS3Y INIWIDNVHXY THL JA0HAdY OL v Z

“BYTNOHED AXCHd
OOEEE00 INIWIOYNYIN FHL NI Q3RS0 ATHVINOLNEYC JHOW SY 'NOILTIOSIH

ARt 804 LR WIO3dS 40 AVM AB NOLUMOSIY INFNEONYHHY 3HL 3A0UddY Ol °» T

SNGHYANIWN O3 SNILOA

‘31vd 1IS0d30 AXO¥d IHL 380439 AvQ SSINISNY 3NO
15V LY SNOILOMYLSNI ONILOA ¥NOA JAIZD3IH OL d32N 3M

Tooot T
60TT6TEYS
LOOT 'TZ INAM  ;3LVA LISOdIC AXOYd
L00Z '$Z AYW 40 SY SHITIOH 104 :31v0 qUOo3Y
103 WY 00:0T LY LOOT 'S 3NNM "AVANOW ‘31¥a ONILIIW
DNUZIN Wi03dS :3dAL ONILEEN
£898-p5£-008-4 “ILOA INOHAITIL dASYIAIYUNO 2 'ON

WOI IFIONAXOHd MMM ‘3LOA LINYILNI NOLLIONHLSNI ONILOA 338

"ONI SOLLNAdVYHIHL SNHOT

WY 04 NOLLONYLSNI ONILOA
T000-T 1

TN

2/




PART III

CONSENT TO SERVICE OF PROCESS

A writien irrevocable consent and power of attorney on Form F-X has been filed by each
of Lorus Therapeutics Inc. and 6650309 Canada Inc. concurrently with the filing of this Form
CB.

Any change in the name or address of the agent for service of process of Lorus
Therapeutics Inc. or 6650309 Canada Inc. shall be promptly communicated to the Securities and
Exchange Commission by an amendment to the Form F-X.

%




PART IV
SIGNATURES

After due inquiry and to the best of my knowledge and belief, I certify that the
information set forth in this statement is true, complete and correct as of June _ / , 2007,

LORUS THERAPEUTICS INC.

N7 277/

Name: m ARX. PRSI TON
Title: pevime. CoN ol

6650309 CANADA INC.

By: M.«/A

Name: m naic ~ YRESTEND
Title:  pcCrag e CoOMNTROUER,

Uy




Exhibit

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description

21

2.2

23

24

2.5

2.6

2.7

2.8

29

2.10

2.1]

Annual Information Form dated August 11, 2006 for the financial year ended May 31,
2006 {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to a Form 6-K of Lorus Therapeutics
Inc., furnished on May 30, 2007 (File No. 1-32001).

Management Information Circular, dated August 11, 2006, prepared in connection with
the annual meeting of sharcholders held on September 21, 2006 (excluding those
sections not required to be incorporated by reference in the Management Proxy
Circular prepared in connection with the Special Meeting of Holders of Common
Shares, Options, Warrants and Convertible Debentures to be held on June 25, 2007
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to a Form 6-K of Lorus Therapeutics inc.,
furnished on May 30, 2007 (File No. 1-32001).

Audited consolidated balance sheets as at May 31, 2006 and 2005 and consolidated
statements of loss and deficit and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year
period ended May 31, 2006, and the notes thereto, together with the report of the
auditors thereon dated August 9, 2006 (incorporated by reference to the Annual Report
on Form 20-F of Lorus Therapeutics Inc. for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2000, filed
on November 21, 2006 (File No. 1-32001).

Management’s discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of
operations for the financial year ended May 31, 2006 (incorporated by reference to the
Annual Report on Form 20-F of Lorus Therapeutics Inc. for the fiscal year ended May
31, 2006, filed on November 21, 2006 (File No. 1-32001).

Unaudited consolidated financial statements relating to the nine months ended
February 28, 2007, and the notes thereon (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to
the Form 6-K of Lorus Therapeutics Inc., furnished on April 19, 2007 (File No. 1-
32001).

Management’s discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of
operations for the nine months ended February 28, 2007 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 99.2 to the Form 6-K of Lorus Therapeutics Inc., furnished on April 19, 2007
(File No. 1-32001).

Material change report, dated Sepiember 8, 2006, relating to the issuance of 28.8
million common shares (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to a Form 6-K of
Lorus Therapeutics Inc., furnished on May 30, 2007 (File No. 1-32001).

Material change report, dated September 8, 2006, relating to the issuance of 5 millicn
common shares (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to a Form 6-K of Lorus
Therapeutics Inc., furnished on May 30, 2007 (File No. 1-32001).

Material change report, dated September 26, 2006 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 99.3 to a Form 6-K of Lorus Therapeutics Inc., furnished on May 30, 2007
(File No. 1-32001).

Matcrial change report, dated May 11, 2007 (incorperated by reference to Exhibit 9.4
1o a Form 6-K of Lorus Therapeutics Inc., furnished on May 30, 2007 (File No. 1-
32001).

Arrangement Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to a Form 6-K of
Lorus Therapeutics Inc., furnished on May 30, 2007 (File No. 1-32001).
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